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Our definition of oncology. For Mayne Pharm,a', the oncology market
includes any pharmaceutical product prescribed by doctors in their
fight against cancer and support for those suffering from it.

Fig.1 Masme Pharma's
customer-focused
definitior of oncology
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S to be a global leader | |n
oharmaceutical products
prescriped by oncologists
for thelr patients.

Mayne Pharma is an emerging specialty pharmaceutical
company focused on the oncology customer.

Our goal is to be the preferred supplier of medicines to
oncology customers by providing a comprehensive range of

pharmaceutical products and services used in their practice.

Our strategy is based on three integral pillars
Pillar 1 - Building on our strengths; focusing on oncology;
improving our operational effectiveness

Pillar 2 — Building our specialty oncology business through
in-licensing and acquisition

Pillar 3 — Securing a strong pipeline of specialty
oncology products

le Fh m a Annl IR thZDOB 1




1 Pillar 1 — Building on our

strengths; focusing on ohcology,

Improving our operatlonal

1 effectiveness

Seventy-four percent @{F @M’r’

product S@Ics in 2006 came

from pharmaceuticals on

@” prescription pad.

We are leveraging this strength,
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Fig.2 Pro forma gross margin
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ave sigificant poieriial.
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L IMS Midas MAT June 2006.
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Fig.3: Sales contribution
by praduct type

¥ | Prc‘prietary products
Brended generic
I cornmodity generic
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Fillar 3 — Securing a strong pib&iNd\
of specialty oncology products .
Mayne Pharma is increasing its
/| Investment in developing novel
oharmaceutical formulations
can be patented. These velue-added
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Our global
presence
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* 2005 pro forma sales revenue

EME!? Asia Pacific
Austriy & Finland @ Lebanon © Qatar © Syria © Australia 0@
Bahran © France @ Lesctho © Romania © Tunisia © China

Baltic States © Germany 0© Libya © Russia © Turkey © (including Hong
BelarLs © Greece © Mauritius © Saudi Arabia © Ukraine © Kong} @&
Belgium @ Iran @ Morocco © Slovakia © UAE © India @
Botsw.ina @ Irefand @ Netherlands @ South Africa © UK 08 Korea ©
Bulgaria © ltaly @ Namibia © Spain @ Uzbekistan © Malaysia @
Cypru:, & Iceland © Norway & Sudan © Yemen © New Zealand @
Czech Republic @  Jordan € Oman © Swaziland © Singapore &
Denmirk @ Kazakhstan © Poland © Sweden @ Taiwar: ©
Egypt © Kuwait € Portugal @ Switzerland © The Phifippines ©
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Americas
Canada @
USA {including

Puerio Rico}0 @

Key

© Manufacturing,
R&D

@ Sales force

© Third party
distribution

) “. N
Americas °

$217m*

Examples of our
2006 achievements

Employees drive financial results

Mayne Pharma was demerged in 2005 and has
developed a new strategy from the bottom up.
Cross-functional teams were assigned to develop our
new strategies and action plans. Despite the potential
distraction this caused, our employees’ commitment
and professionalism were responsible for driving
financial results in 2006 that significantly exceeded
expectations.

Muigrave underpins strong performance

Our primary manufacturing facility at Mulgrave,
Australia delivered an exceptional performance in 2006
which underpinned Mayne Pharma’s 18% growth in
pro forma revenue and 37% growth in pro forma EBIT.
The new global manufacturing leadership team
implemeanted new structures and procedures that
increased efficiencies while maintaining or enhancing
our quality and compliance standards.

Oxaliplatin litigation success in the UK

In May 2006, a decision from the UK High Court
cleared the way for Mayne Pharma’s formulation of
Oxalipfatin to be marketed in the UK once regulatory
approval is received. This important decision, which
is subject to an appeal by the innovator, illustrates
the strength of Mayne Pharma's development and
intellectuial property capability. Oxaliplatin is one of
the largest anti-cancer pharmaceutical products in
the world by sales.

Paclitaxel sales increase by 26%

Mayne Pharma’s largest product, Paclitaxel, increased
sales by 26% in 2006 to $A139 million. This positive
outcome was driven by success in tenders across the
globe and by cur Active Pharmaceutica! Ingredient
(API1} processing facifities in Boulder significantly
ramping up production to meet the increased demand.

The first generic version of Irinotecan in Canada
Mayne Pharma was the first cornpany to launch

a generic version of Irinctecan in Canada and
recently received marketing approval in ltaly. These
achievements represent the continuation of a multi-
year stralegy to be a global leader in this product.

Miayne Pharma Annual Report 2006 9




Financial
h ghlights!

* Salzs revenue $A803 million — up 18% Fig.5 FYOB revenue by business unit
* Gross margin 45.2% — up 150 basis points [ produets- 2%

Contract manufacturing - 13%
Compounding - 5%

. Ear%nings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation $A171 million — up 28%

* Earnings before interest and tax
$A119 million — up 37%

* Significant items (before tax) — $A124 million
e Starutory net loss after tax — $A31 million
* Staiutory operating cash flow — $A168 million  mmy

s
W, 0 L
W5t _em
i -
oo
S
SZeP

1 The financial results presented in the body of the Annual
Report for the 2006 and 2005 financial years are pro forma
results unless otherwise stated. The pro forma results exclude
all signifizant items and discontinued operations, and include

normalisition adjustments to reflect the costs of operating JlLo s

as an independent company, as well as the inclusion of i 391,282

Mayne Pi'narma's Salisbury aperations. ; ) _ 43,118

Mayne Pharma believes that the pro forma profit and loss o ‘: 339,653

statemer t provides a more meaningful analysis of the

underlyirtg financial performance of Mayne Pharma'’s business. 0 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500.000
A reconcgliation petwgen the pro forr_na re§ults of operations Sales revenue in $A'000

and thos2 contained in the concise financial report is

provided on page 52. Fig.6 Half on half pro forma sales revenue — 1HO5 to 2H06

10 Mayne Pharma Annual Report 2006



Fig.7 FYO6 revenue by therapeutic class

B Anti-cancer agents — 47%
O Anti-infective — 10%

[ Bisphosphonate - 8%

. . Oncology other - 6%

M Pain management - 3%
I Non-ancology — 26%

0 10,000 20,004 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000
EBIT $A'000 EBIT margin %

Fig.8a Half on half pro forma EBIT {earnings before interest Fig.8b Half an half pro forma EBIT margin — 1HOS to 2H06
and tax) - 1HO5 to 2H06
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Peter ¥hllcox

The past year has seen significant progress in the transformation
of Mame Pharma as it re-focuses on providing a full range of
gener ¢ and specialty pharmaceutical solutions to oncologists
aroun: the world. With our interna'ly developed know-how in core
generiz oncology medicines and our expansicn from a strong base
in Australia, Mayne Pharma has a valuable international platform
from v+hich to further expand our commercial relationships with
the glc bal oncology community.

The trainsformation began in April 2005, when the Mayne Group
Board announced it was investigating a potential demerger of
Mayne Pharma, which was ultimately recommended in the
demeryer explanatory memorandum. Shareholders agreed, with
§9.7695 voting in favour of the demerger in November 2005.

| am plaased to advise that between the date contemplation of
& deme rger was initially announced and when the demerger
becam:: effective, Mayne Group's share price increased 68%,
creating $A1.5 billion in shareholder value. This value creation
has cortinued posi demerger with Mayne Pharma's share price
rising 8% in the period to 31 August 2006.

At the t me of becoming an independent company, Dr Thierry
Soursac was appainted Chief Executive Officer and Managing
Director. Dr Soursac is an oncologist and pharmacclogist by
training, as well as being a seasoned pharmaceutical executive.
Following the demerger, a detailed strategic action plan for the
Compar y was announced to the market in May this year. Mayne
Pharma s aim is to become a global specialty pharmaceutical

' Pro forma ( or details see page 52),

12 Mayne Pharma Annual Report 2006

company focused on the oncology customer. As part of the
strategy developed to achieve that aim, Mayne Pharma has moved
many of its corporate functions to London and has recruited a
number of highly qualified professionals to its management team,
many of them with long experience in the field of oncology. The
new management team, and their colleagues within the Company,
will be key to the implementation of our strategy.

Strong operating performance

Importantly, Mayne Pharma is embarking upon its future course
from a position of strength. The financial year ended ¢n a strong
note with the business reporting pro forma earnings before
interest, taxes and significant items (EBIT) of $A119 million!,
significantly ahead of the guidance provided at the time of the
demerger of approximately $A90 million! and an increase of 37%
over the comparable result in the prior year. This strong financial
performance was driven by growth at the top line as well as
through realised efficiencies within the business, particularly at
our manufacturing sites at Mulgrave, Australia; Boulder, USA;
Wasserburg, Germany; and Salisbury, Australia. We believe these
gains are sustainable and provide a strong foundation for
supporting business growth in the coming years.

Mayne Pharma’s statutory net loss in the 2006 financial year was
$A31 millicn. This result was primarily the result of write-downs
that were necessary to reposition the Company as wel! as put it on
a scund financial footing so that we have the best opportunity to
realise our strategic goals.




Investing in Mayne Pharma’s future

Pharmaceutical companies require ongoing investment in
research and development to maintain revenue and earnings
growth over time. Mayne Pharma has invested considerable
funds over the iast three years in developing a robust pipeline,
both through internal develepment activities and through
partnerships with companies in India and Eastern Europe.
With Mayne Pharma now being an independent company, it is
even more critica! that it secures its future by investing today
in research and development projects that will deliver value in
the years to come.

Mayne Pharma has a deep heritage in Australia, particularly

in the Adelaide and Melbourne regions. Key elements of our
manufacturing and product development base, as well as over
half of our employees and our primary shareholder base, remain
Australian. Increasingly, however, as the Company grows outside
the Asia Pacific region both organically and by acquisition, the
focus of the Company's sales and marketing operations will
continue to move to the Northern Hemisphere,

As previously announced in February 2006, the possibility of a
listing on the London Stock Exchange, as well as the Australian
Stock Exchange is being examined and associated costs have
been incurred. The Board sees significant benefits in such a
listing. However, a decision {o proceed has not been made.

Looking forward

In its first year as an independent company, Mayne Pharma

has made a number of significant achievements. As a separate
company, we have defined our strategy and developed a detailed
action plan to realise our ambitions. We have been able to secure

highly qualified executives to complement the existing leadership.

We have launched new products and rolled out existing products
into new markets, delivering a robust underlying financial
performance for the business. We have also continued to invest
in developing generic and innovative product formulations that
hold significant future promise. So, with the new strategy already
beginning to deliver tangible results, your Board looks forward to
the coming year with confidence.

Lt hen

Peter Willcox
Chairman

N — — -t L -t .! -
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Or Thierry Soursac

Defin.ng Mayne Pharma's strategic orientation

At the time of Mayne Pharma's demerger in November 2005,
the Board of Directors endorsed a new strategic orientation
to reposition the business as a global specialty pharmaceutical
company focused on providing a comprehensive range of
produs:ts that are used by oncologists around the wortd

in thei- fight against cancer. We are well on the way. This new
focus huilds upon Mayne Pharma's existing strengths in the
develoament, manufacture and commercialisation of core
anti-cencer medicines used in practice today with novel,
proprie tary formulations that will form the basis of treatments
in years to come.

While c ncology is a highly specialised field, there are several
market dynamics that make it highly attractive for Mayne Pharma
to focu:s on. The ageing population and the increasing incidence
of cancer means that it is one of the largest therapeutic areas by
sales, 25 well as one of the fastest growing. And while there are
many o1cology products on the market today, there are still a
number of areas of high unmet need where current treatment
regimes can be improved. Many tumours continue to be resistant
to existi g therapies, so the need to find new treatment protocols
to fight -his terrible disease continues to grow. And finally, because
oncology products help extend lives or improve the quality of life,
in some countries such as the United States, regulations allow
products to be fast tracked through the approva! process so
oncolog drugs can deliver benefits to patients promptly.

Our heri;age as a global provider of injectable generic medlicines,
74% of our products by sales being used by the oncologist,
means that Mayne Pharma is well suited to be able to work
efficientty and effectively with the global oncology community

to meet doctors’ and patients’ needs.

14 Mayne Pharma Annual Report 2086

CEO’s report

In this, the first year of our transformation, | would like to take
you through the progress made on implementing our strategy
and, importantly, review the Company's financial results for the
2006 financial year. The results once again demonstrate the
strength of our existing injectable generic business - the
foundation upon which we will build a prosperous specialty
pharmaceutical company focused on the oncelogy customer,

Robust financial performance

The 2006 financial year was a strong one for Mayne Pharma.
Despite the possible distractions involved whilst demerging the
Company from Mayne Group, establishing a new strategic plan
and appointing a new executive leadership team in London,

| am very pleased to report that Mayne Pharma delivered results
ahead of the market's and our own expectations.

This is a testament to the commitment and capability of our
employees globally — our single most valuable resource.

Pro forma sales revenue increased 18% to $A803 million, driven
by a number of factors. Paclitaxel, cur largest product by sales
and a core chemotherapy agent used by oncologists, delivered

an exceptionat periormance. This was supparted by the launches
of Irinotecan in Canada, Mitoxantrone and Hydromorphone in the
United States and Vinorelbine in Europe. These launches, together
with strong individual results from specific products in various
markets and our enhanced manufacturing and suppily chain
performance, were important factors that drove top line growth
during the year.

Pro forma EBIT increased 37% to $A119 million. In addition

to the factors driving top line revenue growth, operating profiis
were suppeorted by significantly improved efficiencies at our
manufacturing facilities in Mulgrave, Salisbury, Wasserburg and
Boulder. These benefits were realised by the new manufacturing
leadership team appointed late in the 2005 financial year and who




have significantly restructured our manufacturing and supply
chain processes whilst maintaining or enhancing control over the
quality of our products. Pleasingly, | expect these efficiencies will
be sustained in future years and there are more to come.

Whilst reporting 2 statutory net loss after significant items of

$A31 million was disappointing and influenced by the recognition

of $A115 million in significant items (after tax), this was necessary
and places us in a better position to meet our short and long-term
objectives.

Strategy and action plan

Mayne Pharma’s strategy is based on three pillars that will
re-focus and strengthen our core business while at the same
time build up our specialty oncology product portfolio with
proprietary products that complement our growing generic
product range and drive higher returns for the Company.
Importantly, we have already successfully implemented this
business structure in Australia, so we will leverage the know-how
and expertise that already exists within the business as we
develop our capability in the Northern Hemisphere.

Piliar 1 - Building on our strengths; focusing on oncology;
improving our operational effectiveness

We are driving efficiencies through the business by improving
our operational effectiveness, removing areas of redundancy and
complexity, and ensuring that further investments in the business
are aligned with our vision, In research and development, we are
concentrating our development expenditure on core oncology
products and increasing investment in our intellectual property
litigation capabilities so that we maximise our chances of being
first to market. | am pleased to advise that our first success on
this front came on 22 May 20086, when the UK High Court ruled
in our favour (subject io appeal) with respect to our formulation
of Oxaliplatin, clearing the way for Mayne Pharma to launch

in the UK once marketing approval is obtained. Our activities

in Piltar 1 will also build on the improvements realised in
manufacturing by establishing ¢centres of excellence and
simplifying the supply chain so that as we continue to graw,

we have a robust and flexibte structure and process that focuses
on those products that drive the greatest value for the business.
We have made good progress in Pillar 1 and are on track to
realise benefits of around $A10 million in financia! year 2007,

a portion of which will be re-invested back into the business to
drive further growth.

Pillar 2 - Establish our specialty oncology business

Mayne Pharma is rapidly establishing its specialty encology
franchise through in-licensing and acquiring products that are
either already commercialised or nearing commercialisation.

We have made significant progress in this area since announcing
the strategy in May, appointing a new global head of business
development and a head of clinical development. Both will be
instrumental in rapidly developing our proprietary encology
business. In June 2006, we announced the acquisition of the
North American rights to Nipent® {Pentostatin}, a product
approved for treating hairy cell leukaemia. This deal completed
after year end. We also entered into an exclusive agreement to
market and distribute Evoltra® (Clofarabine), a product used to
treat certain haemoiclogical malignancies, in Australia and New
Zealand. We are investigating and progressing discussions

for a number of proprietary oncology preducts, as well as
complementing our oncology-focused generic business. So | look
forward o updating you with additional business development
announcements in the coming year.

Mayne Pharma Annual Report 2006 15



CEO's report
continued

Pillar 3 - Securing a strong pipeline of specialty

onco ogy products

We are well progressed in establishing Mayne Pharma’s own
speciilty oncelogy pipeline through internal development and
workig with partners to cement ongoing profitable growth over
the long term. It's not widely recognised that Mayne Pharma
alreacly has an established track record in developing and
apply ng novel technelogies that enhance pharmaceutical
effect veness or delivery. Both Kadian®, a pain management
product and Doryx®, an anti-infective product, generate sales
of approximately $US100 million annually and use proprietary
formulations developed at our Salisbury site in South Australia.
We will leverage this expertise and finance the increased
nvestment in our process and clinical development activities
by direeting resources away from non-core projects and
re-invisting a portion of the operational effectiveness savings
in the development and co-development of improved chemical/
biolog cal entities, as well as novel formulations. These projects
are lonig-term in nature but will be crucial to enhancing returns
and w |l differentiate Mayne Pharma in the market.

All of t1ese strategic elements have now been translated into
precis: and itemised actions, assigned in accountable ways
across the Mayne Pharma team, so that each element will be
implemented and deliver the expected benefit. The rollout of
these actions began in July 2006.

16 May e Pharma Annual Report 2006

Driving high performance

| am pleased with the strang start in our first year as an
independent company, Mayne Pharma's leadership is committed
to building on this momentum in the 2007 financial year. The
historical investment in the pipeline is driving growth in our
injectable generic business and gives us the confidence to invest
in proprietary products that will build a pratected revenue and
earnings stream in the medium (o long term.

The new strategy focuses Mayne Pharma on its sirengths, drives
higher performance and is expected to deliver attractive returns
for shareholders over time. In addition to this, if we are successful,
our strategy will also deliver better service to oncologists and
improved outcomes for cancer patients around the world —
something our entire organisation takes great pride in.

A lcirae

Dr Thierry Soursac
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
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Heview of operations

Commercial operations —
driving growth
internationally

Product and business acquisitions during the 2004 and 2005
finankial years, as well as new product launches in 2006, have
contributed to Mayne Pharma consolidating its position and
drivirg higher performance from its operations in many markets.
Pro firma sales revenues increased 18% to $A803 miltion and
pro firma earnings befare interest and tax (EBIT) increased
37% to $A119 million.

In particular, the results were driven by strong individual
periofmances for key products, supported by broader sales
impro‘v'ements across a number of products in each region.

Qur vertical integration in the core anti-cancer molecule, Paclitaxel,
contirued to deliver impressive results, with global sales increasing
26% on the back of increased volumes and higher market share in
many inarkets,

We coptinued to rofl out Irinotecan around the world, and while
the largest markets in the United States and Europe are yet to
lose patent protection, our global distribution platform has already
enabled us to generate attractive returns from this product.

Mayne Pharma also recorded its first sales of Oxaliplatin late in
the financial year. Sold under the brand name Eloxatin® by its
innovator Sanofi-Aventis, it is one of the largest anti-cancer
produgts by sales in the world. These initial orders came from
oncology customers in Eastern Europe. Together with favourable
Eurepe'an court rulings relating to our formulation, this means we
are we | placed to add this lower cost, equally effective alternative
to Elox.itin® to our portfofio in Europe in the coming years.

P
2275
Sz
P atns. ST, ==L
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Fig.9 Regvenue contribution by region

18 Mayre Pharma Arnuat Report 2006

4

Continued expansion in EMEA

Our largest region by sales in the world is Europe, the Middle East
and Africa (EMEA), representing 49% of pro forma sales in the
2006 financial year. We have established our own offices in

15 countries and have distributor relationships in a further 33
countries, primarily servicing the smaller Centirat and Eastern
European, Middle East and African markets.

Our EMEA business increased pro forma revenues by 19% during
the year. Market share growth for Paclitaxel across several markets,
the continued rollout of Irinotecan (which is now sold in 12 countries)
and the new launch of Vinorelbine {marketed in three countries) all
contributed to this positive result and more than cffset increased
competition for Pamidronate and Carboplatin in many markets.

Mayne Pharma also continued to expand its compounding
activities in the United Kingdom following the acquisition of
Intra-Tech in June 2005. Revenues from the UK compounding
husiness were $A42 million in 2006.

Impertant developments expected for 2007 include:

» the expected approval of Oxaliplatin across Europe through
the mutual recognition procedure in the first half;

» the launch of Irinctecan in ltaly; and

= the rollout of several smaller products across the region.

North America exceeded expectation

Mayne Pharma's North American business significantly exceeded
expectations in the 2006 financial year. Totzl pro forma revenues
increased 12% to $A217 million, resulting from several product
launches late in the period.

In the United States, we successfully launched Mitoxantrone in
April 2006. We secured orders from key customers and began
shipping the product on the first day following expiry of the patent.
Mayne Pharma also successfully re-faunched Hydromorphone,
with almost all available stocks of product being sold within the
first few days of it being back on the market. We also appointed
Jim Hageman, a pharmaceutical veteran with experience in
generic and proprietary pharmaceuticals, to lead our US business
and drive Mayne Pharma's performance in the largest
pharmaceutical market in the world.

Sates of Doryx® to our US partner, Warner Chilcott, continued to
perform well, while supply difficulties at cur third party contract
manufacturers for our injectable multivitamin products did not
allow us to realise their full sales potential in 2006.




Our Canadian husiness rounded out an exceptional year that
included the first to market launch of Irinotecan in February

2006. The robust perfarmance was also supported by strong
performances from a broad range of products in our core ancology
portfolio including Methotrexate, Pamidronate, Vinorelbine and
QOctreotide. These strong operational results, together with the
strengthening Canadian currency, resulted in revenues increasing
53% and EBIT more than doubling over the prior year.

Steady expansion in Asia Pacific

Mayne Pharma's Asia Pacific commercial operation continued its
long history of annual growth in revenues and profits in 2006.
Strong results were recorded across the parifolio, with pro forma
sales up 22% on the prior year to $A194 millicn.

We have offices in six countries in the region and sell our products
through distribution arrangements in a further three.

In Australia, sales of Paclitaxe! {branded Anzatax®), Irinotecan
and Pamidronate (branded Pamiso!®) all exceeded expectation.
The investments in our Mulgrave plant delivered higher and more
ftexible supply, allowing us to better meet customer demand for
products in key markets across the Asia Pacific region.

The Australian business also actively maintained its in-ficensing
strategy, including the addition of the latest Eligard® prostate
cancer treatment. The treatment slows ar stops the growth of
cancer cells by suppressing testosterone production, which means
men with prostate cancer will need fewer injections (only two per
year), the longest period between treatments available in the
market, Mayne Pharma alsg acquired the exclusive rights to
market Evoltra® (Clofarabine), an innovative therapy for treating
certain haematological malignancies. This business development
activity, together with internal development, is expécted to result
in the launch of 12 new products late in the 2007 financial year,
further enhancing our range of acute care medicines in the region.

North =
America |

Asia
Pacific

+ EMEA
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Fig.10 Regional pro forma sales growth

New global structure and approach

The implementation of a new global structure has been

an imporiant element of our new strategy and focus. Now,
responsibility for all important decision-making and operational
activities flows up to our Globa! Executive Committee.

We re-organised the commercial organisation, manufacturing and
supply chain under a Chief Operating Officer and, subsequent to
year end, focused this team around our three business segments:
product sales, compounding and contract manufacturing, to
develop a seamless cost-effective approach from sourcing raw
materials to delivering product to the customer.

The leadership team has been augmented with several new
recruits with deep pharmaceutical and commercial experience;
experience that will be Criti'cal in gL':iding the Company through its
transformation and in the realisation of its strategy. The team is
primarily based in London, closér to the largest pharmaceutical
markets and the greatest opportunities for growth.

In addition to these changes, we are reviewing all aspects of how
we do business through our Qperational Effectiveness Program,
We have appointed a new head of global operational effectiveness
responsible for driving this project and achieving the desired
benefits in efficiency and effectiveness across the organisation.
As Mayne Pharma makes the transition to a global specialty
pharmaceuticai company focused on oncology, we will be
re-investing a significant portion of these savings to ensure we
have the appropriate infrastructure, people and processes to drive
higher performance in the future.

Oncology

Non-oacology

Manufacturing [
Services

0 10 20 30 40 50

Fig.11 Sales growth by revenue type
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Review of operations

Vlanufacturing and
supply driving operating
efficiencies

Mayne Phirma’s strong financial results in its 2006 financial
year were qnderpinned by a significant improvement in the
performance of its manufacturing facilities. This improvement
translated ipto financial gains realised through increased
operating e[ﬁciencies in the plants, as well as an increased
ability to supply products to our customers in full and on time.

The turnaronnd was driven by a new manufacturing leadership
team appoirted late in the 2005 financial year that identified

the need to findertake focused investment at our primary
manufacturinrg facility in Mulgrave, Australia. Enhancements were
made to the sroduction equipment and key support systems and
significant eryphasis was ptaced on ensuring the culture of the
workforce reflected Mayne Pharma’s continuing and absolute
commitment to the quality of its products, as well as to being
globally comg etitive.

The investmets made in the assets, employees and processes at
the plant have resulted in a dramatic improvement in the site's
performance. Prior to the shutdown, deliveries in full and on time
(DIFQT) to Mayne Pharma’s commercial cperations had slipped to
below 40% (on average), resulting in orders being either delayed
or lost. Over the last six months, DIFOT has increased to an
average of 75%, with plans to lift that performance even further,
allowing Mayne Pharma to avoid significant stock-outs of key
products, as welt as improve the practical capacity of the site.

In addition to driving operational improvements at the existing site,
the Mulgrave team also successfully commissioned Building 9,

a new high speed cytotaxic filling line, on time and within its
original budget. This $A50 million project will over time increase
Mayne Pharma’s capacity to manufacture core cytotoxic
medicines by 30%, improve conversion efficiencies and, through
the use of the latest technology and processes robustly help us
meet current and future quality and compliance standards.

Mayne Pharma's Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (API)
processing facilities at Boulder atso recorded a significantly
improved performance. This was largely due to a significant
increase in the output of finished Paclitaxel AP| to well over
100kg, making it one of the largest producers of Paclitaxel AP!
in the world. During the year, Mayne Pharma also applied for

its higher-yielding semi-synthetic Paclitaxe! formulation to be
approved in the United States and Europe, which will improve
yieids in the conversion process even further. To take advantage
¢f opportunities in the market, Mayne Pharma's Board recently
approved a capacity expansion to the Boulder plant to meet
growing Paclitaxel demand, as well as to build a kilo lab facility
that will enable Mayne Pharma to vertically integrate into APls
for other key oncology medicines. In addition o the significant
financial benefits that result from this vertical integration, it will
also increase Mayne Pharma's control and surety of supply for
key molecuies. Boulder's AP! expansion ambitions already made
progress in 2006, with the lodgement with the United States Food
and Drug Administration of another Drug Master File for an
important oncology-related product.
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The Salisbury, South Australia finished dose facility reported
results that exceeded plan through tight management control of
operating expenses, as well as higher overhead recoveries from
the production of medicines such as the dermatology product
Doryx®. Under its new strategy, Mayne Pharma is investigating
the opportunity to leverage Salishury’s advanced manufacturing
capabilities to supply oral oncology and oncclogy-related
medicines.

The team and assets at Mayne Pharma's non-cytotoxic injectable
pharmaceutical manufacturing facifity in Wasserburg, Germany
are specialised in lyophilization {freeze drying). This valuable
process extends the shelf life of many products and reduces
handling risk with toxic substances. In the 2006 financial year,
Wasserburg significantly exceeded its financial targets, driven by
a 17% increase in the number of batches produced versus plan.
The technology transfer of a number of Mayne Pharma's products
into the site is progressing well, with regulatory approvals for two
additional products to be produced at Wasserburg expected in the
2007 financial year.

Mayne Pharma's Aguadilla, Puerto Rico manufacturing facility was
inoperative throughaout the 2006 financial year as it underwent a
complete refurbishment. The site has been designed to produce
non-cytotoxic injectable producis. Having regard to its oncology-
focused strategy and the higher capacity of Mutgrave following

its operationa! efficiency gains, Mayne Pharma is actively pursuing
a number of options for the Aguadilla site, ranging from the restart
of certain operations to divestment.
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In addition to its research and development alliances with
companies located in India, Mayne Pharma entered into a

joint venture with Zydus-Cadila io construct and operate a

low cost, high quality injectable cyiotoxic facility in Ahmedabad,
India, that will have both finished product and API pracessing
capabilities. The project, which will significantly increase Mayne
Pharma's cyictoxic manufacturing capacity and reduce reliance
on Mulgrave, will also assist with the early development and
supply of products at patent expiry to key markets. The site is
on track to begin manufacturing stability batches of products

in 2007, with the first commercial sales of products expected in
fiscal year 2008.

Overall Mayne Pharma’s manufacturing team delivered a
significantly improved performance in financial year 2006.

This, in turn, was integral to Mayne Pharma realising substantial
growth in revenues and profits. The investments being made in
our core manufacturing assets are delivering sustainable
operational improvements today. Further improvemenis in
operational effectiveness at our manufacturing facilities and
within the supply chain through site specialisation, reducing
complexity and increasing flexibility are expected to drive further
benefits well into the future.

2% )

Fig.12 Monthly delivery in full on time-
improvements already made at the
Mulgrave facility
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Feview of operations

future

Investing in
Mayne Pharma’s

Maynz Pharma is investing in product development and
businass development activities today so that it secures its
comp titive positioning and financial performance in the future.

Produ;t development

In 2006, Mayne Pharma re-aligned its product development
processes with the oncology customer-focused strategy. These
changas seek {0 maximise Mayne Pharma's returas through the
identif:cation, development and registration of medicines across
the mijrkets in which the Company operates. Notably, Mayne
PharmF’s core product development strength is in chemotherapy
produdts such as Carboplatin, Oxaliplatin and Paclitaxel, which
are widely prescribed by oncologists around the world today.
This di;ep capability in ancology has been gained over the

last 30 years and Mayne Pharma now employs more than

120 rejearch and development staif globally.

In the 2006 financial year, Mayne Pharma invested approximately
$A57 raillion in its development activities around the world, an
increasz of $A6 million gver the prior year,

These ipvestments are building a robust pipeline of future
producjs. Mayne Pharma currently has 24 molecules at various
stages of development and has filed 47 appfications for approval
of its products with regulatory authorities in Europe, Australia,
the Uni‘ed States and Canada. At 31 March 2006, sales of the
equivalgnt innovator products to these applications for approval
were in llhe order of $US4.2 billion annually, which bodes well for
Mayne IPharma's future growth.

P Number of product apglications filed
Local market value of product
applications filed

Fig.13 Praduct applications
filed pending approval
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Mayne Pharma also recorded a significant increase in the number
of product approvals in 2006 and continued its frack record of
being first to market for key oncology products. Following a
settlement with Pfizer, the first generic to Camptosar®

(Irinotecan) was launched in Canada and Mayne Pharma was

the first company to sell generic Vinorelbine (Navelbine®) in
several markets across Europe. Mayne Pharma also leveraged

its historical investment in its existing onceclogy portfolio by
expanding the number of countries in which some of those
products are sold. Late in the year, the Therapeutic Goods
Administration in Australia approved Mayne Pharma’s freeze-dried
Epirubicin, and in Europe, injectable Ondansetron, an anti-nausea
product, was approved and launched in June 2006,

Mayne Pharma is also in the process of capitalising on the generic
potential of blockbuster oncology drugs such as Oxaliplatin
through the application of innovative product development,
regulatory and intellectual property management activities. In May
2006, the UK High Court handed down a first instance decision
(subject to appeal) that clears the way for Mayne Pharma to
launch the product in the UK once regulatory approval is
obtained. In paraliel with this iitigation, marketing authorisation for
Mayne Pharma’s Oxaliplatin product was received in Estonia in
March 2006 and subsequently wider approval within Europe was
granted through the mutual recognition procedure. With total
Eurcpean market sales of approximately $US446 milliont in 2005,
the product development success achieved to date provides
confidence that Oxaliplatin will be a key product for Mayne Pharma
as we start to commercialise it.

R&D 2005 39,102
expense Il
R&D 2005 12.85_

capitalised Jsid

0 10,000

20,000

30,000 40,000
Fig.14 Pro forma R&D expenditure ($A) year aver year expensed
vs capitalised

Similar innovative approaches are being taken on other oncclogy
drugs in Mayne Pharma’s pipeline, such as Gemcitabine and
Docetaxel that are blockbusters {or their innovators. These will
receive focused investment {o realise their potential.

L IMS MAT Dec 2005 (UK, France, Germany, ltaly, Spain)



Mayne Pharma is also investing in and concentrating effort on
building a portfolio of patented ancology products that will provide
a protected revenue and earnings stream. Mayne Pharma has
established proprietary research and development expertise at its
Mulgrave and Salisbury sites in Australia and within its European
organisation that is being leveraged to develop improved chemical
and biclogical medicines that offer benefits to either the patient,
the prescriber or both. These capabilities have already developed
highly successful producis such as Kadian®, a modified release
morphine product, and Doryx®, a sustained released anti-infective
product. We are also investigating several early stage, high
potential opporiunities both internally and with partners.

Business development

Mayne Pharma is focused on increasingly providing a
comprehensive range of high quality pharmaceuticals to oncology
customers in the major markets around the world. This portfolio
will be a bafanced mix of patented and generic, injectable and
oral medicines on the oncologist's prescription pad. In order to
execute the sirategy swiftly, we plan to acquire or in-license
complementary oncelogy products.

To this end, Mayne Pharma rounded out the year by announcing
the acquisition of the sales and marketing rights to Nipent®

in North America and Evoltra® in Australia and New Zealand.
Whilst the size of the product deals will vary, these are the

types of business development projects that are currently being
evaluated by Mayne Pharma and will quickly differentiate its value
propesition from competitars in the market. In addition to seeking

marketed products worldwide, Mayne Pharma continues to
examine a number of development stage opportunities which are
closely aligned with its overall strategy.

Mayne Pharma will also continue its progressive partnering and
collaboration activities with several high-tech pharmaceutical
companies located in India and Eastern Europe to access their
development and manufacturing cost advantages, as well as
accelerate our speed to market for some products. The
collabarations with these companies are progressing, with the first
products sourced from these agreements expected in the second
half of the 2007 financial year.

Early stage
Development
stage
Stability testing/}
pre-filing
Filed dossier

as

l 1 ] l
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Fig.15 Number of products in each stage of the development cycle

Product and business devefopment activities provide the {uel that
drives performance in this business.
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Our
communities

Our people

Mayne;Pharma's exceptional results over the past year can he
attribuied, in the main, to our remarkable staff. The demerger

of Maype Pharma last year led to significant changes across the
organication, all of which are showing early signs of success,
somett ing that could not have been achieved without the support
and loyalty of our employees. Their resilience, hard work and
adapta ljility has enabled the Company to integrate our new
strategy with minimal upheaval.

In January 2006, we began moving many of our corporate
functions and senior management team tc New Oxford Street,
Londor; and several of our Australian-based employees also chose
to relocate to the London office. in addition, we have recruited a
numbet of employees to work across the Company, from senior
manage‘sment down. They have been weicomed into Mayne
Pharme and are looking forward to the exciting future the
Company will enjoy.

QOur CEQ, Dr Thierry Soursac, conducted open meetings with staff
in Austr.;alia. the US and UK, to ensure the Company’s strategy
was effectively communicated to staff in atl of our regions. The
meetings were well received and staff asked many pertinent
questions on how the strategy would affect their particular area

of the b isiness.

In recognition of the need to attract talented individuals from
within the pharmaceutical industry, especially those who
specialise in oncology, we aim to foster an organisational
envircnment that allows individuals to achieve levels of excellence.
We promote continuous internal and external training to develop
our employees and encourage them to obtain further knowledge
and skitls relevant to their career goals.

In the Asia Pacific region a pilot talent management program has
been launched in Australia, to support the development of
talented individuals and their retention within the Company.

We are also pleased that {our graduates of the Graduate
Development Program (2002 intake) have been assigned

to work overseas, using the experiences they gained o support
the company.

We are committed to ensuring that the workplaces we provide for
all our employees, contractors and visitors are healthy and safe.
Our staff are actively encouraged, through a number of global
programs, to ensure that health and safety procedures in the
workplace are maintained to the highest standard, Qur strong
emphasis on health and safety in the workplace continues,
Employees’ awareness of the issues surrounding health and
safety and their commitment to rectifying problems that arise are
to be congratulated.
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We value 'ong service from our staff. In the UK, three oi the four
employees who established the UK business in 1985 have chosen
1o remain with us, a combined service of over 60 years, which we
celebrate and applaud.

Staff turnover has remained steady in most parts of the Company
and over the last year has reduced as a result of better human
resource practices and business performance.

Qur community support

Mayne Pharma focuses its charitable and community efforts
on the health sector because it is the one we know hest, where
our expertise lies and where we believe we can achieve the
most good.

We believe passionately in supporting education and training.

Qur assistance in this area is directed at beth medicat
professionals and the community at large. Being diagnosed with
cancer is an immensely upsetting and stressful experience and
we believe patients and their families can only benefit from access
to reliable, accurate information about their condition. In this
regard, we proudly sponsor a number of patient websites and
information videos for a variety of conditions relating to oncology,
as well as other illnesses such as anaemia. We afso continued our
support to the Australian Young Pharmacist Award.

In 2006, we pravidad funds to charitable crganisations dedicated
to providing services o the oncology sector. In Europe, Asia

and Australia we have contributed to breast and prostate

cancer charities, funding programs to raise awareness of these
conditions, as well as assisting with their day-to-day activities.

We have again provided our support for The Prostate Cancer
Foundation of Australia (PCFA) with a donation of $A50,000.
The PCFA is the peak body for prostate cancer in Australia.

They have a simple mission, to reduce the impact of prostate
cancer on Australian families through:

= fielping men deal with the diagnosis and treatment of
prostate cancer;

= funding research into prostate cancer; and

* raising awareness about prostate cancer in the
general community.

Although Mayne Pharma concentrates its corporate giving
activities on the oncology sector, it supports other important
areas that support the health and wellbeing of members of
the community. In both Australia and the UK, we provide
funding to charities established to help those affected by
mental health issues.
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Executive
team
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Dr Thierry Soursac
MD (Oncologist), PhD (Clinical Pharmacology and Pharmacokinetics), MBA
Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director

Dr Soursac is the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Mayne Pharma. He was most
recently Executive Vice President of Aventis SA and President of Global Commercial Operations,

as well as a member of the management Board. Previously, he held positicns including President
of Research worldwide, head of the biotech division worldwide, head of global marketing, and head
of the French affiliate. He began his business career as a hospital sales representative. Prior to
ioining the pharmaceuticat industry, Dr Soursac was an assistant professor in oncology and led the
pharmacokinetics research department at the Paul Papin Centre for five years. Age 48.

Pau! Binfield
BA (Hons}), ACA (UK), ACA (NZ)
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Mr Binfield joined Mayna Pharma as Chief Financial Gfficer upon demerger, having held the same
role with Mayne Group since 2003, and was appointed to the Board in February 2006, He is
responsible for ali aspects of Mayne Pharma'’s financial management and reporting, along with
having responsibility for the Company’s information technotogy.

Previously, Mr Binfield was employed in a senior financial position with Fortis, an international
financial services company, and worked with Price Waterhouse in the UK and Australia. Age 41,

Bill Simmaons
BSc (Chemistry), MBA
Executive Vice President & Chief Operating Officer

Mr Simmens joined Mayne Pharma as Senior Vice President Commercial Operations for Mayne
Pharma’s US affiliate in April 2005. Praviously, Mr Simmons was General Manager at both Baxter
Healthcare's multi-source injectable business and its oncology business, where he was responsible
for all patent expired proprietary and generic drugs worldwide.

He has almost 30 years of experience, most of it in the proprietary and generic pharmaceutical
industries, was appointed a Vice President at Baxter in 1996, and has held positions of incraasing
responsibility in general management, marketing, sales, quality and angineering, Age 49,

Hugh Burrill
BSc, MScSt (Biotechnology), MBA
Executive Vice President, Global Research & Development

Mr Burrill has over 20 years experience in résearch and development in the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industry. He joined Mayne Pharma in 2001 and is responsibie for Product
Cevelopment, Regulatory Affairs and the scientific aspects of Mayne Pharma's Intellectual
Property. He was previously employed as Development Diractor leading the Proprietary Product
Davelopment Group for Faulding Pharmaceuticals in Adelaide and prior to that warked with [psen
Limited in the UK and North America.

He is currently on the Industry Development Taskforce in the Implementation Group for the
Australian Pharmaceuticafs Industry Action Agenda, Age 48,




Charmion Gillmore
HND (Business Studies)
Executive Vice President, Human Resources & Internal Communications

Ms Gillmore was appointed Executive Vice President of Mayne Pharma in January 2006,
Previously, she was empioyed in a number of key human resource {HR) roles over a period of

17 years for Aventis SA, These included appointments as HR Director UK and HR Vice President
for the Carporate Functions in the US and France.

Mare recently, she was a Vice President for MR Aventis SA Global Commercial Operations, providing
HR leadership to the countries and commercial strategic functions consisting of circa 33,000
amployees. She is a member of the Corporate Institute of Personnel and Devetopment. Age 56.

John Johnson
BSc (Biology and Chemistry), MSc (Biology and Biochemistry)
President, Global Quality

Mr Johnson has over 30 years of experience in quality assurance and guality control, and was
appointed President of Globai Quality of Mayne Pharma in 2004. In this capacity, he is responsible
for overall quality and compliance at all Mayne Pharma facilities wordwide.

Previously, Mr. Johnson has held various quality assurance managernent roles with Abbott
Labaratories, where he was responsible for all quality assurance aspects for the manufacture, release
and distribution ¢f small volume parenteral aseptic and terminally sterilised products. Age 57.

Tamara Joseph
BA (Hons Economics), JD, LLM (Hons European Law), LLM (Hons Civil Law)
Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Company Secretary

Ms Joseph joined Mayne Pharma in July 2006. She has 18 years legal experience working for faw
firrs and pharmaceutical companies in the United States and in Europe. Most recently, she was
Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary at Transkaryotic Therapies in Bosten,
where she was responsible for the corporate legal and intellectual property departments.
Previously, she was Vice President, International Legal at Biogen Idec’s Paris office, where she
established and had averall respensibility for the internationa! legal and public affairs functions,
She is a non-executive director of the French biotech company LTK Farma. Age 44.

Mike Rutkowski
BSc (Biology)
President, Global Manufacturing & Supply

Mr Rutkowski joined Mayne Pharma in April 2005 as Vice President Global Technical Operations.
In October 2005, he was appointed to the position of President, Global Manufacturing and Supply,
and is responsible for the management and oversight of Mayne Pharma’s global pharmaceutical
manufacturing sites and supply chain associated with incorning materials through to finished
goods released to distribution.

Mr Rutkowski has 26 years experience in the pharmaceutical industry including positiens in
compliance, laboratory, operations and quality. Age 47.

Ron Squarer
BSc (Biochemistry), MBA
Senior Vice President, Business Development

Mr Squarer has 15 years experience in the bio-pharmaceuticat industry specificaliy in reiation to
ligensing, strategy and brand management. He joined Mayne Pharma from Pfizer Inc., where he
served on the oncology licensing review committee, global commercial leadership team and
strategic advisory board. In his role, he was involved in licensing and acquiring key portfolio assets
and shepherded multiple oncology products inie registration trials.

Prior to Pfizer, Mr Squarer held various positions at SmithKiine Beecham in the US and Europe in
brand management, country management, and business development. Age 39
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Peter Willcox
BA (Hons), MA (Physics)
Chairman

Mr Willcox joined the Board in September 2005. He is a member of its Remuneration
Committee.

Mr Willcox is a member of the Board of CSIRO, a member of the Advisory Board of CVC
Asia-Pacific and a Director of Telstra Corporation Limited.

Mr Willcox Is a former Chairman of Symbicn Health Limited (formerly Mayne Group
Limited) (October 2002 to Novernber 2005) and AMP Limited. He is a former Director
of Lend Lease Corporation, FH Faulding & Co. Limited, James Hardie Industries Limited
8HP Limited, North Limited, Woodside Petroleum Lid and Energy Developments. He is
also a former Chief Executive Officer of BHP Petroteum. Age 61.

Dr Thierry Soursac

MD (Oncologist), PhD (Clinical Pharmacology and
Pharmacokinetics), MBA

Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director

Dr Soursac is the Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director of Mayne Pharma.
He joined Mayne Pharma's Board on 21 November 2005, immediately following the
demerger of Mayne Pharma from Mayne Group Limited and upen his appointment
as Chief Executive Officer. Age 48.

Rowan Russell
BA, LLB {(Hons)

Mr Russell joined the Board in September 2005. He is a member of the Board's
Audit & Compliance Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr Russell is Partner in charge of the Mallesons Stephen Jaques office in London.
He is a Professional Assaciate of the Monash University Law School.

Mr Russell is a former Director of Symbion Health Limited (formerly Mayne Graup
Limited) (August 2001 to November 2005). Age 50.




Dr Nora Scheinkestel
PhD, LLB (Hons)

Dr Scheinkestel joined the Board in September 2005. She is Chairman of the Board's
Audii & Compliance Committee and a member of its Remuneration Committee.

Dr Scheinkestel is currently a Director of Orica Limited, Newcrest Mining Limited,
PaperlinX Limited and AMP Limited.

She is a former Director of Symbion Health Limited (formerly Mayne Group Limited)
(July 2005 to November 2005), North Limited, IOOF Funds Managemeni, Medical
Benefits Fund of Australia Limited and chairman and a director of various energy and
water utilities.

Dr Scheinkestel's background is as a senior banking executive in international and
project financing. Age 46.

Dr John Sime
PhD (Biochemistry}, MSc (Physical Chemistry), FRSC, CChem

Dr Sime joined the Board in Septerber 2005, He is Chairman of the Board's
Remuneration Committee and a member of its Audit & Compliance Committee.

Dr Sime is a Director of Prima BioMed Limited. He is currently Adjunct Professor at
Swinburne University of Technology in the School of Research and Graduate Studies.

Dr Sime is a former Director of Symbion Health Limited {formerly Mayne Group Limited
(November 2004 to November 2005) and former Chief Executive Officer of the
Binlndustry Association {UK) and has more than 25 years experience at SmithKline
Beecham Pharmaceuticals {now GlaxoSmithKline plc). Age 65.

Paul Binfield
BA (Hans), ACA {UK), ACA {NZ)
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Mr Binfigld joined Mayne Pharma’s Board in February 2006. He is the Company's
Chief Financial Officer, having responsibility for all aspects of Mayne Pharma’s
financial management and reporting, as well as information technology. Age 41.
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Corporate
governance

The followirg section outlines the main corporate governance practices
imptemented by the Board. These practices are in accardance with the
Australian Stock Exchange ("ASX') Corporate Governance and Best
Practice ReLommendations published by the ASX in March 2003
{‘Best Practice Recommendations’) except for the recommendation to
establish a Momination Committee (Best Practice Recommendation
2.4} and the recommendation that payment of equity-based executive
remuneratic n is made in accordance with thresholds set in plans
approved by shareholders (Best Practice Recommendation 9.4).

With respect to Best Practice Recommendation 2.4, the Board believes
that due to the small size of the Board, it is the responsibility of the
Board as a v/hole to review and assess Board composition and evaluate
Board perfcrmance.

With respec! to the Best Practice Recommendation 9.4, although
payment of pquity-based ptans for executives has not been
specifically approved by shareholders at a general meeting, details
of all equity-based plans were outlined in the scheme book relating
to the deme'ger of Mayne Pharma Limited (‘Mayne Pharma’ or
‘the Compaty'). The demerger was approved by sharenolders

of Mayne Grpup Limited {now Symbion Health Limited) at an
extraordinary general meeting held in November 2005,

Board of Directors — role and responsibilities

The Board iy the governing body of Mayne Pharma. It seeks to
represent ar,d serve the interests of shareholders by overseeing and
appraising the strategies, policies and performance of the Company.
The role of tll1e Board includes protecting and optimising the Company's
performance and building shareholder wealth, setting and reviewing
the Compan'\r’s values and standards and ensuring shareholders are
kept informe d of the Company’s performance and major developments
affecting its state of affairs.

The Board has adopted a written Board Charter and Relationsﬁip with
managemert, which outfines the structure of the Board, its raoles and
respensibilit es and its relationship with management. The charter was
last reviewed and endorsed by the Board in October 2005. A copy of
the charter i5; available from the Corporate Governance Section of
Mayne Phar ma's website.
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Membership

The Board currently comprises six Directors — four Non-Executive
Directors, including the Chairman, and two Executive Directors.
The names, qualifications, skills, experience, expertise and special
responsibilities of these Directors are set out on pages 28 to 29 of
the Annual Report.

The minimum number of Directors is four and the maximum number
of Directors is 14. The Company may elect to vary those numbers in
general meeting, provided that the minimum number of Directors is not
less than four,

The composition of the Board is reviewed by the Board on a regular
basis to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and
experience necessary to govern the Company.

Independence

The Board conducted an assessment in July 2006 and determined
that all of the Non-Executive Directors are considered by the Board

to be independent having regard to the guidelines for assessing
‘independence’ as set out in the Best Practice Recommendations.

In general, these guidelines assist in determining whether a Director

is free of any interest and any business or other relationship that could,
or could be perceived to, materially interfere with the Director's ability
to act in the best interests of the Company.

The two Executive Directors, Dr Thierry Soursac and Mr Paul Binfield
are not considered independent because of their executive
responsibilities. Neither of the Executive Directors helds directorships
in any other listed company.

The policy and practice of the Board is that Directors must comply with
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 regarding disclosure of
any office, property or other interests heid by a Director that could
create a potential conflict of interest. This position is alse entrenched in
the Company's Consiitution. In addition, each Director is required to
notify the Company if any circumsiances change, or new information
comes to their attention, which they believe should be considered by
the Board in the context of determining their 'independence’ as a
Director. The Board annually reviews the independence of each
Director in light of the interests disclosed to the Board.

Terms of appointment

The Board has adepted a letter of appointment that contains the terms
on which Non-Executive Directors will be appointed. The key terms of
appointment are outtined in the following paragraphs.




*-————i___

Independent professional advice

The Company has a formal policy that any Director, with the approval
of the Chairman, can seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense. If the Chairman refuses to give approval, the
Director may consult with the full Board or, in the case of an Executive
Director, with the Non-Executive Directors for approval. A copy of the
policy is available from the Corporate Governance Section of Mayne
Pharma's website. No Director invaked this right during the course

of the year.

Remuneration

The Company’s remuneration palicy for Non-Executive Directars, the
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and other executives
including the Chief Financial Officer, is set out in the Remuneration
report on pages 3€ to 51 of the Annual Report.

Other terms and conditions of appointment

Under its Constitution, the Company indemnifies its Directors, to the
extent permitted by law, against any liability incurred by a Director as an
officer of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company. The indemnity
also extends to cover legal costs incurred by the Director defending an
action for such a liability. The Company has entered into formal deeds
confirming an indemnity of this nature in favour of each of its Directors.

The deeds also grant rights of access to and use of Board papers,
minutes of meetings and other related documents in connection with
proceedings in which the Director may be involved. In general terms,
the rights of access and use expire seven years after ceasingto be a
Director. Under the deeds, the Company also assumes obligations to
arrange Directars' ang officers' liability insurance on behalf of the
Directors, generally until the end of seven years after ceasing to be

& Director.

Review and re-election

The current Board was appointed in preparation for the demerger in
November 2005, after which the Company began cperating as a
separate ASX listed entity. The Board continually moniters and reviews
its own performance, the performance of its committees and individual
Directors. It will complete its first formal review following the first
anniversary of the demerger and thereafter on an annual basis.

All Directors, except the Managing Director, are subject to retirement
by rotation. Provided that Mayne Pharma has three or more Directors,
at each Annua! General Meeting of the Company, one third ¢f the
Directors must retire from office, tn any case, no Director (except the
Managing Director) may retain office for mare than three years or until
the third annual general meeting following the Director’s appeintment,
whichever is longer. If eligible, retiring Directers may stand for re-
etection. The Board’s policy is that tenure of Board service should be
limited to a maximum of nine years except in extenuating circumstances.
A retiring Director who is seeking re-election will be subject toa
performance appraisa! before being put forward for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting. The Board will not endorse a retiring Director
for re-election unless his or her performance is considered satisfactory.

The Board Charter sets out the policy and procedure for selection and
appcintment of new Directors.

Board committees

The Board has established an Audit & Compliance Committee and a
Remuneration Committee o assist in the execution of its responsibilities.
The Board has not established a specific nomination committee or
committees to oversee occupaticnal health and safety or environmental
issues’ as these are viewed as Board responsibilities. Given the smalt
size of the Board and the overseas spread of the Company's business,
the Board believes that alt members of the Board shoutd be fully aware
of its responsibilities in the areas of occupational health and safety and
environment.

Audit & Compliance Committee
The Audit & Compliance Commitiee was established on 4 October 2005.

The Audit & Compliance Committee Charter sets out the roles and
respansibilities of the Committee. These include assisting the Board to
fulfil its responsibilities in relation to the following:

« the reliability and appropriateness of reporting of financial information
to users of the Company’s financial reports, including adequacy of
disctosure and application of accounting policies;

» the relationship with the external auditor;

+ the maintenance of an effective and robust management contral
environment;

= the maintenance of an effective framework of business risk
management; and

= the appropriateness of the insurance program.

Further, in accardance with the Charter, the Committee is responsitte
for reviewing the performance of the external auditor and reviewing the
procedures for selection of, and recommendatiens for, appointment/
removal of the external auditor and for rotation of audit partners. The
Committee also plays & role in monitoring and reporting to the Board on
the nature and quantum cf non-audit services provided by the external
auditor. In addition, the Committee is responsible for approving the
internal audit plan, overseeing the work performed by the internaf
auditor, reviewing reports from the interna! auditor arising from the
internal audit program and reporting thereon to the Board as appropriate.

The Committee s responsible for reviewing Mayne Pharma’s Risk
Management Program an an annual basis and monitoring and reparting
to the Board on the effectiveness of the Program. This is discussed further
below in ‘Internal contral and management of significant business risk’.
The Committee also reviews the scope and appropriateness of the
Company's insurance program in terms of the ‘evel of deductible, level
of cover and quality of counterparty.

The Charter provides that the Committee must consist of only Non-
Executive Directors, a majority of independent Directors, an independent
chair who is not Chairman of the Board and a minimum of three Board
members.

During the year, all members have been independent Non-Executive
Directors. The current composition of the committee is:

» Dr N Scheinkestel {Chairman from 4 October 2005);
* Or J Sime (from 4 Ociober 2005); and
* Mr R Russell {from 4 October 2005).

Details of the members’ qualifications are set out on pages 28 to 29 of
the Annual Report, Details of the number of Cammittee meetings held
during the year and attendance at those meetings are set out in the
Directors' report on page 34 of the Annual Report.
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Uorporate governance continued

The external audit partner attends all Committee meetings by invitation,
as ao the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other
relevant senior executives of the Company. The Non-Executive Directors
also l[neet with the external auditor in absence of management at least
on alc annual basis.

KPM 3 was the external auditor of Mayne Group Limited prior ta the
deme'lrger, Prior to the demerger, the Board reviewed and agreed it was
apprcpriate for KPMG's ongoing appointment as externat auditor of
Mayné Pharma. Their continued appointment is subject to periodic
review. KPMG's appeintment as external auditor will atso need to be
confinned by sharehoiders at the 2006 Annual General Meeting. Under
the Company's current policy, the Lead External Audit Engagement
Partner is required to rotate at least once every five years.

The Committee Charter is available from the Corporate Governance
Section of Mayne Pharma's website,
I

Remuneration Committee
The Renjuneration Committee was established on 20 February 2006.

The Ren‘_?uneration Committee Charter sets out the roles and
responsi?ilities of the Commiitee, These included assisting the Board to:

* set the !i'emuneration policy for the Group;

« review ¢ind determing the remuneration arrangements for the Chief
Executive Officer and Managing Director and other senior executives,
includin 3 pension and incentive palicies and arrangements;

* review a{i\d approve the recrutiment, retention and termination policies
and procedures and succession planning far senior executives;

= oversee the general industrial relations strategies for the Company;

* under de'egated authority from the Board, approve offers under
existing snare, options and rights plans, including setting the terms
of issue fc“r such securities; and

* review any recommend to the Board the remuneration arrangerments
for Non-Ezecutive members of the Board.

I

The Remuneration Committee Charter specifies that the Committee must
consist of a rpinimum of three Non-Executive Directors (the majority
being indepe ndent Directors) and is to be chaired by an independent
Director who is not the Chairman of the Board.

During the year, all members have been independent Non-Executive
. 1 . . .
Directors. Thet current composition of the Committes is:

* DrJ Sime (Cllhairman from 20 February 2006);
* Mr R Russel (from 20 February 2006);

» Mr P Willcox (from 20 February 2006); and
*Dr Scheim‘les‘&e! {from 20 February 2006)

Details of the m embers’ qualifications are set out on pages 28 to 29 of
the Annual Report. Details of the number of Committee meetings held
during the year and attendance at those meetings are set out in the
Directors’ reporll on page 34 of the Annual Report.

As the Company operates in a competitive global enviranment, with
most of the Comdany’s revenues being generated in the Northern
Hemisphere and most of the senior executives based in Londaon, the
Committee has e5tablished appropriate remuneration policies and
practices relevan’ to the market.
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To assist the Committee with this process, remuneration advice is being
sought from external consultants.

The Committee Charter is available from the Corporate Governance
Section of Mayne Pharma’s website.

Ethics

The Board and management recognise the importance of developing
ang maintaining a strong culture built on the expectation that all
Directors, managers and employees will act with integrity and honesty
at all times, to fulfil the Company’s obligaticns to its stakenolders.
Mayne Pharma has policies across a range of specific areas, including
workplace discrimination and harassment and appropriate use of
internet and email and occupational health and safety. A Code of
Conduct has been adopted by the Board, which sets out a clear
understanding of desirea behaviour.

Mayne Pharma has in place a Whistleblowers Protection Policy which
encourages any employee or contractor who believes, in good faith,
that any reportable conduct has occurred, to report their concerns
under a formal system and on a confidential or anonymous basis,

Share trading policy — Directors and employees

Mayne Pharma has policies in relation ta trading in its securities by
Directors and employees. The policies reflect the insider trading
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 and, broadly speaking, seek to
limmit trading of Company securities by Directors and employees to three
one-month windows during the year, coinciding with the release of
Mayne Pharma's hali-year results, annual results and the ho'ding of
Mayne Pharma's Annual General Meeting.

A summary of the share trading policy for Directors is available from
the Corporate Governance Section of the Company's website. Mayne
Pharma employees can access the share trading policy for employees
on the Mayne Pharma intranet site.

The Board has approved the establishment of a Non-Executive
Directors Share Plan (‘Plan’). Shares are purchased on behali of the
Nen-Executive Directors by an external administrator. The purchases are
carried out automatically on a set date every month and the Board is not
involved with these purchases. Further details of the Plan are provided
in the Remuneration report on page 40 of the Annual Report.

Board review of management performance and remuneration
The Chief Executive Officer 2nd Managing Director, senior executives
and managers are subject to an annual individual performance
appraisal that addresses individual performance against agreed
business objectives and provides for constructive discussion on
tndividual competencies to enhance future performance. At the time
of each review, the objectives are set for the forthcoming review period.

The performance of key executives is further considered by the
Remuneration Committee, incluging in the context of reviewing the
capabitity of management to realise Mayne Pharma’s business strategy.

Mayne Pharma's remuneration policies for the Chief Executive Officer
and Managing Director, and details of the executives with the greatest
autharity and receiving the highest remuneration during the year are set
out in the Remuneration report on pages 46 to 46 of the Annual Report.




Continuous disclosure policy

Mayne Pharma has in place a Disclosure Palicy that sets out guidelines
and processeas to be foliowed In order to ensure the Company’s
continuous disclosure obligations are met. Included as an annexure to
the Disclosure Policy is a Media Relations Policy that clearly lists those
individuals who are authorised to make statements to the media and
the process for authorising media releases. Mayne Pharma also has
an established practice of posting media releases and cther major
announcements, such as half-year and full-year results, on its website
promptly following lodgement of announcements with the ASX, There
are also procedures in place relating to the release of price-sensitive
information, which require confirmation of market release from the ASX
prior to release of that category of information to any other parties.

A more detailed surmmary of Mayne Pharma's policies and procedures
regarding continuous disclosure, media relations and communication
with shareholders is available from the Corporate Governance section
of the Company's website.

Communication with shareholders

The Board represents the sharehclders and recognises the importance
of keeping sharehclders updated on all majer developments affecting
Mayne Pharma's state of aifairs. Information is communicated to
shareholders through the Annual Repart, Financial Report, half and
full-year results announcements, disclosures to the ASX, Mayne
Pharma's website and the annual general meeting. Shareholders can
also subscribe to receive advice by email of Mayne Pharma’s price-
sensitive news releases.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend Mayne Pharma's Annual
General Meetings and to use this opportunity to meet Directors and
senior exacutives and ask questigns of the Board. The external auditor
attends Mayne Pharma's Annual General Meetings and is available to
answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the
preparation and cantent of the auditor's report.

The Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director has also met
with Mayne Pharma's key stakeholders and analysts to present the
Company's corporate vision and strategy. This information has also
been made available on Mayne Pharma's website.

Internal control and management of significant business risk
Risk management

The identification and proper management of risk within Mayne Pharma
is an important priority for the Board and management. The Audit &
Compliance Committee is responsible for monitoring and reporting to
the Board on the effectiveness of Mayne Pharma's Risk Management
Program. The Board views risk management as integral to creating and
maintaining sharzhoider value and the successful execution of its
strategies. Therefare, it is committed to the philosophy of effective
business risk management as a core managerial capability. The Chief
Executive Officer and Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer
provide assurances to the Board as to the integrity of Mayne Pharma’s
risk management process and financial reports in accordance with
recommendations 4.1 and 7.2 of the Best Practice Recommendations.

Mayne Pharma's formal Risk Management Policy confirms the
importance of developing organisation-wide capabilities in risk
management so as to ensure a consistent, efficient, and effective
assessment of risk in the achievement of corporate goals. The policy
includes details of the responsibilities of the Board, various Board
Committees, and management, internal audit and Group compliance,

Management of risk is inherent in, and fundamentai to, the culture of
Mayne Pharma. Effective risk management systems and processes are
critical in assisting Mayne Pharma in the achievemenit of its corporate
goals, including complying with global standards far the development
and manufacture of pharmaceutical product and compliance with
ethical standards for sales and marketing in the many jurisdictions in
which the Company operates.

The Board believes that effective risk management starts with a well
defined corporate strategy, which is ctearly communicated throughout
the organisation and to its external stakeholders. The Board seeks to
promote a culture within the organisation that encourages employees to
be aware of and effectively communicate and manage risk. Systems
adopted by Mayne Pharma include effective sirategic planning, the
development of policies and procedures designed to identify and
mitigate risk, effective monitoring and reporting of risk and forecasting.

Mayne Pharma is seeking to further strengthen its overall system of risk
management and has engaged advisers to undertake a thorough review
of current systems and processes with a view to developing a risk
framework that cohesively draws together all aspects of currant risk
management activity. A senior executive has recently been appointed
as Vice President, Business Risk Audit and Compliance and will
assume leadership of this review and, in due course, repert to the Audit
& Compliance Committee with recommendations for implementation.

Financial reporting, investment appraisal and foreign currency/
interest rate exposure

The results of each business are reparted against the budget and
monitored by the Board and management. There are guidelines for
capital expenditure, which include specified levels of delegated authority
and require Board apgrova! for significant expenditure proposals.

Mayne Pharma is exposed to changes in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. Mayne Pharma's poficy is to use derivative financial
instruments solely to hedge these risks. [t does noi enter, hold or issua
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Internal audit and compliance

Mayne Pharma's internal audit function fs positioned to align service
delivery to changing business reeds. The audit program uses a
business risk-based approach that is aligned to Group business
objectives. Its focus is on controls assurance: maintaining adequate
controls over key processes and strategic initiatives being pursved by
the business.

A Group Compliance Program is in place o monitor Mayne Pharma's
compliance with its legal and statutory obligations. The principal
abjectives of the Compliance Program are to ensure there are systems
and pracesses in place to promote & clear understanding across the
Group of all relevant obligations, 10 monitor compliance and, where
issues are identified, to ensure that prompt action is taken to achieve
compliance.

Mayne Pharma has recently engaged advisers to review the scope of
the internal audit function and to assess the current audit methodology
as well as strengthen the resourcing of the function. The external
advisers have assisted in the development of the annual plan and are
also providing expert internal audit resources. This increased reliance
an external resources reflects the growing complexity and geographical
diversity of the business.

A key role of the recently appointed Vice President, Business Risk Audit
and Compliance is to oversee the day-to-day management of the
function, as well as to report to the Audit & Compliance Committee on
the findings of the review.
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Directors
report

The Dhrectors present their report for the year ended 30 June 2006
(referted {0 as 'the year’ or ‘FY06'), accompanied by the financial
repor” for the year of Mayne Pharma Limited (‘Mayne Pharma’ or
‘the Company'} and the entities it controlled from time to time during
the year (‘the Group').

Direc’ors
The D'rectors of the Company during the year (or, where indicated,
during part of the year only) were:

* Mr Feter Jochn Willcox (appointed 29 September 2005);
s Dr Tpierry Jean Alphonse Soursac {(appointed 21 November 2005);
* Mr Fowan McRae Russell (appointed 29 September 2005);
¢ Dr John Martin Sime {appointed 29 September 2005);
+ Dr Nora Lia Scheinkestel {appointed 29 September 2005);
* My P'?ul Andrew Binfield (appointed 20 May 2003,
resigned 18 Novemnber 2005, re-appointed 22 February 2006);
« Mr Sluart Bruce James (appointed 17 September 2002,
resig?ed 18 November 2005);
» My P ater Lindsay Jenkins (appointed 7 June 2001,
resighed 4 October 2005);
» Mr MEchaeI John Kotsanis (appointed 22 March 2005,
resigned 4 Qctober 2005).
|

Details of each current Director's gualifications, experience and special
respon:&ibilities are set out on pages 28 to 29 of the Annual Report.

Secrel;‘gries
The quilifications and experience of the Company Secretaries, are set
out belqw.

Ms Tanjara Joseph

Compal?y Secretary

Details of Ms Joseph's qualifications are set out on page 27 of the
Annual Report.

Mr Dimtri Kiriacoulacos

LLB {Hens}, BA (Accounting)

Compary Secretary

Mr Kiriadoulacos is Vice President Legal and Company Secretary of
Mayne Fharma, having joined the company in 2002. His background
isin lega] and accounting private practice. Age 39.
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Directors’ meetings

The number of meetings of the Board of Directors and of each Board
Committee held during the year, and each Director's attendance at
those meetings, are set out below:

Director Board Audit &  Remuneration

meetings Compliance Committee |
Committee

_ . __ Hela* _ At _Held* At _Held*! At |

P Wilicox 17 | 16% 2+ 4+ 1 1 ]

TSoursac 13 " 10 ’ an 2h " 1A v 1a J

RRussell 17 164 = 4 3 11 J

- == == B3 = 1\: . - = = EER

J Sime 17 164 4 4 1 1 J

N Scheinkestel 17 - 164 . 4 4 1 1 ]

PBnfied 15 14 1A ' 1A - . “

* Reflects the number of meetings held during the year while a Director or Committee

member.

“ Reflects where an individual attenced these meetings by invitation of the Committee.
+ P Willcox is an ex-officio member of the Audit & Compliance Commitiee.

# The Non-Executive Directors did not attend a meeting held pricr to the demerger.
This was an administrative meeting held o comply with section 347A of the

Corporations Act 20C1.

The following individuals were Directors during the year but resigned
as Directors cn or tefore the date of the demerger. The {abte below
indicates their attendance at meetings held prior to the date of the

demerger.

Previous . Meetings . Meetingsi
Director held  attended
LS lames 6 . 5
Plenkins 3. 0]
M Kotsanis ! 3 v o J

Details of committee membership and functions are set out in
the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 31 to 32 of the

Annual Repaort.




Principal activities

The principal activilies of Mayne Pharma during the period consisted
of the development, manufacture and sale of pharmaceuticals to more
than 65 countries.

Dividends and distributions
Mo dividends or distributions were paid to members during the year,

The following dividends or distributions have been recommended or
declared for payment to members, but not paid, during and since the
end of the year:

« Final 1.5 cents dividend payable cn 5 October 2006 (fully franked).

Review and resuits of operations

A review of operations of Mayne Pharma during the year, and the results
of those operations, can be found in the CEQ's Report on pages 14 to 15
and the Review of operations on pages 18 to 23 of the Annual Report.

Significant change in the state of affairs

Mayne Pharma was demerged from Mayne Group Limited, now
Symbion Health Limited, on 18 November 2005. The strategic
objective at the demerger was to establish Mayne Pharma as a leading
global injectable and specialty pharma business. With this came a
major change through the re-location of the global business operations
and the executives from Melbourne to Londen. Following a detailed
review of its operations, a detailed strategic action plan was announced
to the market on 5 May 2006.

On 6 February 2006, Mayne Pharma announced that it was evaluating
strategic options for its Puerto Rican manufacturing facility at Aguadilla.
This review was still ongoing at the year end.

As part of the Company's new strategy, on 22 June 2006, Mayne
Pharma agreed to acquire the North American rights to Nipent®,

a product for the treatment of hairy cell leukaemia and certain other
oncology-related products from SuperGen, Inc. for a maximum
total consideration of $US34.4 million. This deal completed on

24 August 2006.

During the year, Mayne Pharma moved many of its corporate
functions to new offices in London, UK in order to be closer to the
Company’s major markets in the Northern Hemisphere.

Events after the end of the year

On 28 July 2006, Mayne Pharmz announced that an agreement
with Pliva d.d. had been {inalised for the continued development of
bigsimilar granulocyte-colony stimuiating factor for the European,
South East Asian, Middle Eastern and Asia Pacific markets.

Other than the event referred to above, there has not arisen in the
interval between the end of the year and the date of this report any
matter or circurnstance that in the opinion of the Directors of the
Company, has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the
operations of the Group, the results of thase operations or the siate
of affairs of the Group, in future financial years.

Future developments

As previously announced to the market on 22 February 2006, Mayne
Pharma is examining the possibility of listing on the London Stock
Exchange, as well as the Australian Stock Exchange. No decision has
yet been made.

Likely developments for Mayne Pharma and its operations in future
years and the expected results of those operations are referred to on
pages 1 to 23 of the Annual Report.

Relevant interests of current Directors in shares
The relevant interests of each current Director in shares of Mayne
Pharma as at the date of this report are:

Director Fully paid
ordinary shares

& -

P Wnl!cox 61,651

| | o
[T Soursac | -
|

RRussell . 61660
[JSame T 19608
{N Schemkestel T 279,655
[P_Bmfield -7 188,562

Note: No shares are held non-beneficially.

Options

During FY06, Mayne Pharma granted aptions for no consideration that
are convertible into ordinary shares in the Company to the following
directors and to the following of the five most highly remunerated
officers of the Company as part of their remuneration:

Director T Number of 1 Exercise ; Expiry date
options granted price

TSowsac 2700000 |  $2.50 . 19 Novemser 2010 ]

P Binfseld 1,360,000  $250 19 November 2010 ]

Officers o ” ‘ ]

BSimmons | 500000, $250 , 16 January 2011 ]

Heurill 1 375000 $250 lJanuary 2011 ]

Note: During F Y08, J Pearce was granted 990,000 aptions, however, on the
cessation of his employment an 15 September 2006 these options were cancelled
and will be cash settled.
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| Di{egtqrg’ report continued

i

Subsequent to year end, the Company granted options for no

~ cons deration that are convertible into ordinary shares in the Company
" to the following directors and to the following of the five most highly

- remunerated officers of the Company as part of their remuneration:

; |

Direztor 1| Number of Exercise | Expiry date
I options granted | price

TScursac |, 1,350,000 . $2.90 . 12 September 2011

[PBitfield | 680000 | $290 | 12 September 2011 |

LOff}cegs 7 ) - o -
- I b

B Senmons | 250,000 $2.90 . 12 September 2011

[HBumill | 375000 | $2.90 | 12 Septemser 2011

1

_ Detaily of unissued ordinary shares of Mayne Pharma under option as
. &t the date of this report are:

i

Number of ' Expiry date of k Exercise price

sdinary shares | options ! of options ($)
under option |

"~ 4210000 | 19 November 2010 | " $2.50

150,000 ] 13 December 2010 JL %250

" 375000 L 1Januery 2011 $2.50

[ 1100000 | 16 January 2011 1 $2.50

65,000 Jk " 2Marchzoll | 5250

T 300000 ‘Tﬁ 1 Aprit2011 * 3250

T 340000, | 18May2011 | YRS

"7 350000 1 23 May 2011 © 3268

30000 [ 29 May 2011 " 5267

B 600,000 ‘l 31 July 2011 ‘ 3263

3,650,000 | 12 September 2011 - $2.80

f
Note: Furllher details on these options can be found in Notes 22 and 35 of the full
financial r :port. Subsequent to year end but befare the date of this report, 990,000
aptions wc“'re cancelled upon the cessation of employment of a senior executive.

The optic?ns have been issued under the Mayne Pharma Executive
Share Qption Plan. A total of 11,170,000 ordinary shares are under
option to'14 option holders.
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Indemnities and insurance

Article 7.3(a) of Mayne Pharma’s constitution provides that the
Company must, to the extent permitted by law, indemnify each person
who is or has been a Director of the Company and may, to the extent
permitted by law, indemnify each person who is or has been an officer
{(as defined in the Corpgrations Act 2001) ¢f the Company or
subsidiary of the Company against:

+ all liabilities incurred by the person as an officer of the Company
{or a subsidiary of the Company); and

= all legal costs incurred by the person in defending an action as an
officer of the Company (or a subsidiary of the Company).

in addition, Article 7.3(c) of Mayne Pharma’s constitution provides
that the Company may, to the extent permitted by law, pay, or agree
to pay a premium for a contract insuring a Director or Secretary of the
Company against all liability and legal costs contemplated above.

During or since the end of the year, Mayne Pharma has paid a
premium in respect of a contract insuring each of the Directors and
executive officers of the Group against liabilities that are permitied to
be covered by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001, The class
of executive officer covered by the insurance policy includes officers
involved in the management of the Group. 1t is a condition of the
insurance contraci that its limits of indemnity, the nature of the liability
indemnified and the amount of the premium, not be disclosed.

During or since the end of the year, Mayne Pharma entered into
deeds of access, indemnity and insurance in favour of Messrs
P Witlcox, R Russell, P Binfield and Drs T Soursac, ! Sime and
N Scheinkestel, in accordance with the terms of Arlicle 7.3(a) of
the Company's ¢onstitution,

Mayne Pharma was not liable during the 2006 financial year under
any such indemnities to its Directors, Secretary or officers.

No indemnity has been granted to an auditor of Mayne Pharma in its
capacity as auditor of the Company.

Environmental regulations

The operations of the Group in Australia are subject to various
environmental regulations under both Commoenwealth and State
legistation and must also meet the requirements of certain foreign
regulatory bodies,

Fram inquiries within the Group, the Directors are not aware of any
material breaches of any particular and significant environmental
regulation affecting the Group's operations.

In making this report, the Directors note that the Group’s operations
during the year commonly involved the transport of goods, the
disposal of wasie, the use of various substances and processes in
the manufacturing of pharmaceutical products and the storage of
pharmaceutical products and substances involved in the various
manufacturing processes. These activities, particularly the manufac-
turing activities and pharmaceutical business, may require a licence,
consent or approval from Commonwealth State or foreign regulatory
bodies. Where the Group’s activities potentially involve contaminated
waste, this waste is generally transported and disposed of by external
organisations, which are appropriately licensed.




The Board and management are aware of the Company's responsibilities
relating to maintaining compliance with the various environmental
regulations. Internal measures and controls have been implemented
inclusive of pertodic environmental audits/reviews of the Company's
manuiacturing sites against applicable standards. Corporate and Siie
Management are engaged to review the status of each site and to
work in a proactive manner to ensure that the Cempany meets

the environmental regulations in an ever-changing and dynamic
regulatory envircnment,

Non-audit services
During the year KPMG, Mayne Pharma’s auditor, has performed
ceriain other services in addition to its statutery duties.

The Board has considerad the non-audit services provided during the
year by the auditor and in accordance with written advice provided by
(and endorsed by resoluticn of) the Audit & Compliance Committee,
is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during the
year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the
auditor independence requirements of the Corpoerations Act 2001 for
the following reasons:

¢ All non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance
procedures adopted by the Company and have been reviewed by
the Audit & Compliance Committee to ensure that they do not
impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor,

* The non-audit services provided do not undermine the general
principles of auditor independence as set aut in Professional
Statement F1 Professional Independence, issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Australia and CPA Australia, as they did
not tnvalve reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acling in a
management or decision making capacity for the Company, acting
as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is included in this
directors’ report.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of Mayne Pharma, KPMG,
and its related practices for audit and non-audit-related services
provided during the year are set out in note 7 on page 22 of the
Financial Report.

The audit-related fees of $1,707,000 and taxation services fees of
$800,000 referred to in note 7 relates to work performed by the
auditor in assisting management in examining of the possibility of
listing on the London Stock Exchange, as well as the Australian
Stock Exchange. The remaining fees of $826,000 for taxation
services relates to the provision by the auditor of tax compliance
services and tax support in relation to specific tax issues including
residual tax issues in relation to the demerger.

Lead auditor's independence declaration under section
307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To: The Directors of Mayne Pharma Limited

| declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation
to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 there
have been:

(1) no contraventions of the auditar independence requirements
as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;
and

{2) no contraventions of any applicabte code of professional
conduct in relation to the audit.

APH

KPMG

’I)C.\.»L ™ ‘OL LAUA_ -
Paul J McDaonald

Partner

Metbourne
20 September 2006

Proceedings on behalf of the Company

No proceedings have been brought on behalf of the Company and no
application has been made ior leave to bring, or to intervene in,
proceedings in respect of the Company under section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001.

Rounding

The Company is of the kind referred 1o in the ASIC Class Order 98 /
100. As a result, amounts in this report and accompanying financial
report have, except where otherwise required, been rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars or, where the amount is $500 or less, zero in
accordance with that Class Order.

This Directors’ report is made on 20 September 2006 in accordance
with a resolution of the Directors.

Lfoten . e

PJ WILLCOX
DIRECTOR

TJA SOURSAC
DIRECTOR
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Remuneration
report

This report for the 2006 financial year (‘'FY06') was prepared by

the Directors in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. Under
AASB 124 ‘Relateld Party Disclosures’ (‘AASB 124'), we are required
to disclose remur eration details of our ‘key management personnel’
{(*KMP"}. In additian to the Directors, for the purposes of this
disclosure, our KIAPs alsa include the executives noted in Tables 12,1
and 12.2. For the remainder of this report those KMPs that are not
Directors, will be ‘r'eferred to as Specified Executives.

Remuneration r2port 2006

As part of the Dirzctors’ report, this Remuneration report explains
Mayne Pharma’s ‘:'emuneration policies and practices and the emphasis
the Directors place on linking rewards and Company performance.

The report covers the following nine areas:

1. Remuneration committee and principles of reward

2. Non-Executive Director remuneration

3. Board policy on executive remuneration

4. Executive Director and Specified Executive remuneration
5. Company performance

6. Executive pension plan

7. Employment agreement provisions

8. Remuneration paid

9. Payments tc persons before taking office

Unless otherwise stated all values expressed in this report are
Australian dollars (‘AUD").

Table 1 Directors and Specified Executives: current remuneration policy

| Elements of Directors Specified
remuneration B I . - . Executives
Non-Executive | Executive
Fixed remuneration  Fees - i I ot T L
. _ _ . o ; _
: Salary - v v
At-risk resﬁunieratidhﬁrShort;Térm Inc;;ive oo vy
At-risk remuneration _WSharé_options T T v
Termination ) :.'Notice; periods and - - v v
o . __ |termination payments _ _ . _
Other benefits Incidental taxable - v v
o - _fringe benefits B i i _ ]
Superannuation/ Employer contribution r . v v |
pension plans
Table 2 Non-Executive Directors: base fees for 2006 financial year
‘ Board Audit & Compliance and
[ Remuneraticn Committees
o ; -__Chalrmra_nn ’ - Men;ger Chai-r_man T Member
Fee (AUD) 330000 110000 15000 | -
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Section 1 — Remuneration Committee
and principles of reward

The Remuneration Committee sets remuneration policy for the
company and oversees its implementation. The Committee's Charter,
available at www.maynepharma.com, sets forth the Commitieg's
role, responsibilities, membership and operation. A summary of this
information can also be found in the Directors’ Corporate Governance
Statement on page 32 of the Annual Report.

The Commiitee's objective in assessing appropriate levels of
remuneration is to closely align remuneration of key management
personnel with shareholders' interests. This is achieved through
remuneration packages that emphasise performance-related pay.
The performance or ‘at risk’ remuneration comprises short term
incentives and long term incentives, where reward outcomes will be
determined having regard to the performance of both Mayne Pharma
and the individuals.

Section 2 — Non-Executive Director
remuneration

Board policy on Non-Executive Director remuneration
Mayne Pharma's Constitution provides that the Board shail determine

In setting fee levels, the Board periodically obtains external
independent advice as o the appropriate remuneration levels to
remain competitive with the market. In particular, the Board seeks to
position the emoluments of Non-Executive Directors at levels similar
to those in Australian companies of comparable size and complexity
to Mayne Pharma.

The current level of Non-Executive Directors’ fees was set on

1 September 2005 as part of the preparation for the demerger and
separate listing of Mayne Pharma. The fees have not been increased
since they were initially set.

Superannuation contributions in agdition to Directors’ fees are
made by Mayne Pharma on behalf of the Non-Executive Directors in
accordance with Mayne Pharma's statutory obligations.

In accardance with Article 6.5 of Mayne Pharma's Constifution,
Directors are also permitted to be paid additional fees for extra
or special services. Such fees are not included in the aggregate
remuneration cap approved by shareholders.

Additional fees paid to Directors for the due diligence processes
associated with the propesal to list on the tondon Stack
Exchange were:

Table 3 Non-Executive Directors: additional {ees

the total remuneration paid to Directors for their services as Directors Non-Executive Directors I Additional fee paid J
in respect of each year and its distribution amongst them, provided Lo e o o
that such total amount shall not exceed the maximum aggregate P Witlcox ! $20,000 ]
amaunt approved from time 1o time by shareholders in a general - - o S
meeting. The present maximum aggregate amount, which was N Scheinkestel $30.000 ]
approved by a resolution of Mayne Group Limited shareholders on Lo T o R - An :
9 Novernber 2004, is $1,500,000 a year. I Sime o $20000°
The fees paid to Directors reflect the respensibilities of, and time R Russell | $20,000 J
commitmentis required from, each Director to discharge their
duties. In order to maintain their independence and impartiality,
the remuneration of Non-Executfve Directors is not linked to the
performance of Mayne Pharma.
Table 4.1 Current Non-Executive Directors' remuneration
Primary Post | Equity Other - Total |
employment | compensation | compensation " remuneration |
e e - ¥ Bt - - - - |
Cash. Shares | incentive Non- Super- . Fair value of = Termunation/ .
%, $ $ monetary ~ annuation ' share options retirement
. . . benefits * ‘ . payments
PWillcox 2006 368750 ' 38368 - -7 36641 - ST 443750 |
L '2008 ' 280500 ' 49,500 . - 1949 29700 - .- 361549
R Russell "2006 136,250 19,181 ¢ - - 13,989 | - - 169,420
o '2o0h ! 72690 ! 45194 -, 214,  loelo - = 130658
N Scheinkesiel . 2006 ~ 155,000 f 14,529 - - 15,258 | - - 184,787
SOt R S S S U T T -
J Sime ? '2006 145417 ' 17,331 - - - 14847 - - 177395
. 05 67182, 938. - -, 676 -- -, 83276
TOTAL :2006 ' 805,417 ! 89,409 ! - - 80,535 - -, 975,361
2005 . 420,372 ' 104,022 | - 4,113 47,076 - = 575,583

1 Comparative remuneration data for 2005 is derived from the Symbion Health Limited (formerly Mayne Group Limited) (‘Symbion’) Annual Report for 2005 and reflects the
remuneration paid to the directors by Symbion for that year. With respect to 2006, the remuneration reflects amounts paid by Symbien to diwectors up until the daie of

demerger and remuneration paid o directors by Mayne Pharma from that date.
2 Dr N Scheinkestel was appointed 10 the board of Symbion on 1 July 2005,
3 Dr J Sime was appointed to the board of Symbion on 10 November 2004,

4 These snares were purchased from Directors fees pursuant to the Non-Executive Directers' Share Plan.
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Remuneration report continued

Retirement allowances
No ciJrrent Non-Executive Director is entitled to a retirement allowance
upan ceasing to hold office.

|

Non-Executive Directors' Share Plan

The Eloard believes it is important for Non-Exacutive Directors 1o have
aneq lJity interest in Mayne Pharma to better align their intarasts with
those of shareholders. To achieve this, the establishiment of a Non-

Execu‘,ive Directors’ Share Plan (*Plan’) was approved by the Board,

Direct({nrs must apply a mimmum of 20% of their Directors’ fees

to acquiring shares in Mayne Pharma under the Plan, The Board
detenmined that this mandatory minimum participation level would
only ap'ply until ihe value of shares in which the Director has an
interesl is equal to or greater than the annual amount of the Directar's
fees. The Plan also allows Non-Executive Directors to take a higher
mroportion of their fees in the form of shares should they efect to da so.

A Non-Executive Direclor who acquires shares under the Plan
generally must not transfer those shares before the earlier of the
end of 12 years from the date acquired or the date on which the
Mon-Executive Direclor ceases to be a Director of Mayne Pharma.

The Plan is not a performance-based share plan and is not intended to
be an incentive component of Non-Executive Director remuneration.

During the year, a total of 33,263 ordinary shares were purchased on
the markat in accordance with the Plan and the value of these shares
is shown in Table 4.1. No new sharas were issued under the Plan
during the year.

Interests Feld by Non-Executive Directors in shares in Mayne Pharma
are set oul on page 35 of the Directors’ report.

Tabie 4.2 Current Executive Directors’ remuneration

Remuneration paid to Directors

The total fees paid to individual Non-Executive Directars (cash plus
shares} are inclusive of fees in connection with attendance

at Board and Board committee meetings.

Dr T Soursac and Mr P Binfield do not receive any {ees far their
services as Executive Directors of the Company.

Mon-Executive Directors are not entitled to Long Service Leave.
No Executive Directors tock Long Service Leave during the year.

Section 3 - Board policy on executive
remuneration

Overview

The effective management of executive remuneration underpins the
ability of Mayne Pharma to attract, retain and motivate executives of
the calibre essential {0 the successful leadership and management
of a global company against the exacting standards required of the
pharmaceutical industry.

The Company operates in a competitive globa! environment, with
most of the Company's revenues being generated in the Northern
Hemisphere and most of the senior executives being based in London.

To assist the Board, expert remuneration advice is sought in respect
of executive and non-executive directors and specified executives.

To address the global environment, separate market informaticn is
obtained for the three countries, i.e. UK, USA and Austrafia where
personnel are located, as well as comparisens with industry generally
and the pharmaceuticat sector specifically. Advice has been sought
from Hay Group, Mercers, PricewaterhouseCoopers and Towers Perrin.

Primary Post Equity | Other Total
employment compensation compensation remuneration

Cash Shares  Incentwe . *Non- S[Jpef- " “Fairvalue of ~ Termination/

3 $ $ . monetary annuation  share options retirzament .

henefits payments
'TSoursac 2008 , 1,337,251 . - 1,002,942 © 836238 267456 402,418 - 33846305
P Binfield ! © 2006 675,575 . - 624,500 1,836 83,454 202,838 150,929 1,739,132
7 2005 436880 , - 485000 2593 33120 = - 957,593
TOTAL -2006 2,012,826 - 1627442 838,074 350,910 605,256 150,929 5,585,437
2005 436,880 - 485,000 2,593 33,120 - - 957,533

4

1 Dr T Soursac : nd Mr P Binfield were paid their remuneration to 18 November 2005 by Symbion. This table reflects all remuneration paid to these individuals either by

Symbion or Mz'yne Pharma in 2006 and 2005.

2 Mr P Binfield vas paid in lieu of accrued but untaken annual and long service leave on his transfer to London and cessation of his Australian employment contract.

3 Non-monetary lbenefits include payments for the provision of accommodation, utilities, travel, motor vehicles, etc,

4 Fair value of op'ions have been calcuiated based en an independent valuation provided by Deloitte dated 25 August 2006. The fair value is apportianed pro rata from grant

date 1o the projicted date of vesting in three years.
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Table 4,3 Former Non-Executive Directors’ and Executive Directors’ remuneration

| Primary - Post - Equity | Other Total
. employment | compensation , compensation ; remuneration
Cash |  Shares 1\ Incentive | Non- Super- : Fairvalue of | Termination/
$ $ ‘ $ menetary | annuation | share options retirement |
. J‘ | benefits JI J J payments

- " - L o . _ . A _ — N ’.
S.amss¢ 2006 676,236 315467 875000 189,933 - - 3488796 . 5,545,332
12005 ' 1,750,000 | 285989 1925000 249642 - - 4210631
[P Jenking 2V 12006 463,396 | - 4725007 81,3207 67895 - " 774624 1,859,744
i . ,2005,; 423083 - 5h200CO0 119729 117583 . 29,143 - 1,241,538
W Kotsamis ' 2006 437,861 , - | 387,000 5,126 | 17,931 - - 847,918
2005 404737 - 400000 40596 11,585 - -, 850918
| Blackburne 2006 | 46,875 - - - a9 - - 51,004
a5 12005 . 841821 135441 - 1460 8,795 - - 107981
JHall#5:> 2006 . 76,875 - - . 6,919 ' - - 83,794
2005 7083 - - - 638 - _ 7721
CKay*® 2006 72,500 - - - 6,525 - -, 79,025
2005 " 105750 18,000 ' - - 11,138 - - 134888
P McCintock 12006 ~ 70,313 | - - X . - 76,641
<6 2005, 9375 . - - 844 | - - 10,219
P Barnet:*7 2006 - | - - - - - - -
'20c5 57038 6,327 | - 1581 5704 - 277568 348218
P Maso1 &’ 2008 " - -7 - - - . - -
12005 - | 53527 | - 1,882 “7 4826 ! -! 277,387 337,602
JSloan®' 2008 - - - - - - - -
| 2005 - 33146 - 2550, = 2995 - 253,328 292,019
DKnott*® 2005 - - - - - - - -
2005 26,650 | 17840 ! - - apoo - - 48,490
TOTAL /2008 1,844,056 ' 315,467 - 1,734,500 276,388 | 109,817 | - 4,263,420 8,543,648
2005 2,867,808 | 428,373, 2877000 417420 . 168,108 . 29,143 | 808,283  7596,225

1 Comparative remuneration data for 2005 is derived from the Symbion Health Limited (formerly Mayne Group Limited} (*Symbicn'} Annual Report for 2005 and reffects the
remuneration paid to the directors by Symbion for that year. With respect 1o 2006, the remuneration reflects amounts paid by Symbicn to directors up until the date of
demerger and remuneration paid to directors by Mayne Pharma from that date.

2 In accardance with their Service Agreements, the Company made a separaticn payment to Mr fames for the balance of his Agreement (19 November 2005 {o
28 August 2007) and a payment to Mr Jenkins equivalent to 12 months FAR, plus accrued but untaken leave.

3 Mr M Kotsanis was a director of Mayne Pharma Pty Ltd which became Mayne Pharma Limited wpen demerger. He resigned from that directorship on 4 October 2005 in
preparation for demerger, however, he continued his employment as a senior executive with the Cormpany. Remuneration disclosed represents all amounts paid for the full
year,

4 Directors of Symbicn who did not become directors of Mayne Pharma upon demerger are considered key management personnel of Mayne Pharma up to the time of
demerger in accordance with the requirements of AASB 124 'Related Party Disclosures’. With the exception of Mr Kotsanis, none of these individuals are currently
associated with the Company.

5 Dri Blackburne was appointed as a director of Symbion on 1 September 2004

6 Mr J Hall and Mr P McClintock were appointed to the beard of Symbion on 8 June 2005.

7 Mr P Barnett and Mr P Mason retired from the board of Symbion on 22 February 2005.

8 Professor.) Sloan retired from the board of Symbion on 9 Novemnber 2004,

9 Mr D Knott was appointed to the board of Symbion on 10 November 2004 and resigned on 31 March 2005 to take an overseas posting.
10 Includes payments of $30,000 and $20,000 respectively to Mr J Hall and Ms C Kay for their membership of the demerger committee.

11 Mr P Jenkins was classified as a KMP during the period as he was the Chief Development Officer of Mayne Group Limited and subsequently Mayne Pharma in additicn to
being a director of Mayne Pharma Pty Ltd.
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Remuneration report continued

A large proportion) of the total remuneration is potentially based on
performance, with delivery over the short, medium and long term.
Performance me.-T‘lsures are balanced between absolute financial
measures and strategic delivery objectives to achieve maximum
alignment betwegn executive and shareholder ebjectives.

Executive Remuneration Policy

The Remureraticn Committee recommended, and the Board has
adopted a Mayne Pharma Executive Remuneration Policy (‘Policy’)
to provide the fray ework and direction for reward and recognition
structures and p'ocesses applicable 1o all Mayne Pharma executives
and senior management, recognising the global spread of the

Company’s activ ties.
The policy provic)es that executive remuneration will;

» reinforce the Company’s short, medium and long-term abjectives as
set outin its Cu{':mpany's strategic business plans;

+ provide comm n interest between employees and shareholders by
linking executize rewards to enhancement of sustainable shareholder
wealth; and

» be competitive in the markets in which the Company operates, in
order to attract top talent, motivate delivery of superior perfermance
and recognise capabilities. The relevant comparator market takes
into account factors such as company dimensions, geographical
location, spec’alty pharmaceutical rales, global activity and the key
recruitment mr arkets,

The components of total remuneration shall be Fixed Annual
Remuneration (*FAR’) and ‘at risk’ remuneration, which comprises
Short Term Incintive (*STI"Y and Long Term Incentive ('LTI'). The
reward mix of these components shall be set to provide competitive
overall reward tf:ased on the range between the 50th and 70th
percentile of ccmparable companies and the relevant level of ‘risk’
components a;‘ipropriate {o the markets within which Mayne Pharma
operates. Exce dtions to the policy require the specific approvat of the
Remuneration Committee.

FAR shall refleit the Company’s agreed position in the glabal pharma
{oncology) maiket or ather specialty markets based on the scope of
roles and exec Itives’ demonstrated competencies.
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STl awards shal! be determined by applying an assessment of
executive and business performance against a mix of quantitative
and qualitative measures. The guantitative measures shall focus
predominantly on Company earnings and the qualitative measures
shall focus on a range of initiatives related to implementation of the
strategic business plan. For STl arrangements, market comparisons
are based on the poiential reward for the achievement of target
performance, to eliminate the influence on market data of actual
nerformance of individual executives in comparator companies.

LTI awards may be in the form of Company shares, rights or options.
All current LTI awards include performance conditions which align
executive reward to the outcomes experienced by other shareholders
over the performance measurement or vesting period. The fair value
of options granted shall reflect the competitive requirements of the
relevant markets. For LTI arrangements care is taken to understand
the basis of calculation used for the fair value of other company
schemes to ensure that true comparisons are available with other
companigs’ LTI arrangements.

Specific factors influencing the Company remuneration strategy
The strategic objective at the demerger in November 2005 was

to establish the Company as a leading global generic injectable

and specialty pharma business. With this came a major change
through the re-location of the global business operations and the
executives from Melbourne to London. The consequence for executive
remuneration was a significant shift in the comparative market for
Mayne Pharma's key management personnel, i.e. concentration on
the Northern Hemisphere and pharma industry remuneration market
rather than Australian general industry, which was the comparator
when the Company was part of Mayne Group.

Also as part of this change, external appointments have been made
for key professional pharmaceutical roles within the Company, with a
number of those roles being sourced from the pharma industry in
the USA.

In Aprii 2006, following a review of the strategic direction, the
Company further refined its straiegy to that of becoming a leading
global specialty pharma company focused on the oncology customer.
This involves increased specialisation of professional, scientific and
executive skills.

Mayne Pharma's compensation structures take into account this
strategy and these skills as well as the capability and experience of the
key management personnel. The Remuneration Committee believes
that the strang emphasis on performance-based short and long-ierm
compensation should encourage executives to focus on delivering

the business strategy during this period of critical change, thereby
enhancing future shareholder value as well as providing meaningful
incentives consistent with the competitor encology/pharma
employment market.




Section 4 — Executive Director and
Specified Executive remuneration

Dr T Soursac (Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director) and
Mr Paul Binfield {Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer)
are Executive Directors of Mayne Pharma.

Refer to Table 12.1 far a list of Specified Executives.

Components of remuneration
As outiined earlier, executive remuneration includes both fixed
and incentive or performance-reiated components.,

The maximurn proportions of fixed and periormance-based
remuneration for the Group Managing Director, Executive Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Specified Executives are set
out in Table 5 below.

Table 5 Reward mix rating — maximum

% fixed %asSTH  %as LTl
TSoursac 290 3 35
PBinfield 33 28 39
1 F;earce_ - T -36”::7 o 36 o 34
H Burrill TTT st % T T A
BSmmons 45 3 T8
P L T
‘MRutkowski: 100 - -
R Squarer oo 43 Tt 0
D Kiriacoufacos 71‘:7 6l o 2(_3 r T

1 Mr Rutkowski is engaged under an employment centract which entities him to a
retention bonus if his employment continues through 31 Octeber 2006 and no
performance-related incentives apply.

Except for some individual circumstances related to external
recruitment, and executives transferring from Australia to the United
Kingdom, the granting of options has not extended to Company
executives below executive direciors and specified executives.
Executives who report to specified executives generally have between
20% and 30% of total target remuneration related to performance
through ST based on business and individual performance.

Fixed Annual Remuneration (‘FAR’)

The FAR for the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Specified Executives comprises base salary and s subject to annual
review by the Board.

The Company remuneration policy is to review executive remuneration
with effect from 1 July each year. However, in the present circumstances
of the early stages of implementation of the oncology strategy and the
number of recent external recruits, the Board determined that increases
would apply to only two key management personnel from the July 2006
review. Those increases were at the rate of 4% per annum, consistent
with the overall annual rate of increase in fixed remuneration for other
Company employees.

Short Term Incentive ('STI’)

The Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director is entitled to
annual STI payments subject to the achievement of key performance
indicators ('"KPls"} which are set by the Mayne Pharma Board in
consultation with Dr Soursac. The KPis include both financial

{including business profitability and cash flow) and non-financial
(including key elements of strategy implementation, recruitment

and development of senior executive capability and overall growth

of the business) targets in respect of the Company and Dr Soursac’s
performance. These performance conditions were chosen because
the Board considered them to be essential to the Company achieving
its goals for the year and laying the foundation for future growth. The
minimurn value of any STl is 75% of the base salary, the maximum
vatue is 150% of base salary and the on target STI for achievement of
all KPls for a year is 100% of base salary (‘Target STI").

Specified executives are entitled to annual STI payments based on the
achievement of KPIs which are set by the Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director and approved by the Remuneration Committee.
The KPIs include both financial and non-financial targets in respect
of Company and business unit such as Earnings Before Interest and
Tax and Free Cash Flow, and individual performance. The individual
objectives relate to the implementation of the strategic objectives of
the Company. They vary with position and responsibility and include
measures such as achieving strategic outcomes, improvement in
business effectiveness, product availability, safety and environment
performance.

The value of any STI actually provided in a year will be determined by
the Board having regard io the level of achievement of the KPls.

Any STl award due to Dr Soursac, Mr Binfield or the Specified
Executives is paid in cash.

Long Term Incentive (‘LTI")

The Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director, the Exacutive Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer, and Specified Executives were
granted options to acquire shares in Mayne Pharma pursuant io the
Mayne Pharma Executive Share Option Plan ('ESOP").

Each option gives the executive an entitlement, subject to the
satisfaction of the performance conditions described below and
payment of the exercise price, to acquire one fully paid ordinary share.

The shares necessary to satisfy the exercise of any options wiil be
acquired on market at the time an executive exercises an option.

These options all vest in three tranches, equally divided over several
years. For options with performance conditions related to FY06, one
third of the Initial Grant will potentially vest immediately following the
release of Mayne Pharma’s profit results for FY06, one third on the
first anniversary of that date and one third on the second anniversary
of that date, provided the relevant conditions are met. Similarly for
options with performance conditions related to FY07, one third of the
grant will patentially vest immediately foliowing the release of Mayne
Pharma's profit results for FYQ7, one third on the first anniversary

of that date and one third on the second anniversary of that date.

For the four KMP's who have a contractual right to yearly option
grants (Messrs Soursac, Binfield, Simmons and Pearce), these
same vesting rules and performance conditions would apply to alt
subsequent grants.

All aptions are subject to the performance conditions being satisfied.
The performance condition is based on Mayne Pharma's total
shareholder return {'TSR’). TSR is the sum of any movement in the
market price of Mayne Pharma shares, dividends paid on those shares
and any capital returns, If the compound average growth rate in TSR
over the performance period is 10%, then 50% of the options which
are due to vest at that time, will vest. If the compound average annual
growth rate in TSR over the performance period is 15%, then 100%
of the options which are due to vest at that time, will vest. For growth
rates between 10 and 15%, a proportionate number of the relevant
options will vest.
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Remuneration report continued

If th2 parformance condition is not met at the vesting date for any of
the gptions, the performance condition will be re-tested at quarterly
intervals over the following two year period.

Far certain executives if there is a material change in their duties and
respynsibilties and the executives exercise their right to terminate the
servize contract as a result, the executives may elect to have all of the
options which have been granted to them at the date of termination and
whicfg have nat vested, vest immediately or alternatively to have those
optio 1s vest in accordance with the normal vesting schedule, in either
case without any performance conditions attached. For other exacutives,
such t esting accurs only if there is a diminution of their duties and
respcpsibilities. However, on termination for any other reason, the Mayne
Pharrpa Board will determine in its absclute discretion whether any
unveslted options will vest.

The laltest time at which an option may be exercised shall be five years
from lpe date of the grant of the option. Options not exercised by that
date spall lapse.

All Exi:cutives and Executive Directors who hold options under the
ESOP are subject to the Company policy which prohibiis them from
entering into a transaction relating to those options that operates to

limit tr e economic risk of the options allocated to them under the plan.

Detail< of participation by key management perscnnel are shown by
number of options granted during the financial year in Table 6 and by
value ih Table 7,

The total fair value of unvested performance options has been
calculated by an independent expert, Deloitte, using assumptions
detailelli in Table 13.

For the reporting of remuneration for the year (refer Tables 4.1, 4.2,
4.3, 12/1 and 12.2), the fair value of unvested options is apportioned
pro rate over the period from the grant date to the projected vesting
date wtich is three years.

For the executives in Table 6, the grants of options were contained in
Executive Service Agreements with the date of effact of the grants to
apply fram the commencement of the Agreements. The formal grant
of options for Br T Soursac was approved on 5 April 2006 and for
the remaining executives on 14 August 2006, with the exception of
Mr H Burrill's, which were approved an 16 September 2006.

Table 7 Value of options granted to Executive Directors and
Specified Executives

Executive $amount  $ Amountof | $ Amount of
Directors and granted in options options
Specified the year (total exercised ! forfeited
Executives fair value)

T Soursac 1976000 -0 -
P Binfield 996,000 o e -
[ Pearce * T 565000 LT T L
B Simmons. 329,000 _J C L
[H Burrill 214000 - L
R Squ;are} 22é.000 i ~ -
D Kinacoulacos 110,000 . .

1 Subsequent to year end, Mr Pearce ceased employment with the Company and his
options were cancelled and included in his termination payment.

The options granted to Executive Directors and Specified Executives
were provided at no cost to the executives. No options granted under
the Mayne Pharma ESOP have been exercised during the year and
none have lapsed. Subsequent to year end but before the date of
this report, 990,000 options were cancelled upon the cessation of
employment of a senior executive.

Table 6 Number of options granted to Executive Directors and Specified Executives

L

Executive Directors and Specified Executives Options . Exercise price Date of effect Performance year
Tsowsse % aa00007 T T w2507 1omov200s © 30Jun2006 |
P Binfield T ¥ 1360000 1 $250  19Nov2005 30 Jun 2006 |
3 Pearcy: I ) T 9900000 $250 1 14an2006 30 Jun 2006 |
B Simmawms " T s00000, $250.  16Jan2006 30 Jun 2006 |
Heunl. T ) " 375,000 O $250 | 11an 2006 30 Jun 2006 |
R Squary © U7 380000 5268 T22May2006 30 Jun 2007 |
D Kiriacculacos B | " 150000 T $250° T 19Nov2005 30 Jun 2006

T

1 Subsequent to year end, Mr Pearce ceased employment with the Company and his options were cancelled and included in his termination payment.
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Relocation costs associated with recruitment and transfer of
overseas specified executives

Moving the headquarters of Mayne Pharma to Londaon resulted in the
requirement to recruit and relocate a number of specified executives.
In addition to Dr Thierry Soursac joining Mayne Pharma as Chief
Executive Officer and Managing Director, the Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and certain specified executives were relocated
to London.

Where recruitment or relocation from overseas was required, relocation
henefits in accardance with the executives’ contracts of employment
were offered.

The range of these benefits and services provided to these individuals
may include:

s Travel to London for themselves and their immediate family on
commencement.

» | egal advice and processing of required working visas.

= Tax advice and tax equalisation on foreign earned income.

« Removal costs.

» Temporary accommadation for the executive and family for an initial
transition period.

+ Rental costs for a prescribed period.

Section 5 — Company performance

A discussicn of the Company’s performance and its relationship with
Board remuneration palicy during its first year as an independent
company is set out below. This summary of the Company's
performance is based on the pro forma results. The pro forma results
exclude all significant items and include normalisation adjustments to
reflect the costs of operating as an independent Company, as well as
the inclusion of the Salisbury operations for the full 12 month period.
The Company believes that this enables a meaningful analysis of the
underlying financial performance of Mayne Pharma’s business.

Table 8 Mayne Pharma Limited daily closing share price (A$)

Pro forma earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
increased significantly in FY06 to $170.7 million compared to
$133.7 million in FY05.

Pro forma earnings before interest and tax increased significantly in
FY06 to $119.0 million compared to $86.6 million in FY05.

Mayne Pharma has declared a dividend of 1.5¢ per share for the period
ended 30 June 2006, its first dividend as an independent Company.

Trading in Mayne Pharma shares began on 21 November 2005 and
closed at $2.85 on that day. From that date until 4 September 2006,
the Mayne Pharma share price has moved in the range of $2.46 to
$3.11, closing at $2.93 cn 15 September 2006.

Relationship of performance to remuneration in FYO6

The STl is for performance during the period from 1 July 2005 or the
date of commencement of each Executive Director and Specified
Executive to 30 June 2006, and the percentage of remuneration it
represents is reported in Table 5. The actual amounts were determined
on 6 September 2006 follawing the review of Mayne Pharma's
performance against target criteria by the Remuneration Committee.

The payments reflect the excellent financial and strategic outcome for
the period as reported above.

The LTl is directly related to TSR as defined in section 4 of this report.
Entitlement to any reward from this component of remuneration
requires a minimum growth in TSR of 10% per annum from

19 November 2005 to the date of the release of the financial results.

Historical long-term incentive entitlement

Mayne Group Share Option Scheme

Prior to 2002 Mayne Group executives were entitled to participate in
the Mayne Executive Share Opticn Scheme ('Scheme’). The Scheme
was based on the allocation of options at an exercise price equal

to the underlying share price at the date of allocaticn. There were

na performance hurdles attached to the options, which was the
underlying reason for the Mayne Group Board decision to cease future
option allocations from 2002.

3.50 At the demerger date, the exercise price of the opticns was reduced
by the amount of the capital reduction in the Mayne Group shares
3.25 ($2.49) and consequently the options can anfy be exercised in favour
a of Symbion shares.
L 3.00 "
g ' Only three key management persennel, none of whom are now
£ 525 N employed by Mayne Pharma, beld options from the Scheme beyond
2 - M i W the demerger date. Details of these are set out below in Table 9:
g 2.50 —¥Y Wb | A—
L]
=
2.25
2.00
e s 0 [Ys) W0 el [Yo) [Xel Yol D
o c < o < o o (= o o
Table 9
Former Key Mznagement rNumber of options 1‘ ! Exercise price | Expire in financial Total value % of total
Personnel L t year remuneration
S Richards 100,000 L 3439 2007 | $217,000 ]( C9.2%
$ Hinchen ’ 50000 | $2.60 | 2007 | $77,000 ]’ O 48%
P Jenkins T w0000 $396 | 2006 | 5204000 | 1L1%

1 Post capital reducticn.
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Remjuneration report continued

.

i

Mayne broup Limited Senior Executive Short Term Incentive Plan
(‘SESTP")

Under tre SESTIP the Mayne Group Board awarded an incentive
amount to selected executives, of which the executives would normally
be requyred to take a minimum of 40% as shares in Mayne Group.
Priar 1o the demerger the Mayne Group Board determined that the
awards [n 2005/2006 should be taken in cash only.

Fight key management personne! received payments immediately
followin;[g the demerger under the SESTIP. The payments, linked to the
succes: ful completicn of the demerger, were as set out in Table 10.
These a}mounts are inctuded in the bonus compenent of remuneration
disclosed in Tables 4.1, 4.2,4.3, 12.1 and 12.2.

Table lé
Key management person Payment amount
Current executives o
P Binfeld $166,667
LJ Pear:e ! ’ $150,€67
M Kotsanis $150,000
Former (no longer witﬁ Company) ) ’
S Jamus $875,000
P Jenkins $210,000
S Richards $1_6(-3,667 |
S Hinchen $211,817

1 Mr Pea‘rce has feft employmant with Mayne Pharma subsequent to year end.

. | . , .
Prior to‘the demerger a Senior Executive Short Term [ncentive Plan
was established for Mayne Pharma Limited, however, the Mayne

Pharmg) Board decided not to implement the Plan and no awards

have bqen or will be made under it
|
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Section 6 ~ Executive pension plan

Given the relocation of Mayne Pharma to Londcn, the Remuneration
Committee sought advice on market practice relating to retirement
benefits for comparable executives based in Lendon.

Advice from pension plan consultants Mercers shawed that the
majority of new pension plan arrangements in London are defined
contribution with an employer contribution rate typicaily around 20%
of base salary. The benefit pavable is the accumulation of the level of
contribution over the period of contributory service of the executive
and the investment performance of the fund over that pericd, less the
cost of administration of the member accounts.

For the UK-based executives a separate division has been established
within the UK general staff pension ptan, with a contribution rate

of 20% and benefit design as outlined above. The administration

and investment management of the generat staff pension plan is
outsourced to a UK life insurance organisation which publicly offers
pension plan management for companies.

Specified executives based outside of the UK contribute to the
Company 401k plan and a non-qualified deferred compensation plan
for employees in the US and Australian SGC compliant superannuation
plans as agplicable.

Specified executives are also provided with life and extended illness
cover at the level applicable to Mayne Pharma employees in the
countries where they are domiciled,

Section 7 — Employment agreement
provisions

The terms of employment for each Executive Directer and Specified
Executive are formalised in employment agreements. Each of these
agreements provides for fixed annual remuneration, the incentive
arrangements outlined above, and the benefits payabie in the event
the agreement is terminated by the Company or the individual.

Information regarding the terms of empioyment, including the duration
of the agreement, the periods of notice required to terminate the
agreement and the termination payments provided under the contract,
are summarised betow. The termination payments provided are within
the standards applicable to executives in the globa! pharmaceutical
industry.




Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

In August 2005, the Company entered into a service agreement with
Dr T Soursac for his appeintment as Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director with effect from the date the demerger became
effective (18 November 2005) (‘Agreement’). The Agreement has no
fixed duration but is subject to the following notice provisions.

The Agreement may be terminated by Dr T Scursac on provisicn of
three months’ notice, or by giving notice to the Company, effective
immediately, within six months of a material change to his duties
and responsibilities.

The Company may terminate the employment of Dr T Soursac:

(a) with immediate effact in the event of serious or wilful misconduct,
wilful neglect in the discharge of his duties, serious or persistent
breach of the terms of his employment agreement, him becoming
ineligible 1o hold the office of director of a company, or him being
charged with a criminal offence which brings Mayne Pharma into
disrepute,

(b} by giving 12 months notice, or

(¢} by giving three months notice if he is unable to perform his duties
for a total of 13 weeks in any 52 consecutive weeks or becomes
otherwise incapable of performing his duties.

tf Dr Soursac’s appointment is terminated by Mayne Pharma in the
circumstances specified in (b} or (¢) above or by him giving notice
within six months of a material change to his duties and responsibilities,
the Company will pay to him, in addition to any payments or benefits
owing up to the date of termination, a payment equal to base salary
and the Target ST for the year in which such termination occurs for a
period of 18 months. Any such payment will be in lieu of any notice
which Dr Soursac would otherwise be entitied to receive.

Table 11

The Agreement contains a restraint provision whereby Dr Soursac
must not, during the period of 12 monihs after termination unless
the Board consents, solicit ar entice away any person who is or was a
client, customer or supplier to Mayne Pharma and with whom he was
involved during the period of 12 months pricr to the termination of his
appointment. He is also prohibited from enticing any Mayne Pharma
employee with whom he had dealings in the 12 months prior to the
date on which his appointment terminates, to leave Mayne Pharma.

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Mr P Binfield is required to provide the Company with three months
natice in the event of resignation. The Company is required to provide
six months natice to Mr P Binfield in the event of termination and a
termination payment of 12 months salary plus Target STL

In the event of the Company terminates employment as a result

of misconduct, that Executive has no entitlement to termination
payments. Mr P Binfield is entitled to terminate his contract if there is
a material change to his responsibilifies and to receive the termination
payments noted abave.

Specified Executives

Notice periods and payments on termination

The service agreements for key management personnel are also open
ended coniracts {i.e. no fixed duration) subject to the notice periods
set out in Table 11 below.

In the event the Company terminates an Executive's employment as a
result of misconduct, that Executive has ng entitlement to termination
payments, Messrs Simmons, Pearce, Squarer and Kiriacoulacos are
all entitled to terminate their contract if there is a diminution of their
responsibilities and to receive the termination payments noted in Table
11. Mr Burrill is entitled to terminate his contract if there is a material
change in his responsibilities and to recetve the termination payments
noted below.

Specified Notice by the " Notice by the Payment on termination by the
Executive Specified Company - Company
Executive !
B Simmoas 3months 12months 18 months salary and Target STI :
J Pearce! 3Imonths gmonths 12 months salary and Target STI }
H Burrill 3 months i 3 months " 12 months salary and Target ST J
J Johnson ’ 30 days ) - Nil %24 months salary + pro rata STi ]
‘ and pay in lieu of options |
J (US$100,000) |
M Rutkowski 3 months ; 3months 2Nil }
R Squerer 3 months 6 monfhs " 12 months salary and Target STi l
- - @ s = & - B 1
D Kirizcoutacos 3 months 3 months 12 months salary |

4

1 Mr Pearce has left employment with Mayne Pharma subsequent to year end.

2 Mr Rutkowski has a contractual right to receive US3$500,000 as a retention bonus provided he is still employed

by the Company through 31 October 2006.

3 Mr Johnson receives these payments only if termination is as a result of 2 change in control, significant
reduction in responsibilities, or his place of work is relocated more than 5C miles away {rom its present location.

Mayne Pharma Annual Report 2006 47




L

Sélction 8 — Remuneration paid

Deta‘;ils of the nature and amount of each element of remuneration of

Dr S‘pursac and Mr Binfietd are set out in Table 4.2 on page 40. Table
12.1 sets out an analysis of the nature and amount of remuneration of
the SPecified Executives. All values are in Australian dollars.

- Remuneration report continued

Table 12.1 Current Specified Executives: remuneration

Specified Executives f Primary , Post Equity Other & Total
| employment ' compensation !
P - - - W B I i --—‘.I:- == - - L --= = - i - -:I
:; Salary $ ' Bonus $ ' 3Non- | Superannuation *+  *Fair valve Termination :
‘: " monetary benefits ©  of options  of benefits -
. ‘ ' benefits ! : .
BSimmons? 2006, 499,379 645894 114511 | 4861l 299715 -7 1,608,110 |
Execulive Vice President; | 2005 - -, - - - - -
Chiet (sperating Officer | | 1 : . J
1 Pearce’ 2006 | 426789 428,400 . 97,439 | 49,211 92,877 - ' 1,094,716
Executive Vice President . 2005'; 345,139 . 405,800 : 4,487 ! 106.861 | - - 862,287
Human Resources ard \ . .
Internal Communications | . ’ ) i ‘
|1 Johnscn 2 12006 © 409,553 | 274,405 | b 17,509 | 133,726 - 835193
Sentor V ce President 12005 ¢ 371,118 |+ 225819 | - 18,350 66,863 - 682,150
Globa! Quality ‘ ! -% ! J ;
H Burrill 2006 | 324,838 291,417 7‘ 763 | 37,742 ' 35,666 - 690,426 !
Executive Vice President ,2005! - - - - - - -
Glaobai Research and 1 ! \ :
Developrent D e b -
M Rutkov ski ‘2006 ' 415,044 2005588 = 94,237 20,067 - - 730,936
President Manufactunng ;‘2005‘“ 108,604 - 9,270 - - - - 117,874
and Suppl ¢ Cha:n ; . J N _ o . N
R squarer 12006 63,393 . 214,017 | 2,223 12,679 7947 " - 300,259
Semor Vice President ' 2005¢ - - - - -, - -
Global Bus ness \ f ,
Development i ! . ‘ |
fffff - I - e B o =2 - ar -5 3 PR
D Kiriacoulz cos 12006 | 223914 132,000 * . 26749 © 22,300 | - 404,963
Acting Gene-al Counset | 2005% - - ! - - - -
and Compary Secretary | ) , ' ) o N
Total 2006 '2,363,910 '2,186,721 . 309,173 | 212,568 592,231 . - . 5,664,603
'2005 824861 ' 631619 - 13757 | 125211 66,863 | - 1662311

1 Executives were not classified as KMP's under the recognition of AASS 124 *Related Party Disclosures’ in 2005,

lieu of the grart of options. The payments far 2005/2006 of $133,726 and $249,989 respectively are included in the table.

3 Non-monetary benefits include payments for the provision of accommodation, utilities, travel, motor vehicles, etc.

rata from grant fate 10 the projected date of vending which is three years. Refer section below for further discussion.
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S Mr Pearce has 12t employment with Mayne Pharma subsequent to year end.

2 Under US-based employment contracts with Mayne Group Limited, Mr J Johnson and Mr B Simmans in 2005 elected to receive an annual cash payment in

4 Fair value of up}ions have been calculated based on an Independent valuation provided by Deloitte dated 25 August 2006. The fair value is apperticned pro




Table 12.2 Former Specified Executives: remuneration

Specified Executives " Primary Post Equity Other Total |
employment compensation
Salary $ " Bonus$ ! Non- #Superannuatinn ¢ Fair value ﬁTermination
monetary benefits of options  of benefits
benefits
S Richards ‘2006 386,293 375,000 2657,938 42,435 - 894,692 2,356,358
President Commercial 2005 515,057 470,000 200,598 41,400 62,000 - 1,289,055
Operations .
S Hinchen 2006, 277,002 211,817 223,633 7,810 - 881,243 1,601,505
Chief Financial Officer 2005 448,183 464,600 106,627 31,500 22,000 - 1,072,910
Pharma : ,
Total 2006 663,295 586,817 881,571 50,245 - 1775935 3,957,863
2005 J 963,240 934,600 307,225 72,800 84,000 - 2,361,965
1 Non-monetary benefits include payments for the provision of accommodation, utilities, travel, motor vehicles, etc.
2 Expatriate benefits as an Australian executive located in the UK.
Options
The following factors and assumptions were used in determining
the fair value of the options on grant date:
Table 13 Vatuation assumptions for options
Grant date k Expiry date Fair value per | Exercise price ! Price of Expected | Risk free  Dividend
option shares on volatility interest rate yield
| grant date
19 November 2005 19 November 2010 | $0.73 | $250  $2.85 24% 55-6.2% 1.5%
01 Janvary 2006 Ol Jenuary2011 ~ $0.57 $250  $254 24%  55-6.2% 1.5%
16 January 2006 16 Jznuary 2011 $0.66 $250 $271 24% = 55-6.2% 1.5%
22 May 2006 23 May 2011 $0.65 $268  $274 24%  55-6.2% 1.5%

The Company engaged an independent expert, Deloitte, to perform the
valuation of oplions. The information is based on its repart issued on

25 August 2006.
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Remuneration report continued

Table 14 Options granted to Key Management Personnel

1 Subsequdint to year end, Mr Pearce ceased employment with the Company and his options were cancelled ang included in his termination payment.

All option expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of
the indivitliual's employment, unless termination is as a result of an
employee s entitlement to terminate when his/her responsibitities are
diminished or as a result of a redundancy. In the former situation,
the employee has, pursuant to his emptoyment agreement, 30 days
{o decide ‘whether the oplions vest immediately or according to their
normal ve'sting schedule. In the absence of an election, the options
immediat 3y vest. In the latter situation, the employee may exercise
the optior's that have vested during the 12 month pericd following the
date of cessation of employment. The options were provided at no cost
{0 the exe-utive, and no options were exercised in 2006,
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lapsed

Executiva Director and Number of Total fair value at Number
Specified Executive options granted date of grant $

T Sourszc 2006 2,700,000 1,976,000
Chief Exzcutive Officer 2005 - -
and Maraging Director

P Binfield "2006 1,360,000 - 996,000
Executiva Vice President, 2005 - -
Chief Fir ancial Officer _
B Simmuns 72006 500,000 329,000
Executivz Vice President, 2005 - -
Chief Ogerating Officer ‘L

) Pearce! 2006 990,000 565,000
Executiva Vice President 2005 - -
Human tesources and

internal Zommunications

J Johnsen 2006 - -
Senior V ce President 2005 - -
Global Guality

H Burill 2006 375,000 214,000
Executiva Vice Presidant 2005 - -
Giobal Research and

Developinent N -

M Rutkowski 2006 - -
Presider t Manufacturing 2005 - -
and Supoly Chain

R Squar:r 2006 350,000 229,000
Senior V ce President 2005 - -
Giobal Business

Developinent

D Kiriacoulacos ‘2006 150,000 110,000
Acting General Counsel ;2005 - -
and Corr pany Secretary | .

exercised

Number

of options

19 November 2010

19 November 2010

16 January 2611

01 January 2011

01 January 2011

23 May 2011

10 November 2010

Expiry date |

|

R




Key Management Personnel changes in the year

During the reporting period, the classification of certain Executive
Directors and Specified Executives changed in accordance with
the recognition criteria of AASB 124 'Related Party Disclosures’.
Those changes are detailed in Table 15 below.

Table 15 Key Management Personnel changes in the year

Executive Director and Speéméd Executive

T Soursac
Chief Executive Officer ard Managing Director

'B Simmons

Executve Vice President, Chief Operating Officer

H Burritt

Executive Vice President Giobal Research and Development

R Squarer

Senior Vice Frasident Giobal Business Development
D Kiriacoulacos

Acting Gererai Counsef and Company Secretary

M Kotsanis
Executive Diractor Mayne Pharma Pty Ltd

s sames

(Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
'S Richards

|President Commercial Gperations

P Jenkins

Chief Development Gificer

!

S Hinchen i
Chief Financial Offcer B

1 Mr B Simmons, Mr H Burrill and Mr D Kiriacoulacos became KMPs as a resutt of
following demerger from Mayne Group Limited. Mr Simmons was Acting COO an
became COQ on 14 July 2006.

2 Commenced employment with the Company on this date.

Commenced as KMP ) Ceased as KMP

219 November 2005 -
t 22 Decermnber 2005 ’ -
119 November 2005 ’ -

223 May 2006 ° -
119 November 2005 : -

= 34 QOctober 2005
~ Resigned as Director

- 18 Navember 2005
_ Ceased Emplayment
- 31 March 2006
- Ceased Employment

- 31 March 2006
Ceased Employment

18 November 2005
Ceased Employment |

the management restructuring of the business
¢ head of EMEA region from 20 December 2005 and

3 Mr M Katsanis was a director of Mayne Pharma Pty Ltd which became Mayne Pharma Limited upon demerger. He resigned from that
directorship an 4 Octaber 2005 in preparation for demerger, however, he has continued his employment as a senior executive with

the Company,

Section 9 — Payments to persons before
taking office

Effective 1 October 2005 Dr Soursac was engaged to provide
consulting services to Mayne Group Limited in relation to its global
pharmaceuticals business as agreed with the Board of Mayne Group
Limited, for the ‘transitional period’ until 18 November 2005 when
Mayne Group Limited's scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the
Carporations Act in relation to the demerger of the pharmaceuticals
husiness took effect in law.

During the transitional period Dr Soursac was paid consuiting fees
at the rate of $US 1 million per annum and was entitied to the

STl as outlined in Section 4. The salary paic and the STl for the
transitional period are included in the payments reported for the
period to 30 June 2006.

On 1 October 2005 Dr Soursac was granied an award of 250,000
Performance Rights in accordance with the rules of the Mayne Group
Performance Share Plan. Under the terms of the grant all of the
Performance Rights were extinguished on the day before the demerger
took effect (18 November 2005) and Dr Soursac received no benefit
from the Performance Rights.
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Reconciliation of pro forma
financial results to the
concise financial report

The de merger of Mayne Pharma Limited (‘Mayng Pharma’) from The financial results presented in the body of the Annual Report for

Mayne Group Limited became effective on 18 November 2005, the 2006 and 2005 financial years are pro forma results unless
and Mz yne Pharma was listed on the Australian Stock Exchange ctherwise stated. The pro forma results exclude all significant items
on 21 Movember 2005, and discentinued operaticns, and include normalisation adjustments

to reflect the costs of operating as an independent company, as well
Mayne ’harma’s financial accounts in the concise financial report as the inclusion of Mayne Pharma'’s Salisbury operations.

have be:n prepared in accordance with the Australian equivalents

to Internationat Financial Reporting Standards ('AIFRS') and reflect  Mayne Pharma believes that the pro forma profit and loss

the Com,jany being a subsidiary of Mayne Group Limited uptothe  statement provides a more meaningful analysis of the underlying

effective Jate of the demerger and a separate company thereafter.  financial performance of Mayne Pharma’s business. A reconciliation
between the pro forma results of operations and those contained in

the congcise financial report is provided below.

Reconciliz tion of pro forma resuits —
Unauditec financial years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005

FHF inctusion
for full period
$'000
2006 2005

Corporate cost?
allocation
$'000
2006 2005

Pro forma

$'000
2006 2005

Significant

items

$'000 $'000
2006 2005 2006 2005
Sales revenus 788,949 644,735 - -
Cost of sales (434,193} (368,973) - -
Gross profit 354,756 275,762 - -
Other operating income 7,602 6,725 - -
Distribution ex Jenses (19,768) (20,085) - -

Selling and ma-keting

EXPEnses (91,294) {72,647) - -

Administrative ¢ xpenses (70,583) (50,759) - -
Research and a=velopment

expenditure? {27,573) (38,291) - -
Amortisation of identified
intangibles* (24,963) {21,995} -

Other operating ¢ xpenses  (132,073) (14,283) 123,568 12,942

Earnings before interest

13,848 38036
(5,684) (15,668)

8,164 22,368

(132) 8170
(77) (1n

(254) (199}
(246) (578}

(1,396) (8l11)

(983) {2,708)
334 (772

802,797 682771
(439,877) (384,641)

362,920 298,130

7470 14,895
(19,845) (20,096)

(91,548) (72,846)
(76,897) (67519)

(28,969} (39,102)

(25,946} (24,703)
(8,171)  (2,113)

and tax (3,896) 64427 123,568 12942 5410 25459 (G._OEEB) {16,182) 115,014 86646
Depreciation and : mortisation 49,596 41,663 - - 2,112 5400 - - 51,768 47,063
EBITDA 45700 106,09¢ 123,568 12,942 7,522 30859  (6,058) (16,182) 170,722 133,709

! Based on Mayne Prarma Limited 30 June 2006 concise financial report.

2 Based on 4.5 montt s (2005 - 12 months) of additional standalone costs {exctuding write-off of due diligence costs) per the Mayne Group Limited Scheme Book

far financial year 2005,

* Includes Regulatory osts and amortisation of capilalised Product Development costs.
* FHF proforma adjust nent includes 4.5 months (2005 - 12 months) of amortisation of Operating Rights and Licenses recognised on acguisition of FHF.
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Ciscussion and analysis of the Income Statement

Fo- the year ended 30 June 2006

Salus revenue

Reported total sales revenue increased by 22.4% to $788.9 million.
Sale; revenue in Europe, the Middle East and Africa ('EMEA")
increased $62.2 million (or 18.9%) to $391.0 million supported by the
full y 2ar sales contributions from acquisitions and incremental sales
of Pa:litaxel in the region. Sales revenue in the Americas increased
by $41.1 million {or 25.3%) to $203.5 million reflecting 7.5 months
contribution from the cral USA export business of FH Faulding &
Co Lirited, a strong and successful Irinotecan launch in Canada,
strong performance across all Canadian products, and a continued
improvement in the performance of the US business across all key
products. Sales revenue in the Asia Pacific region increased by
$34.5 million (or 21.6% as a result of strong organic growth across
the business.

Gross profit

Reported gross profit increased $79.0 million (or 28.6%) to

$354.8 millicn supported by the growth in sales revenue and
improvement in margins. Gross profit as a percentage of sales
increased from 42.8% to 45.0% in the current period. The increase
in margins is attributable to factors including the strong performance
of key molecules globally, successful launch of Irinotecan in Canada,
improve manufacturing performances at Mulgrave, Boulder and
Wasserb.irg, and the 7.5 months contribution of the aral USA export
business of FH Faulding & Co Limited.

Distribulion expenses

Distribution expenses fell $0.3 million (or 1.6%) to $19.8 million

this financial year. Despite growth in sales revenue and volumes,

distribution expenses as a percentage of sales were towered from
3.1% to 2.5%, through tight cast control.

Selling ar d marketing expenses

Selling anc marketing expanses increased $18.6 million (or 25.7%)

to $91.3 million this financial year. This increase was primarily due

to European acquisitions underiaken in financial year 2005 and early
financial year 2006 to build Mayne Pharma Limited's geographic sales
and market ng presence in the region,

Administrative expenses

Administrati /e expenses increased $19.8 miflion {or 39.1%) ta
$70.6 million this financial year. This increase is primarily due to the
inclusion of additional head office costs related to the establishment
of Mayne Pharma Limited as & separately listed company on the
Australian Stock Exchange following its demerger from Mayne Group
Limited on 16 November 2005.

Product devizlopment expenditure

Product development expenditure decreased by $10.7 million
(28.0%) to $27.6 million essenttally due to an increased number of
projects reachling the development stage at which point expenditure
on the project is required to be capitalised under A'FRS. However,
the iotal research and development spend increased year on year by
$5.5 million {0 10.7%) to $56.7 million.
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Amortisation of operating rights and licences

Amartisation of operating rights and licences increased $3.0 million
(or 13.5%) to $25.0 million resulting from the European acquisitions
completed in financial year 2005 and early 2006 as well as the
renegatiation of the Ivax in-licensing agreement for Paxene®, and
operating rights and licences acquired through the acquisition

of the oral USA export business of FH Faulding & Co Limited in
November 2005 from Mayne Group Limited.

Other expenses

Other expenses for the period are $132.1 million. The significant
increase over the prior period relates primarily to significant items
recorded this financial year that have largely resulted from the new
strategic orientation of Mayne Pharma Limited follawing its demerger
from Mayne Group Limited in November 2005, Significant items
before fax tota! an expense of $123.6 million, This compares to a loss
before tax of $12.9 million in the prior financial year, The significant
items in the current period are as fallows:

« a $59.2 million impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
related to the Aguadilla manufacturing facility following a strategic
review of the facility in February 2006;

* the impairment of $14.6 million in business and product
devefopment costs associated with projects that are no longer core
to the new strategy of the Company;

* the impairment of $9.2 million in relation to the development
agreement with Pliva d.d. in regard to the bic-similar product EPO
which is no longer being pursued by Mayne Pharma Limited;

* the impairment of $19.5 miltion of capitalised development costs in
relation to the anaesthetic product propofol. The market dynamics
have changed with additiona! competition leading to significant
price erosion;

+ the impairment of $3.5 million in relation to an investment in the
NASDAQ listed company Tapestry Pharmaceuticals, Inc. which
is classified as an available-for-sale financial asset in this Annual
report;

* 3 $11.9 million loss refating to costs associated with the demerger of
Mayne Pharma Limited on 18 November 2005 from Mayne Group
Limited; and

* costs of $5.7 miliion incurred associated to the investigation of a
possible listing of Mayne Pharma Limited on both the London Stock
Exchange as well as the Ausrtalian Stock Exchange.

Net finance costs

Net finance costs decreased $12.0 million to $3.4 million. The
decrease in net interest expense relates primarily to the conversion
of interest-bearing liabilities owed to Mayne Group Limited to capita!
under the demerger Scheme of Arrangement on 18 November 2005
as well as an improvement in operating cash flows through improved
working capital management.




Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2006

Note 2006 2005
$'000 $'000
Sales revenue 3 788,949 644,735
Cost of sales (434,193} {368,973)
Gross profit 354,756 275,762
QOther income 5 7,602 6,725
Distribution expenses (19,768} (20,085)
Selling and marketing expenses (91,294} (72,647)
Administrative expenses (70,583) {50,759)
Product development expenditure (27,573) (38,251)
Amartisation of operating rights and licences 15 (24,963} (21,995)
Other expenses 6 (132,073} (14,283}
Results from operating activities (3,896) 64,427
Financial income 1,239 2.03%
Financial expense (4,628) (17,3591)
Net finance costs (3.389) (15,352)
Share of net profits of investments accounted for using the equity method 12 70 320
Profit/(toss) before tax (7,215) 49,395
Income tax expense a {24,120) {10,075}
Profit after tax but before loss on discontinued operations and loss
on sale of discontinued operations (31,335) 39,319
Loss of discontinued operation and loss on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax 3 - {13,931}
Profit/{loss) attributable to members of Mayne Pharma Limited (31,335) 25,388

Earnings per share {note 10}:
The earnings per share calculations presented below have been prepared in accordance with AASB 133
‘Earnings per Share’.

Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (8.4)c 25,388,000.0c
Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (8.4)c 25,388,000.0c
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (8.4)c 39,319,000.0c
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (8.4)c 39,319,000.0c

On 18 November 2005, to facilitate the separation of the global pharmaceutical business from Mayne Group
Limited, Mayne Pharma Limited issued 640,655,316 new shares (refer note 18). Due to the significant change
in the capital structure of the Company on the issuance of these shares an alternative denominator has been
used in determining the basic and dilutive earnings per share figures shown below:

Alternative basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (4.9)c 4.0c
Alternative diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders (4.9 40c
Alternative basic earnings per share from continuing operations (4.9)c 6.1c
Alternative diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (4.9¢ 6.1c

Dividends per share {note 11):
Final dividend payabte 5 October 2006 {cents per share) 1.5¢ 0.0c

The income statement is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 54 and the notes to these financia! statements se{ out on pages 62 10 93.
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Discussion and analysis of the Statement of Recognised Income and Expenses

For the year ended 30 June 2006

Forzign exchange adjustments on consolidation

The foreign exchange adjustments on consolidation reflect foreign
exclange spot rate movements at 30 June 2006 against the average
anc historical rates of the Euro, US dollar, Canadian doflar and British
poLnd sterling against the Australian dollar. The largest impacts

are attributable to those subsidiaries with larger net asset positions,
adcitionally the balance sheet of Mayne Pharma (USA) inc. was
recipitalised during the period which resulted in a significant increase
in LIS dollar net assets of the subsidiary.

Avzilable-for-sale investments

The consolidated entity holds an equity investment in a listed
company which is classified as availabte-for-sale. At each reporting
dati: the investment is adjusted to reflect the fair value of the shares
at that date with the revaluation recognised directly in equity. Since
the date of acquisition, the share price of the investment has steadily
declined with $0.4 million of the reduction in value occurring in the
cur'ent period.

Follawing analysis of the share price decline of the investment ang
the expiration of time, Management is of the view that the decline
exparienced to date is now of a permanent nature and as a result an
impairment loss of $3.5 million has been recognised in the income
statament to recognise this diminution in value.
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Change in accounting policy

From 1 July 2005 the consolidated entity adepted AASB 132
‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ and AASB 139
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. This change
in accounting policy has been adopted in accordance with the
transition rules contained in AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian
Equivaients to Internationa! Financial Reporting Standards’, which
does not require the restatement of comparative information for
financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139.

The adoption of AASB 139 has resulted in the consolidated entity
recognising available-for-sale investments and all derivative financial
instruments as assets or liabilities at fair value. This change has been
accounted for by adjusting the opening balance of equity (retained
earnings and fair value reserve) at 1 July 2005 (refer note 27).




Staterment of Recognised Income and Expenses
For the year ended 30 June 2006

Note 2006 2005
$'000 $'000
Foreign exchange adjustments on consolidation 19 37,672 (6,381)
Available-for-sale investments
Gain/(loss) on valuation of available-for-sale investments 18 (350) -
Transfer of available-for-sale equity reserves to income statement 19 3,530 -
Cash flow hedges:
Effective portion of changes in fair value 19 92 -
Transfer to income statement for the year 19 (92) -
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans 19 (149) -
Income tax on items taken directly to or transferred from equity - -
Net income recognised directly in equity 40,703 (6,381}
Profit/(loss) for the period (31,335) 25,388
Total recognised income and expense for the period attributable to equity hotders 9,368 19,007
Effects of change in accounting policy to equity holders:
First-time adoption of AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’
Net gain/{loss) on cash {flow hedges 27 - -
Net gain/(loss) on fair value of available-for-sale invesiments 27 {3,112} -
(3,112) -

Movernents in reserves and retained profits are set out in note 19.

The statement of recognised income and expenses is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 56 and the notes 1o these financial

statements set out on pages 62 to 93.
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Discussion and analysis of the Balance Sheet

As at 30 June 2006

Ciish and deposits

The increase in cash and deposits, by $61.2 million to $115.6 million
re ates in part to the initial cash position that Mayne Pharma Limited
rezeived on demerger from Mayne Group Limited on 18 November
2005 as set oui in the demerger Scheme of Arrangement, and

i proved cash generation from operations through improved working
capital management. Further details are set out in the discussion and
aralysis to the Sistement of Cash Flows.

Trade and other receivables

Trirde and other receivables increased $32.6 million {or 18,.9%)
10 $204.9 million, The increase was primarily attributable to the
acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited upon demerger of the
consolidated entity irom Mayne Group Limited. The balance
reflects the strong sales growth of the business partially offset by
improvements in working capital management.

Related party receivabies

Ot er receivables decreased by $159.0 million reflecting the
caitalisation of amounts due from Mayne Group Limited in the prior
period into equity. Under the demerger Scheme of Arrangement the
intzrcompany accounis with Mayne Group Limited were settled as
pat of the acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited {from Mayne Group
Lirited as well as the demerger process.

Inventory

Imveniory has increased by $14.9 million {(or 8.3%} to $195.5 million
at .30 June 2006, the change reflects the expected increase in
inventory to meet increased underlying growth in sales revenue.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment increased by $37.1 millicn (or 16.6%).
The increase was primarily attributable to property plant and equipment
acquired through the demerger process from Mayne Group Limited,
and substantially related to the impact of acquiring the Salisbury
menufacturing facility of FH Faulding & Co Limited as part of the
demerger on 18 November 2005. Non-acquisition capital expenditure
du.ing the period was primarily related te manufacturing facilities, but
the overall impact of this additional expenditure on the balance sheet
wa ; substantially offset by the impairment adjustment recorded against
the Aguadilla manufacturing facility in Puerto Rico (refer note 6).
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Product development

Capitalised product development increased $8.3 million (or 23.2%)
t¢ $44.0 million. The increase primarily represents the net result of
$29.1 million of costs capitalised during the period as required under
AIFRS, less amortisation of $1.5 million and impairment adjustments
of $19.5million for the period (refer note 6.

Goodwill

Goodwill increased $60.0 million on the prior period as a resul of
the acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited as part of the demerger
from Mayne Group Limited, acguisition of Biologici in Europe and
the impact of foreign currency movements on non-Australian dollar
goadwill balances.

ldentified intangible assets

Identified intangible assets increased $13.8 million {or 5.6%) to
$258.5 million. The increase is primarily due to operating rights

and licences associated with the acquisition of FH Faulding & Co
Limited. The impact of this acquisifion is partially offset by impairment
adjustments recorded following the change in strategic orientation
post demerger. The impairment adjustments have been discussed
further in the managemeni discussion and analysis for the Income
Statement and note 15.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables increased $30.0 million {or 27.7%) during
the period to $138.6 million reflecting the acquisition of FH Faulding
& Co Limited as part of the demerger from Mayne Group Limited.

Related party indebtedness
The related party indebtedness balance is nil at year end reflecting
capitalisation of all borrowings with Mayne Group Limited on demerger.

Current and deferred tax liabilities

Current and deferred tax liabilities increased $6.0 million {or 18.3%)
on the prior period primarily representing deferred tax liabilities
recognised through the acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited on
demerger from Mayne Group Limited.

Provisions

Provisions (both current and non-current) have decreased

$28.0 million {or 42.4%) primarily due {o the termination of a
product development contract with a third party thereby releasing
Mayne Pharma Limited from the obligation to make future payments
in relation to the product development.

Contributed equity

Contributed equity increased by $1,608.8 million due to the issue
of new shares by Mayne Pharma Limited on 18 November 2005
in accordance with the demerger Scheme of Arrangement and
capitalisation of related party receivables and indebtedness.




Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2006

Note 2006 2005

$'000 $°000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 115,619 54,436
Trade and other receivables 204,918 172,356
Related party receivables 4 - 159,054
Inventories 195,474 180,570
Prepayments 11,501 10,818
Total current assets 527,512 577,234
Non-current assets
Qther receivables 2,830 2,460
Investments 205 4,273
Investments accounted for using the equity method 12 4,641 1,304
Deferred iax assets 24,965 37,161
Property, plant and equipment 13 260,205 223,069
Product development 14 44,024 35,732
Goodwill 884,752 824711
Identified intangible assets 15 258,508 244,744
Total non-current assets 1,480,830 1,373,454
Total assets 3 2,008,342 1,950,688
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 138,565 108,522
Related party indebiedness 4 - 1,570,893
Interest-bearing liabilities 17 4,499 5,629
Employee benefits 18,631 13,585
Current tax liabilities 7,843 17,138
Provisions 19,939 30,595
Total current liabilities 189,477 1,746,362
Non-current liabilities
Other payables 44 146
Interest-bearing liabilities 17 11,591 13,415
Deferred tax liabilities 31,201 15,868
Employee benefits ) 6,999 4514
Provisions 18,008 35,365
Total non-current liabilities 67,843 69,308
Total liabilities 3 257,320 1,815,670
Net assets 1,751,022 135,018
Equity .
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued capital 18 1,608,760 -
Reserves 19 32,277 (6,451)
Retained profits 19 109,985 141,469
Total equity 1,751,022 135,18

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 58 and the notes to these financial statements set out on pages 62 to 93.
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Discussion and analysis of the Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 June 2006

Ca;h flows from operating activities

Ne operating cash flow for the financial year was $167.9 million
carppared to $86.6 million in the prior period. The substantial
inc*ease over the pricr period reflects the continued strong growth of
Mayne Pharma Limited, bath by acquisition and crganically, and a
greater focus on working capital management in the current period.

Cah flows from investing activities
Mayne Pharma Limited invested $141.9 million during the financiat
yezr. This cash was primarily utilised for;

* nat payments for property, plant and equipment of $64.3 million;
* payments for acquisitions of entities and businesses of $23.1 million;
+ cayments for acquisition of operating rights and licences of
$24.4 million;
« payments for capitalised product development activities of
$27.8 million; and
* rayments for investments of $3.3 million.
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Cash flows from financing activities

Cash flows from financing activities primarily includes net cash of
$37.8 million received from Mayne Group Limited in accardance with
the terms of the demerger Scheme of Arrangement.

Net cash flows

Overall, the net cash position of the Group increased by $61.2 millign
to $115.6 million {or the year ended 30 June 2006, including an
adjustment for foreign exchange rate changes of $4.0 mition,




Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2006 2005
$'000 $'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 836,155 654,141
Cash payments to suppliers and employees {652,555) (566,276)
Cash generated from operations 183,600 87,865
Interest received 1,000 1,003
Interest paid {1,503} {3,309)
Income taxes {paid)/refunded (15,201} 1,004
Net cash from operating activities 167,896 86,563
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for acquisition of entities and businesses (23,147) (100,395}
Payments for property, plant and equipment (64,346) (83,572)
Payments for operating rights and licences (24,418) {59,621)
Payments for amounts capitalised into goodwill - (7,937)
Payments for product development costs (27,761) (13,263)
Payments for investments {3,268) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 112 172
Proceeds on disposal of entities and businesses 965 8,726
Net cash from investment activities (141,863) {255,890)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings with Symbion Health Limited 37,767 392,570
Proceeds from borrowings - 39,899
Capitalised borrowing costs (1,734} -
Repayment of lpans with Symbion Health Limited - (1,489)
Repayments of borrowings (4,928) (240,468)
Net cash from financing activities 31,105 190,612
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 57,138 21,185
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 54,436 38,151
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 4,045 (4,900}
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 115,619 54,436

The staterment of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the discussion and analysis on page 60 and the notes to these financial statlements set out on
pages 62 to G3. :
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Notes to the concise financial statements

For the year ended 30 June 2006

1. Basis of preparation of concise financial report

The: concise financial report has been prepared in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standard AASB 1039 ‘Cancise
Financial Reports’ and applicable Urgent Issues Group Consensus
Viens. The financial statements and specific disclosures required

by AASB 1039 have been derived from the consclidated entity's full
finz ncial report for the financial year. Other information included in
the congcise financial report is consistent with the consolidated entity’s
full financial report. The concise financial report does not, and cannot
be ixpected to, provide as full an understanding of the financial
per'ormance, financial position and financing and investing activities
of the consolidated entity as the full financiai report.

For reporting periods on or after 1 January 2005 the consalidated
entily must comply with Australian eguivalents to international

Finz ncial Reporting Standards (‘AIFRS') as issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB'). The date of adoption of AIFRS
for the consolidated entity is 1 July 2005. This is the first AIFRS
concise financial report prepared by the consolidated entity.,

AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International
Finencial Reporting Standards' has been applied in preparing this
financial report.

The concise financial report has been prepared on the basis of

histc rical costs except for derivative financial instruments and
available-for-sale invesimenis which have been measured at fair value.
Non current assets end disposal groups held for sale are stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A full description of the accounting policies adopted by the
consolidated entity may be found in the cansolidated entity’s full

finar cial report. Except far the change in accounting policy (refer note
27), the accounting palicies adopted have been applied consistently
throw ghout the consclidated entity to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements and in preparing an opening AIFRS
balance sheet at 1 July 2004 for the purpose of transition to Australian
Accounting Standards — AIFRS, as required by AASB 1. The impact of
trans tion from previous GAAP to AIFRS is explained in note 26.

The presentation currency is Australian dollars.

2. Aicounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian
Acco inting Standards requires Management to make certain
judgements, assumptions and estimates that affect the application
of policies and reported amountis of assets, liabilities, income and
experjses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed
1o be yeasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from ather sources, Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

A regular review is made of these estimates angd underlying assumptions
with any movements resulting from a change in the estimates being
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periocs if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often
determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events.
The key estimates and assumptions that have been applied by the
consolidated entity are;

Impairment of geodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives
Al least annually the consolidated entity assesses whether goodwill
and intangible assets, with indefinite useful lives, are impaired. These
calculations involve estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units ('CGUs’} to which the goodwill and intangible assets,
with indefinite useful lives, are allocated.

The allocation of goodwill to the CGUs represents the integrated
global nature of the injectable pharmaceutical business of the
consolidated entity.

Share-based payment transactions

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-setiled
transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granied. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a Monte Carfe simulation
valuation model and a Black-Scholes framewaork,

Defined benefit fund assumptions
Various actuarial assumptions are utilised in the determination of the
consolidated entity's defined benefit fund cbligations.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the consolidated entity's
accounting policies

Certain critical accounting judgements in applying the consolidated
entity's accounting policies are described below.

Revenue recognition

In accordance with industry practice the consclidated entity offers
discounts or allowances to some of its custaomers or governmental
authorities in the form of rebates, charge backs, price adjustments,
discounts, promotional allowances or other allowances. The
consolidated entity’s revenue recognition policy requires Management
to make a number of estimates relating to rebates and other credits,
charge backs and price adjustments. The accruals for these
provisions are presented in the financial statements as reductions to
the sale of goods and trade receivables.

Rebates, promotional and other credits

Provisions for rebates, promotionat and other credits are estimated
based on histerical payment experience, estimated customer inventory
levels, product dating and expiraticn and change in coniract terms.
Provisions for price adjustments, returns and charge backs require
Management to make substantive judgements. The consolidated
entity has extensive internat historical information which is used as
the primary factor in determining reserve requirements and believes
that this historical data, in conjunction with periodic review of available
third-party data, updated for any applicable changes in available
information, pravides a reliable basis for the provision estimates.




Charge backs

The provision for charge backs is the most significant and complex
estimate used in the recognition of revenue. In the United States the
consolidated entity sells products directly to wholesalers and generic
distributors {'wholesale customers'y and also sells products indirectly
to managed care organisations, hospitals and group purchase
organisations (‘indirect customers’). The consolidated entity enters
into agreements with its indirect customers to establish pricing on
certain products and the indirect customers then, independently,
select a wholesaler from which they purchase the products at the
agreed-upon prices. The consolidated entity then provides a credit to
the whalesaler for the difference between the agreed-upon price with
the indirect customer and the wholesaler's invoice price, termed a
‘charge back’.

The provision recognised by the consolidated entity for charge backs
is estimated using the historical seli-through levels by the wholesale
customers to the indirect cusiomers and the estimated wholesaler
inventory level. Management continually monitors the provision for
charge backs and makes judgements when it believes that actual
charge backs may differ from the estimated reserve.

Price adjustments

Price adjustments, also known as ‘shelf stock adjustments’ are
credits issued to reflect decreases in the selling prices ¢f the
consolidated entity's products that customers have remaining in
their inventories at the time of the price reduction. Decreases in
selling prices are discretionary decisions made by Management
to reflect competitive market conditions. The provision recognised
for shelf stock adjustments is based upon specified terms with
customers, estimated declines in market prices and estimates of
inventory held by customers.

Capitalisation of development costs

Research and development activities are undertaken to maintain the
product portfolio and pipeline of the consolidated entity. The intangible
asset accounting policy of the consolidated entity requires that all
expenditure incurred on research activities must be expensed while
expenditure incurred on development activities must be capitalised.
Capitalisation of development expenditure can only occur if it can be
dermonstrated that it is probable that the asset will generaie fuiure
economic benefits.

In applying this policy Management are required, for each product
development project, to make an assessment of when the project
aclivity transitions from the research phase to the development phase
including evaluating whether or not that expenditure is probabie of
generating future economic benefits for the consolidated entity.

When determining the point from which expenditure incurred in

the development phase of a product development project must be
capitalised management cbtains advice from appropriately qualified
and technically skilled employees of the consolidated entity with
regard to the commercial success of the final product being developed
and the technical feasibility of the development. In conjunction

with this advice Management reviews whether it is the intention of

the consalidated entity ta continue with the development at which
point a decision is then made as to whether or not the development
expenditure should be capitalised.

3. Segmental reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in
providing products or services that are subject to risk and rewards
that are different to those of other business segmenis. A gecgraphical
segment is engaged in praviding products or services within a
particular economic erwironment and is subject to risks and returns
that are different from those segments aperating in other economic
envircnments.

The consolicdated entity's operations are predominantly made up

of the worldwide devetopment, manufacture and distribution of
injectable pharmaceuticals. Business operations recently acquired
have increased the consalidated entity's operations in the area of
contract manufacturing. Manufacturing plants are located in Australia,
the USA, Puerto Rico and Germany with products distributed to more
than 65 countries in three principal geographical locations, being Asia
Pacific, the Americas and Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Segment information is presented in the financial statements in
respect of the consolidated entity’s geographical segments which
reflects the management and the internal reporting structure of the
consoiidated entity during the financial period.

Transfer prices between geographical segments are set at an arm’s
length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment results include
transfers between the geographical segments. Inter-segment revenue
and inter-segment results represent the internal trading within the
consolidated group. These are eliminated on consalidation.

Segment results include itemns that are directly attributable to a
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated items comprise expenditure which is not recovered from
the operating segments, cash deposits, investments, borrowings and
tax balances not attributable to the operating segmenis. Segment
capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to
acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for more than
one period.

In presenting information on the basis of geographic segments,
segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers.
Segment assets are based on the geographicat location of the asset.

Additional segment information has been provided in this report
in relation to the injectable pharmaceutical and vials and contract
manufacturing businesses of the consolidated entity.
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3. Segmantal reporting {continued)

Geographlcal segments for the year ended 30 June 2006

Less Consolidated
Europe, Middle Latin America {continuing
Asia Pacific* Americas* East & Africa* Eliminations Consolidated  (discontinued) operations)
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue
Revenue fiom external customers:
Sa e of goods 194,442 203,468 391,039 - 788,949 - 788,949
Gcvernment grants 1,121 - - - 1,121 - 1,121
Qter income 3,738 1,527 1,216 - 6,481 - 6,481
199,301 204,995 392,255 - 796,551 - 796,551
Inter-segrient revenue 208,379 64,830 - (273,209) - - -
Total segrient revenue 407,680 269,825 392,255 (273,209) 796,551 - 796,551
Result
Segment profit before
significart items 67,677 11,781 66,490 - 145,948 - 145,948
Significar.t items - {87,193) (9,209) - {96,402) - {96,402)
Segment result 67,677 (75,412} 57,281 - 48,546 - 49,546
Inter-seg nent result 56,555 (6,600} (46,393) (3,560) - - -
Total segment result 124,232 (82,012} 10,886 (3,560} 49,546 - 49,546
Unalloczted expenses (26,277) - (26,277)
Unallocz ted significant iterns (27,165) - (27,165)
Results * rom operating activities (3,896) - (3,896)
Net finaice costs (3,389) - (3,389)
Share of profit of associates
and join! ventures 70 - - - 70 - 70
Profit/{luss) before tax (7,215) - (7,215)
Income tax expense (24,120) - (24,120)
Loss on sale of discontinued operation - - -
Income tax expense - - -
Loss or sate of discontinued operation, net of tax - - -
Profit/( oss) for the period (31,335) - {31,335}
Less Consolidated
Europe, Middle Latin America (continuing
Asia Pacific* Americas* East & Africa* Unallocated Consolidated  (discontinued} operations}
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000
Assets and liabilities
Segme nt assets 1,002,865 373,920 536,615 90,301 2,003,701 - 2,003,701
fnvest nent in associates 4,641 - - - 4,641 - 4,641
Total £ sseis 1,007,506 373,920 536,615 $0,301 2,008,342 - 2,008,342
Segm :nt liabilities 78,801 28,472 79,372 70,675 257,320 - 257,320
Total jabilitias 78,801 28,472 79,372 70,675 257,320 - 257,320
Other segment information
Capitil expenditure
- property, plant and
equipment 14,065 36,570 8,551 4991 64,137 - 64,137
- intangible asseis 27,169 6,066 10,127 5,766 49,128 - 49,128
Deprf;cia:ion 9,560 4,938 5,052 100 19,650 - 19,650
Amo tisation 3,557 15,579 10,810 - 29,946 - 29,946
Impzirment losses 931 87,38% 9,493 9,658 107,471 - 107,471
Rest*uciuring provisions 3,935 - - 17,507 21,442 - 21,442

Other significant items - -

“All segments are continuing except for Latin American operations which are disclosed as part of the Americas segment.
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3. Segmental reporting (continued)
Geographical segments for the year ended 30 June 2005

Less Consolidated
Europe, Middle Latin America (continuing
Asia Pacific* Americas* East & Africa* Eliminations Consolidated  (discontinued) aperations)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Revenue
Revenue from external customers:
Sale of goods 159,900 162,348 328,874 - 651,122 6,387 644,735
Government grants 1,200 - - - 1,200 - 1,200
Other income {179} 546 5,158 - 5,525 - 5,525
160,921 162,894 334,032 - 657,847 6,387 651,460
Inter-segment revenue 150,250 47,238 - (197,488) - - -
Total segment revenue 311,171 210,132 334,032 (197,488) 657,847 6,387 651,460
Result
Segment profit before
significant iterns 24,068 667 49,311 - 74,046 {3,324) 77,370
Significant itemns (1,990) {953) - - (2,943) - (2,943)
Segment result 22,078 (286) 49,311 - 71,103 (3,324) 74,427
Inter-segment result 37,718 (8,990) {24,256) (4,472} - - -
Total segment result 59,796 {6,276) 25,055 (4,472} 71,103 (3.324) 74,427
Unallocated expenses - - -
Unallocated significant items (10,000 - {10,000)
Results fram operating activities 61,103 (3,324) 64,427
Net finance costs (156,834) 1,482) {15,352)
Share of profit of associates
and joint ventures 320 - - - 320 - 320
Profit/(loss) before tax 44,585 {4,806) 49,395
Income tax expense {10,076) - (10,076)
Loss on sale of discontinued operation (9,640) (8,640) -
Income tax expense 515 515 -
Loss on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax (3,125) (9,125) -
Profit/(loss) for the peried 25,388 (13,931) 39,319
Less Consolidated
Eurgpe, Middle Latin America {continuing
Asia Pacific* Americas* East & Africa* Unaltecated Consolidated  (discontinued) operations)
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 975,959 411,141 525,123 37,161 1,949,384 3,016 1,946,368
Investment in associates 1,304 - - - 1,304 - 1,304
Total assets 577,263 41t 141 525,123 37,161 1,950,688 3,016 1,947,672
Segment lizbilities 1,084,125 396,323 275,960 59,262 1,815,670 559 1,815,111
Total liabilities 1,084,125 396,323 275,960 59,262 1,815,670 559 1,815,111
Other segment information
Capital expenditure
- property, plani and
equipment 51,479 24,742 4,774 - 80,985 - 80,995
- intangible assets 6,630 9,862 123,085 - 139,581 - 139,851
Depreciation 7.288 4,514 4,621 - 16,423 101 16,322
Amortisation 2,363 14,574 8,403 - 25,340 - 25,340
Impairment losses - 952 - - 952 - 952
Restructuring provisions - - - - - - -
Other significant itemns 1,990 - - 10,000 11,990 - 11,990

*All segments are continuing except for Latin American operations which are disclosed as part of the Americas segment,
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3. Segmental reporting (continued}
Bi'siness segments for the year ended 30 June 2006

Injectables Contract

& Vials Manufacturing Unallocated Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Revenue from external customers: 706,063 90,488 - 796,551
Sezment assets 1,716,064 201,977 90,301 2,008,342

Capital expenditure
— property, plant and equipment 57,007 2,139 4,991 64,137
- intangible assets 43,362 - 5,766 49,128
Depreciation 16,577 2,973 100 19,650
Aniortisation 27,889 2,057 - 29,946
| I-r;pairment losses 97,813 - 9,658 107,471
i Restructuring provisions 3,935 Z 17,507 21,442
| aﬁer significant items - - - -

Business segments for the year ended 30 June 2005

Revenue from external customers: 610,490 47,357 - 657,847
S_ngent assels 1,786,496 127,031 37,161 1,950,688

a;nital expenditure
- property, plant and equipment 78,207 2,788 - 80,995
- intangible assets 139,581 - - 139,581
Deareciation 13,330 3,003 - 16,423
Amartisation 25,042 298 - 25,340
Im 3airment losses 952 - - 952
Restructuring provisions - -~ - -
Other significani items 11,990 - - 11,990
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4. Mayne Group Limited demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited
On 16 November 2005, the shareholders of Mayne Group Limited
voted in favour of the proposed demerger and the separate Australian
listing of its international injectable generic and specialty pharmaceutical
business from its domestic healthcare business. Following appraval of
the demerger by shareholders, on 18 November 2005, the Supreme
Court of Victoria officially endorsed the demerger Scheme of Arrangement
thereby effecting the separation of the two businesses from that date.

On approval of the demerger two new companies, both listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange ('ASX'), were farmed, being:

* Mayne Pharma Limited (formerly Mayne Pharma Pty Limited), an
international pharmaceutical company focused on research and
development, manufacture, marketing and distribution of injectable
generic and specialty pharmaceuticals; and

* Symbion Health Limited (formerly Mayne Group Limited), a large
Australian healthcare-focused company with leading market
positions in pathology, diagnostic imaging, pharmacy and
health-related consumer products.

Both companies commenced trading on the ASX on 21 Novemnber 2005.

To implement the approved demerger a number of transactions
occurred, the most significant of these transactions included an
internal restructure of businesses and assets within Mayne Group
prior to the separation, capital reduction and share issue that occurred
in the appropriate entities to effect legal separation of the businesses.

Internal restructuring

On approval of the demerger, but prior {0 the actual separation of the
pharmaceutical business, the ownership of a number of operational
entities of Mayne Group Limited ('Mayne Group’) was transferred
within the Group to create the appropriate ownership structure for the
swift demerger of the pharmaceutical business from Mayne Group.
As a result of this internal restructure Mayne Pharma Limited {‘Mayne
Pharma') acquired FH Faulding & Co Limited from Mayne Group for
consideration of $73.3 million. This consideration was not paid in
cash but was added 10 the outstanding loan amounts owed by Mayne
Pharma Limited to Mayne Group.

See note 22 for further details of the FH Faulding & Co Limited
acquisition.

Capital/Debt restructure
On approval of the demerger the capital structures of both Mayne
Group Limited and Mayne Pharma Limited changed significantly.

In accordance with the demerger Scheme of Arrangement, Mayne
Group Limited reduced its capital and Mayne Pharma Limited issued
640,655,316 new shares. Instead of the Mayne Group shareholders
receiving their Capital Reducticn entittements in cash the amounts
were automatically applied, on behalf of the shareholders, as payment
for the Mayne Pharma Limited shares that had been issued. As a
consequence of the transaction each shareholder received one Mayne
Pharma Limited Share for every Mayne Group Share held.

The impact of the above transaction on Mayne Pharma Limited was
that as a result of the Mayne Group Limited capital reduction and
share purchase, made by Mayne Group Limited on the behalf of its
shareholders, the outstanding loan amounts owed to Mayne Group
Limited were extinguished by Mayne Pharma Limited through the
share issue.

At the date of the demerger, 18 November 2005, the net value of
outstanding amounts owed by Mayne Pharma Limited to Mayne
Group of $1,608.8 million were capitalised by Mayne Pharma Limited
under the Scheme of Arrangement.

Refer to note 18 for further details on the contributed equity of Mayne
Pharma Limited and the rights attaching to those shares issued.

Cash position

Under the demerger Scheme of Arrangement, Mayne Pharma
Limited was to leave Mayne Group Limited with cash representing the
business net cash flows {including capital expenditure) for the period
from 1 July 2005 to the date of the demerger, being 18 November
2005. In settlement of this agreement under the demerger Scheme of
Arrangement, Mayne Pharma Limited received cash totalling

$37.8 million from Mayne Group.

2006 2005
$'000 $000
5. Other income
Other trading revenue 3,060 5134
Government grants 1,121 1,200
Other income 3,421 351
7,602 6,725
6. Individually significant items included in other expenses
The following significant items are included in other expenses in the income statement:
Legat and ather costs associated with UK litigation relating to Epirubicin - (10,000}
Impairment of property, plani and equipment {59,240) -
Impairment of development costs (43,289) {952)
Impairment of investments (3,530) -
Related party debt forgiveness - (1,990)
Caosts associated with the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited {11,858) -
Costs associated with examination of a possiole listing on the London Stock Exchange (5,650) -
Total significant items {123,567) (12,942)
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6. Individually significant items included in other expenses
{cantinued)

Renoverability of property, plant and equipment

In Iate 2003 it was determined that the manufacturing facility in
Agiiadilla, Puerto Rico would be upgraded to increase capacity and
suf port expected sales growth in a range of lower value, injectable
pharmaceuticals for the US hospital market.

The project has experienced a number of delays which the new global
manufacturing team has overcome with the construction phase of the
fac lity now complete. However, as a result of the redefined strategic
fac us and the identification of ather manufacturers to supply some of
our oncology-related pharmaceuticais at competitive prices, Mayne
Pharma Limited is re-evaluating its options for the Aguadilla facility.

The alternatives being considered include continued operation,
div.astment and closure of the facility. At 30 June 2006 a decision had
nat been reached and an impairment toss of $59.2 million has been
recpgnised after taking into consideration future cash flows from the
fac lity under the three alternatives.

Recoverability of development costs

An impairment loss of $19.5 million was recognised during the period
rele ting to capitalised product development costs for the anaesthetic
preduct propofol. Mayne Pharma Limited was unsucecessful in
defending & non-infringement claim by the innovator, AstraZeneca,
and has subsequently lodged an appeal. Mayne Pharma Limited
reniains confident of succeeding but the product launch has been
delayed. In the meantime market dynamics have changed with
additional competition leading to significant price erosion.

A rumber of product and business development projects had been
cornmenced by previous management and no longer fit with the new
strategic direction of the Group. All these projects have ceased and
an impairment loss of $14.6 milion has been recognised in the
income statement.

Other significant items include an impairment of $9.2 million of
previously capitalised development costs of the bio-similar drug
erythropoietin {('EPO’). In February 2005, Mayne Pharma Limited
sighed an agreement with Pliva d.d. to develop and bring to the
market bio-similar EPO and granulocyte colony stimulating factor
(‘G-CSF"), Substantial prograss had been made with EPO, however,

in fate 2005, the regulatory approval requirements for bio-similar EPO
to be brought to market changed markedly in the European Union.
After a further review of this change it was determined it would have
reguired considerably more resources to be channelled into its
development thereby rendering it no longer commercially viable, and
taking the project beyond the scape of the ariginal agreement. As a
consequence, Mayne Pharma Limited and Pliva have agreed to cease
joint collaboration on EPO and re-focus efforts on bringing G-CSF

{o the market.

Recoverability of investments

The cansolidated entity holds an equity investment in a listed
company which is classified as available-for-sale. In accordance with
AASB 139 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ the
carrying value of the investment is adjusted to reflect the fair value of
the shares at each reporting date with the revaluation recognised
directly in equity. In the past 24 months the share price of the
investment has steadily declined and as a result the carrying value
of the investment has reduced by $3.5 million since the date the
investment was acguired. $0.4 million of his reduction in value has
occurred in the current period.

Following further analysis of the share price decline in the investment
and the expiration of time, Management is of the view that the decline
experienced to date is now of a permanent nature and accordingly an
impairment loss of $3.5 million has been recognised in the income
statement during the period 10 recognise this diminution

in value.

Demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited

During the period an expense of $11.9 million has been recognised in
relation to restructuring and rebranding of the consolidated entity's
operations on the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited (see note 4).

Examination of possible listing in the United Kingdom

As previously announced, the possibility of a listing on the London
Stock Exchange in addition to gur current listing on the Australian
Stock Exchange is being examined and associated costs have been
incurred. As of 30 June 2006 $5.7 million has been incurred with the
majority of the expense resulting to consulting fees of professional
advisers. The Board sees significant potential benefits in such a
listing. No decision has yet been made.

2006 2005

$'000 $'000
7. Individually significant items included in income tax expense
Lejrat and other costs associated with UK litigation relating to Epirubicin - 3,000
Im:airment of property, plant and eguipment - -
Imiairment of development costs 3,836 -
Imairment of investments - -
Cosls associated with the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited 3,557 -
Co;is associated with assessment of possible listing on the London Stock Exchange 1,695 -
Tolal significant tax items 9,088 3,000
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2006 2005
$°000 $'000
8. Income taxes
Recognised in the income statement
Current tax expense
Current year 19,562 26,225
Adjustments for prior years (7,641) (4,608)
11,921 21,617
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 11,732 {13,001}
Benefit of tax losses racognised 467 945
12,199 {12,056)
Total income tax expense in income statement 24,120 9,561
Attributable to:
Continuing operations 24,120 10,076
Discontinuing operations - {515)
24,120 9,561
Reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax net profit
The prima facie tax on profit differs from the income tax provided in the financial statements and is reconciled as follows:
Profit hefore tax - continuing operations (7,215) 49,395
Profit before tax — discontinuing aperations - (14,446)
Profit before tax (7,215) 34,949
Prima facie tax on profit calculated at 30% (2005: 30%) (2,165) 10,485
From which is deducted the tax effect of:
Utilisation of prior year tax losses {226) (829)
Research and development (1,851) (248)
Non-assessable income (42) {S06)
(4,284) 8,502
Increase in income tax expense due to:
Non-deductible depreciation/amortisation 492 379
Non-deductible expenditure 2,450 1,487
Effect of tax losses (derecognised)/recognised 467 945
Australian controlled foreign corparations tax 1,262 -
Overseas income tax rate differences 2,230 309
Other variations 1,162 173
Significant items
Non-deductible expenditure relating to Latin American businesses - 2,374
Asset impairment associated with Puerto Rico facility 17,772 -
Other nen-deductible expenditure 10,210 -
31,761 14,169
Under/{over) provided in prior years (7,641) {(4,608)
Income tax expense on pre-tax net profit 24,120 9,561
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8. Income taxes {(continued)

Current tax

Current tax expense, for the periods presented, represents the

ax ected 1ax payable on the taxable income for the period. Current tax
far current and prior periods is classified as a current liability to the
extent that it is unpaid. Amounts paid in excess of amounts owed are
cla‘ssified as current assets.

Deferred tax
Thz amount of deferred tax is based cn the expected manner of
rez lisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.

Thz primary components of the consclidated entity's recognised
de‘erred {ax assets include temporary differences relating to employee

9. Discontinued operations
Dizcontinued operation

henefits, provisions and other items and the value of tax loss-carry-
forwards recognised. The primary components of the consolidated
entity’s liabilities include temporary differences related to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets.

Deferred tax expense arises from the origination and reversal of
temporary differences, effects of changes in tax rates and the benefits
of tax losses recognised. The primary component of the deferred tax
expense for the year ended 30 June 2006 is attributed to an increase
in deferred tax assets, relating to increases in provisions and
recognition of current year losses, offset by a decrease in deferred

tax liabilities (excluding deferred tax liabilities recognised in business
combinations).

Thz consolidated entity did not dispose of or classify any controlled entity or businesses as held for sale for the year ended 30 June 2006.

During the year ended 30 June 2005 the consolidated entity announced the divestment and closure of its pharmaceutical businesses located
in 3razil and Mexico. Financial information pertaining to those businesses disposed of for the year ended 30 June 2005 is set out below.
Thzse operations are included within the Americas segment and are shown as discontinuing in note 3.

Ef'ect of the disposal on individual assets and liabilities of the consolidated entity

2006 2005
£'000 $°000

Property, plant and equipment - 507
Im entories - 2,531
Tre.de and other receivables - 7136
Cash and cash equivalents - 1,245
Emplcyee benefits - (79)
Trz de payables - (6,991)
Net assets divested - 4,349
Gain on disposal - 5,510
Loss on closure of businesses - (15,150
Lo:;s on sale of discontinued cperation - (9,640}
Cchsideration received:

- disposal price - 11,104

— deferred - (1,133}
Cash disposed of - (1,245)
Nel cash inflow - 8,726
Cash flow of the discontinued operations
Net cash inflow/{outflow) of operating activities - {1,802}
Net cash inflow/(cutfiow} of investing activities - (601)

Net cash inflow/(cutflow) of financing activities
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10. Earnings per share
Set out below in {a) and {t) are the basic and diluted earnings per share of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2006 calculated
in accordance with AASB 133 'Earnings per Share’.

In addition to the basic and diluted earnings per share an alternative earnings per share of the consolidated entity for the year ended
30 June 2006 is provided in part (e) of this note to reflect the impact of the demerger.

On 18 November 2005, to facilitate the separation of the global pharmaceutical businesses from Mayne Group Limited {refer note 4),

Mayne Pharma Limited issued 640,655,316 new shares. Due to the significant change in the capital structure of the Company on the issuance
of these shares the Board considers the use of an alternative denominator in determining the basic and dilutive earnings per share will provide
mare meaningful information than the earnings per share information calculated in (&) and (b} below.

For the purposes of calculating the alternative earnings per share measure in part (e} of this note the share issue is treated as if it occurred on
1 tuly 2004,

2006 2005
{a) Basic earnings per share
— from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (8.4)c 39,319,000.0c
— from discontinued operations - {13,931,000.0)c
Attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (8.d)c 25,388,000.0c
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations before significant items disclosed
in notes 6and 7 22.2¢  49,261,000.0c
Basic earnings per share attributable te ordinary equity holders of the Company before
significant items disclosed in notes 6 and 7 22.2¢  35,330,0000c
(b} Diluted earnings per share
— from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary eguity holders of the Company (8.4)c 39,319,000.0c
— from discontinued operations -{13,931,000.0)c
Attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (8.4)c 25,388,000.0¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations before significant items disclosed
in notes 6 and 7 22.2c 49,261,000.0c
Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company before
significant items disclosed in nates 6 and 7 22.2c 35,330,000.0c

The basic and diluted earnings per share calculations from continuing operations for the year ended 30 June 2006 were based on the loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of $31,335,000 {2005: prafit of $39,319,000). The basic and diluted earnings per share calcuiations
after discontinuing operations for the year ended 30 June 2005 were based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of $25,388,000,
there were no discontinued operations for the year ended 30 June 2006.

{c) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
The weighted number of ardinary shares outstanding during the year ended 30 June 2006 used in the basic and diluted earnings per share

calculations were delermined as follows:
Number of shares

2006 2005
Weighted average number of ordinary shares {basic}
Issued ordinary shares at 1 July 100 100
Effect of shares issued in November 2005 373,861,928 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 373,862,028 100
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 373,862,028 100
Effect of share options on issue 604,782 -
Weighted average number of ardinary shares at 30 June 374,466,810 100
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10, Earnings per share {continued)

2006 2005
) $'000 $'000
{d) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculation of basic and fully diluted earnings per share
cal:ulations before significant items:
Prcfit/(loss) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (31,335) 25,388
Sighificant items before tax (note 6) 123,567 12,942
Tax expense/(benefit) on significant items (note 7} (9,088) (3,000)
Ned profit before significant items 83,144 35,330
2006 2005
(e) Alternative earnings per share
Altiérnative basic earnings per share
— fram continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity helders of the Company (4.9)c 6.1c
- fram discontinued operations - {21
Attliibutable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (4.9} 4.0c
Bas;ic earnings per share from continuing aperations before significant items disclosed in notes 6 and 7 13.0¢ 17c
Bas‘.ic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity helders of the Company before significant
iter1s disclosed in notes 6 and 7 13.0c 5.5¢
Altérnative diluted earnings per share
- fr‘:Jm caontinuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company (4.9)c 6.1c
- from discontinued operations - (2.1)c
Attiibutable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company 4.9 40c
Bas ic earnings per share from continuing operations before significant items disclosed in notes & and 7 13.0¢ 7ic
Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company before significant items
disclosed in note 6 and 7 13.0c 5.5¢c
Number of shares
2006 2005
Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares used in the caiculation of alternative earnings per share:
Issued ordinary shares at 1 July 640,655,416 640655416
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 640,655,418 640,655,416
Effe ct of share options on issue 604,782 -
641,260,198 640,655,416

We‘:rghted average number of shares used in calculation of diluted garnings per share
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11. Dividends
No dividends were paid or proposed in the current or prior financial years.

After balance sheet date the following dividends were propased by the directors. The dividends have not been recognised as a liability in these
financial staterments. The declaration and subsequent payment of dividends has no income tax consequences to the Company.

Franked/ Date of
Cents per share Total amount unfranked payment
Final ordinary 15¢  $9,609,821 Franked 5 October 2006

The financial effect of this dividend has not been brought to account in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 and will be
recognised in subsequent financial reports.

THE COMPANY
2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Dividend franking account
The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year are:

30 per cent franking credits available to shareholders of Mayne Pharma Limited for subsequent financial years 4,720 -

The above amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year end adjusted for:

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of current tax liabilities;

(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year end;

(c} franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the Company at the year end; and

(d) franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upan there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. The impact on the

dividend franking account of dividends proposed after the balance sheet date but not recognised as a liability is to reduce it by $4.1 million
(2005: nil).

12. Investments accounted for using the equity method
The consolidated entity has the following investments in associates and a joint venture entity and accounts for these investments using the
equity method.

Company Principal activity Reporting date Country Ownership

2006
Indochina Healthcare Limited Pharmaceutical Distribution 30 June Thalland 45% 45%
Zydus Mayne Oncology Pvt. Ltd Product Development and Manufacture 31 March India 50% -

Joint venture entity

On 18 May 2005, Mayne Pharma Limited and Zydus Cadila Healthcare Limited entered into an agreement for the establishment of a joint
venture entity for the development and manufacture of certain injectable cyiotoxic products. Each party holds a 50% interest in ihe jaint
venture entity. During the period the consolidated entity contributed $3.3 million to establish the joint venture entity, Zydus Mayne
Oncology Pvt. Ltd.

The principal activity of this jointly contralled entity will be the development and manuiacture of certain injectable cytotoxic Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients (APIs) and pharmaceutical formutations. At present the joint venture entity is in the process of constructing
a manufacturing facility situated in Ahmedabad, India.
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1:2. Investments accounted for using the equity methad {continued)

Financial information relating to equity accounted investments

The consolidated entity's share of profits and losses, assets and liabilities of equity accounted investments is:

2006 2005
Jointly controiled Associates Total  Jointly contrelled Associates Total

entity entity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Gioup share of revenue - 2,461 2,461 - 2,451 2,451
Group share of profits before tax - 140 140 - 419 419
Group share of income tax expense - (70) (70) - (99) 99)
Group share of net profit equity accounted - 70 70 - 320 320
Movements in carrying amount of investments
Cerrying amount at beginning of the period - 1,304 1,304 - 984 984
Cranges in equity invested during the period 3,267 - 3,267 - - -
St are of net profit equity accounted - 70 70 - 320 320
Cz'rrying amount at the end of the period 3,267 1,374 4,641 - 1,304 1,304

13. Property, plant and equipment

Acquisitions and disposals

The consolidated entity acquired assets with a cost of $128.5 million
during the year ended 30 June 2006 {2005: $85.1 million}, including
assets acquired through business combinations of $48.0 million
{2005: $1.5 million). In addition assets totalling $16.2 million were
acjuired on the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited {see note 4).

During the year ended 30 June 2006 no assets were disposed of
thuough the sale of discontinued operations, however, in the priar
pe‘iod $0.5 million of assets disposed of related to the sale of
discontinued operations (see note 9).

Impairment losses and asset write-downs

Ag adilla manufacturing facility

In ate 2003, it was determined that the manufacturing facility in

Ag Jadilla, Puerto Rico would be upgraded to increase capacity and
support expected sales growth in a range of lower value, injectable
phirmaceuticals for the US hospital market. The project has
experienced a number of delays which the new global manufacturing
team has overcormne with the construction phase of the facility now
comnplete. However, as a result of the redefined strategic focus of

the consolidated entity and the identification of other manufacturers to
supply some of our oncalogy-related pharmaceuticals at competitive
prices, Mayne Pharma Limited is re-evaluating its options for the
Agiiadilla facility.
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The alternatives being considered include continued operation,
divestment, and closure of the facility. At 30 June 2006 a decision had
not been reached and an impairment loss of $59.2 million has been
recognised after taking into consideration future cash flows from the
facility under the three alternatives.

An impairment loss of $51.3 mitlion has been recognised in ‘other
expenses’ in the income statement in relation to the assessment
performed by the consolidated entity on the carrying value of the
assets of the Aguadilla manufacturing site. The estimate of the
recoverable amount was based on the value in use of the assets of the
manufacturing facility, determined using a pre-tax discount rate of
14.3%. In addition specific assets totzlling $7.9 million relating to the
Aguadilla manufacturing site were written down and are included in
‘other expenses’ in the income statement.

Business development projects

A number of ‘in-progress’ business development projects, included
within assets under censtruction, that had been commenced by
previous Management no longer fit with the new strategic direction of
the consolidated entity. Al these projecis have ceased and an
impairment loss of $9.7 million has been recognised within ‘other
expenses’ in the income statement.

In addition an impairment loss of $0.7 million (2005: nil) was
recognised in relation to the carrying value of other items of property,
plant and equipment which is included within ‘cost of sales’ in the
income statement.




2006 2005

$'000 $'000
14. Product development
Product development at cost 51,538 41,182
Accumulated amaortisation (7,514) (5,450}
Written down value 44,024 35,732
Catrying amount at the start of the period 35,732 25,192
Additions 29,098 12,896
Impairment of assets (19,688) -
Disposals - -
Amortisation expense (1,483) (1,143)
Fareign currency exchange differences 365 {1,213)
Carrying amaount at the end of the period 44,024 35,732

Acquisitions

The consolidated entity acquired product development intangibles
totalling $0.4 million through business combinations during the year
ended 30 June 2006 (20C5: nil).

During the year ended 30 June 2006, the consolidated entity incurred
$56.7 million (2005: $51.2 miflion) on product development activities
with $27.6 million (2005: $38.3 milliocn) expensed in the income
statement. Of the total expenditure, $29.1 million {2005: $12.9
million) related to development expenditure of future products and
has been capitalised in accordance with Group policy.

Impairment losses and asset write-downs

Propofol development costs

During the period the consolidated entity was unsuccessful

in defending a non-infringement claim by the innovator of

the anaesthetic product propofol. Mayne Pharma Limited has
subsequently lodged an appeal and a Court date for the hearing was
7 September 2006, Mayne Pharma Limited remains confident of
succeeding in this litigation but this process has delayed the launch
of the product. In addition, the market dynamics have changed with
additional competition leading to significant price erosion. These
factors have caused the consolidated entity to assess the recoverable
amount of its capitalised development costs relating to the propofol
product.

Based con the assessment performed $19.5 million of the carrying
amount of the capitalised development was written off and is
recognised in ‘other expenses’ in the income statement. The estimate
of recoverable amount was based on value in use, determined using a
pre-tax discount rate of 14.3%.

In addition an impairment loss of $0.2 million was recognised in
relation 1o the carrying value of other items of product development
which is included within ‘product development expenditure’ in the
income statement.

Mayne Pharma Annuat Report 2006 75




Notes to the concise financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

2006 2005

Computer  Operating rights Computer  Operating rights
software and licences Total sofiware and licences Tota!
£'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

15. Identified intangible assets

Identified intz ngibles at cost 12,259 306,924 319,183 8,784 265,025 273,809
Accumulated amortisation (6,253) (54,422) {60,675) {3,903) (25,162) (29,065)
Written down value 6,006 252,502 258,508 4,881 239,863 244,744
Carrying amqunt at the start of the period 4,881 239,863 244,744 4,233 192,145 196,378
Additions 211 68,179 68,390 - 128,599 128,599
Transfer from assets under construction 3,176 142 3,318 2,309 - 2,309
Impairment of assets - (39,212) (39,212) - - -
Disposals (13) (259) (272) - (40,767) (40,767)
Amartisatior. expense (2,255) {24,963) {27,218) (1,661) {21,995) (23,656)
Foreign currency exchange differences 6 8,752 8,758 - (18,119} (18,119)
Carrying arr:ount at the end of the period 252,502 258,508 4,881 239,863 244,744

6,006

Acquisition

The consolidated entity acquired operating rights and licences
imangibles fotalling $48.4 miliion through business combinations
during the year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: $2.3 million).

Impairment losses and asset write-downs

Bio-similar development costs

In February 2003, the consolidated entity entered into a partnership
with Pliva «].d. {'Pliva’} to develop and manufacture two major bio-
similar products being erythropoietin (‘EPQ’} and granulocyte colony
stimulating! factor ('G-CSF"). Under the agreement the consolidated
entity wau d acquire the exclusive sales, marketing and distribution
rights for tne two products in Western Europe and other selected
markets a‘ound the world.

Substantial progress had been made with the development of the EPO
product, hiowever, ‘ate in 2005 the regulatory approval requirements
imposed Dy the European regu'atory authority for bio-similar EPQ to be
brought t market, changed markedly. After assessing the impact of
the regulatory changes it was determined that it would require
considerz bly more resources to be channelled into the development of
EPQ ther by rendering it no longer commercially viable, and taking the
project bayond the scope of the original agreement. Accordingly,
Mayne Pnarma Limited and Pliva agreed to cease joint collaboration on
EPO and refocus efforts on bringing G-CSF to the market (see note 25).
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As a consequence the consolidated entity has recognised an
impairment loss of $35.2 million in ‘other expenses’ in the income
statement. In addition, the liability recognised for future milestone
payments to Pliva for the development of EPQ for $27.9 million was
released and is included within ‘other expenses’ in the income
statement. During the period incremental costs of $1.9 millicn
incurred in relation to the development of EPO were also expensed
to the income statement.

Acquired operating rights and licences

A number of individual operating rights and licences acquired by
previous management no longer fit with the new strategic direction of
the consolidated entity. These operating rights and licences witl no
longer be pursued by the consolidated entity and as a result an
impairment loss of $3.6 million has been recognised in 'other
expenses’ in the income statement.

In addition the annual impairment assessment performed by the
censolidated entity, in accordance with the consolidated entity's
impairment of assets policy, has identified an impairment loss of
$0.4 million in relation to the carrying value of ather operating rights
ang licences which has been recognised in ‘selling and marketing
expenses’ in the income statement. The impairments in the carrying
value of the operating rights and licences were a result of ceasing to
sell products into certain markets and price erosion caused by
increased competition. The estimate of the recoverable amount of
these assets was based on the value in use of the asset, determined
using a pre-tax discount rate of 14.3%.




2006 2005
$'000 $'000
16. Capital expenditure commitments
Premises, plant and equipment
Contracted for but not provided for or payable:
Within one year 6,033 23,497
Later than one year and less than five years - -
Later than five years - -
6,033 23,497
Product development and operating rights and licences
Contracted for but not provided for or payable:
Within one year 4,598 3,902
Later than one year and less than five years 10,918 2,535
Later than five years - -
15,516 6,437
17. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Current
Secured bank loans - 1,029
Unsecured bank loans 799 1,161
Other unsecured loans 3,595 3,439
Finance lease liabilities 105 -
4,499 5,629
Non-current
Unsecured bank loans 1,599 2078
Other unsecured loans 9,992 11,337
Finance lease liabilities - -
11,591 13,415
Available financing facilities
Multi-currency bank debt facility 225,000 -
Bank overdraft facility 1,000 -
Stendby letters of credit 11,275 8213
Other bank facilities 656 -
237,931 8,213
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17, Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Se¢cured bank foans

Secured bank loans represents a factoring agreement between

PHT Pharma Srl {'PHT'Y and Banca San Paalo {'San Paolo’). PHT
prasents invoices to San Paolo and receives a cash advance of up

to 80% of the face value of the invoices, Interest is charged on the
cash advances and the credit risk lies with PHT, The cash adgvance at
belance date is nil {2005: EUR 650,000; AUD 1,029,132).

Urisecured bank loans

Urisecured bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars and Euros.

Drawn term facility

At 30 June 2006 an amount of EUR 1.4 million (AUD 2.4 million}
is Dayable in relation to a loan agreement between Wasserburger
Arineimittelwerk GmbH {"Wasserburger') and tKB Deutsche
Industriebank AG ('IKB"). The loan is unsecured and is repayable in
equal instalments in December and June of each year. The loan
bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.75% per annum, and matures in
June 2009.

Multi-currency bank debt facility

During the period the consolidated entity obtained an AUD 225.0
million unsecured syndicated multi-currency and multi-issuer bank
debit facility. The syndicated bank debt facility is a three-year revolving
loz n facility and was undrawn at 30 June 2006.

Interest is payable on amounts drawn under the facility based on
benchmark rates {depending on borrowed currency) plus a margin.
The margin payable under the facility is consistent with that which
sirtilarly rated or unrated borrowers would expect to obtain for
facilities of this size and nature in the current market.

The facifity contains customary provisions relating to events of default,
wtich could trigger early repayment and alsa contains undertakings
by Mayne Pharma Limited and certain subsidiaries, including a
nezative pledge, prohibition on disposal of assets and financial
co/enants that are customary for facilities of this nature.

Bank overdraft

The consolidated entity has a bank overdraft facility of AUD 1.0 million
which is embedded within a set-off arrangement. The facility allows
any individual account batance, within the set-off group, to be in
averdraft of up to AUD 30.0 million, however, the net cash paosition of
the set-off group must not exceed a bank overdraft position greater
than AUD 1.0 million,

The facility is unsecured with interest charged daily an drawn amounts
at the bank's official cash rate plus a margin. The margin payable
under the facility is consistent with that which similarly rated or
unrated horrowers would expect to ebtain for facilities of this size and
nature in the current market.

Other unsecured loans

Qther loans include a loan received from a customer to finance

the expansion of production capacity at the consolidated entity's
manufacturing facility at Wasserburger, Germany. The outstanding
loan balance at 30 June 2006 is EUR 8.3 million (AUD 14.2 million).
The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum and is repaid
in annual instalments based on levels of production. Final repayment
is due September 2000.

Standby letters of credit

The consolidated entity has a number of standby letter of credit
facilities with different financial institutions. Each facility has differing
terms and conditions that reflect the purpose of guarantee provided
under the tetter of credit. At 30 June 2006 the consolidated entity has
not called upon any of the available letters of credit (2005: nil).

Other bank facilities

The consolidated entity has arranged a facility under which cash,

of up to AUD 0.5 million, may be advanced against receipts from
overseas customers. The facility has not been utilised at 30 June 2006.

tn addition, a documentary letter of credit facility for AUD 0.2 miltion
has also been arranged where paymenis, or proof of payment, is
supplied to an overseas supplier by the financial intermediary {0
ensure the shipment of goods procured. This facility has not been
utilised at 30 June 2006.

2006 2005
$'000 $°000
18, Issued capital
Orfinary shares
Issued and paid up capital:
640,655,416 ordinary shares fully paid {2005: 100 fully paid) 1,608,760 -
To a! issued and paid up capital 1,608,760 -
Mcvements in share capitat:
Orening balance - -
Add:
Ondinary shares issued during the year pursuant to the demerger scheme 1,608,760 -
1,608,760 -
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18. Issued capital {continued)
Stock exchange listing

On approval of the demerger (see note 4) Mayne Pharma Limited
listed on the Australian Stock Exchange and commenced trading,

under the code ‘MYP’, on 21 November 2005.

Share issues

Ordinary shares of 640,655,316, fully paid at $2.49 per share, were
issued during the year ended 30 June 2006 pursuani to the dermerger
Scheme of Arrangement (see note 4). No ordinary shares were issued

during the year ended 30 June 2005.

Terms and condition of ordinary shares

Haotders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
shareholders' meetings. In the event of winding up of the Company
ordinary shareholders rank after all creditors and are fully entitled
to any proceeds of liguidation.

Share-based Unrealised Cash flow  Foreign cumency Total Retained
payments gain hedge translation reserves earnings
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

19. Reserves and retained profits
Balance at 1 July 2005 - - - (6,451) (6,451) 141,469
Effect of change in accounting policy - (3,112) - - (3,112) -
Balance at 1 July 2005 restated - (3,112) - {6,451) {9,563) 141,469
Profit retained for the year - - - - - {31,335)
Dividends - - - - - -
Share-based payments 988 - - - 988 -
Actuarial gain/(loss} - - - - - (149)
Fair value adjustmenis - (350) 92 - (258} -
Foreign exchange adjustments on consolidation - - - 37,672 37,672 -
Transfer to income statement - 3,530 (92) - 3,438 -
Balance at 30 June 2006 988 68 - 31,221 32,277 109,985
Balance at 1 July 2004 - - - - - 116,081
Profit retained for the year - - - - - 25,388
Dividends - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - - - - -
Actuarial gain/(loss} - - - - - -
Fair value adjustments - - - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustments on censalidation - - - (6,381) {6,381) -
Transfer to income statement - - - {70) (70) -
Balance at 30 June 2005 - - - (6.451) (6,451) 141,469

hedge is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts
are recognised in the income statement when the associated hedge
transaction affects the profit and loss or where the hedging instrument
relates to the acquisition of an asset the amount is recognised in the
cost of that asset.

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve includes the recognition of the fair
value of share options issued but not yet exercised in accordance with
AASB 2 ‘Share-based Payment'.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records the foreign currency
differences arising from the transtation of foreign operations an
consglidation and the translation of transactions that hedge the
consolidated entity's net investment in a foreign operation or the
translation of foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net
investment in a foreign aperation. The reserve is recognised in the
income statement when the net investment is disposed of.

Unrealised gain teserve

The unrealised gain reserve includes the changes in the fair value
of investmenis that are classified as available-for-sale. Amounis
are recognised in the income statement when the available-for-sale
financial asset is sold or impaired.

. Cash flow hedge reserve
The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record the portion of the
gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that
is determined to be effective, any ineffective portion of a cash flow
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20. Employee benefits

Pension plans

The consolidated entity provides employee benefits under various
arrangements, including through defined contributicn and defined
beneflt pension plans. Many of these plans are defined contribution
plans where the Company contribution and resulting income
staterient charge is fixed at a set level or is a set percentage of an
empluyee's pay. However, several plans, held in the USA (including
Puerty Rico) and Germany, are defined benefit, where benefits are
basec on employees' length of service and average final satary,

Definid benefit plans

The ¢insolidated entity provides fully for the present value of the
unfunded obligations of the defined benefit plans as determined by
the laiest actuarial valuation.

The d>fined benefit plan in the USA has been closed to new
entrar ts residing in continental USA since October 2003, beneiits
for existing employaes in the plan, at that time, were subsequently
frozen with effect from June 2005. The plan remains open to existing
and new employees that reside in Puerto Rico. In Germany, two
wholly unfunded defined benefit plans are in operation, one for staff
memters and the other for executives.

The cash funding of the USA plan, which may from time to time
invalve special payments, is determined in consuliation with
independent qualified actuaries to ensure that the assets together
with the future contributions should be sufficient to meet future
obligations. Members and entities within the consalidated entity make
contributions as specified in the rules of the fund. Contributions by
these entities are based on percentages of current salaries actuarially
assessed to meet defined benefits based on multiples of final average
salaries determined by length of service and are enforceable in
accordance with the respective rules so long as they are parties to the
fund. Statutory requirements in the USA prescribe minimum quarierly
employer contributions to the USA plan whilst it has an accumulated
funding deficiency.

An actuarial assessment of the USA defined benefit plan was made
by independent actuary, Dreighton Rosier, FSA, EA on 27 June 2006.
Actuarial assessments of the German defined benefit executive plan
ang staff plan were made by independent actuaries, Herr Bauer
{Aktuar DAV) and Herr Neumann (Aktuar DAV) of Gerling Pensions
Management GMBH on 30 June 2006.

2006 2005
% %
Schenje assets

Cash 17.0% 17.0%

US stocks 43.3% 43.3%
Foreign stacks 9.5% 3.5%
Bonds 30.1% 30.1%

Other 0.1% 0.1%

$'000 $'000

Total fair value of assets 2,133 1,885
Preser t value of unfunded obligations (7,149) (6,788}
Preser t value of funded obligations (2,995) (2,448)
Preser t value of scheme obligations (8,011 (7.351)
Deficit in the scheme recognised in the balance sheet (8,011) (7.351)

Contritiutions are also made to a number of industry accumulation funds in accordance with various awards and other complying funds.
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20. Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

Mayne Pharma Limited Executive Share Option Plan (‘ESQP")
Under the Mayne Pharma Limited ESOP, selected Mayne Pharma
Limited executives are eligible to receive opticns over Mayne Pharma
Limited shares. Options may be offered 1o executives at such times
and en such terms as the Board from time to time decides. No
consideration is payable on grant of the options, unless the Board
decides otherwise.

The Board determines the exercise price payable on the exercise of
an aplion when the option is granted. Under the terms of the ESOP,
the exercise price is subject to adjustment if Mayne Pharma Limited
shares are offered to Mayne Pharma Limited shareholders by way
of a bonus issue or rights issue prigr to the exercise of the options
or, if there is any reorganisation of the issued share capital of Mayne
Pharma Limited {including by way of capital reduction, share buy-
back or cancellation).

The conditions which must be satisfied befare an option may be
exercised, including the peried during which the opticn may be
exercised and any performance hurdles, are determined by the Board
when the option is granted. Unless the Board determines otherwise,
and having regard to the satisfaction of any periormance conditions,
an option may be exercised notwithstanding that the exercise
conditions have rot been met:

* in circumstances where the relevant executive's employment
with Mayne Pharma Limited terminates as a result of retirement,
redundancy, total and permanent disablement or death; or

+ if a takeover bid or scheme of arrangement is made in respect of
the Company.

In addition, the Board may determine that an option may be exercised
notwithstanding that the exercise conditions have not been met in any
other circumstances in its discretion.

The expense recognised in the income staterment for the current period
is $1.0 miltion (2005: niY) in relation to options granted under the ESOP.
Prior to the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited on 18 November
2005 (see note 4) the Company did not provide any share-based
compensation arrangements to employees under this plan.

Mayne Pharma Limited Senior Executive Shost Term Incentive Plan
('SESTIP’)

Under the SESTIP the Board may award an incentive amount to
selected senior executives of Mayne Pharma Limited {an ‘Award'} with
the ameount awarded being set by reference to 2 percentage of the
executive's fixed annual remuneration for the year in which the Award
is made. Mayne Pharma Limited executives are required to take a
rminimuem of 40% (or such other percentage as the Board determines)
of each Award as deferred Mayne Pharma Limited shares ('Deferred
Shares'). Mayne Pharma Limited executives may then elect o take a
higher proportion up te and including 100% of the amount awarded
as Mayne Pharma Limited shares ('Elective Shares'}, with the balance
of the award payable in cash.

The Award is based on performance for the year, which is tested
against specific performance and service conditions, before it is
made. If the Board determines that the specific conditions applicable
to an Award have been satisfied, Mayne Pharma Limited must pay the
cash component of the Award to the participant and provide sufficient
funds to the trustee of the Mayne Pharma Group SESTIP Trust (the
‘Trustee') to permit the Trustee to acquire Mayne Pharma Limited
shares that are equal to the aggregate number of the Deierred Shares
and the Elective Shares comprising the Award.

This plan is currently suspended, no Awards have been made under
this plan during the current period (2005: nil).

Mayne Pharma Limited Employee Share Plan (‘'ESP’)

The Mayne Pharma Limited ESP allows eligible employees to acquire
Mayne Pharma Limited Shares from the Plan Trustee {'Plan Shares')
with an aggregate market value (for each employee} not greater than
$1,000. Eligible employees are employees of a Mayne Pharma Group
company and who are invited to participate in the Mayne Pharma
Limited ESP by the Plan Trustee. The Plan Trustee remains the
registered holder of the Plan Shares until they are transferred to the
participant in accordance with the terms of the ESP.

No purchase price is payable by participating employaes for Plan
Shares. Mayne Pharma Limited will contribute to the Plan Trustee
the amount required to acquire the shares on behalf of participating
employees and the Plan Trustee will then, at the election of Mayne
Pharma Limited, either purchase or subscribe for Mayne Pharma
Limited shares on behalf of the participant.

No awards have been made to employees under this plan during the
current period (2005: nil).
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21. Financial instruments

The consolidated entity's financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise bank overdrafts, short-term borrowings, loans, current and
non-curr 2t investments, cash, short-term deposits and standby
letters of credit. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
manage the consolidated entity’s funding and tiquidity requirements.
The consolidated entity has other financial instruments such as trade
receivab es and trade payabies, which arise directly from operations.

Exposur: to credit risk, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normat ourse of the consolidated entity’s business and represent the
principa financial risks 1o which the consclidated entity is exposed.
The consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
exposurs to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates in
accordance with the Board approved policies set out below. 1t is, and
has been throughout the period under review, the censolidated entity's
policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

Details »f the significant accounting policies and methods adopied,
including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and
the bas,s on which income and expenses are recognised, in respact
of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument
may be found in the consolidated entity’s full financial report.

Credit risk

The consolidated entity is exposed to customers ranging from
government backed agencies such as hospitals and large private
wholesalers to individual clinics and gharmacies. Concentrations
of crecit risk are minimised by undertaking transactions with a
large r umber of custemers and counterparties in various countries.
The ¢t nsalidated entity has a credit policy in place and receivable
balanc es are monitared on an ongoing basis with the result that the
conso idated entity's exposure to bad debts is not significant. Trade
receiv1ble exposures are managed locally in the operating regions
where they arise.

Investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with
count 2rparties that have a credit rating equal to or better than the
consclidated entity. The consolidated entity principally deals with
major banks and their controlled entities in relation to transactions
involving derivative financial instruments and as a result the
consakidated entity does not expect any counterparties to fail to
meet their obligations given their high credit ratings.

For the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005 there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial
asse!, including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet.
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Liquidity risk

The consolidated entity's abjective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts,
short-term lgans and bank loans.

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity may enter into interest rate swaps and interest
rate options to lower funding costs or to alter interest rate exposures
arising from mismatches between assets and liabilities. An interest
rate swap is an agreement to swap interest payment sireams based on
a notional principal amount. Interest rate swaps allow the consolidated
entity to raise borrowings at fixed or floating rates and swap them intQ
appropriate exposures. Interest rate options are purchased to reduce
the impact of changes in interest rates on floating rate long-term

debt. An interest rate option gives the purchaser the right, but not the
obligation, to pay or receive interest flows for a specified period

of time, at a specified rate, at a specified date in the future,

There were no outstanding interest rate swap or option cantracts at
30 June 2006 or at 3C June 2005.

Foreign exchange risk

The consolidated entity is exposed to foreign currency risk cn

sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other

than Australian dollars. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily Sterling, Euro, US dollars and Canadian dollars. The largest
transactional exposure is on Euro to Australian dollar conversion,

on Euro sales and Australian dollar manufacturing.

Currency exposure is managed centrally and where deemed
necessary the consolidated entity uses forward exchange contracts

to hedge its foreign currency risk on committed transactions. All
forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year after
the balance sheet date however the contracts may be rolled over at
maturity if required.

It is the censolidated entity's policy to neither engage in any
speculative transactions nor to hedge currency translation exposures
arising from the consolidation of non-Australian dollar subsidiaries.

The consolidated entity classifies its forward exchange contracts,
which are hedging committed transactions, as cash flow hedges and
measures them at fair value. The consolidated entity did not have any
forward exchange contracts at 30 June 2006 or 30 June 2005,




Proportion of
Date of acquisition  shares acquired

22, Acquisition of controlled entities and businesses
Acquisition of controlled entities

30 June 2006
FH Faulding & Co Limited

30 June 2005
Intra-Tech Healthcare Limited

Onkoworks Gesellschaft fuer Hersteillung und Vertrieb onkologischer Spezialpraepararte GmbH

PHT Pharma Srl

18 November 2005 100%
2 June 2005 100%

20 June 2005 100%

24 lune 2005 100%

30 June 2006

FH Faulding & Co Limited

On 17 June 2005, Mayne Group Limited, the former parent entity of
the consolidated entity, announced its intention to demerge its global
injectable generic and speciality pharmaceuticals business to create
an independent publicly traded company. That company is Mayne
Pharma Limited (‘Mayne Pharma’), farmerly known as Mayne Pharma
Pty Limited. On 18 November 2005 the sharehclders of Mayne Group
Limited approved the demerger (see note 4).

The approval of the demerger triggered a number of transactions that
occurred to fulfil the requirements of the Implementation Deed, the
Demerger Deed, the Internal Restructure Agreements and certain
ather agreements for the purposes of effecting an internal restructure
of Mayne Group Limited prior to separation of the pharmaceutical
business.

As a result of the internal restructuring transactions of Mayne Group
Limited on 18 November 2005 Mayne Pharma Limited acquired, from
Mayne Group Limited, 100% of the shares of FH Faulding & Co Limited,
representing the pharmaceutical manufacturing business located in
Salisbury Austratia, far consideration of $73.3 million. The provisional
fair vatue of the acquired assets and liabilities is set out below.

tn the seven and a half months to 30 June 2006 the operations of FH
Faulding & Co Limited contributed net profit after tax of $6.9 million to
the consolidated net profii for the period. If the restructuring had
occurred on 1 July 2005 the estimated impact for the 12 months to
30 June 2006 would have been to increase revenue by an additional
$13.9 million and increase profit by an additional $6.2 million.

In addition, the internal restructuring transactions that took place as a
result of the demerger resulted in other assets totalling $2.4 million
being transferred from Mayne Group Limited to Mayne Pharma Limited.

30 June 2005

Intra-Tech Healthcare Limited

On 2 June 2005, the consolidated entity formalised the acquisition
of Intra-Tech Healthcare Limited, a company specialising in the
manufacture and distribution of aseplically prepared pre-filled
syringes and infusion bags based in London, United Kingdom for a
total consideration of $47.7 million. The provisional fair value of the
acquired assets and liabilities is set cut below.

The consolidated entity obtained effective control over the aperations

of Intra-Tech Healthcare Limited in January 2005 and its results have
therefore been included in these consolidated financial statements
from that date resulting in a contribution of $0.4 mitlion to net profit for
the financial year ended 30 June 2005. If the consolidated entity had
acquired the operations at the beginning of the 2005 financial reporting
year the estimated impact on the consolidated entity for the 12 menihs
to 30 June 2005 would have been io increase revenue by an additional
$25.2 million and increase profit by an additional $1.7 million.

Onkoworks Gesellschaft fuer Hersteilung und Vertrieb onkologischer
Spezialpraepararte GmbH

On 20 June 2005, the consolidated entity acquired all of the shares of
Onkoworks Gesellschaft fuer Herstellung und Vertrieb onkaologischer
Spezialpragpararte GmbH (‘Onkoworks'), for a total censideration of
$26.8 miltion. Onkoworks is a pharmaceutical company that focuses
on the sale of generic and oncology products to specialist doctors
operating in private practices across Germany. The provisional fair
values of the acquired assets and liabilities is set out below.

From the date of acquisition the operations of Onkoworks contributed
net profit after tax of $0.3 millien to the net profit of the consolidated
entity for the financial year ended 30 June 2005. If the aperatians

of Onkoworks had been acquired by the consolidated entity at the
beginning of the 2005 financial reporting year the estimated impact
on revenue for the 12 months to 30 June 2005 would have been to
increase revenue by an additional $6.1 million and reduce profit by
$0.8 million.
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22, Acquisition of controlled entities and businesses {continued)
PFT Pharma Srl

Thz consolidated entity formalised the acquisition of PHT Pharma Srl
an 24 June 2005 for a total consideration of $25.9 million and by doing
soincreased its presence in the ltalian hospital market. PHT Pharma
Srl {'PHT") is a Milan-based marketing and sales organisation whose
prcduct range is focused on cardiovascular, anaesthesiology and pain
menagement. The provisional fair value of the acquired assets and
liabilities is set out below.

Thi consclidated entity obtained effective control over the cperations
PHT in January 2005 and its results have therefore been included in
these consolidated financia! statements frem that date resulting in a
cor,tribution of $0.4 millicn to net profit for the financial year ended

30 June 2005. If the consalidated entity had acquired the operations
at the beginning of the 2005 financial reparting year the estimated
impact on the consolidated entity for the 12 months to 30 June 2005
woiild have been to increase revenue by an additional $5.5 million and
inciease profit by an additional $0.3 million.

Effect of acquisitions

Acquisition of businesses

30 June 2006

Biologici Italia Laboratories

On 1 July 2005, the consolidated entity entered into an agreement to
acquire the hospital sales and distribution capability of Biologici ltalia
Laboratories, 2 pharmaceutical company based in Milan, Italy. The
acquisition was completed on 2 August 2005 with the consolidated
entity acquiring the business and assets for a tolal consideration of
$£16.3 million.

30 June 2005

Laberatorios Farmaceutices ROVI SA

0On 15 December 2004, the consolidated entity acquired the
specialised hospital generic pharmaceutical distribution business of
Laboratorios Farmaceuticos ROVI SA ('ROVI') for total consideration

of $30.3 million securing the consolidated entity a direct sales and
marketing presence in Spain, The purchase included the acquisition of
distribution rights for an existing generi¢ hospitai product portfolio and
pipeline of injectable products including a sales and marketing team.

The acquisitions had the following effect on the consclidated entity's assets and liabilities.

Mayne Pharma

Biologici Italia FH Faulding & recognised Fair value Acquiree
Laboratories Co Limited values adjustments*  camying armounts
$°000 $'000 $'000 3'000 $'000
30 June 2006
Projserty, plant and equipment 5 47,954 47,959 (3,866) 44,093
Intasgible assets 421 47954 48,375 (47,4100 965
inventories 962 5,015 5,977 - 5,977
Trace and other receivables 13 22,417 22,430 - 22,430
Cash and cash equivalents - (615) (615) - (615}
Intelest-bearing loans and deposits - (50,458) (50,458) - {50,458)
Trade and other payables (248) (25,902) (26,150) 15,195 {10,955}
Net dentifiable assets and liabilities 1,153 46,365 47,518 {36,081) 11,437
Goodwill on acquisition 15,195 26,9556 42,150
Consideration paid 16,348 73,320 89,668
Satisfied in:
- cash 16,005 - 16,005
- deferred consideration 343 - 343
- creation of interest-bearing borrowing - 73,320 73,320
Cast /laverdraft) acquired - (615) (615)
Net ¢ash outflow 16,005 615 16,620

* All of the above fair value adjustments were made in relation to the acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited.

Goo¢ will has arisen on acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited and the business of Biologici Italia Laboratories because of existing
custcmer relationships and the inherent knowledge of employees that did not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangitile asset at

the date of acquisition,
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22. Acquisition of controlled entities and businesses (continued)

Laboratorios

Mayne Pharma

Intra-Tech Gnkowaorks PHT Farmaceuticos recognised Fair value Acquiree
Healthcare Limited GmbH Pharma Srl ROVI SA values adjustments  carrying amounts
$'00C $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
30 June 2005
Property, plant
and equipment 1,402 101 43 - 1,546 - 1,546
Intangible assets - 2,155 126 - 2,281 - 2,281
Inventeries 1,251 1,658 2,594 - 5,503 - 5,503
Trade and other receivables 4,299 5,487 10,429 5,698 26,213 - 26,213
Cash and cash equivalents 2,143 1,472 528 - 4,143 - 4,143
Interest-tearing loans
and deposits (54} - {1,099) - {1,153) - (1,153)
Trade and other payables (3,727} (3,089) (8,648} - (15,464} - {15,464)
Net identifiable assets
and liabitities 5,314 7,784 3973 5,998 23,069 - 23,069
Goodwill on acquisition 42,389 18,992 21917 24,350 107,648
Consideration paid 47,703 26,776 25,890 30,348 130,717
Satisfied in:
-cash 44,6427 16,408 13,142 30,348 104,540
- deferred consideration 3,061 10,368 12,748 - 26,177
Cash/(overdraft) acquired 2,143 1,472 528 - 4,143
Net cash outflow 42,499 14,936 12,614 30,348 100,397

Goodwill has arisen on the above acquisitions because of existing customer relationships and the inherent knowledge of employees that did not
meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset at the date of acquisition,

At 30 June 2005 the above acquisitions were accounted for on a pravisional basis. During the current financial year the fair value of the assets
and liabilities acquired under each of the business combinations detailed abave were finalised. As a result during the financial year ended
30 June 2006 the acquisition accounting of these business combinations was adjusted to accurately reflect the fair value of the assets and
liabilities acquired resulting in an increase to goodwill of $1.8 millicn.
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23, Contingent liabilities

Leglal proceedings

Mayne Pharma Limited is involved in various legal proceedings considered typical to #ts business, including litigation relating to employment,
prcduct liabilfty, commercial disputes, infringement of intellectual property rights and the validity of certain patents. Although there can be no
asc‘urance regarding the outcome of any of the legal proceedings or investigations, Management does not expect them to have a materially
ad erse effect on the consolidated entity’s financial position or profitability.

The: information usually required by AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ has not been disclosed on the grounds
that it can be expected to sericusly prejudice the outcome of this litigation.

Contractual commitments

Mayne Pharma Limited enters into consutting agreements with professional advisers from time to time as part of the normal operations of the
bus iness. In some instances these agreements may have contingent fees associated with the agreements. Given confidentiality restrictions in
those agreements, the contingent fees have not been disclosed.

Guirrantees
The: consolidated entity has supplied a letter of credit to the financial intermediary of the jcint venture entity, Zydus Mayne Oncology Pvt. Ltd,
for $1.5 million (2005: nil).

24 Related parties

Syrabion Health Limited (‘Symbion')

The- consolidated entity had a related party relationship with Symbion (formerly Mayne Group Limited) up until the demerger of Mayne Pharma
Limrited on 18 November 2005 (see note 4).

Sal 2 of goods
The consolidated entity supplies preducts to Symbion's Pharmacy business. For the four and a half months to 18 Novernber 2006 Symbion
Heiilth Limited purchased goods from the consolidated entity to the amount of $17.0 million (12 months to 30 June 2006; $33.1 million).

Shi red Services Agreements

On the demerger of Mayne Pharma Lirmnited (see note 4) certain shared facilities and services were providad by Symbion to the consolidated

ent ty under the terms and conditions of the Transition and Stored Services Agreements that were established on demerger. The Stored Services
Agr sements expired on 28 February 2006, The amounts charged by Symbion to the consolidated entity under the agreements were on a cost
recivery basis only.
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25. Subsequent events

Acquisition of SuperGen oncology products

On 22 June 2006, the consolidated entity announced that an agreement had been reached with SuperGen, Inc ('SuperGen’) to acquire the
North American rights to Nipent® {pentostatin for injection) and SurfaceSafe. Nipent® is a treatmant approved for patients with hairy cell
leukaemia and SurfaceSafe is a two step, towelette system to decontaminate surfaces where chemotherapy is mixed or administered.

The total consideration payable far the purchase of the two oncology products from SuperGen is USD 33.4 million (AUD 45.1 million). Under
the terms of the agreement Mayne Pharma Limited will acquire all product rights, patents, registrations, trademarks, inventories and relevant
supplier and customer contracts relating to Nipent® in North America and SurfaceSafe.

Subsequent to year end the formalities of the acquisition have been completed and on 22 August 2006 Mayne Pharma Limited paid
USD 13.4 millien (AUD 18.1 million), of the totai USD 33.4 million (AUD 45.1 millign) consideration, to SuperGen upen signing the acquisition
agreement. The remaining payments under the terms of the acquisition agreement are contingant on key events and product performance.

Continued development agreement with Pliva

On 28 July 2006. the consolidated entity announced that an agreement with Pliva d.d. (‘Pliva’) has been finalised for the continued
development of biosimilar granulocyte-colony stimulating factor ('G-CSF') for the European, South East Asian, Middle Eastern and Asiz Pacific
markets. G-CSF is a haematopoietic growth factor used for the treatment of the side-effacts associated with chemotherapy.

This agreement is an amendment of a collaboration originally signed with Pliva in February 2005 invelving G-CSF and Erythropoietin {'EPO').
Following the previously announced termination of the EPQ part of the collaboration (see notes 6 and 15), this agreement secures the
continuing development of G-CSF and reflects the significant progress of the product through development. G-CSF continues to meet the
product development milestones set by Mayne Pharma Limited and Pliva.

The consalidated entity is committed to pay $6.0 million on signing the agreement with Pliva. Upon successful achieverment of all milestones
future capital committments total $20.6 miilion.

Dividend declaration
Since the end of the financial year the Directors have declared the following dividend:

Amount per share Record date for
Amcunt per  Franked amount of foreign determining Dividend
ordinary share per share  source dividend enfillements payment date
Final ordinary 1.5¢ 15¢ 0.Cc 20 September 2006 5 Octaber 2006

The financial effect of these dividends has nat been brought into account in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2006
and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports.

26. Explanation of transition to AIFRS
These are the consolidated entity’s first consclidated annual financial statements prepared in accardance with AIFRS.

Except for the change in accounting policy {refer note 27), the accounting policies adopted by the consolidated entity have been applied
in preparing the consofidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 and the comparative information for the year ended
30 June 2005 and the preparation of an opening AIFRS balance sheet as at 1 July 2004 (the consolidated enlity's date of transition).

In preparing its opening AIFRS balance sheet and comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2005 the consolidated entity has
adjusted amounts reporied previously in financiai statements prepared in accordance with its old basis of accounting {previous GAAP).

An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to AIFRS has affected the consolidated entity’s financial position, financial
performance and tash flows is set out in the following tables and the notes that accompany the tables.
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Directors’ declaration

Ir the opinion of the Directors of Mayne Pharma Limited {farmerly
Mlayne Pharma Pty Limited), the accompanying concise financiai
report including the remuneration disclosures that are contained in
séctions 1 to 5 and 8 of the Remuneration report in the Directors’
report, of the consolidated entity, comprising Mayne Pharma Lirited
ard its controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2006,
set out on pages 53 to 96:

{a) has been derived from or is consistent with the full financial repent
for the financial year, and

(b; complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 ‘Concise Financial
Reports’.

Sig‘ned in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on
20 September 2006 in Melbourne.

PetFr Willcox
Chygirman

 corme

Thierry Soursac
Chie f Executive Officer and Managing Director
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25. Subsequent events

Acquisition of SuperGen oncology products

On 22 June 2006, the consolidated entity announced that an agreement had been reached with SuperGen, Inc {‘SuperGen’) i0 acquire the
Narth American rights to Nipent® {pentostatin for injection) and SurfaceSafe. Nipent® is a treatment approved for patients with hairy cell
leukaemia and SurfaceSafe is a two step, towelette system to decontaminate surfaces where chematherany is mixed or administered.

The total consideration payable for the purchase of the two oncology products from SuperGen is USD 33.4 million (AUD 45.1 million). Under
the terms of the agreement Mayne Pharma Limited will acquire all product rights, patents, registrations, traderarks, inventories and relevant
supplier and customer contracts relating to Nipent® in North America and SurfaceSafe.

Subsequent to year end the formalities of the acquisition have been completed and on 22 August 2006 Mayne Pharma Limited paid
USD 13.4 million (AUD 18.1 million), of the tatal USD 33.4 million (AUD 45.1 million) consideration, to SuperGen upen signing the acquisition
agreement. The remaining payments under the terms of the acquisition agreement are contingent on key events and product performance.

Continued development agreement with Pliva

On 28 July 2006, the consolidated entity announced that an agreement with Pliva d.d. ('Pliva’) has been finalised for the continued
development of biosimitar granutocyte-colony stimulating factor {‘G-CSF') for the European, South East Asian, Middle Eastern and Asia Pacific
markets. G-CSF is a haematopoietic growth factor used for the treatment of the side-effects associated with chemotherapy.

This agreement is an amendment of a collaboration originally signed with Pliva in February 2005 involving G-CSF and Erythropoietin ('EPO’).
Fallowing the previousy announced termination of the EPQ part of the collaboration (see notes 6 and 15}, this agreement secures the
continuing development of G-CSF and reflects the significant progress of the product through development. G-CSF continues to meet the
product development milestones set by Mayne Pharma Limited and Pliva.

The consolidated entity is committed to pay $6.0 million on signing the agreement with Pliva. Upon successful achievement of all milestones
future capital committments total $20.6 million,

Dividend declaration
Since the end of the financial year the Directors have declared the following dividend:

Amount per share Record date for
Amount per  Franked amount of foreign determining Dividend
ordinary share per share  source dividend entitiements payment date
Final ordinary 1.5¢c 15¢ 00¢c 20 September 2006 5 October 2006

The financial effect of these dividends has not been brought into account in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2006
and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports.

26. Explanation of transition to AIFRS
These are the consolidated entity's first consolidated annual financial statements prepared in accordance with AIFRS,

Except for the change in accounting policy (refer note 27}, the accounting policies adopted by the consolidated entity have been applied
in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 and the comparative information: for the year ended
30 June 2005 and the preparation of an opening AIFRS balance sheet as at 1 July 2004 (the consolidated entity's date of transition).

In preparing its opening AIFRS balance sheet and comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2005 the consolidated entity has
adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in accardance with its old basis of accounting (previous GAAP).

An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to AIFRS has affected the consalidaied entity's financial position, financial
performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the notes that accompany the tables.
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26. Explanation of transition to AIFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of equity

Note Previous  Effect of transition AIFRS Previous Effect of transition AIFRS
GAAP to AIFRS GAAP to AIFRS
1 tuty 2004 30 June 2005
$'000 $'000
Current asscts
Cash and cash equivalents 38,151 - 38,151 54,436 - 54,436
Trade and other receivables 140,176 - 140,176 172,356 - 172,356
Related part receivables 117,778 - 117,778 159,054 - 158,054
Inventories 176,831 - 176,831 180,570 - 180,570
Prepaymenty, 11,674 - 11,674 10,818 - 10,818
Total current assets 484,610 - 484,610 577,234 - 577,234
Non-current assets
Other receivibles 3,723 - 3,723 2,460 - 2,460
Investments 4,728 - 4,728 4.273 - 4,273
Investments accounted for
using the equity method 984 - 984 1,304 - 1,304
Deferred tax 3ssets (hy 28,025 8,380 36,405 31,563 5,598 37,161
Property, plait and equipment (D), {g) 170,276 {4,235} 166,041 228 619 {5,550) 223,069
Product development (g) 11,541 13,651 25,192 17,274 18,458 35,732
Goodwill {(a) 865,017 {119,744) 745,273 890,454 {65,743) 824,711
Identified int ngible assets (a}, (&) 60,461 121,751 182,212 145,634 99,110 244744
Total nan-current assets 1,144,755 19,803 1,164,558 1,321,581 51,873 1,373,454
Total assets 1,629,365 19,803 1,649,168 1,898,815 51,873 1,950,688
Current liabilities
Trade and ott er payables 86,317 - 86,317 108,522 - 108,522
Related party indebtedness 1,154,424 - 1,154,424 1,570,893 - 1,570,893
Interest-beari 1g liabilities 2,623 - 2,623 5,629 - 5,629
Employee berefits {c) 9,883 449 10,332 13,180 405 13,585
Current tax liz bilities 3611 - 3,611 17,138 - 17,138
Provisions 14,161 - 14,161 30,595 - 30,595
Total current | abilities 1,271,019 449 1,271,468 1,745 957 405 1,746,362
Non-current | abilities
Other payables 2,709 - 2,709 146 - 146
Interest-bearirig liabilities 234,857 - 234,857 13,415 - 13,415
Deferred tax liabilities (h} 10,067 13,227 23,294 2,779 13,089 15,868
Employee benefits 759 - 759 4,514 - 4,514
Pravisions - - - 35,365 - 35,365
Tota!l non-currant liabilities 248,392 13,227 261,619 56,219 13,089 69,308
Total liabilities 1,519,411 13,676 1,633,087 1,802,176 13,484 1,815,670
Net assets 109,954 6,127 116,081 96,639 38,379 135,018
Equity
Equity attribuiable to equity holders of the parent
Issued capital - - - - - -
Reserves (b), {0} (23,473) 23,473 - (29,283) 22,832 (6,451)
Retained profils 133,427 (17,346) 116,081 125922 15,547 141,469
Total equity 109,954 6,127 116,081 96,639 38,379 135,018
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26. Explanation of transition to AIFRS (continued)

Notes to the reconciliation of equity

The deferred tax impact of the adjustmenis described below are set
out in note (h).

{a) AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (‘AASB 3')

The consalidated entity has applied AASB 3 to all business
combinations that have occurred since 1 July 2004 (the date of
transition to AIFRS). In addition, the consolidated entity has elected to
apply AIFRS retrospectively to all business combinations that occurred
between 1 October 2003 and the date of transition. Accordingly,

the conselidated entity has revisited the acquisition accounting of
certain business combinations under AIFRS resulting in the revised
measurement of certain acquired assets.

In making the election o apply AASB 3 from 1 October 2003 the
consolidated entity has revisited the following business combinations
under AIFRS, that occurred prior to transiticn date:

» purchase of the worldwide generic injectable Paclitaxel business
and related assets and infrastructure from NaPro Biotherapeutics,
In¢ {‘NaPro') and Abbott Laboratories (‘Abbott');

+ purchase of a suite of injectable multivitamin preducts and related
assets and infrastructure that were marketed in the USA by aaiPharma
Inc; and

» purchase of the shares and the injectable pharmaceutical
manufacturing business of Wasserburger Arzneimittetwerk
Dr Madaus GmbH ('Wasserburger’).

In addition, the consolidated entity has revisited those acquisitions
made prior to 30 June 2005 but subsequent to transition date. These
include:

» purchase of the aperaticns of the generic pharmaceutical business
of Laboratorios Farmacéuticos ROVI SA specialising in sales and
distribution to the hospital segment;

» purchase of the shares in Intra-tech Healthcare Limited a
manufaciurer and distribuior of aseptically prepared pre-filled syringes
and infusion bags;

+ purchase of the shares and the specialist oncology product
business of Onkoworks Gesellschaft fuer Herstellung und Vertriety
onkologischer Spezialpraeparate GmbH; and

» purchase of the shares in PHT Pharma Srl, which is a generic
pharmaceutical business that specialises in the hospital segment.

Under AIFRS, goodwill acquired in a business combination will not be
amortised, but instead will be subject to annuat impairment testing,
or testing upon the occurrence of triggers that indicate potential
impairment,

In applying AASB 3 1o those business combinations that occurred
prior te transition date, additional intangible assets have been
identified and the consolidated entity reduced goodwill by

$119.7 million ang increased intangible assets by $117.5 million

on 1 July 2004, The net difference of $2.2 million, being a credit to
retained earnings, comprises a reversal in goodwill amortisation of
$5.6 million, an increase in intangibles amortisation of $6.2 million
and the derecognition of costs capitalised into goodwill of $1.6 million.
The amortisation charge recognised in the income statement relating
to the additional intangible assets recognised on transition {o AIFRS is
$12.2 million for the year to 30 June 2005.

The effect on the consalidated entity of applying AASB 3 for the year
to 30 June 2005 reduced goodwill by $2.9 million relating to the
derecognition of costs capitalised into goodwill with the corresponding
amount being charged to other expenses in the income statement.

The requirement to cease all goodwill amortisation from transition date
had the effect of reducing the amortisation expense in the income
statement by $45.7 million {for the year to 30 June 2005.

(b) AASB 116 'Property, Plant and Equipment’ (‘AASB 116')
Under previous GAAP, the accounting policy of the consclidated entity
was to independently revalue tand and buildings every three years

to their fair values with these vatues reassessed in the intervening
periods as to their apprapriateness. Under AIFRS, the consolidated
entity has elected to apply the cost basis of recording property, plant
and equipment thereby deeming the carrying vatue of property, plant
and equipment to be the cost value from the date of transition.

tn making the above election on transition to AIFRS, the asset
revaluation reserve was derecognised as it is no longer a valid reserve
in electing the cost model of valuation. On the date of transition

to AIFRS the asset revaluation reserve of the consolidated entity
under previous GAAP was nil, therefore no transitional adjustment
was required. At 30 June 2005 the asset revaluation reserve under
previous GAAP was $0.7 million. This revaluation was reversed
resulting in a reduction in the value of property, plant and equipment
and removal of the asset revaluation reserve.

{c) AASB 119 'Employee Benefits' ('AASB 1197

Under previous GAAP, the policy of the consolidated entity was to
ensure that sufficient contributions were made to the defined benefit
superannuation plans, operated in the United States and Germany,
to ensure that there was no actuarial shortfall {based on the most
recent plan calculation of the ‘accumulated benefit obligation') in the
individual plans. These contributions were expensed in accordance
with actuarial assessments and the rules of the respective fund.

Under AIFRS, AASB 119 requires the net surplus or deficit of defined
benefit funds, at transiticn date, to be recognised in the balance

sheet with a corresponding entry to retained profits. The transitional
adjustment is based on an actuarial valuation of each scheme at
transition date determined in accordance with AASB 119, The
consolidated entity recognised a defined benefit liability of $0.5 million
on transition to AIFRS.
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26. Explanation of transition to AIFRS (continued)

(c) AASE 119 ‘Employee Benefits' (‘AASB 119} {continued}
Revised AASB 119 permits a number of options for the recognition of
actuarial j7ains or losses on an ongeing basis. The consclidated entity
has electad to early adopt revised AASB 119 and has elected

to recogn se all actuarial gains or losses directly in equity with the
other carr ponents of defined benefit costs being recognised in the
income statement,

(d} AASB 121 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates'
(‘AASB 121')

On the date of transition to AIFRS, the consolidated entity took
advantage of an exemption in AASB 1 that permits the resetting of
the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve ('FCTR') to nil. This election
resulted in a credit adjustment against the FCTR of $23.5 miillion with
a corresponding adjustment being made to retained earnings.

Subsequent to transition to AIFRS exchange rate differences relating
{o the trarsiation of foreign operations, including the impact on the
AIFRS transition adjustments, will continue to be recognised as a
separate component of equity in the FCTR. The exchange differences
are then ritleased through the income statement when the foreign
operation s disposed of. Therefore, the gain or loss on a future
disposal 0’ a foreign controlled entity will exclude the translation
difference:; that arose before the date of transition to AIFRS.

(e) AASB 132 'Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’
{'AASB 132'} and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement’ ('AASB 139°).

Under AASB 132/139, the consolidated entity's accounting policy has
changed ti recognise in the balance sheet all derivatives and some
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair market value. Those
financial ajsets and financial liabilities not at fair value are carried at
cost or amortised cost.

AASB 139 reguires fair value hedge accounting, cash flow hedge
accounting and hedges of investments in foreign operations to

be recogniied in the balance sheet. The gains and losses on

hedging instruments that arise from the use of fair value hedges are
recognised in the income statement. The gains and losses on hedging
instrument s that arise from the use of cash fiow hedges, to the extent
they are efective, are deferred to equity until the hedged item is
settled. When a hedge transaction is settled the gain or loss deferred
to equity is then recognised in the income statement or deferred 1o
the balance sheet depending on the transaction that the hedge was
designated to. Gains and losses on hedging instruments used in
hedges of riet investments in foreign operations are recognised in the
foreign cur.'ency translation reserve in equity. Hedge accounting can
only be util sed where effectiveness tests are met on bath prospective
and retrosg ective bases. This change in accounting treatment

may significantly increase volatility in the statement of financial
performance where hedge accounting is identified as ineffective.
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In addition, AASB 139 requires that all embedded derivatives that
exist within contracts, to which the consolidated entity is a party,
must be recognised on balance sheet. The consolidated entity has
reviewed all applicable contracts and has determined that there are
no embedded derivatives that require separate measurement and
reporting.

The consolidated entity is required to comply with AASB 132/139 from
1 July 2004, however, an exemption is available under AASB 1 such
that comparative information does not need to be restated under these
standards. The consolidated entity has elected to take advantage of
this exemption therefore there are no adjustments in relation to these
standards for 1 July 2004 or the financial year ending 30 June 2005
as previcus GAAP continues to apply for these periods.

Refer note 27 regarding the impact of this change in accounting policy
for the year ended 30 June 2006 and on the comparative reporting
period on adoption of AASB 132/139 from 1 July 2005,

{f) AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets' ('AASB 136')

On adaption of AASB 136 tangible non-current assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives must be tested for impairment, initially
on the date of transition to AIFRS, being 1 July 2004, and thereafter if
there is an indicator of potential impairment. Goodwill ang intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and assets not yet available for use
must also be tested for impairment, initially at transition date, and
thereafter on an annual basis.

Under AASB 136, impairment of these assets is assessed by
comparing the carrying value of the assets to the discounted net cash
flows generated by either the individual assets or the applicable ‘cash
generating unit’ to which the assets being tested helong.

At transition date no impairment of any tangible non-current asset or
intangible asset was identified for the consolidated entity.

For the year ended 30 June 2005 no impairment of any tangible
non-current asset or intangible asset has been identified for the
consclidated entity.

(g} AASB 138 'Intangible Assets’ (‘fAASB 1387}

Under previous GAAP, the consolidated entity's policy on research
and development activities was to recognise all costs incurred as an
expense in the income statement. Under AIFRS, AASB 138 prohibits
the recognition of internally generated intangible assets except for
certzin items of development expenditure that must be capitalised.

On transition to AIFRS, the consolidated entity recognised an
intangible asset, relating to development activities of $13.7 million.
For the year to 30 June 2005 there was a reduction in other expenses
of $5.8 million relating to development expenditure capitalised and
an increase to amortisation expense of $1.0 million relating to the
amortisation of capitalised development costs, resulting in a net
increase in net profit before tax of $4.8 million for the year to

30 June 2005.




26. Explanation of transition to AIFRS {continued)

(g) AASB 138 'Intangibte Assets' ('AASB 138') (continued)

The general principles under AASB 1 require, on transition to AIFRS,
that the recognition and classification of all assets and tiabilities be
assessed in terms of AIFRS. The consolidated entity has reviewed

all intangibles recognised under previous GAAP and computer
software assets developed for internal use to confirm that the criteria
of AASB 138 for recognition have been met. On transition to AIFRS,
computer software assets of $4.2 million were reclassified from ather
non-current assets ta intangible assets. During the 12 months to

30 June 2005 computer software assets totalling $0.6 million were
capitalised and have been reclassified from property, plant and
equipment ta other intangible assets.

(h) AASB 112 'Income Taxes' {'AASB 112"

With the introduction of AIFRS a ‘balance sheet’ approach to
accounting for taxation has been adopted, replacing the previous
GAAP ‘income statement’ approach. The balance sheet approach
recognises deferred tax balances when there is a difference betwsen
the carrying value of an asset or liability and its tax base.

tinder previous GAAP, to recognise a deferred tax asset the 'virtually
certain' or ‘beyond reasonable doubt’ test of realising the benefit
must be met. Under AIFRS, the threshald for asset recognition is the
‘probable’ test.

The identified net tax adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities that arise on transition to AIFRS standards, comprise the fellowing:

1 July 2004 30 June 2005
$'000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment 1,245 1,216
Product development cosis 4,095 5,538
Employee benefits (122} (135}
Adoption of AASE 3 499 451
Adopticn of balance sheet approach (870) 421
Net increase/{decrease) in net deferred tax liability/(asset) 4,847 7,491
The effect on the income statement for the year to 30 June 2005 was to increase the tax charge by $2.4 million.
The effect of the above adjustments on retained earnings is as follows:
Note $'000 $'000
Goodwill (a) (119,744} (65,743)
Other intangibles (a), (g) 121,751 99,110
Property, plant and equipment (b}, (&) (4,235) {5,550)
Product development costs (g) 13,6561 18,458
Employee benefits {c) (449} (405}
Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve (d) (23,473) (23,498)
Asset revaluation reserve (b} - 666
Deferred tax (h} (4,847) (7,491)
Total adjustment to retained earnings (17,346) 15,547
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (17.346) 15,547
(17,346) 15,547
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Notes to the concise financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2006

26. Exp anation of transition to AIFRS {(continued)
Reconcil’ation of profit for the year ended 30 June 2005

Note Previous Effect of transition AlIFRS
GAAP to AIFRS
30 June 2005
$'000
Sales revenue 644735 - 644,735
Cost of sales (368,973) - (368,973)
Gross profit 275,762 - 275,762
Qther income 6,725 - 6,725
Distribution expenses (20,085) - (20,085}
Selling and marketing expenses (72,647) - (72,647}
Administative expenses {50,759) - (50,759}
Product «evelopment expenditure (g) (44,079) 5,788 (38,291}
Amortisation of operating rights and licences (a), (g) {8,859) (13,136} (21,995)
Other expenses {a) {57,007) 42724 (14,283)
Results {rom operating activities 29,051 35,376 64,427
Financial income 2,039 - 2,039
Financial expense (17,391) - (17,361}
Net finarce costs (15,352) - (15,352)
Share of net profits of investments accounted for using the equity method 320 - 320
Profit/(lass) before tax 14,019 35,376 49 355
Income tax expense (h) {7.663) (2,413} {10,076)
Profit afier tax but before ioss of discontinued operations and loss on
sale of d scontinued operations 6,356 32,963 33,319
Loss of d)scontinued operaticn and loss on sale of discontinued
operatior , net of tax (d) (13,861) (70) (13,931)
Profit/(less) attributable to members of Mayne Pharma Limited (7,509) 32,893 25,388

Explanation of material adjustments to the cash flow statement
Developrient costs of $5.8 million for the year to 30 June 2005 were
classifiec in operating cash flows under previous GAAP in the cash
flow state ment. Under AIFRS, development costs thal are capitalised
in accordance with AASB 138 (see note (g)) are classified as investing
cash flows.

There ari: no other material differences between the cash flow
statemert presented under AIFRS and the cash flow staterment
presente:] under previous GAAP.

92 Mayn: Pharma Anaual Report 2008




27. Change in accounting policy

In the current financial period the consolidated entity adopted AASB
132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ and AASB
139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, from

1 July 2005, This change in accounting policy has been adopted in
accordance with the transition rules contained in AASB 1 ‘First-time
Adaoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards’, which does net require the restatement of comparative
information for financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132
and AASB 139.

The adoption of AASB 139 has resulted in the consolidated entity
recognising available-for-sale investments and all derivative financial
instruments as assets or liabilities at fair value. This change has been
accounted for by adjusting the opening balance of equity (retained
earnings, hedge reserve and fair value reserve) at 1 July 2005.

The impact on the balance sheet In the comparative period is set out
below as an adjustment 1o the opening balance sheet at 1 July 2005.

Reconciliation of opening balances affected by AASB 132 and 139 at 1 July 2005 on the consolidated entity

Effect of change in
accounting policy
+

Note 30 June 2005 co0 1 Juty 2005
Equity securities available-for-saie (a} 4,273 (3,067) 1,206
Fair value derivative assets (b} - - -
Fair value derivative liabilities (b) - - -
Cash flow hedge reserve {b) - - -
Unrealised gain reserve (a) - (3,112} (3,112}
Foreign currency translation reserve (a) - (45} (45)

(a) Available-for-sale financial assets

Under previous GAAP, available-for-sale equity securities were
recognised at cost. In accordance with AIFRS these are recognised

at fair value with any movements in fair value recorded within equity.
Upon sale of an available-for-sale financial asset amounts previously
recognised in equity will e ‘recycled’ threugh the income statement.
Any impairmant in the carrying value of available-for-sale securities will
be recognised in cusrent period income.

The effect on the consolidated entity is to decrease equity securities
available-for-sale by $3.1 million and decrease the unrealised gain
reserve by $3.1 million at 1 July 2005.

(b} Derivatives

Under previous GAAP, and the consolidated entity’s accounting policy,
not all derivatives were recognised on balance sheet. On adoption of
AASB 139 all derivatives will be recognised on balance sheet at fair
value. At 1 July 2005 there is no effect on the consolidated entity on
adoption of this new accounting policy.

{c) Loans and receivables

Under AIFRS, loans and receivables are required to be carried at
amortised cost. There is no effect on the consolidated entity at 1 July
2005 on adopticn of this new accounting policy.
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Directors’ declaration

In the apinian of the Directers of Mayne Pharma Limited (formerly
Mayne Pharma Pty Limited), the accompanying concise financiat
report inc'uding the remuneration disclosures that are contained in
sections 1 to 5 and 8 of the Remuneration report in the Directars’
report, of ;he consolidated entity, comprising Mayne Pharma Limited
and its cantrolled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2006,
set out or pages 53 to S6:

(a) has been derived from or is consistent with the full financial report
for the financial year, and

(b} comp ies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 ‘Concise Financial
Repoits'.

Signed i accordance with a resolution of the Directors on
20 Septe mber 2006 in Melbourne.

%//Mcw.

Peter Willcox
Chairrman

/ ./ W—\
Thierry Soursac
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
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Independent audit report on concise financial report

To the members of Mayne Pharma Limited (formerly Mayne Pharma Pty Limited)

Scope

The financial report, remuneration disclosures and directors’ responsibility

The concise financial report comprises the income statement, statement of recognised income and expense, balance sheet, stalement of cash
flows, accompanying notes 1 to 27, and the accompanying discussion and analysis on the income statement, statement of recognised income
and expenses, batance sheet, and statement of cash flows, and the Directors’ declaration for Mayne Pharma Limited (‘the Company') and its
controlled entities {'the consolidated entity'} for the year ended 30 June 2006.

As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, the Company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and
executives {'remuneration disclosures'), required by Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, under the heading
‘Remuneration report’ in sections 1 to 5 and 8 of the Directors’ report and not in the concise financial report.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the concise financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standard AASB 1039 ‘Concise Financial Reports’. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adeguate accounting records and internal
controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and errors, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the
concise financial report, The Directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order ta express an opinion to members of the Company. Our audit was conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reascnable assurance as io whether the concise financial report is free of material
misstaternent. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the irherent
limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore an audit cannot guarantee that all
material misstatements have been detected. We have also performed an independent audit of the full financial report and the remuneration
disclosures of the Company and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006. The Remuneratian report in the full financial report
also contains information in sections 6, 7 and 9 not required by Austratian Accounting Standard AASB 124 which is not subject to our audit.
Our audit report on the full {mancial report and the remuneration disclosures was signed on 20 September 2006, and was not subject to any
qualification.

We performed procedures in respect of the audit of the concise financial report to assess whether, in all material respects, the concise financial
report is presented fairly in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 ‘Concise Financial Reports’.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:
» testing that the information in the concise financial report is consistent with the full financial report; and

* examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounis, discussion and anatysis, and other disclosures, which
were not directly derived from the full financial report.

While we considered the effectiveness of Management's internal controls over financia! reparting when determining the nature and extent of
our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

Audit opinion
In our opinien, the concise financial report of Mayne Pharma Limited and its controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2006
complies with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039 ‘Concise Financial Reports’ .

KPH

KPMG

ok § M tAun .
Paul J McDonald
Partner

Melboutne
20 September 2006
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ASX additional information

Additionai information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out below

Shareholdings (as at 8 September 2006)

Substantial shareholders

The Company is not directly ar indirectly owned or controlled by
anothzr corporation or by any foreign government.

The fellowing companies have natified the Company that they have a
releva 1t interest in more than 5% of any ciass of the Company’s voting
securi.ies. The current issued capital of Mayne Pharma Limited as at
8 Sept2mber 2006 i5 640,655,416.

Latest reported % of
Sharehc)der sharehotding issued capital
Maple-Srown Abbott Limited 66,348,612 10.36%
Westpac Banking Corporation 60,949,883 9.51%
Nationz] Australia Bank Limited Group 53,188,183 8.30%
Challengier Financial Services Group Limited 34,219,662 5.34%
‘.azard A\sset Management Pacific Co 33,622,493 %.25%

Distribuiion of equity security holders

Number of holders of
fully paid ordinary shares

Holding ca‘egory Number of shares

1-1,000!

32,640 12,221,623
1,001-5,000 24,009 55,202,320
5,001-10,000 3,932 28,067,152
10,001-100,000 2,089 43,878,871
100,001 ad over 115 501,285,450
Total 62,785 640,655,416

! There are 14,784 sharehoiders holding less than a marketable parce! at
8 Septembe* 2006.
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Twenty largest sharehotders?

Percent of
Shareholder Number of shares  shares on issue
Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd 153,506,380 23.96%
National Nominees Limited 76,596,524 11.96%
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 67,303,139 10.51%
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 44,269,277 6.91%
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 24,453,236 3.82%
ANZ Nominees Limited 22,423,146 3.50%
Westpac Financial Services Lid 20,418,196 3.19%
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 14,792,330 2.31%
RBC Dexia Investor Services 14,227,240 2.22%
HSBC Custody Nominees 9,890,496 1.54%
AMP Life Limited 9,415,181 1.47%
Victorian Waorkcaver Autharity 3,938,164 Q61%
Westpac Life Insurance 3,240,084 0.51%
Queensland Investment Corporation 3,132,497 0.49%
Transport Accident Commission 2,636,415 0.41%
Australian Foundation investment 2,100,000 0.33%
Australian Reward Investment Alliance 1,967,154 0.31%
Macquarie Equities Asia Limited 1,517,320 0.24%
The University of Melbourne 1,513,695 0.24%

2 This table identifies the registered shareholders who may nat beneficially own
the shares.

Voting rights

On a show of hands, every person present in the capacity of a
member or the representative of a member which is a body corporate,
or the proxy or an attorney of a member, or in more than one of those
capacities, has one vate. On a poll, every member who is present

in person or by proxy or attorney or, in the case of a member which

is a body corporate, by representative, has one vote in respect of
every fully paid share held by such member. No shareholder has any
different voting rights than are enjoyed by all shareholders.

Stock exchange
The Company is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. The home
exchange is Melbourne.

Other information
Mayne Pharma Limited is a publicly listed company limited by shares
and is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
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Glossary

‘Anti-cancer agents’ are drugs that are used to
prevent the reproduction or growth of cancer
cells and are used in chemotherapy treatments

‘Bisphosphonate’ a class of drugs used to
strengthen bone

‘Calcium Leucovorin’ is an adjuvant therapy
used in some cancer treatment regimens

‘Carboplatin’ is an anti-cancer agent used to
treat ovarian cancer

‘Camptosar® is a brand of Irinotecan

‘Clofarabine’ is a1 anti-cancer agent used in
the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
in paediatric patients who have relapsed or are
refractory to othe- chemotherapies

‘Docetaxef’ is an anti-cancer agent used in
the treatment of breast cancer, lung cancer,
prostate cancer and siomach cancer

‘Doryx® is a brand of an anti-infective drug
‘Eligard® is a brand of a prostate cancer drug
‘Eloxatin® is a brand of Oxaliplatin

‘Epirubicin’ is an anti-cancer agent used to
treat breast cancer
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‘Evoltra®’ is a brand of Clofarabine

‘Gemeitabine’ is an anti-cancer agent used to
treat cancer of the breast, pancreas and lung

‘Hydromorphone' is a narcotic analgesic used
{o relieve pain

‘Irinotecan’ is an anti-cancer agent used to
treat colorectal cancer

‘Kadian® is a brand of sustained-release
morphine administered to relieve pain

‘Local market value’ of a product refers to
the value of sales of the equivalent branded
product in the market or markets in which
Mayne Pharma Limited anticipates launching
that product

‘Methotrexate’ is an anti-cancer agent used
to treat certain types of cancer, psoriasis, and
rheumatoid arthritis

'Mitoxantrone’ is an anti-cancer agent

used to treat prostate cancer; acute
nontymphacytic leukaemia including
myelogenous, promyelocylic, monacytic, and
erythroid acute leukaemias; and muliiple
sclerasis
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MVI® is a brand of an injectable multivitamin
‘Navelbine® is a brand of vinorelbine

‘Nipent® is an anti-cancer agent used in the
treatment of a specific type of blood cancer
(hairy cell leukaemia)

‘Octreotide® is a man-made protein used to
ireat acromegaly

‘Ondansetron’ is an anti-nausea drug

‘Oxaliplatin’ is an anti-cancer agent used to
treat colorectal cancer

‘Paclitaxel’ is a chemotherapy drug derived
from species of yew tree and used in the
treatment of various cancers including breast
and ovarian cancer

‘Pamidronate’ is a drug used in the treatment
of certain forms of hypercalcemia

‘Vinorelbine’ is an anti-cancer agent used to
treat lung cancer
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The f nanciai informaticn provided in the following pages is for Mayne Pharma
Limited for the twelve months 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006.

As oLtlined in the Mayne Group Limited Explanatory Memecrandum dated

7 Qctbber 2005 related to the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited from Mayne
Group Limited, Mayne Pharma Limited acquired from Mayne Group Limited

FH F:ulding & Co Limited including its pharmaceutical businesses based in
Salist ury effective 18 November 2005 and accordingly they are not included in
the financial results for the period 1 July 2005 to 17 November 2005 or in the
comparative financial information. The financial results therefore differ from the
‘pro forma’ financials shown in the Mayne Group Limited Explanatory
Memarandum which included a full twelve month contribution.

Mayn ? Pharma Limited
ABN 38 097 064 230

The F nancial report is a detailed report that has been prepared by Mayne
Pharma Limited as part of its statutory annual reporting obligations under the
Corpcrations Act 2001. It must be read in conjunction with the Annual Report
2006 which includes the Directors' report and the Remuneration report.

All arr gunts are expressed in Australian dollars {A%), unless otherwise stated,
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Income Statements
For tt e year ended 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Sales revenue 2 788,949 644,735 404,010 411,189
Cost cf sales (434,193) (368,973) (290,845) (292,656}
Gross profit 354,756 275,762 113,165 118,533
Other income 4 7,602 6,725 7,620 4,642
Distribution expenses (19,768) (20,085) (1,799) (2,940)
Sellings and marketing expenses (91,294) (72,647) (22,236) (17,482)
Administrative expenses {70,583) {50,759) (34,411) (15,949)
Product development expendiiure {27,573) (38,291) (13,155) (24,926}
Amorlisation of operating rights and licences {24,963) (21,995) (150 (563)
Other expenses 5 (132,073) {14,283) {34,854) (18,103)
Resulis from operating activities 5 (3,896) 64,427 14,180 43,722
Finan ial income 8 1,239 2,039 12,108 9,794
Finan sial expense 8 (4,628) (17,391} (776) (14,356)
Net financing costs g (3,389) (15,352) 11,332 (4,562)
Share of net profits of investments accounted for
using the equity method 16 70 320 - -
Profit {loss)} before tax (7,215) 49,395 25,512 39,160
Incom e tax expense 9 {24,120) (10,076) {10,645) (12,179
Profit after tax but before loss on discontinued operations
and loss on sale of discontinued operations {31,335) 39,319 14,867 26,981
Loss of discontinued operation and loss on sale of
discontinued operation, net of tax 2,10 - {13,931) - (11,738
Profit. {loss) attributable to members of Mayne Pharma Limited 26 {31,335) 25,388 14,867 15,243

Earnings per share (note 11):
The earnings per share calculations presented below have been
prepared in accordance with AASB 133 ‘Earnings per Share’.

Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders

{8.4)c 25,388,000.0c

Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders

{8.4)c 25388,000.0¢

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations

{8.4)c 39,319,000.0c

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

{8.4)c 39,319,000.0c

QOn 18 November, to facilitate the separation of the glebal pharmaceutical
business from Mayne Group Limited, Mayne Pharma Limited issued
640,655,316 new shares (refer note 25), Due to the significant changs
in the capital structure of the Company on the issuance of these shares
an alternative denominator has been used in determining the basic and
dilutiva earnings per share figures shown below:

Alternative basic earnings per share attributable
to ordinary equity holders

Alternative diluted earnings per share attributable
to ordinary equity holders

Alternative basic earnings per share from continuing operations

Alternative diluted earnings per share from continuing operatigns

Divid:nds per share (note 27):
Final dividend payable 5 October 2006 (cents per share)

(4.9 4.0c
(4.9)c 4.0¢c
(4.9} 6.1c
(4.9} 6.1c

1.5¢ 0.0c

The in:ome statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to these financial statements set out on pages 6 to 73.
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Statements of Recognised Income and Expenses

For the year ended 30 Jjune 2006

CONSOLIDATED

THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005
Note $'000 $'000 $000 $'000

Foreign exchange adjustments on consolidation 26 37,672 (6,381) 3,501 (3,747}
Available-for-sale investments '

Gain/{loss) on valuation of available-for-sale investments 26 (350) - - -

Transfer of available-for-sale equity reserves

to income statement 26 3,530 - - ~
Cash flow hedges:

Effective portion of changes in fair value 26 92 - 92 -

Transfer to income statement for the year 26 (92} - (92) -
Actuarial gainf{loss) on defined benefit plans 26 (149) - - -
Income tax on items taken directly to or transferred from eguity - - - -
Net income recognised directly in equity 40,703 (6,381} 3,501 (3,747}
Profit/{toss) for the period (31,335) 25,388 14,867 15,243
Total recognised income and expense for the period
attributable to equity holders 9,368 19,007 18,368 11,456
Effects of change in accounting pelicy to equity holders:
First-time adoption of AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement'

Net gainf(loss) on cash flow hedges 39 - - - -

Net gain/(loss) on fair value of available-for-sale investments 39 (3,112) - - -

(3,112) - - -

Movements in reserves and retained profits are set out in note 26,

The statements of recognised income and expenses are to be read in conjunction with the notes to these financial statements set out on pages 6 to 73.
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Baliance Sheets
As at 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 %000
Current assets
Cash ¢nd cash equivalents 12 115,619 54,436 48,349 -
Trade and other receivables 13 204,918 172,356 562,939 354,020
Relate 1 party receivables 13 - 159,054 - 124,259
Prepayments 13 11,501 10,818 3,539 783
Inventories 14 195,474 180,570 87,553 93,897
Total current assets 527,512 577,234 702,380 572,959
Non-current assets
Other :eceivables 13 2,830 2,460 1,590 3
Investrnents 15 905 4,273 802,170 336,191
Investrnenis accounted for using the equity method 16 4,641 1,304 - -
Deferrid tax assets 17 24,965 37,161 - 1611
Property, plant and equipment 18 260,205 223,069 137,436 131,126
Product development 19 44,024 35732 41,811 18,459
Goodwill 19 884,752 824,711 201,861 201,861
Identif ed intangible assets 19 258,508 244744 16,449 7,838
Total ron-current assets 1,480,830 1,373,454 1,201,317 697,089
Total assets 2,008,342 1,950,688 1,903,697 1,270,048
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 138,565 108,522 79,902 77.476
Refated party indebtedness 21 - 1,570,833 - 988,105
Interest-bearing liabilities 21 4,499 5,629 146,960 167,297
Emploee benefits 22 18,631 13,585 6,714 5,649
Current tax liabilities 23 7,843 17,138 2,400 10,651
Provisins 24 19,939 30,595 11,281 1,535
Total current liabilities 189,477 1,746,362 247,257 1,250,713
Non-c arrent liabilities
Cther payables 20 44 146 - -
Interest-bearing lizbilities 21 11,591 13,415 - -
Deferred tax liabilities 17 31,201 15,868 6,325 -
Emplovee benefits 22 6,999 4,514 5,666 4,514
Provisins 24 18,008 35,365 2,500 -
Total non-current liabilities 67,843 69,308 14,491 4514
Total! liabilities 257,320 1,815,670 261,748 1,255,227
Net asiets 1,751,022 135,018 1,641,949 14,821
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued canital 25 1,608,760 - 1,608,760 -
Reservzs 26 32,277 (6,451} (246) {3,747}
Retainud profits 26 109,985 141,469 33,435 18,568
Total ejuity 1,751,022 135,018 1,641,949 14,821

The balince sheets are to be read in conjuncticn with the notes to these financial statements set out on pages 6 to 73.
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Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 836,155 654,141 505,810 380,371
Cash payments to suppliers and employees (652,555) (566,276} (483,288) (327,217}
Cash generated from operations 183,600 87,865 22,522 53,154
Interest received 1,000 1,003 662 -
Interest paid (1,503) {3,309) - -
Income taxes (paid)/refunded (15,201) 1,004 (782) -
Net cash from operating activities 34 167,896 86,563 22,402 53,154
Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for acquisition of entities and businesses 33 {23,147) {100,395) - -
Payments for property, plant and equipment {64,346) (83,572) (14,891) (51411
Payments for operating rights and licences (24,418) (59,621) {7,893) -
Payments for amounts capitalised into goodwill - (7,937 - -
Payments for product development costs (27,761} (13,263) (24,672) (5,788)
Payments for investments {3,268} - (3,268) -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 112 172 - -
Proceeds on disposal of entities and businesses 965 8,726 965 8,726
Net cash from investment activities (141,863) (255,890) {49,759) (48,473)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings with Symbion Health Limited 37,767 392,570 37,767 392,570

Proceeds from botrowings with controlled entities - - 42,317 {395,085)
Proceeds from borrowings - 39,899 - -
Capitalised borrowing costs (1,734) - (1,734) -
Repayment of loans by related parties - (1,489} - -
Repayments of borrawings (4,928) (240,468) - -
Net cash from financing activities 31,105 190,512 78,350 (2,515)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 57,138 21,185 50,993 2,166
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 54,436 38,151 {7,102) {9,268)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 4,045 {(4,900) - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 34 115,619 54,436 43,891 (7,102

The statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the rotes 1o these financial statements set out on pages 6t 73.
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Notes to the financial statements
For thz year ended 30 June 2006

1. Significant accounting policies

Mayne Pharma Limited (‘the Company') is a company domiciled in
Australia and is listed on the Australia Stack Exchange with a financial
year e 1d of 30 June. The consolidated Financial report has been
prepated for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 comprising the
Company and its subsidiaries {together referred o as the ‘consolidated
entity’ and the consolidated entity’s interest in associates and jointly
controlled entities.

The Financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on
20 September 2006,

(a) Stitement of compliance

The Financial report is a general purpose Financial report which has
been jrepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
(‘AASEs’) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board
('AASEH") and the Corperations Act 2001. International Financial
Reporing Starndards {'IFR$s’) form the basis of Australian Accounting
Standurds adopted by the AASB, and for the purpose of this report
are ca led Australian Equivalents to IFRS (‘AIFRS’} to distinguish
from frevious Australian GAAP. This Financial report, comprising the
financ al statements and the notes thereto, comply with Internationat
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board ('|ASB').

For re orting periods on or after 1 January 2005 the conselidated
entity and the Company must comply with AIFRS as issued by the
AASB The date of adoption of AIFRS for the consolidated entity

is 1 July 2005. This is the first Financial report prepared based on
AIFRE and comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2005 have been
restated accordingly except for the adoption of AASB 132 'Financial
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ and AASB 132 ‘Financial
Instruiments: Recognition and Measurement', The Company and
conso idated entity have elected 1o adopt the exemption available in
AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards’ from having to apply AASB 132 and
AASB 139 to the comparative pericd.

An ex|slanation of how the transition to AIFRS has affected the
financ'al position, financial performance and cash flows of the

conso idated entity and the Company is provided in note 38. This note
includas reconciliations of equity and profit or loss for comparative
periods reported under Australian GAAP (previous GAAP) to those
report :d for those periods under AIFRS.

{b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated entity has elected to early adopt the following

accounting standards and amendments:

* AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits' (Dec 2004):

* AASB 2004-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards'
{Dei:ember 2004) amending AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of
Aus:ralian Equivalents to Internationai Financial Repaorting
Star dards’ (July 2004); AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial
Statzments’ and AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’;

e AASB 2005-1 '‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Stancards'
(May 2005) amending AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments:
Recagnition and Measurement';

* AASB 2005-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards'
(Jur e 2005) amending AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ (either June
or Cecember 2004);
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* AASB 2005-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’
(June 2005) amending ‘AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’, AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation’, AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of
Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards’ (July 2004}, AASB 1023 ‘General Insurance Contracts’
and AASB 1038 ‘Life Insurance Contracts’;

» AASE 2005-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’
(June 2005) amending AASB 1 'First-time Adoption of Austratian
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards’ {July
2004) and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’;

* AASB 2005-6 ‘Amendments to Austratian Accounting Standards’
{June 2005) amending AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’;

¢ AASB 2006-1 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’
(January 2006) amending AASB 121 ‘The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates’ (July 2004);

* UIG 4 'Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’
{June 2005); and

* UIG 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives’ (April 2006).

Issued standards not early adepted:

¢ AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’ (August 2005} replacing
the presentation requirements of financial instruments in AASB 132,
AASB 7 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2007:

AASRE 2005-8 'Arnendments to Australian Accounting Standards'
(September 2005) requires lizhilities arising from the issue of
financial guarantee contracts to be recognised in the balance sheet.
AASB 2005-9 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2006; and

AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’
(September 2005) makes consequential amendments to AASB
132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Presentation’, AASB
101 'Presentation of Financial Statements’, AASBE 114 ‘Segment
Reparting', AASB 117 'Leases’, AASB 133 ‘Earnings per Share’,
AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’,
AASB 1 'First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards’, AASB 4 'Insurance
Contracts', AASB 1023 ‘General Insurance Contracis’ and AASB
1038 ‘Life Insurance Contracts’; arising from the release of AASB 7.
AASB 2005-10 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2007.

The consolidated entity pans to adopt AASB 7, AASB 2005-9 and
AASB 2005-10in the 2007 financial year.

The initial application of AASB 7 and AASB 2005-10 is not expected
to have an impact on the financial results of the Company and the
consolidated entity as the standard and the amendment are only
concerned with disclosures.

The initial adoption of AASB 2005-9 could have an impact on the
financial resuits of the Company and the consolidated entity as the
amendment could result in liabilities being recognised for financial
guarantee contracts that have been provided by the Company and
the consolidated entity. However, the quantification of the impact is
not known or reasonably estimable in the current financial year as an
exercise to quantify the financial impact has not been undertaken by
the Campany and the consolidated entity to date.



The Financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical
costs except for derivative financial instruments and available-for-sale
investments which have been measured at fair value.

The Financial report and Directors’ report is presented in Australia
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($'000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to the
Company under ASIC Class Order 98/100 (updated by CO 05/641
effective 28 July 2005 CQ 06/51 effective 31 January 2006). The
Company is of a kind to which the class order appiies.

The preparation of a Financial report in conformity with Australian
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements,
assumptions and estimates that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
These estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgemenis about carrying values of asset and
liability that are not readily apparent from other sources.

A regular review is made of these estimates and underlying assumptions
with any movements resulting from a change in the estimates being
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the pericd of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of Australian
Accounting Standards that have a significant effect on the Financial
report and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in
the next year are discussed in note 1(d}).

Except for the change in accounting policy (refer nofe 39), the
accounting policies set out below have been applied consistentiy

to all periods presented in the consolidated Financial report and in
preparing an opening AIFRS balance sheet at 1 July 2004 for the
purpose of transition to Australian Accounting Standards - AIFRS,
as required by AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents
to International Financial Reporting Standards'.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently by all entities
in the consalidated entity.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated Financial report is a consolidation of the financial
statements of the parent company, Mayne Pharma Limited, and all
its controlled entities {'subsidiaries’} and equity consolidation of all its
associated and jointly controlled entities (the 'consolidated entity").

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are those entities controlted by the Company. Control is
the capacity of the Company o daminate decision making, directly or
indirectly, in relation to the financial and operating policies of another
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible
are taken into account. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated Financial report from the date that
control is obtained until the date that control ceases and are prepared
for the same reporting period as the parent company and using
consistent accounting policies.

Al inter-entity iransactions, balances, income and expenses and any
unrealised gains and losses arising from inter-entity fransactions have
been eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of acquisition in
the Company's financial statements.

Associated entities

Associates are entities over which the consclidated entity has the
capacity to significantly influence, but not contro, the financial
and operating policies of the entity. Investments in associates are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method the consolidated entity's share of its
associates post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition mevements in
reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movement in the consalidated entity's share of net assets of the
associate are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
Dividends receivable from associates reduce the carrying amount of
the investment in the consolidated financial statements.

When the consolidated entity’s share of the losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the consolidated entity's carrying amount of the
associate investment is reduced to nil and no further losses are
recognised unless the consolidated entity has incurred an cbligation
or made payments on behalf of an associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the consolidated entity and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the consolidated entity's
interest in the associates with adjustments made to the ‘investment in
associates’ and 'share of associates net profit’ accounts. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

Investments in associates are accounted for in the Company's
financial statements using the cost method.

Joint ventures
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the consolidated
entity has joint control, established by a contractual agreement.

Jointly controlled entities

The interest in a jointly controlled entity, including partnerships, are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the
eguity method. Under the equity method, the share of the profits or
lasses of the joint venture is recognised in the income statement, and
the share of movements in reserves is recognised in reserves in the
balance sheet.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the consolidated entity
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the consolidated
entity's interest in the entity. Investments in joint venture entities are
carried at the lower of the equity accounted amount and recoverable
amount,

In the Company's financial statements investments in joint venture
entities are carried at cost.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

1. Significant accounting policies {(continued)

(d) Significant accounting estimates, judgements and

assumg tions

The preaaration of a Financial report in conformity with Austratian
Accoun'ing Standards requires management to make certain
judgements, assumptions and estimates that affect the application
of polici2s and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based
an histo-ical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reusanable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basi; of making the judgements about carrying vatues of assets
and liab lities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results riay differ from these estimates.

A regula-review is made of these estimates and underlying assumptions
with any movermnents resulting from a change in the estimates being
recognis 2d in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects o1ly that peried, or in the period of the revision and future
periods it the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key souices of estimation uncertainty

The carr fing amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often
determir ed based on estimates and assumptions of future events.
The key astimates and assumptions that have been applied by the
consolid.ited entity are:

Impairr ent of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives
At least : nnually the consolidated entity assesses whether goodwill
and intangible assets, with indefinite useful lives, are impaired. These
calculations invotve estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-
generatir g units ('CGUSs") to which the goodwill and intangible assets,
with indefinite useful lives, are allocated. The assumptions used in the
estimaticn of recoverable amount and the casrying amount of goodwill
and intanigibles with indefinite useful lives are discussed in note 19.

Share-based payment transactions

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions
with emgloyees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
at the daie at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a Monte-Carlo simutation valuation model and
a Black-£ choles framework, applying the assumptions discussed in
note 22.

Defined Jenefit fund assumptions

Various a:tuarial assumptions are utilised in the determination of
the consc lidated entities defined benefit fund obligations. These
assumptions are discussed in nate 22,

Critical a:counting judgements in applying the consolidated entity’s
accounting policies

Certain ciitical accounting judgements in applying the consolidated
entity’s ac counting policies are described below.

Revenue recognition

In accord ance with industry practice the consolidated entity offers
discounts or allowances to some of its customers or governmental
authorities in the form of rebates, charge backs, price adjustments,
discounts promotional allowances or other allowances. The
consolida ed entity's revenue recognition policy requires management
to make a number of estimates relating to rebates and other credits,
charge bzcks and price adjustments. The accruais for these
provisions are presented in the financial statements as reductions to
the sale o goods and trade receivables.
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Rebates, promotional and other credits

Provisions for rebates, promational and other credits are estimated
based gn historical payment experience, estimated customer inventory
levels, product dating and expiration and change in coniract terms.
Provisians for price adjustments, returns and charge backs require
management to make substantive judgements. The consolidated
entity has extensive internal historical information which is used as

the primary factar in determining reserve requirements and believes
that this historical data, in conjunction with periodic review of available
third-party data, updated for any applicable changes in available
information, provides a refiable basis for the provision estimates.

Charge backs

The provisicn for charge backs is the most significant and complex
estimate used in the recognition of revenue. In the United States the
consolidated entity sells products directly to wholesalers and generic
distributors {'wholesale customers’) and also sells procucts indirectly
to managed care organisations, hospitals and group purchase
organisations (‘indirect customers’). The consolidated entity enters
into agreements with its indirect customers to establish pricing on
certain products and the indirect customers then, independently,
select a wholesaler from which they purchase the products at the
agreed-upan prices. The consolidated entity then provides a credit (o
the whalesaler for the difference between the agreed-upon price with
the indirect customer and the wholesaler's invoice price, termed a
‘charge back'.

The provision recognised by the consolidated entity for charge backs
is estimate¢ using the historical sefl-through levels by the wholesale
customers to the indirect customers and the estimated wholesaler
inventory level. Management continually monitors the provision for
charge backs and makes judgements when it believes that actuat
charge backs may differ from the estimated reserve,

Price adjustments

Price adjustments, also known as ‘shelf siock adjusiments’ are credits
issued to reflect decreases in the selling prices of the cansolidated
entity's products that customers have remaining in their inventories

at the time of the price reduction, Decreases in selling prices are
discretionary decisions made by management to reflect competitive
market conditions. The provision recognised for shelf stock adjustments
is based upon specified terms with customers, estimated declines in
market prices and estimates of inventory held by customers,

Capitalisation of development costs

Research and development activities are undertaken to maintain the
product portfolio and pipeline of the consplidated entity. The intangible
asset accounting policy of the consclidated entity requires that all
expenditure incurred on research activities must be expensed while
expenditure incurred on development activities must be capitalised.
Capitalisation of devetopment expenditure can only occur if it can be
demonstrated that it is probable that the asset will generate future
economic benefits.

In applying this policy management are required, for each product
development praject, to make an assessment of when the project
activity transitions from the research phase to the development phase
inctuding evaluating whether or not that expenditure is probable of
generating future economic benefits for the consolidated entity.



When determining the point fram which expenditure incurred in

the development phase of a product development project must be
capitalised management obtains advice from appropriately qualified
and technically skilled employees of the consolidated entity with
regard to the likely commercial success of the final product being
developed and the technical feasibility of the development. In
conjunction with this advice management reviews whether it is the
intention of the consolidated entity to continue with the development
at which point a decision is then made as to whether or not the
development expenditure should be capitalised.

(e) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the consolidated entity and the revenue
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised (net of rebates,

returns, discounts and other allowances} when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the
custamer and the costs incurred, or to be incurred, in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably. Risks ang rewards of ownership
are normally passed to the buyer at the time cof delivery of the goods to
the customer.

Where rebates are based on sales achieved by distributors, these
rebates are estimated and recorded as a deduction from sales
ravenue when the sale is recognised. Where goods are shipped to
distribuiors on consignment, the sale is not recognised until the
distributor has recorded a sale to a third party.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance
that the grant wifl be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on
a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. When
the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the income statement over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Granis received in relation to research costs that have been
expensed are recognised as revenue at their fair value when there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the
consolidated entity will comply with all conditions attached.

{f) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying assets
are capitalised during the peried of time that is required to complete
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing
costs are expensed as incurred and included in net financing costs.

(g) Leases

Finance leases, which transfer all the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased item to the consolidated entity are capitalised
at the inception of the lease at the lower of the present value of the
minimum lease payments and the fair value of the leased item. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in interest-bearing liabilities classified between current and non-current
amounts. The minimum lease payments are apporticned between the
finance charge and & reduction in the outstanding liability.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over ihe shorter of the
asset's useful life and the lease term, only if there is no reasonable
certainty the lessee will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating feases {net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the income staterment on a
straight line basis over the lease term, Lease incentives received are
recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total
lease expense and spread over the lease term.

The determinaticn of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease

is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an
assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys
a right to use the asset.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances, deposits held

at call, other short-term and highly liquid deposits with an ariginal
maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the consalidated entity's cash
management are netted as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the balance sheet and statement of cash flows.

{i} Trade and other receivables

The consolidated entity has elected the exemption available under
AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 'Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation’ and AASB 139 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ fram 1 July 2005. The consolidated entity has applied
previous Australian GAAP to the comparative period information on
financial instruments that fall within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB
139. Outlined betow are the relevant accounting poticies applicable for
trade and other receivables for the years ending 30 June 2006 and

30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2006

Trade receivables settlement varies with the nature of the customer
and regional acceptable practices. Trade and other receivables are
recognised and carried at amortised costs which reflects amounts
due {net of rebates, discounts and other allowances) less impairment
losses (see 1(n)).

The collectability of debts is assessed on an ongoing basis, and
an allowance for doubtful debts is made where there is objective
evidence that the consolidated entity will not be able to collect the
debts. Bad debts are written off when identified.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2005

Trade receivahles were recognised and carried at an amount due less
a pravision for any uncollectible debts. The collectability of debts is
assessed at balance sheet date, and specific provisions are made for
any doubtful accounts.

The quantitative effect of the change in accounting policy is set out in
note 39.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the: year ended 30 June 2006

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Invzntories

Inventaries are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of bus ness, less the estimated completion and selling expenses.

Costs ncurred in bringing each product to its present location and
condit on are accounted for as follows:

s Raw materials — purchase cost on a first-in-first-out basis

¢ Finished goods and work-in-progress — standard costing is used
for rianufactured inventory items. Standard cost includes direct
matzrials, direct labour and other direct variable cosis and allocated
prexluction overheads necessary to bring inventories io their present
loczlion and position, based on normal operating capacity of the
procluction facilities. The cost of manufacturing inventories and work
in progress are assigned on a first-in-first-out basis. Costs arising
fron1 exceptional wastage are expensed as incurred.

(k) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The ¢ansolidated entity has elected to apply the exemption available
undet AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure
and Fresentation’ and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and hleasurement’ from 1 July 2005, The consolidated entity

has aoplied previous Australian GAAP to the comparative period
inforriation on financial instruments that fall within the scope of AASB
132 end AASB 139. Outlined below are the relevant accounting
policias for derivative financial instruments and hedging applicable
for th2 years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 lune 2006

The ¢ onsolidated entity is exposed to foreign exchange risks arising
from operational, financing and investment activities. To hedge these
expossures the consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments
such as forward currency contracts. In accordance with its treasury
poticy, the consolidated entity does not enter, hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value
on tt e date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subszquently remeasured to fair value. The fair value of forward
currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles, Derivatives
are c arried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities
when their fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from
char-ges in the fair value of derivatives, except for those that qualify
as cash flow hedges, are taken directly to the income statement.

For 'he purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

» far value hedges, when they hedge the exposure to changes in
th 2 fair value of a recognised asset ¢r liability;

» cesh flow hedges, when they hedge exposure to variability in cash
flows that is attributable either to a particular risk associated with
a ecognised asset or liability or to a forecast transaction; or

* hudges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

A hi:dge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment is
accounted for as a cash flow hedge.
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At the inception of a hedge relationship the consolidated entity
formally designates and documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and the hedged items which the consolidated
entity wishes to apply hedge accounting to, including the risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge
transaction. The documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the
hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and
how the entity will assess the hedging instrument's effectiveness in
offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected
to be highly effective in achieving offsetiing changes in fair value or
cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that
they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial
reporting periods for which they were designated.

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are
accounied ior as foltows:

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are hedges of the consolidated entity's exposure
to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, an
unrecognised firm commitment, ar an identified portion of such an
asset, liability or firm commitment, that is attributabte to a particular
risk and could affect profit or loss. For fair value hedges, the
carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses
altributable to the risk being hedged, the derivative is remeasured
at fair value and gains and losses from both are taken to the income
statement,

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged
item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair value of the firm
commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset
or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in the income
statement. The changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are
recegnised in the income statement.

The consolidated entity discontinues fair value hedge accounting if
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, {erminated or exercised,
or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or
the consolidated entity revokes the designation. Any adjustment

to the carrying amount of a hedged financial instrument for which
the effective inferest methed is used is amortised to profit or loss.
Amortisation may begin as soan as an adjustment exists and shall
begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for
changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the consolidated entity's exposure
to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liabifity or a highly probable
forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss. The effective
portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised
directly in equity, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the
income statement.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred 1o the income statement
when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when
hedged income or expenses are recognised or when a forecast sale or
purchase occurs. When the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial
asset or liability, the amounts taken to equity are transferred to the
initial carrying amount of the nen-financial asset or tiability.



If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts
previously recognised in equity are transferred to the income
statement. I the hedging instrument expires or is solg, terminated

or exercised without replacement or roltover, or if its designation as a
hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity remain in
equity until the forecast transacticn occurs, If the related transaction

is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to the income statement.

Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge
of a monetary item that ts accounted for as part of the net investment,
are accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses
on the hedging instrument relating {o the effective portion of the hedge
are recognised directly in equity while any gains or losses relating to
the ineffective portion are recognised in the income statement. On
disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such
gains or losses recognised directly in equity is transferred to the
income statement.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2005

Derivative financial instruments that are designated as hedges and
are effective as hedges of underlying foreign currency exposures are
accounted for on the same basis as the underlying exposure.

Foreign exchange derivatives

The net receivable or payable under foreign exchange swaps and
forward contracts s recorded on the statement of financial position
from the date of entering into the derivative. When recognised, the net
receivable or payable is revalued using the exchange rate current at
reporting date.

Hedges

Having regard 1o natural currency hedges, where foreign assets are
offset against foreign liabilities, management have, where prudent,
entered into specific hedge transactions with respect to the value of
equity in, and loans to, overseas conirolled entities. In accordance
with the requirements of AASB 1012 ‘Foreign Currency Translation’,
gains or losses resulting from these transactions relating to self-
sustaining controlled entities have been transferred to the {oreign
currency translation reserve,

Where hedge transactions are designated to nedge the purchase or
sale of goods or services, exchange differences arising up to the date
of the purchase or sale, together with any costs or gains arising at the
time of entering into the hedge, are deferred on the balance sheet and
included in the measurement of the purchase or sale.

Any exchange differences on the hedge transaction after the date of the
purchase or sale are included in the income statement,

The quantitative effect of the change in accounting policy is set out in
note 39.

(1) Investments and other financial assets

The consolidated entity has elected to apply the exemption available
under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure
and Presentation” and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement’ from 1 July 2005. The consolidated entity

has applied previous Australian GAAP to the comparative period
information cn financial instruments that fall within the scope of AASB
132 and AASB 139. Outlined below are the relevant accounting
palicies applicable for investments and other financial assets for the
years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2006

In accordance with the scope of AASB 139 the consolidated entity
classifies financial assets as either financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-io-maturity
investments and available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. The
classification of the financial asset depends upon the purpose for
which the financial asset was acquired. When financial assets are
initially recognised they are measuved at fair value, including where
appropriate, directly attributable transaction cosis. The consalidated
entity determines the classification of its invesiments at initial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally
for the purpose of selling in the short term, or if so designated by
management. The policy of management is to designate a financial
asset, at fair value through profit or loss, if there exists the possibility
it will be sold in the short term and the asset is subject to frequent
changes in fair values. Derivatives are also categorised as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Assets in this category are classified as current assets and are stated
at fair value, with any resuliant gain or loss recognised in the income
statement. The consolidated entity has not designated any financial
asset or liability as measured at fair value through profit or loss in the
current and comparative period.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the
consolidated entity intends, and has the ability, to hold to maturity.
Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not
included in this classification.

Investrments that are intended to be held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method, less impairment losses. This cost is computed as the
amaount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between the initially recognised amount and the maturity
amount. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses
are recognised in the income statement when the investments are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They
are included in current assets, except for those that mature greater
than 12 months after balance sheet date which are classified as non-
current assets, and are carried at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, iess impairment losses.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.
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Noteas to the financial statements
For ther year ended 30 June 2006

1. Sighificant accounting policies {continued)

(1) Inv2stments and other financial assets {continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Availat le-for-sale financial assets, comprising principalty marketable
equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in
this cazegory or not classified in any of the other ¢ategories discussed
above, After initial recognition available-for-sale financial investments
are measured at fair value with gains or iosses being recognised as a
separale component of equity uniil the investment is derecognised or
until tt e investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumul itive gain or loss previgusly reported in equity is recognised in
the income statermnent.

Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets
unless it is intended that the investment will be disposed of within the
next 12 months.

The fa r value of investments that are actively traded in crganised
financ al markets is determined by reference to quoted market

bid prces at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For
investinents with no active market, fair value is determined using
valuat on technigues. Such valuation techniques include using recent
arm’s ength transactions, reference to the current market value of
another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash
flow aalysis and option pricing models.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 Jine 2005

Listed investments that are held as available for sale are carried

at mai ket value. Changes in net market value were recognised as

a revenue or expense in determining net profit for the period. All
other 1on-current investments were carried at the lower of cost and
recoverable amount,

Reco rerable amount

The ¢ arrying amounts of non-current assets valued on a cost basis
were (eviewed to determine whether they were in excess of their
recoverable amount at balance sheet date. If the carrying value of a
non-carrent asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is wriften
down to the lower amount. In assessing the recoverable amount the
relevant estimated cash fiows have been discounted to their present
value, The pre-tax discount rate used, based on weighted average
cost ¢f capital, was 14.3%.

The quantitative effect of the change in accounting policy is set cut
in notz 39.

{m) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The consolidated entity has elected to apply the exemption available
under AASB 1 of adepting AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation’ and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments:
Rece:nition and Measurement’ from 1 July 2005. The consolidated
entity has applied previgus Australian GAAP to the comparative
perio] information con financial instruments that fall within AASB 132
and f,ASB 139. Qutlined below are the relevant accounting policies
applic:able to the derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabili;ies for the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2C05.
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Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2006

Financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets} is derecognised when:

¢ the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired:

* the consolidated entity retains the right to receive cash flows from
the asset, but has assumed an obligation {o pay them in full without
material delay to a third party;

» the consolidated entity has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all
the risk and rewards of the asset, or (b} has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such exchange or modificaticn is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2005

Financial assets

A financial asset was derecognised when the contractual right to
receive or exchange cash no longer existed.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability was derecognised when the contractual obligaticn
to deliver or exchange cash no longer existed.

(n) Impairment of financial assets

The consclidated entity has elected to apply the exemption available
under AASB 1 of adopting AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure
and Presentation’ and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instrurnents: Recognition
and Measurement’ from 1 July 2005. The consolidated entity has
applied previous Australian GAAP to the comparative period information
on financial instruments that fall within AASB 132 and AASB 139.
Outlined below are the relevant accounting policies applicable for the
impairment of financial assets for the year ending 30 June 2006 and
30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2006

At each balance date the consclidated entity assesses whether a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assels carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans

and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows {excluding future credit losses that have not beer incurred)
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through use
of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised in the
income statement.



If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previausly
recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement to the extent
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost
at the reversal date.

Financial assefs carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment ioss has been
incurred on an unguoted equity instrement that is not carried at fair
value (hecause its fair value cannot be reliably measured), or on

a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by delivery

of such an unguoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

Available-for-sale investments

If there s objective evidence that an available-for-sate investment

is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost
(net of any principal repayment and amortisation} and its current

fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the
income statement, is transferred from equity to the income statement.
Reversal of impairment losses far equity instruments classified as
available-for-sale are not recognised in profit but directly in equity.
Reversal of impairment losses for debt instruments occurs through the
income statement if the increase in an instrument's fair value can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2005

For current financial assets refer to note 1() and 1(1), for the
impairment accounting policy. For non-current financial assets,
refer to note 1(t} for the impairment accounting policy.

(o) Foreign currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the entities
included within the consolidated entity are measured using the
functional currency of that particular entity which is determined

by reference to the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the particular entity operates. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Australian doliars, which is Mayne
Pharma Limited's functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated to Australian currency at
average rates approximating the rates of exchange applicable at the
transaction dates, and any gains and losses on iranslation are brought
to account in determining income for the period.

At balance sheet daie monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on
that date. Exchange differences arising on translation are brought to
account as exchangs gains or losses in the income statement in the
period in which the exchange rates change, except when deferred in
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of histarical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
genominated in fareign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated at exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was
determined.

Financial statements of foreign operations
The results and financial position of foreign operations of controlled
entities have generally been translated to Australian dollars as follows:

+ assels and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated
at the closing rate ruling al that balance sheet date; and

+ income and expenses for each income statement are translated at
average exchange rates that approximate the foreign exchange raie
ruling at the date of the transaction,

On consolidation all resulting foreign exchange differences arising on
retranslation and related hedges are recognised directly as a separate
compenent of equity, The exchange differences are released into the
income statement upon disposal of the foreign operation as part of the
gain or loss on sale.

{p} Property, plant and equipment

Items of plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Cast includes expenditure
incurred in replacing parts of an item of plant and equipment when
it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the
item will flow to the consolidated entity and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All cther costs are recognised in the income
statement as an expense as incurred.

Land and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation on buildings and less any impairment losses recognised.

Depreciation is calculated over the estimated usefut fife of the assets
as follows:

* Buildings - straight line over an average useful life of 40 years;

¢ Leasehodd improvements — equal annua! charges over the shorter of
estimated useful life and the unexpired lease periods, which range
from 1 to 15 years;

* Plant and equipment — straight line at various rates appropriate
to the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to
20 years.

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. Al
of the above rates are consistent with those used in the comparative
financial period.

Impairment

The carrying values of property, pfant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment at each reporting date, with recoverable amount being
estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate thai the
carrying value may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted {o their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset,
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

1. Signifi:ant accounting policies {continued)

{p) Propety, plant and equipment (continued)

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows,
recoverab e amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs, unless the asset's value in use can be
estimated to be close to its fair value. An impairment exists when

the carryi 1g vaiue of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is
then writt2n down to its recoverable amount.

Derecognition and disposal

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal r when no further future econgmic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition

of the as sets (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceed: and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in t e year the asset is derecognised.

(q) Goo iwill

Goodwil acguired in a business combination is initially measured at
cost beihg the excess of the cost of the business combination over
the consolidated entity's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable asseis, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost tess any accumulated
impairnient losses. Negative goodwill arising on a business
combination is recognised directly in the income statement.

Goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in ¢circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goedwill acquired in a business
combiration is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
consol'dated entity’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount ¢f the
cash-glenerating unit {(group of cash-generating units), to which the
goodw ill relates. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an imairment loss is recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently
rever.ed.

(r) intangible assets

Intanzible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are
initia ty measured at cost. The cost of an intangible asset acquired in
a business combination is its {air value as at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumutated impairment

losse s. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised
development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is charged to
the income staterment in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

Res2arch and development costs

Exp:nditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of
gairing new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is
recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

An ntangible asset arising from development expenditure on an
internal project is recognised only when the consolidated entity can
deronstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
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asset, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset wili generate future econcmic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the development and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during

its development. Following the initial recognition of the development
expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accurnulated
impairment lpsses. Any expenditure capitalised is amortised over the
period over which economic benefits are expected to arise from the
related project.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development
expenditure is tested for impairment annuaily when the asset is not yet
available for use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment
arises during the period.

Intangible asset measurement

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite, Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a basis
that reflects the pattern over which economic benefits arising from the
assets are expected to be consumed by the consolidated entity over
the estimated useful life of the asset. Intangible assets with finite lives
are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asse{ may be impaired. Amortisation of an intangible asset
commences once that asset is available for use with the amortisation
period and the amortisation method being reviewed at least at each
financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the
asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangibles are not amortised. The useful I'fe of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed each reparting period to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable, if not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite is accounted
for as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for
an a prospective basis.

A summary of the policies applied te the consolidated entity's
intangible assets is as follows:

Cperating rights and licences
Useful lives - 3 to 20 years

Amortisation method used — amortised over the period of expected
future sales from the related operating right or licence using either the
double diminishing or straight line basis.

Impairment testing — annually for assets not yet available for use and
more frequently when indications of impairment exist.

Product development
Useful lives — 3 to 10 years

Amortisation method used — amortised over the period of expected
future sales fram the related product development using either the
double diminishing or straight line basis.

Impairment testing — annually for assets not yet available for use and
more frequently when indications of impairment exist.




Computer software
Useful tives - 3 years

Amortisation method used — amoriised on straight line basis.

Impairment testing — when impairment indicators exist, amortisation
methed is reviewed at each financial year end.

All the above amortisation rates are consistent with those used in the
prior financial year.

(s} Impairment of assets

The consolidated entity assesses at each reporting date whether there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists the consolidated entity makes an estimate of the asset's
recoverable amount. For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite
useful! fife and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the
recoverable amount is estimated on an annual basis.

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less

costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the
asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value.
In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written
down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount raie that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses retating to continuing
operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment tosses
may na longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication

exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss is only reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the assel's recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying
amouni of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That
increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. The reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement un'ess the asset is

carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase and is recognised in equily.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

(t) Non-current assets held for resale and discontinued operations
An asset {(and all assels and liabilities in a disposal group) are
classified as held for sale where its carrying amount will be

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continued use. Immediately before classification as held for sale,

the measurement of the assets (and all assets and liabilities in a
disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with applicable
accounting standards. Then, on initial classification as he'd for sale all
non-current assets and disposal groups are recognised at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and
subsequent remeasurements are included in profit or lass, even
where there is a revaluation. The same applies to gains and losses on
subsequent remeasurement.

A discontinued operation is a component of the consolidated

entity's business that either has been disposed of or is classified as
held for sale which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations and is part of a single co-ordinated
plan of disposal. A discontinued operation also includes a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classffication as a
disconiinued operation cccurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.

{u) Trade and other payables

The consolidated entity has elected to apply the exemption available
under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure
and Presentation’ and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement’ from 1 July 2005. The consolidated entity

has applied previous Australian GAAP {o the comparative periad
information on financial instruments that fall within the scope of AASB
132 and AASB 139. Outlined below are the relevant accounting
policies for trade and other payables applicable for the years ending
30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005,

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 lune 2006

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent
tiabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity.
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on
30-day terms.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2005

Trade and other payables are generally settled within 30 days and are
carried at cost.

{v) Interest-bearing liabilities

The consolidated entity has elected to apply the exemption available
under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure
and Presentation’ and AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement’ from 1 July 2005. The consalidated entity

has applied previous Ausiralian GAAP to the comparative period
information on financial instruments that fall within the scope of AASB
132 and AASB 139. Outlined below are the relevant accounting
policies for interest bearing liabilities applicable for the years ending
30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005.

Accounting policies applicable for the year ending

30 June 2006

All interest-bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value

less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recagnition, interesi-bearing borrowings are measured at amaortised
cost with any difference between cost and redemption being
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings
on an effeclive interest basis.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised.
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Notes to the financia! statements
for the year erded 30 June 2006

1. Significan', accounting policies (continued)

(v) Interest-bearing liabilities (continued}

Accounting policies appiicable for the year ending

30 June 20015

Bank loans ale recognised at their principal amount, subject to set-off
arrangements.. Al interest-bearing liabilities were measured at the
principal amount. Interest expense is accrued at the contracted rate
and includec in note 20 Trade and Other Payables.

The guantitative effect of the change in accounting policy is set out in
note 39.

(w} Provisions

A provision s recognised when the consolidated entity has a present
obligation (12gal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligatinn and a refiable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obiigation,

Provisions .are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the
risks speci‘ic to the liabilities. When discounting is used, the increase in
the provision due to the passage of time, is recognised as a finance cost.

{x) Emplayee benefits

Wages, slaries, annual leave and sick leave

Liabtlities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits,
annual le we and accumulating sick leave are expected to be settled
within 12 months of the reporting date. Liabilities for wages and
salaries ¢re recognised in other payables in respect of employees’
services Jp to the reporting date while liabilities for annual leave and
accumulating sick leave are recognised in the provision for employee
benefits. The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted
amounts based on wage and salary rates that the consolidated entity
expects 10 pay as at reporting date and include related on-costs.

Long service leave

The liability for employee entitlements to long service leave is
recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured

as the oresent value of the estimated future cash outflows to be
made in respect of services provided by the employees up {o the
reporti g date using the projected unit credit method. In determining
the liability consideration is given to future increases in wage and
salary rates including related on-costs and the consolidated entity's
experiance with staff depariures and period of service. The expected
future paymenis are discounted using the rates attached te national
gover iment bonds which have maturity terms that match, as closely
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Pencion and other post-employment benefits

The consolidated entity contributes to several superannuation funds.
Two of the funds to which the consalidated entity contributes are defined
bene fit plans. Details of these plans are set cut in note 22. Employees
are inembers of company sponsored defined contributien plans or of
industry or government plans depending on regional requirements.

Defined contribution plans
Obl gations to defined contribution plans are recognised as an
expense in the income statement as they fall due.

Defined benefit plans

Thz consolidated entity’s net obligation in respect of defined beneiit
plz ns is calculated separately for each fund by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service
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in the current and prior periods. The liability or asset identified in
respect of defined benefit plans is recognised in the balance sheet,
and is measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the reporting date, plus unrecognised actuarial gains ar losses, less
the fair vatue of any plan assets at that date and any unrecognised
past service cost. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary
using the projected unit credit methed in accordance with AASB 119
'Employee Benefits'.

The cperating and financing costs of the defined benefit plans are
recognised in the income statement in the period in which they

arise. Past service costs are recognised as an expense in the income
statement on a systematic basis aver the period in which the benefits
are expected to vest, being the lives of employees, uniess they vest
immediately in which case they are recognised in the period the
arise. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in equity
through the statement of recognised income and expense.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the consolidated entity,
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of any future
refunds from the plan or reduction in future contributions to the plan.

(v} Share-based payment transactions

The Company provides benefits to employees (including senior
executives) of the consolidated entity in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares
or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).

There are currently three plans in place to provide these benefits:

¢ the Executive Share Option Plan {'ESOP"), which provides benefits
to senior executives;

* the Senior Executive Short Term Incentive Plan ('SESTIP'), which
orovide benefits to senior executives; and

+ the Employee Share Ptan {'ESP'), which provides benefits to
employees, excluding senior executives and directors.

Refer to note 22 for further details of these plans.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date
of grant. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using an
appropriate valuation model taking in{o consideration the terms and
condition upon which the options were granted, further details of
which are given in note 22.

The cost of equity-settted transactions is recognised as an employee
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the periormance and/for service conditiens of the
share-based payment are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the
refevant employees become unconditicnally entitled to the award {the
vesting period}.

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
each reporting date, until vesting date, reflects (i) the extent {¢ which
the vesting period has expired; and (i} the consolidated entity’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
No adjustment is made for failure to achieve market performance
conditions in valuing equity-settled transactions. The income statement
charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative
expense recognised at the beginning and end of that period.




Neo expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 2 market
condition.

Where an equity-settled award is terminated, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of termination, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is
substituted for the terminated award and designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the terminated and new award
are treated as if they were a modification of the original award.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share (see
note 11).

{z) Income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet dzte.

Deferred tax is provided on tempoarary differences at the balance sheet
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reparting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities and
assets are recognised for taxable temporary differences except for:

» the initial recognition of goodwill,

+ the initia! recognition of assets ar liabilities that aifect neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and

= differences refaling to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that
they will probabty not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax assets, including
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the unused tax assets can be
utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax lfaws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are
recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets andg liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable
right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Tax consolidation

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have
formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 December 2005
under Australian taxation law and are therefore taxed as a single entity
from that date. Maynz Pharma Limited is the head entity in the tax-
consclidated group. The members of the tax-censolidated group are
identified in note 32.

Current tax expensefincome, deferred tax liabilities and deferred

tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of

the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial
statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the
‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach by reference to the carrying
amounts of assets and liahitities in the separate financial statements of
each entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation.

Current tax liabilities and assets, deferred tex liabilities and deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the
Australian subsidiaries is assumed by the Company (as the head
entity in the tax-consolidated group) and are recognised as amounts
payable and receivable, to or from, other entities in the tax-
consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangemeni
amounts (refer below). Any difference between these amounts is
recognised by the Company as an equity contribution er distribution.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be
available against which the asset can be utilised.

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments of the probability
of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements
The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-
consolidated group, has entered into a tax funding arrangement which
sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax-consolidated
group in respect of tax amounts. Under the terms of the tax funding
arrangement each of the entities in the tax-consolidated group has
agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity,
based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. Such
amounits are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other
entities in the tax-consolidated group. These inter-entity receivables cr
payables are at calt.

Contributions to fund the current liabilities are payable as per the

tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing of the head entity’s
obligation to make payments for tax liabilities ta the relevant tax
authorities. The tax sharing agreement entered into between members
of the tax-consolidated group provides for the determination of the
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head
entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been
recognised in the financial statements in respect cf this agreement

as payment of any amounts unger the tax sharing agreement is
considered remaote.

{aa) Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of

goods and services tax ('GST'), except:

+ where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not
recoverable from the taxation autherity, in which case the GST is
recegnised as part of the cost of the asset acquisition or as part of
the expense item as applicable; and

« receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST
included.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

1. Signif cant accounting policies {continued)

(aa) Other taxes (continued)

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority I1s included as part of receivables or payables in the
balance < hest.

Cash flovrs are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis
and the ST compaonent of cash flows arising from investing and
financing, activities, which is recoverable from, or payable {o, the
taxation uthority is classified as operating cash flows.

{ab) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs associated with an
equity transaction, that are directly attributable to the issue of new
shares (r aptions, are shown as a deduction from equity, net of any
related income tax benefits.
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2. Segmenta! Reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in
praviding products or services that are subject to risk and rewards
that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical
segment is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns
that are different from those segmenis operating in other economic
environmeants.

The consolidated entity's operations are predominantly made up

of the worldwide development, manufacture and distribution of
injectable pharmaceuticals. Business operations recently acquired
have increased the consolidated entity's operations in the area of
contract manufacturing. Manufacturing plants are located in Australia,
the USA, Puerto Rico and Germany with products distributed to more
than 65 countries in three principal geographical locations, being Asia
Pacific, the Americas and Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Segment information is presented in the financial statements in
respect of the consolidated entity’s geographical segments which
reflects the management and the internal reporting structure of the
consolidated entity during the financiai period.

Transfer prices between geographical segmenis are set at an arms'
length basis in a manner similar o transactions with thirg parties.
Segment revenue, segment expenses and segment resuits include
transfers between the geographical segments. Inter-segment revenue
and inter-segment results represent the internal trading within the
consolidated group. These are eliminated on consolidation.

Segment results include items that are directly attributable to a
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated items comprise expenditure which is not recovered from
the operating segments, cash deposits, investments borrowings and
tax balances not attributable to the operating segments. Segment
capitai expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to
acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for more than
one period.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments,
segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers.
Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Additional segmental information has been provided in this report
in relation to the injectable pharmaceutical and vials and contract
manuiacturing businesses of the consolidated entity.



2. Segmental reporting (continued)

Geographical segments for the year ended 30 June 2006

Less Consolidated
Europe, Middle Latin America (continuing
Asia Pacific* Americas* East & Africa*® Eliminations Consolidated  (discontinued) operations)
$°000 $'000 %000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Revenue
Revenue from external customers:
Sale of goods 194,442 203,468 391,039 - 788,949 - 788,949
Government grants 1,121 - - - 1,121 - 1,121
QOther income 3,738 1,527 1,216 - 5,481 - 6,481
199,301 204,995 392,255 - 796,551 - 796,551
Inter-segment revenue 208,379 64,830 - (273,209) - - -
Total segment revenue 407,680 269,825 392,255 (273,209) 796,551 - 796,551
Result
Segment profit betore
significant items 67,677 11,781 66,490 - 145,948 - 145,948
Significant itemns - {B7,193) {9,209) - (96,402) - (96,402)
Segment result 67,677 (75,412) 57,281 - 49,546 - 49,546
Inter-segment result 56,555 (6,600} (46,395) {3,560} - - -
Total segment result 124,232 (82,012} 10,886 {3,560} 49,546 - 49,546
Unatlocated expenses (26,277) - (26,277)
Unallocated significant items (27,165) - (27,165)
Results from operating activities (3,896) - (3,896)
Net finance cosis (3,389) - (3,389)
Share of profit of associates
and joint ventures 70 - - - 70 - 70
Profit/(loss) before tax (7,215) - {7,215)
Income tax expense (24,120) - (24,120)
Loss on sale of discontinued operation - - -
Income tax expense - - -
Lass on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax - - -
Profit/(loss) for the period {31,335) - {31,335)
Less Consolidated
Europe, Middle Latin America (continuing
Asia Pacific* Americas* East & Africa* Unallocated Consolidated  (discontinued} operations)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Assets and liabililies
Segment assets 1,002,865 373,920 536,615 90,301 2,003,701 - 2,003,701
Investment in associates 4,641 - - - 4,641 - 4,641
Total assets 1,007,506 373,920 536,615 90,301 2,008,342 - 2,008,342
Segment liabilities 78,801 28,472 79,372 70,675 257,320 - 257,320
Total liabilities 78,801 28,472 79,372 70,675 257,320 - 257,320
Other segment information
Capital expenditure
- property, plant and
equipment 14,065 36,570 B,511 4,991 64,137 - 64,137
- intangib'e assets 27,169 6,066 10,127 5,766 49,128 - 49,128
Depreciation 9,560 4,938 5,052 100 19,650 - 19,650
Amortisation 3,557 15,579 10,810 - 29,946 - 29,946
Impairment losses 931 87,389 9,493 9,658 107,471 - 107,471
Restructuring provisions 3,935 - - 17,507 21,442 - 21,442

Other significant items -

*All segments are continuing except for Latin American operations which are disclosed as part of the Americas segment.
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2. Seg nental reporting {continued)
Geogra shical segments for the year ended 30 June 2005

Less Consolidated
Europe, Middie Latin America (continuing
Asia Pacific” Americas* East & Africa* Eliminations Consolidated  (discantinued} operations)
$°000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Revenue
Revenue from external cusiomers:
£ ale of goods 159,900 162,348 328,874 - 651,122 6,387 644,735
( overnment grants 1,200 - - 1,200 - 1,200
Cther income (179) 546 5,158 - 5525 - 5,525
160,921 162,894 334,032 - 657,847 6,387 651,460
Inter-segment revenue 150,250 47,238 - {197,488) - - -
Total segment revenue 311,171 210,132 334,032 {197,488) 657,847 6,387 651,460
Resutt
Segmeni profit before
significant items 24,068 667 49,311 - 74,046 (3.324) 77,370
Significa 1t items {1,990 (953) - - (2,943) - (2,943)
Segment result 22,078 (286) 49,311 - 71,103 (3.324) 74,427
Inter-segment result 37,718 (8,990) (24,256) (4,472} - - -
Total seg nent result 59,796 (9,276) 25,055 (4,472} 71,103 (3,322} 74,427
Unalloca:ed expenses - - -
Unalloca ed significant items (10,000 - (10,000}
Results { om operating activities 61,103 (3,324} 64,427
Net finanze costs (16,834} {1,482) (15,352)
Share of arofit of associates
and join{ ventures 320 - - - 320 - 320
Profit/(lo:s} before tax 44,589 (4,806) 49,395
Income t 3x expense (10,076) - {10,076}
Loss on <ale of discontinued operation {9,640) (9,640) -
Income t1x expense 515 515 -
Loss on =ale of discontinued operation, net of tax (9,125) (9.125) -
Profit/(lo: 5) for the period 25,388 (13,931 39,319
Less Consolidated
Europe, Midd'e Latin America {continuing
Asia Pacific” Americas*® East & Africa* Unallocated Consolidated  {discontinued) operations)
$000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Assets ar d liabilities
Segment 3ssels 975,959 411,141 525,123 37161 1,949,384 3,016 1,946,368
tnvestme it in associates 1,304 - - - 1,304 - 1,304
Total assels 977,263 411,141 525,123 37,161 1,850,688 3.016 1,947,672
Segment iabilities 1,084,125 396,323 275,860 59,262 1,815,670 559 1,815,111
Total liabi ities 1,084,125 356,323 275,960 59,262 1,815,670 556 1,815,111
Other segment information
Capital expenditure
- Jroperty, plant and
aquipment 51,479 24,742 4,774 - 80,995 - 80,995
- ntangible assets 6,630 5,862 123,089 - 139,581 - 139,851
Depreciat on 7.288 4,514 4,621 - 16,423 101 16,322
Amortisat on 2,363 14,574 8,403 - 25,340 - 25,340
Impairme 1t losses - a52 - - 952 - 952
Restructu-ing provisions - - - - - - -
Other sigr ificant items 1,990 - - 10,000 11,990 - 11,990

*All segmi:nts are continuing except for Latin American operations which are disclosed as part of the Americas segment.
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injectables & Vials Contract Manufacturing Unallocated Total

£'000 $'000 $°'000

Business segments for the year ended 30 June 2006
Revenue from external customers 706,063 90,488 - 796,551
Segment assels 1,716,064 201,977 90,301 2,008,342
Capital expenditure

- property, plant and eguipment 57,007 2,139 4,991 64,137

- intangible assets 43,362 - 5,766 49,128
Depraciation 16,577 2,973 100 19,650
Amortisation 27,885 2,057 - 29,946
Impairment losses 97,813 - 9,658 107,471
Restructuring provisions 3,935 - 17,507 21,442
Cther significant izems - - - -
Business segments for the vear ended 30 June 2005
Revenue from external customers 610,490 47 357 -~ 657,847
Segment assets 1,786,496 127,031 37,161 1,950,688
Capital expenditure

- property, plant and equipment 78,207 2,788 - 80,995

- intangible assets 135,581 - - 139,581
Depreciaiion 13,330 3,093 - 16,423
Amortisation 25,042 298 - 25,340
Impairment losses 852 - - 952
Restructuring provisions - - - -
Qther significant items 11,990 - - 11,990
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3. Mayne Group Limited Demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited

On 16 Ncvember 2005, the shareholders of Mayne Group Limited
voted in f.avour of the proposed demerger and the separate

Austratian listing of its international injectable generic and specialty
pharmacr:utical business from its domestic healthcare business.
Following approval of the demerger by shareholders, on the 18
MNovemnbe r 2005, the Supreme Court of Victoria officially endorsed the
demerge - Scheme of Arrangement thereby effecting the separation

of the two businesses from that date.

On appreval of the demerger two new companies, both listed on the
Australia v Stock Exchange (‘ASX'), were formed, being:

* Mayne Pharma Limited (formerly Mayne Pharma Pty Limited), an
internz tional pharmaceutical company focused on research and
develooment, manufacture, marketing and distribution of injectable
generi ; and specialty pharmaceuticals; and

* Symbian Health Limited {formerly Mayne Group Limited), a large
Austrzlian healthcare-focused company with leading market
positicns in pathology, diagnostic imaging, pharmacy and health-
relateci consumer products.

Both cornpanies commenced trading on the ASX on 21 November 2005.

To imple ment the approved demerger a number of transactions
occurre 1, the most significant of these transactions included an
internal restructure of businesses and assets within Mayne Group
prior to :he separation, capital reduction and share issue that occurred
in the a Jpropriate entities to effect legal separation of the businesses.

Internz| Restructuring

On app-oval of the demerger, but prior to the actual separation of the
pharme ceutical business, the ownership of a number of operational
entities of Mayne Group Limited (‘Mayne Group'} was transferred
within tne Group to create the appropriate ownership siructure for the
swift de merger of the pharmaceutical business from Mayne Group.
As a result of this internal restructure Mayne Pharma Limited {‘Mayne
Pharm.") acquired FH Faulding & Co Limited frem Mayne Group

for consideration of $73.3 million. This consideraticn was rot paid

in cask but was added to the outstanding loan amounts owed by
Mayne Pharma to Mayne Group.

See ncte 33 for further details of the FH Faulding & Co Limited
acquis tion,

Capital/Debt Restructure
On approval of the demerger the capital structures of both Mayne
Group and Mayne Pharma changed significantly.

In accordance with the demerger Scheme of Arrangement, Mayne
Group reduced its capital and Mayne Pharma issued 640,655,316
new shares, Instead of the Mayne Group shareholders receiving

their Capital Reduction entittements in cash the amounts were
automaticafly applied, on behalf of the shareholders, as payment for
the Mayne Pharma shares that had been issued. As a consegquence of
the transaction each sharehgider received one Mayne Pharma Share
for every Mayne Group Share held.

The impact of the above transaction on Mayne Pharma was that as
a result of the Mayne Group capital reduction and share purchase,
made by Mayne Group on the behalf of its shareholders, the
outstanding loan amounts owed io Mayne Group were extinguished
by Mayne Pharma thraugh the share issue.

At the date of the demerger, 18 November 2005, the net value of
outstanding amounts awed by Mayne Pharma to Mayne Group
of $1,608.8 million were capitalised by Mayne Pharma under the
Scheme of Arrangement.

Refer to note 25 for further details on the contributed equity of
Mayne Pharma and the rights attaching to those shares issued.

Cash position

Under the demerger Scheme of Arrangement, Mayne Pharma

was to leave Mayne Group with cash representing the business

net cash flows {including capital expenditure) for the period from

1 July 2005 to the date of the demerger, being 18 November 2005.
In settlement of this agreement under the demerger Scheme of
Arrangament, Mayne Pharma received cash totalling $37.8 million
from Mayne Group.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

4, Other income
Other trading revenue 3,060 5,134 - -
Gover yment grants 1,121 1,200 1,121 1,200
Other income 3,421 391 2,023 13
Service charges to controlled entities - - 4,476 3,429
7,602 6,725 7,620 4,642
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $°000 $:000
5. Results from operating activities
Results from operating activities includes the following specific expenditure:
Operating lease charges
- property (7,322) (6,415) (2,456) (1,312
- plant and equipment {435) (130) (14) (59)
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) unrealised 1,961 (872) 8918 (8,676)
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) realised 638 1,143 17 819
tmpairment on trade and other receivables (296) (88) (41) (22
Depreciation (19,650) (16,423) (9,489) (7,209)
Amortisation (29,946} (25,340) (3,557) (2,363)
The following significant items are included in ‘other expenses’
in the income statement:
Legal and gther costs associated with UK litigation relating to Epirubicin - (10,0000 - {10,000)
fmpairment of property, plant and equipment (59,240) - - -
Impairment of development costs (43,289} (952) (9,658) -
Impairment of investments {3,530} - - -
Related party debt forgiveness - {1,990) - 5,623
Costs associated with the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited (11,858) - (11,858) -
Costs associated with the examination of a possible listing
on the London Stock exchange (5,650} - (5,650) -
Tota! significant items (123,567) (12,942) (27.166) (4,377

Recoverability of property, plant and equipment
fn late 2003 it was determined that the manufacturing facility in Aguadilla, Puerto Rico would be upgraded to increase capacity ang support
expected sales growth in a range of lower value, injectable pharmaceuticals for the US hospital market.

The project has experienced a number of delays which the new global manufacturing team has overcome with the construction phase of the
facility now complete. However, as a result of the redefined strategic focus and the identification of other manufacturers to supply some of our
oncology-related pharmaceuticals at competitive prices, Mayne Pharma is re-evaiuating its options for the Aguadilla facility.

The alternatives being considered include continued operation, divestment and closure of the facility. At 30 June 2006 a decision had not been
reached and an impairment loss of $59.2 million has been recognised after taking inte consideration future cash flows from the facility under
the three alternatives.

Recoverability of development costs

An impairment 1035 of $19.5 million was recognised during the period relating to capitalised product development costs for the anaesthetic
praduct propofol. Mayne Pharma was unsuccessful in defending a non-infringement claim by the innovator, AstraZeneca and has subsequently
lodged an appeal. Mayne Pharma remains confident of succeeding but the product launch has been delayed. In the meantime market
dynamics have changed with additional competition leading to significant price erosion.

A number of product and business development projects had been commenced by previous management and no longer fit with the new
strategic direction of the consolidated entity. Al these projects have ceased and an impairment loss of $14.6 million {the Company:
$9.7 millian) has been recognised in the income statement.

Other significant items include an impairment of $9.2 million of previously capitalised development costs of the bio-similar drug erythropoietin
(‘EPO'). In February 2005 Mayne Pharma signed an agreement with Pliva d.d. to develop and bring to the market bio-similar EPO and
granulocyte colony stimulating factor (‘G-CSF'). Substantial progress had been made with EPQ, however in late 2005 the regulatory approval
requirements for bio-similar EPO to be brought to market changed markedly in the European Union. After a further review of this change it
was determined it would have required considerably mare resources to be channelled into its development thereby rendering it no longer
commaercially viable, and taking the project beyond the scope of the original agreement. As a consequence, Mayne Pharma and Pliva have
agreed to cease joint collaboration on EPO and refocus efforts on bringing G-CSF to the market.
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5. Resulls from operating activities {continued)

Recoverability of investments

The consolidated entity holds an equity investment in a listed company which is classified as available-for-sale. In accordance with AASB 139
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, the carrying value of the investment is adjusted to reflect the fair value of the shares
at each raporting date with the revaluation recognised directly in equity. In the past 24 months the share price of the investment has steadity
declined and as a result the carrying value of the investment has reduced by $3.5 million since the date the investment was acquired, $0.4
miflion o' this reduction in value has occurred in the current period.

Following: further analysis of the share price decline in the investment and the expiration of time, management are of the view that the decline
experien:ed to date is now of a permanent nature and accordingly an impairment loss of $3.5 million has been recognised in the income
statement during the period to recognise this diminution in value.

Demergar of Mayne Pharma Limited
During the period an expense of $11.9 millicn (the Company: $11.9 million} has been recognised in relation to restructuring and rebranding of
the consolidated entity’s operations on the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited (see note 3).

Examin ation of possible listing in the United Kingdom

As previusly announced the possibility of listing on the Londen Stock Exchange in addition to our current listing on the Australian Stock
Exchange is being examined and associated costs have been incurred. The board see significant potential benefits in such a listing. No
decision has yet been made. As at 30 June 2006 $5.7 million (the Company: $5.7 million) has been incurred with the majority of the expense
relating 0 consulting fees of professional advisors.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000
6. Personnel expenses!
The costs incurred during the year in respect of employees were:
Wages and salaries 172,807 131,835 80,027 57,193
Pensior cosis 9,438 7,687 6,161 4,780
Social s2curity costs 8,007 5,633 - -
Workers, compensation costs 2,080 356 1,869 369
Share tased payment expense 988 - 988 -
QOther associated personnel expenses 9,761 5,502 4,555 3,397
203,081 151,053 93,600 65,739
! Refer ta note 22 for details of employee benefits.
7. Auditors' remuneration?
Audit services
Auditors of the Company
KPMG:
Audit £nd review of financial reports 2,443 837 1,191 -
Audit r2lated fees 1,699 - - -
QOther 1egulatory audi services 8 - - _
4,150 837 1,181 -
QOther services
Auditos of the Company *
KPMG:
Other issurance services - 3 395 -~
Taxation services 1,726 601 1,103 311
1,726 604 1,498 311

2 Prior o the date of the demerger, audit fees for audit services were included in the audit fee for the ultimate parent company, Mayne Group Limited, and were
not s¢ parately allccated to Mayne Pharma Limited.
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
8. Net financing costs
Interest income
- controlled entities - - 11,396 9,794
- related parties - 1,106 - -
- other persons 1,239 933 712 -
Financial income 1,239 2,039 12,108 9,794
Interest expense
— controlled entities - - (345) (14,356)
— related parties (2,945} (13,986) - -
— other persens (1,676} (3,405} (431) -
Finance charges payable under finance leases {7 - - -
Financial expenses (4,628) (17,321} (776) (14,356}
Net financing costs (3,389) (15,352) 11,332 (4,562}
9. Income tax expense
Recognised in the income statement
Current tax expense
Current year 19,562 26,225 5,353 21,940
Adjustments for prior years (7,641) {4,608) (2,638) (4,424)
11,921 21,617 2,715 17,516
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 11,732 (13,001) 7,930 {5,852)
Benefit of tax losses recognised 467 945 - -
12,199 (12,056) 7,930 (5,852}
Total income tax expense recognised in income statement 24,120 9,561 10,645 11,664
Attributable to:
Continuing operations 24,120 10,076 10,645 12,179
Discontinuing operations - {515} - (515)
24,120 9,561 10,645 11,664
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
9. Income tax ¢ xpense (continued)
Reconciliation oetween tax expense and pre-tax net profit
The prima facie :ax on profit differs from the income tax provided
in the financial statements and is reconciled as follows:
Profit before tax — continuing operations {7,215) 49,395 25,512 39,160
Profit before tax — discontinuing eperations - (14,446) - {12,253}
Profit before ta (7,215) 34,949 25,512 26,907
Prima facie tax on profit calculated at 30% (June 2005 - 30%) (2,165) 10,485 7,654 8,072
From which i, deducted the tax effect of:
Utilisation of p ior year tax losses (226} (829) - -
Research and development expenditure {1,851} (248} (1,726) (248)
Non-assessab e income 42) (9086) (42) (905}
(4,284) 8,502 5,886 6,919
Increase in itcome tax expense due to:
Non-deductit le depreciationfamortisation 492 379 488 2
Nen-deductitile expenditure 2,450 1,487 2,226 82
Effect of tax Isses (derecognised)/recognised 467 945 - -
Australian ccntrolled foreign corporations tax 1,262 - 1,262 -
Overseas income tax rate differences 2,230 309 11 -
Other variatinns 1,162 173 (279) 2817
Significant items
Non-deduct ble expenditure refating to Latin American businesses - 2,374 - 2,374
Asset impaiment associated with Puerto Rico facility 17,772 - 2,018 -
Other non-c eductibte expenditure 10,210 - - -
31,761 14,169 11,612 12,194
Under/{over) provided in prior years (7,641) (4,608) (967) (530
Income ta:: expense attributable to profit/(loss) 24,120 9,561 10,645 11,664

Current Tax

Current ta < expense, for the interim periods presented, represents the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period. Current
tax for current and prior periods is classified as a current fiability to the extent that it is unpaid. Amounts paid in excess of amounts owed are
classified as current assets,

Deferred Tax
The amonnt of deferred tax is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.

The primary components of the consolidated entity's recognised deferred tax assets include temparary differences related 1o employee benefits,
provisions and other items and the value of iax loss-carry-forwards recognised. The primary companents of the consolidated entity’s liabilities
inctude temporary differences related to property, plant and eguipment and intangible assets.

Deferrec tax expense arises from the origination and reversat of temporary differences, effects of changes in tax rates and the benefits of tax
losses recognised. The primary component of the deferred tax expense for the year ended 30 June 2006 is attributed to an increase in deferred
tax assels, relating to increases in provisions and recognition of current year losses, offset by a decrease in deferred 1ax liabilities (excluding
deferrec| tax liabilities recognised in business combinations).

10. Discontinued operations

Discortinued operation
The ccnsotidated entity did not dispose of or classify any controlled entity or businesses as held for sale for the year ended 30 June 2006.

During the year ended 30 June 2005 the consclidated entity announced the divestment and closure of its pharmaceutical businesses located
in Brazil and Mexico. Financial information pertaining to those businesses disposed of for the year until disposal is set out below. These
opera‘ions are included within the Americas segment and are shown as discentinuing in note 2.
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10. Discontinued operations {continued)

Effect of the disposal on individual assets and liabilities of the consolidated entity

2006 2005
$'000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment - 507
Inventeries - 2,631
Trade and other receivables - 7,136
Cash and cash equivalents - 1,245
Employee benefits - (79)
Trade and other payables - (6,991)
Net identified assets and liabilities - 4,349
Gain on disposal - 5510
Lass on closurz of businesses - (15,150)
- {9,640)
Consideration received:
- disposal price - 11,104
- deferred - (1,133)
Cash disposed of - (1,245)
Net cash inflow - 8,726
Cash flow of the discontinued operations
Net cash inflow/(outflow) of operating activities - (1,802)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) of investing activities - (601)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) of financing activities - -

11. Earnings per share

Set out below in {a) and (b) are the basic and diluted earnings per share of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2006 calculated
in accordance with AASB 133 ‘Earnings per Share'.

in addition to the basic and diluted earnings per share an alternative earnings per share of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June
2006 is provided in part {e) of this note to reflect the impact of the demerger.

On 18 November 2005, to facilitate the separation of the global pharmaceutical businesses from Mayne Group Limited (refer note 3), Mayne
Pharma Limited issued 640,655,316 new shares. Due to the significant change in the capita! structure of the company on the issuance of
these shares the Board considers the use of an alternative denominator in determining the basic and dilutive earnings per share will provide
more meaningful information than the earnings per share information calculated in (a) and (b} below.

For the purposes of calculating the alternative earnings per share measure in part (e} of this note the share issue is treated as if it occurred on

1 July 2004.
2006 2005

(a) Basic earnings per share
— from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity ho'ders of the company (8.4)c  39,319,000.0c

- from discontinued operations (13,931,000.0)c
Attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company (8.4)c  25,388,000.0c
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations before significant items disclosed in note 5 22.2¢ 49,261,000.0c
Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the company before

significant items disclosed in note 5 22.2c 35,330,000.0c
(b} Diluted earnings per share

- from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company (B.4)k 39,319,000.0¢
- from discontinued operations - {13,931,000.0)c
Attributable 1o the ordinary equity holders cof the company {8.4)c  25,388,000.0c
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations before significant items disclosed in note 5 22.2¢ 49,261,000.0c
Diluted earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the company before significant items

disclosed in note 5 22.2c 35,330,000.0c
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11. Earvings per Share {continued)

The basi: and diluted earnings per share calcutations from continuing operations for the year ended 30 June 2006 were based on the loss
atuributable to ardinary shareholders of $31,335,000 (2005: profit of $39,319,000). The basic and diluted earnings per share calcylations from
discontinuing operations for the year ended 30 June 2005 were based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of $25,388,000.
There were no discontinued operations for the year ended 30 June 2006.

(c) Weigited average number of ordinary shares
The weighted number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 30 June 2006 used in the basic and diluted earnings per share

calculations were determined as follows:
Number of shares

2006 2005
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic})
Issued orcinary shares at 1 July 100 100
Effect of shares issued in November 2005 373,861,928 -
Weighied average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 373,862,028 100
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)
Weighted zverage number of ordinary shares at 30 June 373,862,028 100
Effect of share options on issue 604,782 -
Weighted aerage number of ordinary shares at 30 June 374,466,810 100
2006 2005
$'000 $'000
(d} Reconciliation of earnings used in caiculation of basic and fully diluted earnings per share
calculations before significant items:
Profit{loss) sttributable to the ordinary equity holders of the campany {31,335) 25,388
Significant it 2ms before tax (note 5) 123,567 12,942
Tax expense {benefit) on significant items (9,088) (3,000)
Net profit be'ore significant items 83,144 35,330
(e) Alternative Earnings Per Share
Alternative be sic earnings per share
- from contining operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company (4.9) 6.1c
-- {from discor tinued operaticns - (2.1x
Attributable t¢ the ordinary equity holders of the company {4.9)c 4.0c
Basic earning; per share from continuing operations before significant items disclosed in note 5 13.0c 7.7¢
Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the company before
significant iters disclosed in note 5 13.0¢ 5.5¢
Alternative dilted earnings per share
- from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company (4.9)c 6.1c
- from discontinued operations - (2.1)c
Attributable to he ordinary equity holders of the company {4.9)c 4.0c
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations before significant items disclosed in note 5 13.0¢ 7.7¢
Basic earnings per share atiributable to ordinary equity holders of the company before
significant iterm:; disclosed in note 5 13.0¢ 5.5¢
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Number of shares
2006 2005

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares used in the calculation

of alternative earnings per share:
Issued ordinary shares at 1 July

640,655,416 640,655,416

Weighted average number of ardinary shares at 30 June
Effect of share options on issue

640,655,416 640,655,416
604,782 -

Weighted average number of shares used in calculation of diluted earnings per share

641,260,198 640,655416

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
12. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 67,270 54,436 - -
Call deposits 48,349 - 48,349 -
115,619 54,436 48,349 -
The Company and the consolidated entity operate an overdraft facility that permits a right of set off of cerlain cash balances (see note 21).
13. Trade and other receivables
Current
Trade receivables 195,202 156,138 37,799 34,770
Less: Amounts provided for doubtfu! debts (2,537) (2,784) (302) (261}
192 665 153,354 37,497 34,509
Other trade receivables 12,253 19,002 3,052 3,307
Trade receivables due from controlled entities - - 81,143 145,275
Loans due from controlled entities - - 441,247 170,929
204,918 172,356 562,939 354,020
Related party receivables - 159,054 - 124,259
Prepayments 11,501 10,818 3,639 783
Non-current
Other receivables 2,830 2,460 1,590 3
14, Inventories
Raw materials 42,489 43,681 31,011 34,421
Work in progress 45,450 35,125 31,352 28,483
Finished goods 107,535 101,764 25,190 30,993
195,474 180,570 87,553 93,897
Carrying value of inventories stated at fair value less costs to sell 313 107 313 107
15. Investments
Non-current investments
Listed equity securities available-for-sale 905 4,273 - -
Investments in controlled entities - - 798,880 336,168
Investments in associates and joint venture entities at cost - - 3,290 23
905 4,273 802,170 336,191
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16. Investir ents accounted for using the equity method

In the financ al statements of the Cornpany investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for at cost and included within
investments .refer note 15). The consolidated entity accounts for investments in assaciates and joint venture entities using the equity method.

The consolidated entity has the following investments in associates and joint venture entities:

Company Principal Activity Reporting date Country Ownership

2006 2005
Indochina F ealthcare Limited Pharmaceutical Distribution 30 June Thailand 45% 45%
Zydus Mayr e Oncology Pvt. Lid Product Development and Manufacture 31 March india 50% -

Jointly controlled entity

On 18 May 2005 Mayne Pharma Limited and Zydus Cadila Healthcare Limited entered intc an agreement for the establishment of a joint
venture for the development and manufacture of certain injectable cytotoxic products. Each party holds a 50% interest in the joint venture
entity. During the period the consolidated entity contributed $3.3 miliion to establish the joint venture entity, Zydus Mayne Oncology Pvt. Ltd.

The principal activity of this jointly controlied entity will be the development and manufacture of certain injectable cytotoxic API's and
pharmaceu tical formulations. At present the joint venture is in the process of constructing a manufacturing facility situated in Ahrnedabad, India.

Financial information relating to equity accounted investments

2006 2005
Joint venture Associates Total Joint venture Associates Total
entity entity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenues (100%) - 5,468 5,468 - 5,446 5,446
Profit/{los:) (100%) - 155 155 - 710 710
Group shire of profit/{loss) recognised - 70 70 - 320 320
Current assets (100%) 3,413 4,903 8,316 - 3,447 3,447
Non-curr:nt assets (100%) 2,982 387 3,369 - 298 298
Total assets (100%) 6,395 5,290 11,685 - 3,745 3,745
Current | abilities (100%) (139) (2,034) (2,173) - (1,183) (1,183)
Non-curient liabilities {100%) - - - - - -
Total liatilities (100%) (139) (2,034) {2,173) - (1,183) (1,183)
Net assets as reported by equity
account:d investment 6,256 3,256 9,512 - 2,962 2,562
Group share of net assets equity accounted 3,128 1,465 4,593 - 1,153 1,153
Results of equity accounted investments
Group share of profits/{losses) before tax - 140 140 - 419 419
Group chare of income tax expense - (70) 70 - {99) (39)
Group thare of profits/{losses) after tax - 70 70 - 320 320
Dividerds received - - - - - -
Group share of net profit equity accounted - 70 70 - 320 320
Movements in carrying amount of investments
Carryir g amount at beginning of the period - 1,304 1,304 - 984 984
Chang:s in equity invested during the period 3,267 - 3,267 - - -
Share of net profit/{loss) equity accounted - 70 70 - 320 320
Carrying amount at the end of the period 3,267 1,374 4,641 - 1,304 1,304
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2006 2005

$'000 $°000
Commitments
Share of capital commitments contracted but not provided for or payable:
Within one year 3,065 -
Between one and five years - -
More than five years - —

3,065 -
Share of other expenditure commitments contracted but not provided for or payable
(including cperating lease commitments):
Within one year 16 37
Between one and five years - -
More than five years - -
16 37
Contingent liabilities
Share of contingent liabilities:
Guaranteed bank facilities 84 203
Letters of credit 1,240 -
1,324 203
17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
2006 2005
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated
Property, plant and equipment (2,577) 10,987 8,410 (3,697} 7,468 3,771
Operating rights and licences - 22,346 22,346 - 5,034 5,034
Product development - 13,330 13,330 - 9,338 9,338
Inventories (3,476) - (3,476) (5,407} - {5,407)
Employee bencfits (7,814) - (7,814) (3,935) - {3,935}
Provisions (14,577} - (14,577) (15,165) - (15,165)
Accruals (4,295) - (4,295) (3,549} - {3,549)
Other items (3,513) 3,622 109 (7,181} 5,945 (1,236)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards recognised (7,797} - (7,797} {10,144) - (10,144)
Tax (assetsWliabilities (44,049) 50,285 6,236 {49,078} 27,785 (21,293)
Set off of tax 19,084 {19,084) - 11,917 (11,917) -
Net tax (assets)/liabilities {24,965) 31,201 6,236 {37,161} 15,868 (21,293)
Company
Property, plant and equipment (1,068) 6,599 5,531 - 4,818 4818
Operating rights and licences - 3,417 3,417 - 1,084 1,094
Product development - 12,544 12,544 - 5,538 5,538
Inventories (1,312} - (1,312) {2,192) - (2,192)
Employee benefits (3,777} - (3,777 {3,850} - (3.860)
Provisions (8,710} - (8,710) 5,412} - (5,412)
Accruals (4,048) - {4,048) (1,203} - (1,203)
Other items - 3,500 3,500 (731) 337 (354)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards recognised (820} - (820} - - -
Tax (assetsMiabilities (19,735} 26,060 6,325 (13,398} 11,787 (1,611)
Set off of tax 19,735 (19,735) - 11,787 (11,787) -
Net tax (assets)/liabilities - 6,325 6,325 {161l) - (1,611)
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17. Duferred tax assets and liabilities {continued)

The consolidated entity has tax losses arising of $26.0 million {2005: $33.8 miliion} that are available indefinitely for offset against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.

The be1efit for tax losses will only be obtained if:

(i} 1he relevant company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the
tleductions for the losses to be realised or the benefit can be utifised by ancther company in the economic entity;

(i)  ine relevant company and/or consolidated entity continues to comply with conditions for deductibility imposed by tax fegislation: and

(it rochange in tax legislation adversely affect the relevant company and/or consolidated entity in realising the benefit from the deductions
far the losses.

Unrecagnised deferred tax assets
Deferrei] tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Deductilye temporary differences 31,328 - - -
Tax lossus 1,651 1,796 - -
32,979 1,796 - -

At 30 June 2006 the unrecognised deferred tax asset primarily relates to the impairments recognised at December 2005 in relation to the
Aguadill: manufacturing facility in Puerto Rice and the US business (see note 5). The deferred tax assets have not been recognised due to
their recoverability not being highly probable at the reporting date.

The ded\ ctible temporary differences and tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assels have not been recognisad in
respect o’ these items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the consolidated entity can utilise the benefits,

Movement in temporary differences during the year

Opening Recaognised Acquired Recognised Exchange Closing
balance in income balances in equity difference balance
$:000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Consolidated
30 June 2006
Property, olant and equipment 3,771 283 4,371 - (15) 8,410
QOperating rights and licences 5,034 2,820 14,354 - 138 22,346
Product davelopment 9,338 3,909 - - 83 13,330
Inventories (5,407) 2,018 - - {87) (3,476)
Employee benefits (3,935) (3,011) (863) - (5) {7,814)
Provisions (15,165} 874 (1) - (285) (14,577}
Accruals {3,549) {429) (288} - (29) (4,295)
Other iterr s {1,236) 3,033 {1,746) - 58 109
Tax value uf loss carry-forwards
{recognised)/derecognised (10,144} 2,702 - - {359) {7,797}
Balance al 30 June 2006 (21,293} 12,199 15,827 - {497) 6,236
30 June 2005
Property, plant and equipment 1,085 2,489 - - 187 3,771
Operating 1ights and ticences 3,957 1,376 - - (339) 5,034
Product development 8,619 1,079 - - {360} 9,338
Inventories (2,183) (3,342) - - 118 (5,407)
Employee l:enefits {1,933 (2,010} - - 8 (3,935)
Provisions (9,043) (6,890} - - 768 {15,165)
Accruals (3,474) (293} - - 218 (3,549)
Other items 5986 (6,714} - - {508) (1,236)
Tax value o' loss carry-forwards
{recognisea)/derecognised (13,595) 2,249 - - 1,202 {10,144)
Balance at .30 June 2005 (10,531) (12,056} - - 1,294 (21,293)
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17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

Movement in temporary differences during the year

Opening Recognised Acquired Recognised Exchange Closing
balance in income balances in equity difference balance
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Company
30 June 2006
Property, plant and equipment 4,818 713 - - - 5,531
Operating rights and licences 1,094 2,323 - - - 3,417
Product development 5,638 7,006 - - - 12,544
Inventories (2,192) 880 - - - (1,312}
Employee benefiis {3,860) 83 - - - 3.777)
Provisions {5,412) {3,298) - - - (8,710}
Accruals {1,203) (2,845) - - - (4,048)
Other items {394) 3,893 - - 1 3,500
Tax value of loss carry-forwards
{recognised)/derecognised - (825) - - 5 (820)
Balance at 30 June 2006 {1,611} 7,930 - - 6 6,325
30 June 2005
Property, plant and equipment 2,496 2,322 - - - 4,818
Operating rights and licences 622 472 - - ~ 1,004
Product development 4954 584 - - - 5,538
Inventories {1,339) (853} - - - (2,192)
Employee benefits {1.850) (2,010} - - - (3,860)
Provisions {1,533) (3,879) - - - (5,412)
Accruals (1,289} 86 - - - {1,203)
Other items 2,185 (2,574) - - (15) {394)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards
(recognised)/derecognised - - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2005 4,256 (5,852} - - (15) (1,611)
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18. Proerty, plant and equipment

Consolidated

Freehold land Leasehold Plant & Assets under Leased plant
& buildings improvements equipment construction & equipment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2005 35,442 492 183,878 104,438 - 324,250
Acquisit ons through business combinations 36,856 - 9,389 1,576 138 47,959
Additions through demerger transaction - 1,695 143 14,335 - 16,173
Additions for the period 58 95 12,471 51,722 - 64,346
Impairment loss — asset write off - - (21,942) (10,083) - (32,025)
Transfer; to other non-current assets - - (717) (1,640) - (2,357)
Other transfers 18,202 1,660 61,667 (84,705) - (3,176)
Disposa s (174} - (3,298) - - (3,472)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rate 1,192 201 5,298 1,328 - 8,019
Balance at 30 June 2006 91,576 4,143 246,889 76,971 138 419,717
Balance at 1 July 2004 30,791 368 157,479 71,953 - 260,591
Acquisit ans through business combinations - - 1,546 - - 1,546
Additior s for the period 3,999 90 25,691 53,782 - 83,572
Other triansfers 2,161 400 14,189 (19,059) - (2,309}
Disposa s - (359} (6,386) - - (6,745}
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rate  (1,509) (7} (8,641) (2,248) - (12,405}
Balance at 30 June 2005 35,442 492 183,878 104,438 - 324,250
Deprec ation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2005 4,163 178 96,840 - - 101,181
Depreciation charge for period 2,025 822 16,738 - 65 19,650
Impairm ent losses - - 729 51,314 - 52,043
Impairn ent loss — asset write off - - {14,016) - - (14,016)
Other irinsfers - - - - - -
Disposals {133) - (2,582) - (14) {2,729}
Effect o movement in foreign exchange 89 46 2,728 520 - 3,383
Batance at 30 June 2006 6,144 1,046 100,437 51,834 51 159,512
Balance at 1 July 2004 2,120 108 92,322 - - 94,550
Depreciation charge for period 2,105 180 14,128 - - 16,423
Impairment losses - - - - - -
Other transfers - - - - - -
Disposzls - (118) {5.241) - - (5,359)
Effect o' movement in foreign exchange (62) (2) (4,369) - - (4,433)
Balance: at 30 June 2005 4,163 178 96,840 - - 101,181
Carrying amounts
Batance: at 30 June 2006 85,432 3,097 146,452 25,137 87 260,205
Balance at 30 June 2005 31,279 314 87,038 104,438 - 223,069
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The Company

Freehold land Leasehold Plant & Assets under
& buildings improvements equipment construction Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2005 20,076 9 92,383 71,415 183,883
Additions through demerger transaction - 1,695 143 14,335 16,173
Additions for the period - - - 14,8951 14,891
Impairment loss — asset write off - - - {9,658) {9,658)
Transfer of assets to controlled entities - - - {1,072) {1,072)
Other transfers 18,174 - 57,320 (78,666) 3,172}
Disposals (174) - (1,808) - {1,982}
Balance at 30 June 2006 38,076 1,704 148,038 11,245 199,063
Balance at 1 July 2004 17,915 368 82,901 38,057 139,241
Acquisitions through business combinations - - - - -
Additions for the periad - - 9 51,402 51,411
Other transfers 2,161 - 13,997 (18,044) {1,886)
Disposals - (359) (4,524) - {(4,8383)
Balance at 30 June 2005 20,076 9 92,383 71,415 183,883
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2005 2,493 - 50,264 - 52,757
Depreciation charge for period 452 223 8,814 - 9,489
Impairment losses - - 729 - 729
Other transfers - - - - -
Disposals (133} - (1,215) - (1,348)
Balance at 30 June 2006 2,812 223 58,592 - 61,627
Balance ai 1 July 2005 2,120 108 47,287 - 49,515
Depreciation charge for period 373 10 6,826 - 7.209
Other transfers - - - - -
Disposals - (118} (3,849} - (3,967)
Balance at 30 June 2005 2,493 - 50,264 - 52,757
Carrying amounts
Balance at 30 June 2006 35,264 1,481 89,446 11,245 137,436
Balance at 30 June 2005 17,583 9 42,119 71,415 131,126

Impairment loss
Impairment losses and asset write downs

Aguadilla manufacturing facility

In late 2003 it was determined that the manufacturing facility in Aguadilla, Puerto Rico would be upgraded to increase capacity and support
expected sales growth in a range of lower value, injectable pharmaceuticals for the US hospital market. The project has experienced a number
of delays which the new global manufacturing team has overcome with the construction phase of the facility now complete. However, as a
result of the redefined strategic focus and the identification of other manufacturers to supply some of our oncology-related pharmaceuticals at
competitive prices, Mayne Pharma is re-evaluating its options for the Aguadilla facility.

The alternatives being considered include continued operation, divestment and closure of the facility. At 30 June 2006 a decision had not been
reached and an impairment loss of $59.2 million (the Company: nit) has been recognised after taking into consideration future cash flows from
the facility under the three alternatives.
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18. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Impairment loss (continued)

An impairme it loss of $51.3 million (the Company: nil) has been recognised in ‘other expenses' in the income staternent in relation fo the
assessment performed by the consolidated entity on the carrying value of the assets of the Aguadilla manufacturing site. The estimate of the
recoverable amount was based on the value in use of the assets of the manufacturing facility, determined using a pre-tax discount rate of
14.3%. In ac.dition specific assets totalling $7.9 miltion (the Company: nil} relating to the Aguadilla manufacturing site were written down and
are included in 'other expenses’ in the income statement.

Business dzveloprnent projects

A number 0" 'in-progress’ business development projects, included within assets under construction, that had been commenced by previous
management no longer fit with the new strategic direction of the consolidated entity. All these projects have ceased and an impairment loss of
$9.7 millior (the Company $9.7 million) has been recognised within ‘other expenses’ in the income statement.

In addition an impairment loss of $0.7 million {the Company: $0.7 miltion) was recognised in relation to the carrying value of other items of
property, plant and equipment which is inctuded within ‘cost of sales’ in the income statement.

Depreciation and impairment charge
The depreciation and impairment charge is recognised in the following line iterns in the income statement

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000

Costof saes 15,467 12773 8,068 5,374
Selling anf marketing expenses 830 746 9 7
Administrative expenses 2,606 1976 1,474 1,101
Product ¢ evelopment expenditure 657 727 667 727
QOther exf enses 70,142 201 9,658 -
89,702 16,423 19,876 7,209
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19, Intangible assets

Consolidated

Product Operating rights Computer
development Goodwill & licences software Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost
Balance at 1 July 2005 41,182 824,711 265,025 8,784 1,139,702
Acquisitions through business combinations 445 43,950 47,930 - 92,325
Additions for the period 28,653 - 20,391 211 49,255
Impairment loss — asset write off (19,688) - (39,212) - (58,900}
Other transfers - - - 3,176 3,176
Disposals - - {414) (54) (468)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rate 946 16,091 13,204 142 30,383
Balance at 30 June 2006 51,538 884,752 306,924 12,259 1,255,473
Balance at 1 July 2004 29,501 745,273 187,826 6,480 969,080
Acquisitions through business combinations - 107,648 2,281 - 109,929
Additions for the period 12,856 - 139,962 - 152,858
Other transfers - - - 2,309 2,309
Disposals - - (41,413) - (41,413)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rate {1,215) (28,210 (23,631) (5 {53,061)
Balance at 30 June 2005 41,182 824,711 265,025 8,784 1,139,702
Amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2005 5,450 - 25,162 3,903 34,515
Amortisation charge for period 1,483 - 24,963 2,255 28,701
Impairment loss - - - - -
Qther transfers - - - - -
Disposals - - (155) (41) (196)
Effect of movement in foreign exchange 581 - 4,452 136 5,169
Batance at 30 June 2006 7,514 - 54,422 6,253 68,189
Balance at 1 July 2004 4,309 - 9,847 2,247 16,403
Amortisation charge {or period 1,143 - 21,995 1,661 24,799
Other transfers - - - - -
Dispasals - - (646) - (B46)
Effect of movement in foreign exchange (2) - (6,034) )] {6,041)
Balance at 30 June 2005 5,450 - 25,162 3,503 34,515
Carrying amounts
Balance at 30 June 2006 44,024 884,752 252,502 6,006 1,187,284
Balance at 30 June 2005 35,732 824711 239,863 4,881 1,105,187
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19. Intangible assets (continued)

! The Co npany
Product Operating rights Computer
development Goodwill & licences software Total
$'000 $'000 $:000 $'000 $'000
Cost
Batance at 1 July 2005 23,748 201,861 3,834 8,365 237,808
Acquisi ions through business combinations - - - - -
Additions for the period 24,672 - 7,893 - 32,565
Impairment loss — asset write off - - (203) - (203)
Other tansfers - - - 3,172 3,172
| Disposi Is - - - (49) (49)
i Balanci: at 30 June 2006 48,420 201,861 11,524 11,488 273,293
i Balanc: at 1 July 2004 17,960 201,861 2,991 6,479 229,291
Acquisitions through business combinations - - - - -
Additio1s for the period 5,788 - 843 - 6,631
. Other t-ansfers - - - 1,886 1,886
. Disposils - - - - -
' Balancz at 30 June 2005 23,748 201,861 3,834 8,365 237,808
Amort sation and impairment losses
| Balance at 1 July 2005 5,289 - 784 3,577 9,650
Amoriisation charge for period 1,320 - 150 2,087 3,557
Impairinent loss - - - - -
Other transfers - - - - -
| Disposals - - - (35) (35)
Balance at 30 June 2006 6,609 - 934 5,629 13,172
Balance at 1 July 2004 4,309 - 731 2,247 7,287
Amortisation charge for period 980 - 53 1,330 2,363
Other 'ransfers - - - - -
Disposals - - - - -
Balante at 30 June 2005 5,289 - 784 3577 9,650
Carrying amounts
Balance at 30 June 2006 41,811 201,861 10,590 5,859 260,121
Balan:e at 30 June 2005 18,459 201,861 3,050 4,788 228,158

Impairment losses
Prodt ct devefopment

Fropofol development costs

An impairment loss of $19.5 million {the Company: nil) was recegnised during the period relating to capitalised product development costs

for the: anaesthetic product propofol. Mayne Pharma was unsuccessful in defending a non-infringement ¢laim by the innovator, AstraZeneca
and has subsequently lodged an appeal. Mayne Pharma remains confident of succeeding but the product launch has been delayed. In the
meaniime market dynamics have changed with additional competition leading to significant price erosion. The estimate of recoverable amount
i was tased on value in use, determined using a pre-tax discount rate of 14.3%.

In addition an impairment toss of $0.2 million (the Company: $0.2 million) was recognised in relation to the carrying value of other items of
produ ¢t development which is included within ‘product development expenditure’ in the income statement.
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Operating rights and licences

Biogeneric developrent costs

In February 2005 the consolidated entity entered into a partnership with Pliva d.d. {‘Pliva’) te develop and manufacture two major biogeneric
products being erythropoietin (‘EPO') and granulocyte colony stimulating factor {'G-CSF'). Under the agreement the consolidated entity would
acquire the exclusive sales, marketing and distribution rights for the two products in Western Eurape and other selected markets around the world.

Substantial progress had been made with the development of the EPO product, however late in 2005 the regulaiory approval requirements
imposed by the European regulatory authority for bio-simitar EPO, to be brought to market, changed markedly. After assessing the impact of the
regulatory changes it was determined that it would require considerably more resources to be channelled into the development of EPQ thereby
rendering it no longer commercially viable, and taking the project beyond the scope of the original agreement. Accordingly, Mayne Pharma and
Pliva agreed to cease joint collaboration on EPO and refocus efforts on bringing G-CSF to the market (see note 37).

As a conseguence the consolidated entity has recognised an impairment loss of $35.2 million {the Company: nil) in ‘other expenses’ in the
income statement. In addition, the liability recognised for future mitestone payments to Pliva for the development of EPQ for $27.9 million
{the Company: nil} was released and is included within ‘other expenses' in tne income statement. During the period incremental costs of
$1.9 million {the Company: nil) incurred in relation to the devetopment of EPQ were also expensed to the income statement.

Acquired operating rights and licences

A number of individual operating rights and licences acquired by previous management no langer fit with the new strategic direction of the
cansolidated entity. These operating rights and Egences will no longer be pursued by the consolidated entity and as a result an impairment loss
of $3.6 million {the Company: nil) has been recognised in ‘other expenses’ in the income statement.

in addition the annual impairment assessment performed by the consolidated entity, in accordance with the consolidated entity's impairment
of assets policy, has identified an impairment loss of $0.4 million {the Company: $0.2 million) in relation ta the carrying value of ather aperating
rights and licences which has been recognised in ‘selling and marketing expenses’ in the income statement. The impairments in the carrying
value of the operating rights and licences were a result of ceasing to sell products into certain markets and price erosion caused by increased
competition. The estimate of the recoverable amount of these assets was based on the value in use of the asset, determined using a pre-tax
discount rate of 14.3%.

Amortisation and impairment charge
The amortisation and impairment charge is recognised in the following line items in the income statement

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost of sales 344 331 250 -
Selling and marketing expenses 364 - 203 -
Administrative expenses 1,837 1,330 1,837 1,330
Product development expenditure 1,680 1,143 1,320 980
Amortisation of operating right and licences 24,963 21,995 150 53
Other operating expenses 58,413 - - -
87,601 24,799 3,760 2,363

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The consalidated entity tests goodwill annually, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. For the purposes
of undertaking the impairment testing management have identified three cash generating units (‘CGUs"). Of the CGUs identified a significant
portion of goodwill is regarded as a single cash-generating unit. This allocation represents the integrated global nature of the injectable
pharmaceutical business.

The goodwill for each significant cash-generating unit is set cut below:

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Contract manufacturing operations, Germany 27,962 25,837 - -
Contract manufacturing operations, Austratia 27,695 - - -
Integrated pharmaceutical operations 829,095 798,874 201,861 201,861
884,752 824,711 201,861 201,861
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19. Intangible assets (continued)

impairmen: tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill {continued)

The recoverable amounts of each of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations using cash flow projections which varied
depending ¢n the CGU. The impairment testing of the contract manufacturing CGU's of Germany and Australia used cash flow projections
that were ovar a ten year period and a sixteen year period respectively while the integrated pharmaceutical CGU impairment testing used cash
flow prajectins over a five year period, Cash flow projections greater than five years have been used in the impairment testing of the contract
manufacturing CGUs due to the existence customer contracts whose terms extend out beyond the next five years.

The key assumptions for the value in use impairment calculations are:

* revenue volumes and prices, including assessing anticipated successful product launches;
* operating ».0sts;

* growth rat: assumpticns;

» growth in perpetuity applied to calculate the terminal value; and

* discount rite.

Expected rervenue volumes, revenue prices and operating costs are based on past experience and expected future developments in markets
and operations and are the same assumptions used in the most recent forecasts, financial budgets and strategic plans used by management.

Growth rates take into consideration forecast GDP growth rates for the countries of operation, expected market growth rates for those regions
and the leveis of growth achieved historically by the CGU and forecast in the periods covered by the budget and strategic plan. Lower growth
rates are applied in perpetuity to calculate the terminal value for each CGU. These rates do not exceed the average long-term growth raie for
the relevant narkets.

The discouni rate applied to each CGU is based on the consolidated entity's weighted average cost of capital adjusted to reflect management’s
estimate of the expected risk profile associated with the cash flow projections for the CGU.

The discouni rates and growih rates by CGU are as follows:

Discount Rate Growth rate
2006 2005 2006 2005
% % % %
Contract mar ufacturing operations, Germany 15.4 154 0.0 00
Contract mar ufacturing operations, Australia 14.3 - 3.0 -
Integrated pk armaceutical operations 14.3 14.3 3.0 3.0

In all cases thie recoverable amounts of these CGUs were in excess of their carrying values and no impairment arose in the year (2005: nil).

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
20. Trade and gther payahles
Current
Trade payables 51,208 44,688 12,563 12,672
Payablas due to controlled entities - - 28,107 36,144
Cther payables 87,357 63,834 39,232 28,660
138,565 108,522 79,902 77.476
Non-current
Other payables 44 146 - -
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $°000 $'000 $'C00
21. Interest-bearing liabilities
Current
Bank overdrafts - ~ 4,458 7,102
Secured bank loans - 1,029 - -
Unsecured bank loans 799 1,161 - -
QOther unsecured loans 3,595 3,439 - -
Finance lease liabilities 105 - - -
Amounts owing to controlled entities - - 142,502 160,195
4,499 5,629 146,960 167,297
Related party indebtedness - 1,570,893 - 888,105
Non-current
Unsecured bank loans 1,599 2,078 - -
Other unsecured loans 9,992 11,337 - -
Finance lease liabilities - - - —
11,591 13.415 - -
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the
consalidated entity's interest-bearing liabilities. For mare information
about the consolidated entity's exposure 1o interest rate and foreign
currency risk, see note 28.
Financing facilities available at reporting date
Bank overdraft! 1,000 - 1,000 7,102
Secured bank loans - 1,029 - -
Unsecured bank loans 227,398 3,239 225,000 -
Other unsecured loans 13,587 14,776 - -
Standby lefters of credit 11,275 8,213 - -
Other bank facilities 656 - 656 -
253,916 27,257 226,656 7,102
Facilities utilised at reporting date
Secured bank loans - 1,029 4,458 7,102
Unsecured bank loans 2,398 3,239 - -
QOther unsecured loans 13,587 14,776 - -
15,985 19,044 4,458 7,102
Facilities not utilised at reporting date
Banrk overdraft! 1,000 - - -
Unsecured Borrowing 225,000 - 225,000 -
Standby letters of credit 11,275 8,213 - -
Other bank facilities 656 - 656 -
237,931 8,213 225,656 -

! Prior ta the date of the demerger bank overdraft facililies were arranged by the ultimate parent company, Mayne Group Limited.
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21. Interest-bearing liabilities (continued)

Secured bank loans

Secured bank loans represents a factoring agreement between PHT Pharma Sil (‘PHT') and Banca San Paolo (‘San Paclo'). PHT presents
invoices to San Paolo and receives a cash advance of up to 80% of the face value of the invoices. Interest is charged on the cash advances and
the credit risk lies with PHT. The cash advance at balance date is nil (2005: EUR 650,000; AUD 1,029,132).

Unsecured loans
Unsec sred bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars and Euras.

Drawr term facility

At 30 . une 2006 an amount of EUR 1.4 million (AUD 2.4 million} is payable in relation to a loan agreement between Wasserburger
Arznei nittelwerk GmbH (‘Wasserburger') and IKB Deutsche Industriebank AG (‘IKB’). The loan is unsecured and is repayable in equal
instatments in December and June of each year. The loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 3.75% per annum, and matures in June 2009.

Multi-currency bank debt facility
During the period the consolidated entity obtained an AUD 225.0 million unsecured syndicated multi-currency and multi-issuer bank debt
facility The syndicated bank debt facility is a three-year revolving loan facility and was undrawn at 30 June 2006.

Intere«t is payable on amounts drawn under the facility based on benchmark rates {depending on borrowed currency) plus a margin. The
margis1 payable under the facility is consistent with that which similarly rated or unrated borrowers would expect to obtain for facilities of

this size and nature in the current market. The facility contains customary provisions relating to events of default, which could trigger early
repayrient and also contains undertakings by Mayne Pharma and certain subsidiaries, including a negative pledge, prohibition on disposal of
assets and financial covenants that are customary {or facilities of this nature,

Bank overdraft

The consolidated entity has a bank overdraft facility of AUD 1.0 million which is embedded within a set-off arrangement. The facility allows any
indivic ual account batance, within the set-off group, to be in overdraft of up to AUD 30.0 million however the net cash position of the set-off
group must not exceed a bank overdraft position greater than AUD 1.0 million.

The fecility is unsecured with interest charged daily on drawn amounts at the bank’s officiat cash rate plus a margin. The margin payable under
the facility is consistent with that which similarly rated or unrated borrowers would expect to obtain for facilities of this size and nature in the
currer t market. Interest is not charged if, under the set-off arrangement, the consolidated entity is in a net cash paosition.

At 30 June 2006 the Company is in a bank overdraft position of AUD 4.5 millien (2005: AUD 7.1 million} whilst the consolidated entity has not
drawr down on the facility under the cash set-off agreement (2005: nil).

Othet unsecured loans

Other loans include a toan received from a custamer to finance the expansion of production capacity at the consolidated entity's manufacturing
facility at Wasserburger, Germany. The outstanding loan balance at 30 June 2006 is EUR 8.3 million (AUD 14.2 million). The loan bears interest
at a fized rate of 1% per annum and Is repaid in annual instalments based on levels of production. Final repayment is due September 2009.

Standby letters of credit

The ¢ansolidated entity has a number of standby letter of credit fagilities with different financial institutions that total AUD 11.3 million
(200% : AUD 8.2 million). Each facility has differing terms and conditions that reflect the purpose of guarantee provided under the letter of
credit. At 30 June 2006 the consolidated entity has not calted upon any of the available letters of credit {2005: nil).

Othe* bank facilities

The consolidated entity has arranged a facility under which cash, of up to AUD 0.5 mitlion, may be advanced against receipts from averseas
custoners. This facility has not been utilised at 30 June 2006. In addition, a decumentary letter of credit facility for AUD 0.2 million has also
been arranged where payments, or proof of payment, is supplied to an overseas supplier by the financial intermediary to ensure the shipment
of goods procured. This facility has not been utitised at 30 June 2006.
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CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
22. Employee benefits
Current
Liability for annual leave 8,500 5,892 6,539 5,461
Liability for long service Jeave 216 188 175 188
Other employee benefits 1,904 154 - -
Recognised liability for pension plans (see below) 8,011 7,351 - -
18,631 13,585 6,714 5,649
Non-current
Liability for long service leave 6,999 4514 5,666 4,514

(a) Pension plans

The consolidated entity provides employee benefits under various arrangements, including through defined contribution and defined benefit
pension plans. Many of these plans are defined contribution plans, where the company contribution and resuiting inceme statement charge is
fixed at a set level or is a set percentage of an employee's pay. However several plans, held in the US {including Puerto Rico) and Germany, are
defined benefit, where benefits are based on employees' length of service and average final salary.

Defined benefits plans
The consolidated entity provides fully for the present value of the unfunded obligations of the defined benefit plans as determined by the latest
actuarial valuation.

The defined benefit plan in the USA has been closed to new entrants residing in continental USA since October 2003, Benefits for existing
employees in the plan, at that time, were subsequently frozen with effect from June 2005. The plan remains open to existing and new
employees that reside in Puerto Rico. In Germany two wholly unfunded defined benefit plans are in aperation, one for staff members and the
other for executives.

The cash funding of the US plan, which may from time to time involve special payments, is determined in consultation with independent
qualified actuaries to ensure that the assets together with the future contributions should be sufficient to meet future obligations. Members
and entities within the consolidated entity make contributions as specified in the rutes of the fund. Contributions by these entities are based on
percentages of current salaries actuarially assessed to meet defined benefits based on multiples of final average salaries determined by length
of service and are enforceable in accordance with the respective rules so long as they are parties to the fund. Statutory requirements in the
USA prescribe minimum quarterly employer contributions to the USA plan whilst it has an accumulated funding deficiency.

An actuarial assessment of the USA defined benefit plan was made by independent actuary, Dreighton Rosier, FSA, EA on 27 June 2006.
Actuarial assessments of the German defined benefit executive plan and staff plan were made by independent actuaries, Herr Bauer {Aktuar
DAV) and Herr Neumann {Aktuar DAV} of Gerling Pensions Management GMBH on 30 June 2006.

The following table summarises the assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of defined benefit schemes for
the year ended 30 June 2006.
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2006 2005
$'000 $'000
22. Emnployee benefits (continued)
(a) Pension plans {continued)
Defini:d benefits (continued)
Defined benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet:
Present value of whally unfunded obligations 7,149 6,788
Present value of funded obtigations 2,995 2,448
Fair villue of fund assets - funded (2,133} (1,885)
Prese 1t value of net obligations 8,011 7,351
Unrecognised actuarial gains and (losses) - -
Recog nised liability for defined benefit obligations (see below) 8,011 7,351
AmoL nts in the balance sheet:
Liabilizies 8,011 7,351
Assets - -
Net linbility 8,011 7,351
Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:
Definid benefit obligations (10,144) (9,236)
Fund assets 2133 1,885
Surpl as/(deficit) (8,011) (7,351}
Experience adjustments on fund liabilities 68 -
Expeirience adjustments on fund assets (81) -
The consolidated entity has used the AASB 1.20A exemption and disclosed amounts under AASB 1.20A{p) above for each annual
report ng period prospectively from date of transition to Australizn Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards.
Charges in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
Definad benefit obligation at beginning of period 9,236 9,935
Curre nt service cost 137 450
Intere:st cost on benefit obligation 457 200
Actuarial losses and {gains) 68 -
Losses/(gains) on curtailmenis - (369)
Benefits paid (383) {4
Exchange differences on foreign plans 629 (976)
Defir ed benefit obligation at end of period 10,144 9,236
Changes in the fair value of fund assets are as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period 1,885 1,592
Expezted return 143 121
Actu arial gains and (losses) (81) -
Contibutions by employer 324 333
Benefits paid (198) (1)
Exchange differences on foreign plans 60 (160)
Fair salue of plan assets at end of period 2,133 1,885
Actual return on plan assets 62 121
Expense recognised in the income statement:
Currznt service costs 137 450
Interest on obligation 457 200
Expe cted return on fund assets (143) (121}
Lossasigains) on curtailments - (369)
451 160

The above expense of $451,000 (2005: $160,000}) is recognised in the cost of sales line in the income statement.
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2006 2005

% %
The major calegories of fund assets as a percentage of total fund assets are as follows:
Cash 17.0% 17.0%
US Stocks 43.3% 43.3%
Foreign Stocks 9.5% 9.5%
Bonds 30.1% 30.1%
Other 0.1% G.1%
Principal actuarial assumptions at balance sheet date (expressed as weighted averages):
Discount rate 5.11% 5.14%
Expected return on fund assets 7.00% 7.50%
Future salary increases 2.55% 3.46%
Futuwre defined benefit fund increases 1.50% 1.50%
Portion of employees opting for early retirement. 7.00% 7.00%

The consolidated entity expects to contribute $0.3 million to its defined benefit superannuation funds in the 2007 financial year.

Surplusf{deficit) for each defined benefit superannuation fund on a funding basis

Funds sponsored by entities in the consolidated entity
Contribution

Fund Accrued Fund excess/ recommendation
assets benefit (deficit) {per year)
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2006

Mayne Pharma (USA) inc Plan 2,133 (2,995} (862) 324
Wasserburger Arzneimittelwerk GmbH Staff Plan - (3,022) (3,022) -
Wasserburger Arzneimittelwerk GmbH Executive Plan - (4,127} (4,127) -
Total for funds sponsored by the consolidated entity 2,133 (10,144} (8,011) 324
2005

Mayne Pharma {UJSA) Inc Plan 1,885 (2,448} (563) 315
Wasserburger Arzneimittelwerk GmbH Staff Plan - (2,869} (2,869) ~
Wasserburger Arzneimittelwerk GmbH Executive Plan - (3,919) (3,919) -
Total for funds sponsored by the consolidated entity 1,885 (9,236} (7,351) 315

Contribution recommendations are based on a funding methadology that will result in adequate funding for payments expected to be made
over the next three years. The levels of the contributions to the funds are reassessed annually.

The consolidated entity has a legal liability to make up a deficit in the funds but no legal right to benefit from any surplus in the funds.

Defined contribution superannuation funds
The consolidated entity makes contributions to a defined contribution superannuation fund. The amount recognised as an expense was
$8.1 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 {2005: $6.4 million).

(b) Share based payments

Mayne Pharma Executive Share Option Plan ('ESOP')

Under the Mayne Pharma ESOP, selected Mayne Pharma executives are eligible to receive options over Mayne Pharma shares. Opticns may
be offered to executives ai such times and on such terms as the Board from time to time decides. No consideration is payable on grant of the
options, uniess the Board decides ctherwise.

The Board determines the exercise price payable on the exercise of an option when the option is granted. Under the terms of the ESOP the
exercise price is subject to adjustment if Mayne Pharma shares are offered to Mayne Pharma shareholders by way of a bonus issue or rights
issue prior to the exercise of the options or, if there is any reorganisation of the issued share capital of Mayne Pharma {(including by way of
capital reduction, share buy-back or cancellation).
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22. En ployee benefits (continued)
(b} Shzre based payments {continued)
Mayne Pharma Executive Share Option Plan {('ESOP'} {continued)

The couditions which must be satisfied before an option may be exercised, including the period during which the option may be exercised and
any performance hurdles, are determined by the Board when the option is granted. Untess the Board determines otherwise, and having regard
to the satisfaction of any perfermance conditions, an option may be exercised notwithstanding that the exercise conditions have not been met:

* in cir z;umstances where the relevant executive's employment with Mayne Pharma terminates as a result of retirement, redundancy, total and
permanent disablement or death; or

» if a te keover bid or scheme of arrangement is made in respect of the company,

In addizion, the Board may determine that an option may be exercised notwithstanding that the exercise conditions have not been met in any
other ¢ rcumstances in its discretion.

The exsense recognised in the income statement for the current period is $1.0 million (2005: nil) in retation to options granted under the
ESOP. >rior to the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited on 18 November 2005 (see note 3) the Company did not provide any share-based
compensation arrangements to employees under this plan.

Mayne Pharma Senior Executive Short Term Incentive Plan ('SESTIP")

Under the SESTIP the Board may award an incentive amount to selected senior executives of Mayne Pharma (an 'Award’) with the amount
awarded being set by reference to a percentage of the executive’s fixed annual remuneration for the year in which the Award is made. Mayne
Pharma executives are required to take a minimum of 40% {or such other percentage as the Board determines} of each Award as deferred
Mayne Pharma shares (‘Ceferred Shares'’). Mayne Pharma executives may then elect to take a higher proportion up to and including 100% of
the arr ount awarded as Mayne Pharma shares ('Efective Shares’}, with the balance of the award payable in cash,

The Award is based on performance for the year, which is tested against specific performance and service conditions, before it is made. If the
Board determines that the specific conditions applicable to an Award have been satisfied, Mayne Pharma must pay the cash component of
the Av-ard to the participant and provide sufficient funds to the trustee of the Mayne Pharma Group SESTIP Trust (the ‘Trustee'} to permit the
Truste 2 to acquire Mayne Pharma shares that are equal to the aggregate number of the Deferred Shares and the Elective Shares comprising
the Avrard.

This plan is currently suspended, no Awards have been made under this plan during the current period (2005: nil).

Maynz Pharma Employee Share Plan (‘ESP'}

The M-ayne Pharma ESP allows eligible employees to acquire Mayne Pharma Shares from the Plan Trustee (‘Plan Shares') with an aggregate
marke:t value (for each employee} not greater than $1,000. Eligible employees are employees of a Mayne Pharma Group company and who are
invited to participate in the Mayne Pharma ESP by the Plan Trustee. The Plan Trustee remains the registered holder of the Plan Shares until
they zre transferred to the participant in accordance with the terms of the ESP,

No purchase price is payable by participating employees for Plan Shares. Mayne Pharma will contribute to the Plan Trustee the amount
requiled to acquire the shares on behalf of participating employees and the Plan Trustee will then, at the election of Mayne Pharma, either
purct ase or subscribe for Mayne Pharma shares on behalf of the participant.

Mo av/ards have been made to employees under this plan during the current peried (2005: nil).
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The terms and conditions of the options that have been granted are as follows, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares.

Number of Contractual
Grant datefemployees entitled instruments Vesting conditions life of options
Option grant to Executives at 19 November 2005 4,210,000 Three years of service and average growth in total shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three vears
Option grant to Executives at 13 December 2005 150,000 Three years of service and average growth in total shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Option grant to Executives at 1 January 2006 1,365,000 Three years of service and average growth in total shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Option grant to Executives at 16 lanuary 2006 1,100,000 Three years of service and average growth in total shargholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Option grant to Executives at 2 March 2006 65,000 Three years of service andg average growth in total shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Option grant to Executives at 1 April 2006 300,000 Three years of service and average growth in total shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Option grant to Executives at 18 May 2006 340,000 Three years of service and average growth in totai shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Option grant to Executives at 23 May 2006 350,000 Three years of service and average growth in total shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Option grant to Executives at 29 May 2006 30,000 Three years of service and average growth in total shareholder 5 years
return of 10-15% for each of the three years
Total share options 7,910,000
The number and weighted average exercise price of share options is as follows:
Weighted average Number
euercise price of options
2006 2006
Qutstanding at the beginning of the period - -
Forfeited during the period - -
Exercised during the period - -
Granted during the period $2.53 7,910,000
Qutstanding at the end of the period $2.53 7,910,000

Exercisable at the end of the period

No options were granted during the year ended 30 June 2005 or in any prior period.
The options outstanding at 30 June 2006 have an exercise price in the range of $2.50 to $2.73 and a weighted average contractual life of 5 years.
During the financial year no share options were exercised (2005: nil).

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.
Valuation of options granted over Mayne Pharma shares is based on an independent valuation report provided by Deloitte dated 25 August
2006. A Monte-Carlo simulation-based valuation model was developed to simulate the date of vesting, the percentage vesting, the share price
and its totai shareholder return. Once the simulated date of vesting was determined, a Black-Scholes framework was utilised to determine the
fair value of the options as at this future vesting date. This fair value obtained at each vesting date for each tranche was then discounted back
to grant date.
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22. Employee benefits (continued)
{b) Shiare based payments (continued)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

Key management Senior

personnel employees

2006 2006

Fair va ue at measurement date $0.69 $0.69

Share rice $2.71 $2.71

Weighiad average exercise price $2.53 $2.53
Expecled volatility {expressed as weighted average volatility used in the modelling

under the Black-Scholes model) 24.0% 24.0%

Optiop Life 5 years 5 years

Expec ed dividends 1.5% 1.5%

Risk-fige interest rate (based on the Australian Dollar Swap Rate Curve) 55%106.2% 55%106.2%

No op:ions were granted during the year ended 30 June 2005 or in any prior period,

Newly listed companies on the Australian Stock Exchange ('ASX") typically experience a higher level of volatility in the early months post listing.
Accordingly, in performing their veluation, Deloifte considered this likely impact of the temporary distortion on the fair value calculations and in
conjuction with management conciluded a volatility factor of 24% was more appropriate than the actual volatility of 28% that was experienced
over {1e last three months.

The snare options granted potentially vest at each performance measure date or at a corresponding quarterly retest date, and from this point
becorne exercisable up until a date five years from the initial grant date. As the options will be exercised at an unknown time, the residual
matu ity used in the pricing was assumed to be ha!f of the remaining lifetime of the options. It has been assumed that taking the mid point of
the re maining life is a justified approach for handling the uncertainty of each individual's exercising strategy.

Share: options are granted under a service condition and, for grants to key management personnel, market and non-market conditions.
Non-narket performance conditions are not taken into account in the grant date fair value measurements of services received.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Emg loyee expenses
Shara options granted in 2005 — equity settled - - - -
Share options granted in 2006 - equity settled 988 - 088 -
Tota expense recognised as employee costs 988 - 988 -

23. Current tax liabilities

The current tax liability for the consolidated entity of $7.8 million (2005: $17.1 millicn) and for the Company of $2.4 million {2005:

$1C.7 million) represent the amount of income taxes payable in respect of current and prior financial periods. In accordance with the tax
censolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity of the Australian tax-consofidated group has assumed the current tax liability initially
recugnised by the members in the tax-consolidated group.
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24. Provisions

Workers Product Operational Corparate
compensation Acquisitions development restructuring restructuring Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
‘ Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2005 726 37,126 27,137 971 - 65,960
Provisions made during the year 340 1,221 - 4,343 19,042 24,946
Acquisitions through business combinations - 442 - - - 442
Transferred from creditors - 195 - - - 195
Provisions utilised during the year (289) (16,524) - - {10,771) (27,584)
Provisions released to the income statement - (793) (27,897) - - (28,690)
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rate - 1,931 760 (13) - 2,678
Balance at 30 June 2006 777 23,598 - 5,301 8,271 37,947
Current
Balance at 30 June 2006 777 8,000 - 5,301 5771 19,939
I Balance at 30 June 2005 726 16,865 12,033 971 - 30,595
Non-current
Balance at 30 June 2006 - 15,508 - - 2,500 18,008
g Balance at 30 June 2005 - 20,261 15,104 - - 35,365
The Company
Balance at 1 July 2005 726 333 - 476 - 1,535
Provisions made during the year 340 - - 3,935 19,042 23,317
Provisions utilised during the year (289) (11) - - (10,771} (11,071)
Provisions released to the income statement - - - - - -
Effect of movement in foreign exchange rate - - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2006 777 322 - 4,411 8,271 13,781
Current
Balance at 30 June 2006 777 322 - 4,411 5,771 11,281
Balance at 30 June 2005 726 333 - 476 - 1,535
Non-current
Balance at 30 June 2006 - - - - 2,500 2,500

Balance at 30 June 2005 - - - - - _

Workers compensation

Under legislation in Australia the consolidated entity must have insurance cover in place over workplace injuries or illness. Prior to the
demerger the consolidated entity provided for self-insured workers' compensation under the licensing conditions and regulations of the State
of Victoria, Australia. The provisions were basad on independent actuarial assessments of claims liabilities including incurred but not reparted
(IBNR) factors. Subsequent to the demerger the consolidated entity’s ongoing workers compensation liability is provided by external insurers.
The consolidated entity expects to utilise the pravision within the next twelve months.

Acquisitions

Provisions are raised for business combinations and acquisitions for contractual arrangements and deferred consideration contribution payments
where these liabilities can be measured reliably and where the payment of the consideration is probable. No pravisions were raised relating to
business combinations made during the period (2005: $20.5 miltian). Provisions totalling $1.2 million (2005: $8.8 million) relating to acquisition
of business operations were raised during the period. See note 33 for details of business combinations and acquired business operations.

The non-current acquisition pravision represents deferred consideration payments that are due greater than twefve months from reporiing date
relating to those acquisitions that were made during the 2006 financial year.
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24. Provisior s {continued)

Product devetopment

In February 2305 the consolidated entity signed an agreement with Pliva to develop and bring to the market bio-similar drug erythropoietin
('EPQ’) and ganuloctye colony stimulating factor (‘G-CSF'). A provision of $27.1 million was recognised In relation to the milestone payments
ior the produ =t devetopment. During the current financial year Mayne Pharma and Pliva agreed to cease the joint collaboration on the product
development of EPO (see note 5}, as a result the relevant provision has been released to the income statement.

Operational Restructuring

A provision for restructuring is recognised when a detailed plan has been approved and the restructure has commenced or been publicly
announced. During the current financial year a provision of $4.0 million has been recognised in relation to the restructuring of a production line
at one of the consolidated entity’s manufacturing sites. The provision of $1.0 million at 30 June 2005 related to the anticipated restructiring
costs to be incurred by the consolidated entity in relation to the Latin American divestment that occurred during that period.

The consolijated entity expects te utilise the provision in relation to both these restructuring activities within the next twelve months.

Corporate lestructuring

The demerier of Mayne Pharma Limited from Symbion Health Limited (formerly Mayne Group Limited) became effective on 18 November
2005, Durig the period provisions were raised in relation to particular corporate and operational restructuring that would occur as a result of
the demer; er. It is anticipated that the corparate and operational restructuring will be completed by June 2007.

No provision has been released or applied for any purpose other than that for which it was established.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $000 $°000 $'000
25. Issued capital
Ordinary shares
Issued and paid up capital:
640,655 416 Qrdinary shares fully paid (2005: 100 fully paid) 1,608,760 - 1,608,760 -
Total Isssed and Paid Up Capital 1,608,760 - 1,608,760 -
Movemants in ordinary shares on issue
Opening balance - - - -
Ordinary shares issued during the year pursuant to the Demerger Scheme 1,608,760 - 1,608,760 -
1,608,760 - 1,608,760 -

Terms and condition of ordinary shares

Halders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’
meetirgs. In the event of winding up of the Company ordinary shareholders rank after all creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of
liquidztion,

Stock exchange listing

On agproval of the demerger (see note 3) Mayne Pharma Limited listed on the Austratian Stock Exchange and cemmenced trading, under the
cede MYP', on 21 Novemnber 2005,

Shar: issues
Ordirary shares of 640,655,316, fully paid at $2.49 per share, were issued during the year ended 30 June 2006 pursuant to the demerger
Sche e of Arrangement (see note 3). No ordinary shares were issued during the year ended 30 June 2005.

Shate options
The Zompany has one share based payment option plan under which certain executives and other employees have been granted aptions
{refer note 22).
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26. Reserves and retained profits

Foreign
! Share-based Unrealised Cash flow currency Total Retained
payments gain hedge transiation reserves earnings

‘ $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Consolidated
Balance at 1 July 2005 - - - (6,451) (6,451) 141,469
Effect of change in accounting policy - (3,112) - - (3,112) -
Balance at 1 July 2005 restated - (3,112) - (6,451) {9,563) 141,469
Profit retained for the year - - - - - (31,335)
Dividends - - - - - -
Share based paymenis 988 - - - 988 -
Actuarial gain/(loss) - - - - - (149}
Fair value adjustments - (3500 92 - (258) -
Foreign exchange adjustments on censolidation - - - 37,672 37,672 -
Transfer to income statement - 3,530 (92) - 3,438 -
Balance at 30 June 2006 288 68 - 31,221 32,277 109,985
Balance at 1 July 2004 - - - - - 115,081
Profit retained for the year - - - - - 25,388
Dividends - - - - - -
Share based payments - - - - - -
Actuarial gain/loss) - - - - - _
Fair value adjustments - - - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustments on consolidation - - - (6,381} {6,381) -
Transier to income statement - - ~ (70} (70) -
Balance at 30 June 2005 - - - (6,451} (6,451) 141,469
The Company
Balance at 1 July 2005 - - - (3,747 (3,747) 18,568
Effect of change in accounting palicy - - - - - -
Balance at 1 July 2005 restated - - - (3,747) (3,747) 18,568
Profit retained for the year - - - - - 14,867
Dividends - - - - - -
Share based payments 988 - - - 988 -
Actuarial gain/(loss) - - - - - -
Fair value adjustments - - 92 - 92 -
Foreign exchange adjustments on consolidation - - - 2,513 2,513 -
Transfer to income statement - - (92) - - (92) -
Balance at 30 June 2006 988 - - (1,234) (246} 33,435
Balance at 1 July 2004 - - - - - 3,325
Profit retained for the year - - - - - 15,243
Dividends - - - - - -
Share based payments - - - - - -
Actuarial gainf{loss} - - - - - -
Fair value adjustments - - - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustments on consolidation - - - (3,747) (3,747) -
Transfer to income siatement - - - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2005 - - - (3,747) (3.747) 18,568
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26. Reserves and retained profits (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve inciudes the recognition of the fair value of share options issued but not yet exercised in accordance with
AASB ¢! ‘Share-based Payment’.

Unrealised gain reserve
The un-ealised gain reserve includes the changes in the fair value of investments that are classified as available-for-sale. Amounts are
recogn sed in the income statement when the available-for-sale financial asset is sold or impaired.

Cash f ow hedge reserve

The ca:h flow hedge reserve is used to record the portion of the gains or fosses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is

determ ned to be effective. Amounts are recognised in the income statement when the associated hedge transaction affects the profit and foss
or wheie the hedging instrument relates to the acquisition of an asset the amount is recognised in the cost of that asset,

Foreign currency translation reserve

The forzign currency translation reserve records the foreign currency differences arising from the translation of foreign operations on
consolidation and the translation of transactions that hedge the consolidated entity’s net investment in a foreign operation or the translation of
fareign currency monetary items farming part of the net investment in a foreign operation. The reserve is recognised in the income statement
when the net investment is disposed of.

27. Diridends
No diviJends were paid or proposed in the current or pricr financial years.

After bz lance sheet date the following dividends were declared by the directors. The dividends have not been recognised as a liability in these
financic | statements. The declaration and subsequent payment of dividends has no income tax conseguences to the Company.

Cents per share Tetal amount Franked/ unfranked Date of payment

Dividends on ordinary shares
Final ardinary dividend for 2006 15¢c $9,609,831 Franked 5 Qctober 2006

The financial effect of this dividend has not been brought to account in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 and
will be 1ecognised in subsequent Financial reports.

THE COMPANY
2006 2005
$'000 $'000
Dividend franking account
30 per c:ent franking credits available to shareholders of Mayne Pharma
Limited for subsequent financial years 4,720 -

The abcve amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year end adjusted for:

{a)  fanking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabilities;

(b}  f.anking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year end;

(c)  fianking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the tax consclidated group at the year end; and
(d}  hanking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The abi ity to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. The impact on the
dividend franking account of dividends proposed after the balance sheet date but not recognised as a liability is to reduce it by $4.1 million
(2005: nil).
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28. Financial instruments

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The consolidated entity's financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bark overdraits, short term borrowings, loans, current and
non-current investments, cash, short term deposits and standby letters of credit. The main purpase of these financial instruments is to manage
the consolidated entity's funding and liquidity requirements. The consalidated entity has other financial instruments such as trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from operations.

Exposure to credit risk, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the consalidated entity's business and represents the
principal financial risk to which the consolidated entity is exposed. The consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates in accordance with the Board approved policies set out below. It is, and
has been throughout the period under review, the consolidated entity's policy that no trading in financial instruments shalt be underiaken.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the critena for recognition, the basis of measurement and the
basis an which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument may be
found in note 1.

Credit risk

The consolidated entity is exposed to customers ranging from government backed agencies such as hospitals and large private wholesalers to
individual ¢clinics and pharmacies. Concentrations of credit risk are minimised by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers
and counterparties in various countries. The consalidated entity has a credit policy in place and receivabte balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the consolidated entity's exposure to bad debits is not significant. Trade receivable exposures are managed
locally in the operating regions where they arise.

Investments are allowed only in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit rating egual to or better than the consolidated
entity. The consalidated entity principally deals with major banks and their controlled entities in relation to transactions involving derivative
financial instruments and as a result the consolidated entity does not expect any counterparties to faii to meet their obligations given their high
credit ratings.

For the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum expasure to credit
risk is representad by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet.

Liquidity risk

The consolidated entity’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank cverdrafts,
short term lcans and bank loans.

Interest rate risk

The consolidated entity may enter into interest rate swaps and interest rate options to lower funding costs or to alter interest rate exposures

arising from mismatches between assets and liabilities. An interest rate swap is an agreement o swap interest payment streams based on a
notional principal amount. Interest rate swaps allow the consolidated entity to raise berrowings at fixed or floating rates and swap them into

appropriate exposures. Interest rate options are purchased to reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on floating rate long term debt.
An interest rate option gives the purchaser the right, but not the obligation, to pay or receive interest flows for a specified period of time, at a
specified rate, at a specified date in the future.

There were no outstanding interest rate swap or option cantracts at 30 June 2006 or at 30 June 2005.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The consolidated entity is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than Australian
dolars. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Steriing, Euro, US dollars and Canadian dollars. The largest transactional exposure is
on Euro to Australian dollar conversion, on Euro sales and Australian dollar manufacturing.

Currency exposura is managed centrally and where deemed necessary the consolidated entity uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its
foreign currency risk on committed transactions. All forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year after the balance sheet
date however the contracts may be rolled over at maturity if required.

It is the consolidated entity’s policy to neither engage in any speculative transactions nor to hedge currency translation exposures arising from
the consolidation of non-Australian dollar subsidiaries.

The consolidated entity classifies its forward exchange contracts, which are hedging committed transactions, as cash flow hedges and
measures them at fair value. The consolidated entity did not have any forward exchange contracts at 30 June 2006 or 30 June 2005.
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28. Finarcial instruments (continued)

Fair values
Set out be ow is a comparison of carrying amounts and fair values of al? of the consolidated entity’s financial instruments recognised in the
financial s:atements. The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined by the consolidated entity on the {ollowing basis:

Equity securities
The fair v¢ lue of equity securities is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction cost.
For unlisted investments, carrying values approximate fair value.

Interest-Nearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.

Finance ease liabilities
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at market interest rates for homogeneous lease agreements,
The estin ated fair value reflects changes in interest rates.

Trade and other receivables/payables
For recetrables/payables with a rernaining life of less than one vear, the notional amount is deemed to reflect fair value. Alt other receivables/
payables are discounted to determine the fair value.

2006 2005
Carrying Carrying

amount Fair value amount Fair value
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolitlated
Cash ani cash eguivalents 12 115,619 115,619 54,436 54,436
Trade ard other receivables 13 204,918 204,918 172,356 172,356
Prepaynients 13 11,501 11,501 10,818 10,818
Related party receivables 13 - - 159,054 159,054
Other receivables 13 2,830 2,830 2,460 2,460
Equity s xcurities availabte-for-sale 15 905 905 4,273 1,206
Securet bank loans 21 - - (1,029) (1,029)
Unsecu ed bank lpans 21 (2,398) (2,392) (3,239) {3.308)
Other usecured loans 21 (13,587) (13,198) (14,776) (15,042}
Finance lease liabilities 21 (105) (105) - -
Related party indebtedness 21 - - (1,570,893) (1,570,893)
Other payables 20 {44) (44) {146} (146)
Trade a1d other payables 20 (138,565) {138,565} (108,522) (108,522)
181,074 181,469 (1,265,208}  {1,298,610)
Unreccgnised gains/{losses) {395) 3.402

The Company
Cash aad cash equivalents 12 48,349 48,349 - -
Trade aind other receivables 13 40,549 40,549 37.816 37,816
Related party receivables 13 - - 124,259 124,259
Trade (eceivables due from controlled entities 13 81,143 81,143 145,275 145,275
Loans 0 controlled entities 13 441,247 441,247 170,929 170,929
Prepayments 13 3,539 3,539 783 783
Other eceivables 13 1,580 1,590 3 3
Retated party indebtedness 21 - - (988,105} {988,105}
Loans from controlled entities 21 {142,502) (142,502) {160,195) {160,195}
Trade and other payables 20 (79,902} (79,902) {77.476) (77.476)
Bank averdraft 21 {4,458} (4,458) (7,102) (7,102)

389,555 389,555 (753,813} (753.813)

Unrec ognised gains/(losses) - _
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Interest rate risk

The financial assets and liabilities of the consalidated entity and the Company at 30 June 2006, along with the effective interest rates on
interest bearing assets and fiabilities, and their maturity profile, are set out below:

Less than Mare than
Effective Total 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years five years
Note interest rate $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Consolidated

30 June 2006
Cash and cash equivalents 12 2.10% 115,619 115,619 - - -
Unsecured bank loans 21 3.75% {2,398) (799) (799) {BOO) -
Unsecured loan facility 21 1.00% {13,587} (3,286) (3,286} (7,015) -
Finance lease liabilities 21 6.49% {105) (105) - - -
99,529 111,429 (4,085) (7,815) -

30 June 2005
Cash and cash equivalents 12 - 54,436 54,436 - - -
Related parly receivables 13 5.67% 159,054 159,054 - - -
Related party indebiedness 21 3.99% (1,570,893) (1,570,893) - - -
Secured bank loans 21 4,80% (1,029) {1,029} - ~ -
Unsecured bank loans 21 3.75% (3,239) (799) (799) (1,641) -
Unsecured loan facility 21 1.00% (14,776) {3,286) (3,286} (8,204) -
(1,376,447) (1,362,517} (4,085} (9,845) -

The Company

30 June 2006
Cash and cash equivalents 12 4.21% 48,349 48,349 - - -
Loans to controlled entities 13 5.32% 441,247 441,247 - - -
Bank overdrafis! 21 - (4,458) (4,458) - - -
Loans from controlled entities 21 5.28% (142,502) (142,502} - - -
342,636 342,636 - - -

30 June 2005
Cash and cash equivalenis 12 - - - - - -
Related party receivables 13 5.67% 124,259 124,259 - - -
Loans to controlled entities 13 3.70% 170,929 170,929 - - -
Bank overdrafs? 21 - (7,102) {7,102} - - -
Related party indebtedness 21 3.99% (988,105) (988,105} - - -
Loans from controlled entities 21 4.73% (160,195) (160,195) - - -
{860,214) (860,214) - - -

! The Company and the consolidated entity operate an overdraft facility that permits a right of set off of certain cash balances (see note 21).
2 Prior to the date of demerger, bank overdraft faciiities were arranged by the ultimate parent company, Mayne Group Limited.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, bank deposits held in the short term money market and investments in commercial paper.
Bank deposits are interest bearing at floating rates between 2,75% and 5.75%. All commercial paper matures within 25 days. The carrying
amount of bank deposits and commercial paper approximates net fair value due to their short term to maturity.

(b) Interest-bearing liabilities as at 30 June 2006 were $16.1 million (the Company: nil) with an effective interest rate of 1.4% (the Company: nil).
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CONSOQLIDATED

THE COMPANY

2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
29, Operating leases
Nen-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
Property
Less than one year 5,519 2,821 749 -
Betwee n one and five years 17,167 9,323 3,067 -
More than five years 14,502 9,397 389 -
37,188 21,541 4,205 -
Plant ind equipment
Less tFan one year 1,143 667 - -
Betwe::n one and five years 1,612 532 - -
More tnan five years - - - -
2,755 1,199 - -

The consolidated entity leases a number of premises under aperating leases. The leases typically run for a period of eight years, and in the
majority of cases there is an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are increased every five years to reflect market rentals.

None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

Duriny; the financial year ended 30 June 2006 $7.3 million was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating

{eases (2005: $6.4 million),

30. Capital and other commitments

At 30 June 2006 the consolidated entity has commitments of $6.0 million (2005: $23.5 mitlion) relating to the upgrade and expansion of
manu facturing sites in America and Australia as well as committed expenditure in relation to the finalisation of the fitout of Company's new

head office in London.

The product in-licencing and development commitment of $15.5 million (2005: $6.4 millicn) represents certain contractual product purchase

and | cence agreements with third parties where there are deferred consideration obligations. The amounts of the deferred consideration
obligations are variable and the resulting payment is dependent on particular ‘'milestone’ achievements.

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Capital expenditure commitments
Preriises and improvements
Due within one year 3,913 19,657 304 10,100
Betveen one and five years - - - -
More: than five years - - - -
3,913 19,657 304 10,100
Plant and equipment
Due within one year 2,120 3,840 100 2,526
Between one and five years - - - -
Morz than five years - - - -
2,120 3,840 100 2,526
Product in-licencing and development
Due: within one year 4,598 3,902 937 796
Between ane and five years 10,918 2,535 3,616 941
Mo e than five years - - - -
15,516 6,437 4,553 1,737
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31. Contingent liabilities

Legal proceedings

Mayne Pharma is involved in various legal proceedings considered typical to its business, including litigation relating to emplayment, product
liability, commercial disputes, infringement of intellectual property rights and the vatidity of certain patents. Although there can be no assurance
regarding the outcome of any of the legal proceedings or investigations, management do not expect them to have a materially adverse effect on
the consolidated entities financial position or profitability.

The information usually required by AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ has not been disclosed on the grounds
that it can be expected to seriously prejudice the outcome of this litigation.

Contractual Commitments

Mayne Pharma enters into consulting agreements with professicnal advisers from time to time as part of the normal cperations of the business.
In some instances these agreements may have contingent fees associated with the agreements. Given canfidentiality restrictions in thase
agreements, the contingent fees have not been disclosed.

Guarantees
The consalidated eniity has supplied a letter of credit to the financial intermediary of the joint venture entity, Zydus Mayne Oncology Pw. Ltd,

for $1.5 million {2005: nil}.
THE COMPANY

2006 2005
$'000 $'000
The Company has provided certain guarantees in respect of its controlled entities,
associates and joint venture entities as follows:
Bank facilities of certain controlied entities have been guaranteed by the Company 11,253 8,193
Operating lease facilities of certain controlled entities {annual lease cost) 1,531 -
A letter of credit has been supplied to the financial intermediary of the joint venture entity 1,464 -
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32. Consolidated entities

Country
of incorporation Ownership interest Principal activity
2006 2005

Parent Entity
Mayne Pharma Lid Treasury, research and deveiopment,
(formerly Mayri: Pharma Pty Ltd)}* Australia manufacturing, marketing, selling and distribution
Controlled Enities
Mayne Pharmz International Pty Ltd Australia i00% - Research and development, manufacturing,
{formeriy F H Faulding & Co Ltd)* marketing, selling and distribution
- Mayne Pharina Properties (Vic) Pty Ltd
(formerly F H “aulding Properties {Vic) Pty Ltd}*  Austratia 100% - Property hotdings
- Mayne Phar na Properties (SA) Pty Ltd Australia 100% - Property holdings
(formerly F H Faulding Properties {SA) Pty Lid)*
- DSU Pty Lic™ Australia 100% - Dormant
—~ACN Q07 4-14 322 Pty Ltd* Australia 100% - Dormant
DBL Austratic Pty Lid* Australia 100% 100% Dormant
Mayne Pharria Services Pty Ltg* Australia 100% - Services company
Mayne Pharrna Employee Share Australia 100% - Employee Share Plan
Acguisition P'tan Pty Ltd*
Mayne Phar na (India) Pty Ltd* Australia 100%  100% Indian ligison office
Mayne Pharna P Holdings (Eurp) Pty Litd* Australia 100% 100%  Research and development
Providex Tharapeutics Pty Ltd* Austraiia 100% - Dormant
Mayne Pharma (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Mataysia 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
Mayne Pha'ma (Hong Kong) Ltd Hong Kong 100%  100% Marketing, selling and distribution
Mayne Pha-ma (SEA) Ple Lid Singapore 100%  100% Marketing, selling and distributicn
Mayne Phzrma (NZ) Ltd New Zealand 100%  100% Marketing, seliing and distribution
Mayne Phzrma (Canada) Inc Canada 100% 100% Marketing, seliing and distribution
Mayne Pharma (Mexico) SA Mexico 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
Mayne Pharma (Philippines), Inc Phitippines 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
Mayne Pharma (USA) Inc United States 100% 100% Research and development, manufacturing,

marketing, selling and distribution
- Faulding: Medical Device Co United States 100% 100% Dormant
— Mayne harma (PR} Inc United States 100% 100% Manufacturing, seiling and distribution
Mayne Pharma Euro Finance Co Ltd United Kingdom 100% 100% Treasury
Mayne Pharma Plc United Kingdom 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution and

EMEA regicnal head office
- Intra-Ti:ch Healthcare Limited United Kingdom 100%  100% Manufacturing, selling and distribution
- Mayne Pharma (Deutschland Holdings) GmbH  Germany 100% 100% Holding Company
- Mayne Pharma (Deutschland) GmbH Germany 100%  100% Marketing, selling and distribution
- Wasserhurger Arzneimittelwerk GmbH Germany 100% 100% Manufacturing and selling
— Onkoviorks GmbH Germany 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
— Mayn: Pharma (Portugal) Lda Paortugal 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
- $.A. Mayne Pharma (Benelux) N.V. Belgium 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
— Faulding Pharmaceuticals SA France 100% 100% Marketing, seiling and distribution
— Mayre Pharma (ltalia} Srl Italy 100% 100% Marketing, sefling and distribution
- Mayr e Pharma Srl Italy 100% - Marketing, selling and distribution
- PHT Pharma Srt [taly 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
— May1e Pharma (Espana} S.L. Spain 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
- May e Pharma (Finfand) Oy Finland 100% - Marketing, selling and distribution
- Mayne Pharma (treland) Limited Ireland 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
- Cenral Laboratories {IRE) Ltd Ireland 100% 100% Dormant
- Mayne Pharma (Schweiz) GmbH Switzerland 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution
- Ma'ne Pharma (Nordic) AB Sweden 100% 100% Marketing, selling and distribution

* The ;e entities form pari of the Australian tax consolidation group

The c.ompenies listed above are these whose results or financial position principally affected the figures showa in this Financial report. The
accoanting year ends of al! subsidiaries is 30 June. The country of registration and the principal activity of company detailed above is also provided.

In the financial statements of the Company, investments in controlled entities, associates and joint venture entities are measured at cost. Refer

note 16 for associates and joint venture activities.
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33. Acquisition of controlled entities and businesses

Acquisition of controlled entities

Date of Proportion of
acquisition  shares acquired

30 June 2006

FH Faulding & Co Limited and subsidiarigs 18 November 2005 100%
30 June 2005
Intra-Tech Healthcare Limited 2 June 2005 100%
Onkoworks Gesellschaft fuer Herstellung und Veririeb onkologischer Spezialpragparate GmbH 20 June 2005 100%
PHT Pharma Srl 24 June 2005 100%
30 June 2006

FH Faulding & Co Limited

On 17 June 2005 Mayne Group Limited, the former parent entity of the consofidated entity, announced its intention to demerge its global,
injectable generic and speciality pharmaceuticals business to create an independent pubdicly traded company. That company is Mayne Pharma
Limited ('Mayne Pharma"), formerly known as Mayne Pharma Pty Limited. On 16 November 2005 the shareholders of Mayne Group Limited
approved the demerger {see note 3).

The approval of the demerger triggered a number of transactions that occurred to fuffil the requirements of the implementation Deed, the
Demerger Deed, the Internal Restructure Agreements and certain other agreements for the purposes of effecting an internal restructure of
Mayne Group Limited prior to separation of the pharmaceutical business.

As a result of the internal restructuring transactions of Mayne Group Limited on 18 Novernber 2005 Mayne Pharma acquired, from Mayne
Group Limited, 100% of the shares of FH Faulding & Co Limited, representing the pharmaceutical manufacturing business located in Salisbury
Australia, for consideration of $73.3 million. The provisional fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is set out below.

In the seven and a half months to 30 June 2006 the operations of FH Faulding & Co Limited contributed net profit after tax of $6.9 million to
the conselidated net profit for the peried. If the restructuring had occurred on 1 July 2005 the estimated impact for the twelve months to 30
June 2006 would have been to increase revenue by an additional $13.9 milllon and increase profit by an additional $6.2 million.

In addition, the internal restructuring transactions that tock place as a result of the demerger resulted in other assets totalling $2.4 million being
transferred from Mayne Group Limited to Mayne Pharma Limited.

30 June 2005

intra-Tech Healthcare Limited

On 2 June 2005 the consolidated entity formalised the acquisition of Intra-Tech Mealthcare Limited a company specialising in the manufacture
and distribution of aseptically prepared pre-filled syringes and infusion bags based in London, United Kingdom, for a total consideration of
$47.7 million. The provisional fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is set out below.

The consolidated entity obtained effective control over the operations of Intra-Tech Healthcare Limited in January 2005 and its results have
therefore been included in these consclidated financial statements from that date resulting in a contribution of $0.4 million to net profit for the
financial year ended 30 June 20085. If the consolidated entity had acquired the operations at the beginning of the 2005 financial reporting year
the estimated impact on the consclidated entity for the twelve months to 30 June 2005 would have been to increase revenue by an additional
$25.2 million and increase profit by an additional $1.7 million,

Onkoworks Gesellschaft fuer Hersteliung und Vertrieb onkologischer Spezialpraeparate GmbH

0On 20 fune 2005 the consofidated entity acquired all of the shares of Onkowarks Gesellschaft fuer Herstellung und Vertrieb onkologischer
Spezialpraeparate GmbH (‘Onkoworks'), for a total consideration of $26.8 miliion. Cnkoworks is a pharmaceutical company that focuses on
the sale of generic and oncology products to specialist doctors operating in private practices across Germany. The provisional fair values of the
acquired assets and liabilities is set out below.

From the date of acquisition the operations of Onkoworks contributed net profit after tax of $0.3 million to the net profit of the consolidated
entity for the financial year ended 30 June 2005. If the operations of Onkoworks had been acquired by the consolidated entity at the beginning
of the 2005 financial reporting year the estimated impact on revenue for the twelve months to 30 June 2005 would have been to increase
revenue by an adgitional $6.1 million and reduce profit by $0.8 million.
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33. Lcquisition of controlled entities and businesses (continued}
Acquisition of controlled entities (continued)

PHT Pharma

The consolidated entity formalised the acquisition of PHT Pharma Srl on 24 June 2005 for a total censideration of $25.9 million and by doing
s¢ increased its presence in the lialian hospital market, PHT Pharma Srl ('PHT'} is a Milan based marketing and sales organisation whose
praduct range is focused on cardiovascular, anaesthesiology and pain management. The provisional fair value of the acquired assets and
liabili;ies is set out below.

The ¢ onsolidated entity obtained effective control over the operations PHT in January 2005 and its resulis have therefore been included in
these consolidated financial statements from that date resulting in a contribution of $0.4 million to net profit for the financial year ended 30
June 2005. If the consolidated entity had acquired the operations at the beginning of the 2005 financial reporting year the estimated impact on
the ¢ansolidated entity for the twelve months to 30 June 2005 would have been to increase revenue by an additional $5.5 million and increase
proiit by an additional $0.3 million.

Acquisition of businesses
30 June 2006

Biolxgici Italia Laboratories

On 1 luly 2005 the consolidated entity entered into 2n agreement to acquire the hospital sales and distribution capability of Biologici Italia
Labcratories, a pharmaceutical company based in Milan, ltaly. The acquisition was completed on 2 August 2005 with the consolidated entity
acqliring the business and assets for a total consideration of $16.3 million.

30 . une 2005

Laboratorios Farmaceuticos ROV SA

On . 5 December 2004 the consolidated entity acquired the specialised hospital generic pharmaceutical distribution business of Laboratorios
Farriaceuticos ROVI SA ('ROVI'} for total consideration of $30.3 million securing the consolidated entity a direct sales and marketing presence
in §2ain. The purchase included the acquisition of distribution rights for an existing generic hospital product portfolio and pipeline of injectable
prac ucts including a sales and marketing team.
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Effect of acquisitions
The acquisitions had the fallowing effect on the consolidated entity's asseis and liabilities.

= All of the above fair value adiustments ware made in relation 1o the acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited

Goodwill has arisen on acquisition of FH Faulding & Co Limited and the business of Biclogici ltafia Laborataries because of existing customer
refationships and the inherent knowledge of employees that did not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset at the date of acquisition.

30 June 2005

30 June 2006
FH Faulding Mayne Pharma Acquirge
Biologici Itafia &Co recognised Fair value carrying
Laborataries Limnited values adjustments*™ amounts
$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment 5 47,854 47,959 (3,866) 44,093
tntangible assets 421 47,954 48,375 {47,410) 965
Inventories 962 5,015 5,977 - 5,977
Trade and other receivables 13 22,417 22,430 - 22,430
Cash and cash equivalenis - (615} {615) - {615)
Interest-bearing loans and deposits - (50,458} {50,458) - (50,458)
Trade and other payables (248) (25,902} {26,150) 15,195 (10,955)
Net identifiable assets and liabiities 1,153 46,365 47,518 (36,081) 11,437
Goodwill on acquisition 15,195 26,955 42,150
Consideration paid 16,348 73,320 89,668
Satisfied in:
—cash 16,005 - 16,005
- deferred consideration 343 - 343
- creation ot interest-bearing borrowing - 73,320 73,320
Cash/(overdraft) acquired - (61%) (615)
Net cash cutflow 16,005 615 16,620
|
|

Intra-Tech Laboratorios Mayne Pharma Acquiree
Healthcare Onkoworks PHT Farmaceuticos recognised Fair value carrying
. Limited GmbH Pharma 5l ROVI SA vaiues adjustments amounts
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment 1,402 101 43 - 1,546 - 1,546
Intangible assets - 2,155 126 - 2,281 - 2,281
Inventories 1,251 1,658 2,594 - 5,503 - 5,503
Trade and other receivables 4,299 5,487 10,429 5,968 26,213 - 26,213
Cash and cash equivalents 2,143 1,472 528 - 4,143 - 4,143
Interest-bearing loans
and deposits (54) - (1,099) - (1,153) - (1,153)
Trade and other payables (3,727} (3,089} (8,648) - {15,464} - (15,464)
Net identifiable assets
and liabilities 5314 7,784 3,973 5598 23,069 - 23,069
Goodwill on acquisition 42,389 18,992 21917 24,350 107,648
Consideration paid 47,703 26,776 25,890 30,348 130,717
Satisfied in:
- cash 44,642 16,408 13,142 30,348 104,540
- deferred consideration 3,061 10,368 12,748 - 26,177
Cash/(qverdraft} acquired 2,143 1,472 528 - 4,143
| MNet cash outflow 42,499 14,936 12614 30,348 100,397

' Goodwill has arisen on the above acguisitions because of existing customer relationships and the inherent knowledge of employees that did not
meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset at the date of acquisition.
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33. Acquisition of controlled entities and businesses (continued)

Effect of acqu sitions (continued)

At 30 June 2005 the above acquisitions were accounted for on a provisional basis. During the current financial year the fair value of the assets
and liabilities ac.quired under each of the business combinations detailed above were finalised. As a result during the financial year ended

30 June 2006 1he acquisition accounting of these business combinations was adjusied to accurately reflect the fair value of the assets and
liabitities acqui'ed resulting in an increase to goodwill of $1.8 mitlion.

CONSOUIDATED THE COMPANY
2006 2005 2006 2005
$'000 $'000 $'040 $'000
34. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows fiom operating activities
Profit for the Jeriod after tax (31,335) 25,388 14,867 15,243
Add/(less) adjustments of non-cash items:
Depreciation 19,650 16,423 9,489 7,209
Amortisation 29,946 25,340 3,557 2,363
Impairment 'osses 103,634 952 9,314 -
Debt forgiveness - 1,990 - (5,722)
Net unrealis 2d foreign exchange (gains)/losses (1,961) 872 (8,918) 8676
Share options expensed 988 - 988 -
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 4,119 as4 588 943
Unsettled ¢ arges and commissions with controlled entities - - (51,727) {20,360)
Demerger r:lated items 2,758 - 2,758 -
Other - - - -
| Operating »rofit before changes in working capital and provisions 127,799 71,845 (19,084) 8,352
. Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects from acquisitions/disposals
} of businesses and controlled entities:
(Increase)'decrease in trade and other receivables (9,289) (3,573) (8,427) 10,057
{Increase)/decrease in deferred tax receivables 11,430 (756) 1,611 (1,611)
{Increase'/decrease in prepayments {781) 140 (2,756) 1,281
{Increase /decrease in inventories (8,927) (272) 11,644 12,601
{Decreasu:Yincrease in trade and other payables 25,190 2,858 3,501 14,185
(Decreas:)increase in current tax liabilities (2,952) 18,645 7.504 8,799
{Decreas2)increase in deferred tax 1,770 (7.,426) 6,325 (4,256)
{Decreasz)fincrease in employee benefits 8,298 7,087 2,217 7,779
{Decrease)/increase in provisions 15,358 (1,989} 19,867 {4,033)
40,097 14,714 41,486 44 802
Net cas from operating activities 167,896 86,563 22,402 53,154
Reconc liation of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents 115,619 54 436 48,349 -
Bank overdraft - - (4,458) (7,102)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 115,619 54,436 43,891 {7.102)
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35. Key management personnel disclosures

AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ defines key management personnet as including all non-executive directors, executive directors and other
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the consolidated entity. The names of the key
management personnel are listed below, these individuals were considered key management personnel for the entire period unless otherwise
stated. The dates an individual is classified as a key management personnel may differ from their dates of employment with the consolidated entity.

Current non-executive directors
Peter John Willcox (Chairperson)
Nora Lia Scheinkastel

John Martin Sime

Rowan McRae Russe!t

Former non-executive directors

lan Blackburne (resigned 18 November 2005)

James William Hall (resigned 18 November 2005)
Sarah Carolyn Hailes Kay {resigned 18 November 2005}
Eric Pau! McClintock (resigned 18 November 2005)
Peter Charles Barnett (retired 22 February 2005)

Peter Edward Mason (retired 22 February 2005)

David William Knott {retired 3t March 2005)

Professor Judith Sloan (retired 9 November 2004)

Current executive directors

Thierry Jean Alphonse Soursac {Chief Executive Officer and
Group Managing Director, agppointed 19 November 2005)

Paul Andrew Binfield (Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer}

Former executive directors

Stuart Bruce James (Group Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer, resigned 18 November 2005)

Peter Lindsay Jenkins {Chief Development Officer, resigned
31 March 2006}

Michael John Kotsanis (Senior Vice President Commercial
Operations Asia Pacific, resigned as direcior 4 Qctober 2005)

Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel compensation are as follows:

Current executives

Bitl Joe Simmons (Chief Operating Officer, appointed 14 July 2006,
Acting Chief Operating Officer, 18 November 2005 to 14 July 2006)
Hugh Nigel Burrill (Executive Vice President, Research and
Development, from 18 November 2005)

John Marshall Johnsaen (Senior Vice President, Global Quality)

Michael Rutkowski (President Global Manufacturing and Supply}
Jeffrey Wayne Pearce (Executive Vice President, Human Resources and
internal Communications, ceased employment on 15 September 2006)
Dimitrios Constantinos Kiriacoulacos {Acting General Counsel and
Company Secretary, 19 November 2005 to 31 July 2006}

Ron Squarer (Senior Vice President, Global Business Development,
appointed 23 May 2006}

Former executives

Scott Richards (President Commercial Operations, resigned
31 March 2006)

Stuart John Hinchen (President Americas to 1 July 2005,
Chief Financial Officer 1 July 2005 to 18 November 2005)

CONSOLIDATED! THE COMPANY!

2006 2005 2006 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Short-term employee benefits 13,825 10,441 13,825 10,441
Long term benefits - - - -
Post-employment benefits 804 445 804 446
Other compensation 2,305 745 2,305 745
Termination benefits 6,190 808 6,190 808
Share-based payments 1,602 712 1,602 712
24,726 13,152 24,726 13,152

' This table represents full disclosure of compensation to key management personnel paid by Symbion Health Limited (formerly Mayne Group Limited) and
Mayne Pharma Limited. Accordingly these figures will differ to compensation disclosed in note 6 and 22.

Individual directors and executive campensation disclosures

Information regarding individual directors and executives compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as permitted by the
Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 and 2M.6.04 is provided in the Remuneration repert section of the Directors report.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the consolidated entity or the Company since
the end of the previaus financial year and there were na material contracts invalving directors’ interest at year end.
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35. Key management personnel disclosures (continued)

Loans to key management personnel and their related parties
During the financial year no loans were made available to key management personnel or their related parties (2005: nif).

Other key management personnel transactions

From time 1o time, Directors and group executives {and their personally related parties) enter into transactions with the Company and its controfled
entities. These transactions occur within normal customer or supplier relationships on ferms and canditions that are no more favourable than those
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on simitar transactions to non-directar related entities on an arms' length basis.

Subsequent to the demerger irom Mayne Group Limited, the consclidated entity engaged the professional legal services of Mallesons Stephen
Jaques, a firm of which Mr Rowan McRae Russell is a Partner. The fees paid post demerger were $600,015 and were billed based on

normal commercial terms and conditions. Prior to the date of demerger, legal fees for services rendered where charged to the ultimate parent
company, Mayne Group Limited, and were not separately allocated to the consolidated entity,

Options and rights and equity instruments
The mavement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in Mayne Pharma Limited held, directly, indirectly, or
beneficially by each key management person, including their related parties is as follows:

Vested and
Held at Granted as Held at  Vested during exercisable at
1 July 2005 compensation Exercised 30 June 2006 the year 30 June 2006
Directors

Thierry Jean Alphonse Soursac - 2,700,000 - 2,700,000 - -
Paul Andrew Binfield - 1,360,000 - 1,360,000 - -

Executives
leffrey Wayne Pearce! - 920,000 - 990,000 - -
Bill Joe Simmons - 500,000 - 500,000 - -
Hugh Nige! Burrill - 375,000 - 375,000 - -
Dimitrios Constantinos Kiriacoulacos - 150,000 - 150,000 - -
Ron Squarer - 350,000 - 350,000 - -

! Jefirey Pearce (Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Internal Communications) ceased employment with the Company on 15 September 2006. The
990,000 share options granted (o Mr Pearce during the period were cancelled on the cessatian of his employment and will form part of his termination payment.

Prior ta the date of demerger, 18 November 2005 {see note 3), the Company did not ofier any options, rights or equity instruments 1o any
individuals. No options held by key management personnel are vested but not exercisable at 30 June 2006. No options were held by key
management person related parties.

Movement in shares
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Mayne Pharma Limited held directly, indirectly or beneficially,
by each key management personnel, including their related parties, is as follows:

Received
Held at Share split an exercise Held at
1 July 2005 on demerger! Purchases of options Sales 30 June 2006
Directors
Peter John Willcox - 45227 14,266 - - 59,493
Rowan McRae Russell - 53,450 7,161 - - 60,611
John Martin Sime - 2,210 16,465 - - 18,675
Nora Lia Scheinkestel - 7,590 21,248 - - 28,838
Thierry Jean Alphonse Soursac - - - - - -
Paul Andrew Binfield - 188,562 - - - 188,562
Executives
Jeffrey Wayne Pearce - 233,878 - - - 233,878

! Prior to the date of demerger, 18 November 2005 (see note 3), no individual held any shares in the Company, 100% of the issued capital of Mayne Pharma
Limited was held by Mayne Group. Cn the date of demerger each individual that held a Mayne Group Share received one share in Mayne Pharma Limited.
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Changes in key management personnei in the period after the reporting date and prior to the date when the Financial report is
authorised for issue
Subsequent to year end the following changes occurred in the key management personnel of the consolidated entity and Company.

On 31 July 2006 Tamara Joseph commenced employment with the Company as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Company
Secretary replacing Dimitrios Kiracoulacos who retired from the position of Acting General Counsel and Company Secretary on 31 July 2006.

Jeffrey Pearce (Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Internal Communications) ceased employment with the Company on
15 September 2006. The 990,000 share options granted to Mr Pearce during the period were cancelled on the ceasation of his employment
and will form part of his termination payment.

36. Other related party disclosures

identity of related parties
The Company has a related party relationship with it's subsidiaries (see note 32), associates and joint venture entities (see note 16) and with its
key management personnel (see note 35).

Subsidiaries

Loans are provided by the Company to wholly owned subsidiaries. Interest is charged on all loans that are not repayable on demand at rates
based on the consolidated entity's planned investment and borrowing rates at the commencement of the financial year. Interest received by the
Company from controlied entities and borrowing costs paid by the Company to contrailed entities is disclosed in note 8.

Details of investments in associates and controlled entities are disclosed in notes 15 and 16.

Amounts due to and receivable from caontrolted entities within the wholly owned group are disclosed in notes 13, 20 and 21. These balances
comprise:

2006 2005

£'000 $000

Trade receivables 81,143 142,643
Loans receivable at call 441,247 170,929
Accrued interest - 2,632
522,390 316,204

Weighted average interest 5.32% 3.70%
Trade payables 28,057 30,790
Loans payable at call 142,502 160,195
Accrued interest 50 5,354
170,609 196,339

Weighted average interest 5.28% 4.73%

Associates

During the financial year ended 30 June 2006, associates purchased goods from the consolidated entity in the amount of $3,209,997 (2005:
$2,606,154) and at 30 June 2006 associates owed the consalidated entity $1,307,365 (2005: $1,085,453). Transactions with the asscciate
are priced on an arm's length basis.

No dividends were received from associates in the 2006 or 2005 financial year.

Symbien Health Limited {*Symbion’)
The consolidated entity had a related party relationship with Symbion {formerly Mayne Group Limited) up until the demerger of Mayne Pharma
Limited on 18 November 2005 (see note 3).

Sale of Goods
The consolidated entity supplies products to Symbion's Pharmacy business. For the four and a half months to 18 November 2006 Symbion
purchased goods from the consolidated entity to the ameunt of $17.0 million {2005: $33.1 million).

Shared Services Agreement

On the demerger of Mayne Pharma Limited (see note 3} cestain shared facilities and services were provided by Symbion to the consotidated
entity under the terms and conditions of the Transition and Shared Services Agreements that were established on demerger. The Shared
Services Agreements expired on 28 February 2006. The amounts charged by Symbion to the consolidated entity under the agreements were
on a cast recovery basis only.
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37. Subsequent events

Acquisition of SuperGen oncology products

On 22 June 2006 the consolidated entity announced that an agreement had been reached with SuperGen, Inc (‘SuperGen') to acquire the
Nerth American rights to Nipent® (pentostatin for injection) and SurfaceSafe. Nipent® is a treatment appraved for patients with hairy cell
leukaemia and SurfaceSafe is a two step, towelette system to decontaminate surfaces where chemotherapy is mixed or administered.

The total consideration payabile for the purchase of the two oncology products from SuperGen is USD 33.4 million (AUD 45.1 smillion), Under
the terms of the agreement Mayne Pharma will acquire all product rights, patents, registrations, trademarks, inventories and relevant supplier
and customer contracts relating to Nipent® in North America and SurfaceSafe,

Subsequent to year end the formalities of the acquisition have been completed and on 22 August 2006 Mayne Pharma paid USD 13.4 million
(AUD 18.1 million), of the total USD 33.4 million (AUD 45.1 million) consideration, ta SuperGen upon signing the acquisition agreement, The
remaining payments under the terms of the acquisition agreement are contingent on key events and product performance.

Continued development agreement with Pliva

On 28 July 2006 the consolidated entity announced that an agreement with Pliva d.d. {'Pliva’) has been finalised for the continued
development of biosimilar granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (‘G-CSF'} for the European, South East Asian, Middle Eastern and Asia Pacific
markets. G-CSF is a haematopoietic growth factor used for the treatment of the side-effects associated with chemotherapy.

This agreement is an amendment of a collaboration originally signed with Pliva in February 2005 involving G-CSF and Erythropoietin (‘'EPQ'),
Following the previously announced termination of the EPO part of the collaboration {see note 5 and 19), this agreement secures the continuing
development of G-CSF and reflects the significant progress of the product through development. G-CSF continues to meet the product
development milestones set by Mayne Pharma and Piiva.

The consolidated entity is committed to pay $6.0 million on signing the agreement with Pliva. Upon successful achievement of all milestones
future capital commitments total $20.6 million.

Dividend declaration
Since the end of the financial year the directors have declared the following divideng:

Franked Amount per Record
Amount per amount  share of foreign date for determining Dividend
crdinary share per share  source dividend entitlements payment dale
Final ordinary 1.5¢ 1.5¢ 0.0c 20 September 2006 5 October 2006

The financial effect of these dividends has not been braught into account in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2006
and will be recognised in subsequent Financial reports.

38. Explanation of transition to AIFRS
These are the consolidated entity’s and the Company’s first consolidated annual financial statements prepared in accordance with AIFRS.

Except for the change in accounting palicy (refer note 39), the accaunting policies adopted by the consalidated entity have been applied in
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 and the comparative information for the year ended 30 June
2005 and the preparation of an opening AIFRS balance sheet at 1 July 2004 (the consolidated entity's and the Company’s date of transition).

In preparing its opening AIFRS balance sheet and comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2005 the consolidated entity and the
Company have adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in accordance with its old basis of accounting (previous
GAAP),

An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to AIFRS has affected the consolidated entity and the Company's financial positian,
financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the notes that accompany the tables.
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Reconciliation of equity

Effect of transition

Etfect of transition

Previous to AIFRS Previous to AIFRS
GAAP I July 2004 AIFRS GAAP 30 June 2005 AFRS

Consolidated Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 38,151 - 38,151 54,436 - 54,436
Trade and other receivables 140,176 - 140,176 172,356 - 172,356
Related party receivables 117,778 - 117,778 159,054 - 159,054
Prepayments 11,674 - 11,674 10,818 - 10,818
Inventories 176,831 - 176,831 180,570 - 180,570
Total current assets 484,610 - 484,610 577,234 - 577,234
Non-current assets
Other receivables 3,723 - 3,723 2,460 - 2,460
Investments 4,728 - 4,728 4,273 - 4,273
investments accounted for
using the equity method 984 - 984 1,304 - 1,304
Deferred tax assets {h} 28,025 8,380 36,405 31,563 5,598 37,161
Property, plant and equipment  {h), (g) 170,276 {4,235) 166,041 228,619 (5,550} 223,069
Product development (g) 11,541 13,651 25,192 17,274 18,458 35,732
Goodwill (a) 865017 (119,744) 745,273 890,454 {65,743) 824,711
ldentified intangible assets (a), (g) 60,461 121,751 182,212 145,634 99,110 244,744
Total non-current assets 1,144,755 19,803 1,164,558 1,321,581 51873 1,373,454
Total assets 1,629,365 19,803 1,649,168 1,898,815 51,873 1,950,688
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 86,317 - 86,317 108,522 - 108,522
Related party indebtedness 1,154,424 - 1,154,424 1,570,893 - 1,570,893
Interest-bearing liahilities 2,623 - 2,623 5,629 - 5,629
Employee benefits {c) 9,883 449 10,332 13,180 405 13,585
Current tax liabilities 3,611 - 3611 17,138 - 17,138
Provisions 14,161 - 14,161 30,585 - 30,595
Total current liabilities 1,271,019 449 1,271,468 1,745,957 405 1,746,362
Non-current liabilities
Other payables 2,709 - 2,709 146 - 146
Interest-bearing liabilities 234,857 - 234,857 13,415 - 13,415
Deferred tax liabilities (h) 10,067 13,227 23,294 2,779 13,089 15,868
Employee benefits 759 - 759 4,514 - 4,514
Provisions - - - 35,365 - 35,365
Total non-current liabilities 248,392 13,227 261,619 56,219 13,089 63,308
Total liabilities 1,519,411 13,676 1,533,087 1,802,176 13,494 1,815,670
Net assets 109,954 6,127 116,081 96,639 38,379 135,018
Equity
Equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent
Issued capital - - - - - -
Reserves (b), (@) {23,473) 23,473 - (28,283) 22,832 (6,451)
Retained profits 133,427 {17,346} 116,081 125,922 15,547 141,469
Total equity 109,954 6,127 116,081 96,639 38,379 135,018
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38. Explanation of transition to AIFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of equity {continued)

Effect of teansition

Effect of transition

Previous ta AIFRS Previous to AIFRS

GAAP 1 July 2004 AIFRS GAAP 30 June 2005 AIFRS
The Company Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - - - - -
Trade and other receivables 309,860 - 309,860 354,020 - 354,020
Related party receivables 79,363 - 79,363 124,259 - 124,259
Prepayments 2,064 - 2,064 783 - 783
Inventories 106,498 - 105,498 93,857 - 93,857
Total current assets 497,785 - 497 785 572,959 - 572,959
Non-current assets
Other receivables - - - 3 - 3
Investments 341,188 - 341,188 336,151 - 336,191
Investments accounted for
using the equity method - - - - - -
Deferred tax assets (h} 6,623 (6,623) - 13,163 {11,552) 1,611
Property, plant and equipment  (b), (g) 93,959 (4,233) 89,726 136,581 (5.,455) 131,126
Product development (B - 13,651 13,651 - 18,459 18,459
Goodwill (a) 201,861 - 201,861 201,861 - 201,861
ldentified intangible assets {a), {g) 2,259 4,233 6,492 3,050 4,788 7.838
Total non-current assets 645,890 7,028 052,918 690,849 6,240 697,089
Total assets 1,143,675 7,028 1,150,703 1,263,808 6,240 1,270,048
Current liabilities
Trade and other payabtes 63,642 - 63,642 77.476 - 77,476
Related party indebtedness 915,766 - 815,766 988,105 - 988,105
Interest-bearing liabilities 152,818 - 152,818 167,297 - 167,297
Employee benefits 1,625 - 1,625 5,649 - 5,649
Current tax liabilities 5,340 - 5,340 10,651 - 10,651
Provisions 3,172 - 3,172 1,535 - 1,635
Total current liabilities 1,142,363 - 1,142,363 1,250,713 - 1,250,713
Non-current liabilities
Other payables - - - - - -
Interest-bearing liabilities - - - - - -
Deferred tax liabilities (h) 6,774 {2,518) 4,256 5,494 (5,494) -
Employee benefits 759 - 759 4514 - 4514
Provisicns - - - - - -
Total non-current liabilities 7,533 (2,518) 5,015 16,008 (5,494) 4,514
Total liabilities 1,149,896 (2,518} 1,147,378 1,260,721 {5,494) 1,255,227
Net assets 6,221 9,546 3,325 3,087 11,734 14,821
Equity
Mayne Pharma Limited
Contributed equity - - - - - ~
Reserves (b}, (d) 891 (891} - (2,150) (1,557) (3.747)
Retained profits (7,112) 10,437 3,325 5,277 13,291 18,568
Total equity (6.221) 9,546 3,325 3,087 11,734 14,821
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Notes to the reconciliation of equity
The deferred tax impact of the adjustments described below are set out in note (h).

{a) AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations' (‘AASB 3')

The consolidated entity has applied AASB 3 to all business combinations that have occurred since 1 July 2004 {the date of transition to AIFRS).
1n addition, the consolidated entity has elected to apply AIFRS retrospectively to al business combinations that occurred between 1 October
2003 and the date of transition. Accordingly, the consolidated entity has revisited the acquisition accounting of certain business combinations
under AIFRS resulting in the revised measurement of certain acquired assets.

In making the election 1o apply AASB 3 from 1 October 2003 the consolidated entity has revisited the following business combinations under
AIFRS, that occurred prior to transition date;

« purchase of the worldwide generic injectable paclitaxel business and related assets and infrastructure from NaPro Biotherapeutics, Inc
{'NaPro’) and Abbott Laboratories ("Abbott’);

» purchase of a suite of injectable multivitamin products and related assets and infrastructure that were marketed in the USA by aaiPharma
Inc; and

« purchase of the shares and the injectable pharmaceutical manufacturing business of Wasserburger Arzneimittelwerk Dr Madaus GmbH
{'Wasserburger).

In addition, the consolidated entity has ravisited those acquisitions made prior to 30 June 2005 but subsequent fo transition date.
These include:

» purchase of the operations of the generic pharmaceutical business of Laboratorios Farmacéuticos ROVI SA specialising in sales and
distribution to the haspital segment;

 purchase of the shares in Intra-Tech Healthcare Limited a manufacturer and distributor of aseptically prepared pre-filled syringes and
infusion bags;

» purchase of the shares and the specialist oncology product business of Onkoworks Gesellschaft fuer Herstellung und Vertrieb onkologischer
Spezialpraeparate GmbH; and

= purchase of the shares in PHT Pharma Srl, which is a generic pharmaceutical business that specialises in the hospital segment.

Under AIFRS goodwill acquired in a business combination will not be amoriised, but instead will be subject o annual impairment testing,
or testing ugen the occurrence of triggers that indicate potential impairment.

In applying AASB 3 to those business combinations that occurred prior to transition date, additional iniangibte assets have been identified
and the consolidated entity reduced goodwill by $119.7 million and increased intangible assets by $117.5 million on 1 July 2004, The net
difference of $2.2 million, being a credit to retained earnings, comprises a reversal in goodwill amortisation of $5.6 million, an increase in
intangibles amortisation of $6.2 million and the derecognition of costs capitalised into goodwill of $1.6 miltion. The amortisation charge
recognised in the income statement relating to the additional intangible assets recognised on transition to AIFRS is $12.2 million for the ysar
vio 30 June 2005.

There was no impact on the Campany in applying AASB 3 to the above mentioned business combinations.

The effect on the consolidated entity of applying AASB 3 for the year to 30 June 2005 reduced goodwill by $2.9 million {the Company: nil) relating
to the derecognition of costs capitalised into geodwill with the corresponding amount being charged to other expenses in the income statement.

The requirement to cease all geodwili amortisation from transition date had the effect of reducing the amortisation expense in the income
statement by $45.7 miifion (the Company: ni!) for the year to 30 June 2005.

(b) AASB 116: 'Property, Plant and Equipment’ (‘AASB 116"

Under previous GAAP the accounting policy of the consalidated entity was o independently revalue land and buildings every three years io
their fair values with these values reassessed in the intervening periods as to their appropriateness. Under AIFRS, the consalidated entity has
elected to apply the cost basis of recording property, plant and equipment thereby deeming the carrying value of property, plant and equipment
to be the cost value from the date of transition.

In making the above election on transition to AIFRS, the asset revaluation reserve was derecognised as it is no longer a valid reserve in electing
the cost model of valuation. On the date of transition to AIFRS the asset revaluation reserve of the consolidated entity under previous GAAP was
nil, therefore no transitional adjusiment was required. At 30 June 2005 the asset revaluation reserve under previous GAAP was $0.7 million
{the Company: $0.7 million). This revaluation was reversed resulting in a reduction in the value of property, plant and equipment and removal
of the asset revaluation reserve.

Mayne Pharma Financial Repart 2006 69




Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006

38. Explanation of transition to AIFRS (continued)

Notes to the reconciliation of equity (continued)

(c) AASB 119: ‘Employee Benefits' {‘AASB 119}

Under previous GAAP the policy of the consolidated entity was to ensure that sufficient contributions were made to the defined benefit
superannuation plans, operated in the United States and Germany, 10 ensure that there was no actuariat shortfall {based on the most recent
plan caiculation of the 'accumulated benefit obligation’) in the individual plans. These contributions were expensed in accordance with actuarial
assessments and the rules of the respective fund.

Under AIFRS, AASB 119 requires the net surplus or deficit of defined benefit funds, at transition date, to be recognised in the statement of
financial position with a corresponding entry to retained profits. The transitional adjustment is based on an actuarial valuation of each scheme
at transition date determined in accordance with AASB 119. The consolidated entity recognised a defined benefit liabifity of $0.5 million (the
Company; nil} on transition to AIFRS.

Revised AASB 119 permits a number of options for the recognition of actuarial gains or losses on an ongoing basis. The consolidated entity has
elected to early adopt revised AASB 119 and has elected to recognise alt actuarial gains or losses directly in equity with the cther components
of defined benefit costs being recognised in the income statement.

{d) AASB 121: 'The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ “{AASB 121")

On the date of transition to AIFRS, the consolidated entity took advantage of an exemption in AASB 1 that permits the resetting of the Foreign
Currency Translation Reserve (‘FCTR’} to nil. This election resuited in a credit adjustment against the FCTR of $23.5 million {the Company:
$0.9 million) with a corresponding adjustment being made to retained earnings.

Subsequent to transition to AIFRS exchange rate differences relating to the translation of foreign operations, including the impact on the AIFRS
transition adjustments, will continue to be recognised as a separate component of equity in the FCTR, The exchange differences are then
released through the income statement when the foreign operation is disposed of. Therefore, the gain or loss on a future disposal of a foreign
controlled entity will exclude the translation differences that arose before the date of transition to AIFRS.

(e) AASB 132: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ {'AASB 132" and AASB 139: ‘Financial instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ (‘AASB 1397

Under AASB 132/139, the consolidated entity's accounting policy has changed to recognise in the balance sheet all derivatives and some financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair market value. Those financial assets and financial liabitities not at fair value are carried at cost or amortised cost.

AASB 139 recognises fair value hedge accounting, cash flow hedge accounting and hedges of investments in foreign operations in the balance
sheet. The gains and losses on hedging instruments that arise from the use of fair value hedges are recognised in the income statement. The
gains and losses on hedging fnstruments that arise from the use of cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective, are deferred to equity
until the hedgeda itermn is recognised. Gains and losses on hedging instruments used in hedges of net investments in foreign operations are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. Hedge accounting can only be utilised where effectiveness tesis are met on
both prospective and retrospective bases. This change in accounting treatment may significantly increase volatility in the statement of financial
performance where hedge accounting is identified as ineffective.

In addition, AASB 139 requires that all embedded derivatives that exist within contracts, to which the consolidated entity is a party, must be
recognised cn balance sheet. The consolidated entity and the Company have reviewed all applicable contracts and has determined that there
are no embedded derivatives that require separate measurement and reporting.

The consalidated entity and the Company are required to comply with AASB 132/139 from 1 July 2004 however an exemption is available
under AASB 1 such that comparative information does not need to be restated under these standards. The consolidated entity and the
Company have elected to take advantage of this exemption therefore there are no adjustments in relation to these standards for 1 July 2004 or
the financial year ending 30 June 2009 as previous GAAP continues to apply for these periods.

Refer note 39 regarding the impact of this change in accounting policy for the year ended 30 June 2006 and on the comparative reporting
period an adoption of AASB 132/139 from 1 July 2005.

(f) AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets' ('AASB 136")

On adoption of AASB 136 tangible non-current assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives must be tested for impairment, initially on the date
of transition to AIFRS, being 1 July 2004, and thereafter if there is an indicator of potential impairment. Goodwill, intangible assets and assets not yet
available for use with indefinite useful lives must also be tested for impairment, initially at fransition date, and thereafter cn an annual basis.

Under AASB 136 impairment of these assets are assessed by comparing the carrying value of the assets to the discounted net cash flows
generated by either the individual assets or the applicable ‘cash generating unit’ to which the assets being tested belong.

At transition date no impairment of any tangible non-current asset or intangible asset was identified for the consolidated entity or the Company.
For the year ended 30 June 2005 no impairment of any tangible non-current asset or intangible asset has been identified for the consolidated
entity or the Company.
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(g) AASB 138: ‘Intangible Assets’ (‘AASB 138"

Under previous GAAP the consolidated entity's policy on research and development activities was to recognise all osts incurred as an expense
in the income statement. Under AIFRS AASB 138 prohibits the recognition of internally generated intangible assets except for certain items of
development expenditure that must be capitalised.

On transition to AIFRS, the consolidated entity recognised an intangible asset, retating to development activities of $13.7 million {the Company:
$13.7 millian). For the year to 30 June 2005 there was a reduction in other expenses of $5.8 million ({the Company: $5.8 million) relating

to development expenditure capitalised and an increase to amartisation expense of $1.0 million {the Company: $1.0 million) relating to the
amortisation of capitalised development costs, resulting in a net increase in net profit before tax of $4.8 million (the Company: $4.8 million} for
the year to 30 June 2005.

The general principtes under AASB 1 require, on transition to AIFRS, that the recognition and classification of all assets and liabilities be
assessed in terms of AIFRS. The consolidated entity has reviewed all intangibles recognised under previous GAAP and computer software
assets developed for internal use to confirm that the criteria of AASB 138 for recognition have been met. On transition to AIFRS, computer
software assets of $4.2 million (the Company: $4.2 million) were reclassified from other non-current assets to intangible assets. Ouring the
twelve months to 30 June 2005 computer software assets totalling $0.6 million (the Company: $0.6 million) were capitalised and have been
reclassified from property, plant and equipment to other intangible assets.

(h) AASB 112: *Income Taxes' {'AASB 1127

With the introduction of AIFRS a ‘balance sheet’ approach to accounting for taxation has been adopted, replacing the previous GAAPs ‘income
statement’ approach. The balance sheet approach recognises deferred tax balances when there is a difference between the carrying value of
an asset or liability and its tax base.

Under previous GAAP to recognise a deferred tax asset the ‘virtually certain’ or *beyand reasonable doubt’ test of realising the benefit must be
met. Under AIFRS, the threshold for asset recognition is the ‘probable’ test.

The identified net tax adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities that arise on transition to AIFRS standards, comprise the following:

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

1July 2004 30 June 2005 1July 2004 30 June 2005

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property, plant and equipment 1,245 1,216 1,245 512
Product development costs 4,095 5,538 4,095 5,538
Employee benefits (122) (135) - -
Adoption of AASB 3 499 451 - _
Adoption of balance sheet approach (870) 421 (1,235) 8
Net increasef{decrease) in net deferred tax fiability/{asset) 4,847 7,491 4105 6,058

The effect on the income statement for the year to 30 June 2005 increased the tax charge by $2.4 million {the Company: $2.0 million).

The effect of the above adjustmentis on retained earnings is as follows:

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

1 July 2004 30 June 2005 1 July 2004 30 June 2005

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Goodwill {(a) (119,744} (65,743) - -
Other intangibles (a), (g 121,751 99,110 4,233 4,788
Property, plant and equipment (b}, {g) (4,235} (5,550} {4,233} {5,455}
Product development casts {g) 13,651 18,458 13,651 18,459
Employee benefits © (449) (405) - -
Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve (d) (23,473} (23,498) 891 891
Asset revaluation reserve (b) - 666 - 666
Deferred tax (h) (4,847} (7.491) {4,105} (6,058}
Total adjustment to retained earnings (17,346) 15,647 10,437 13,291

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (17,346} 15,547 10,437 13,291
(17,346) 15,547 10,437 13,291
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38. Explanation of transition to AIFRS (continued)
Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 30 June 2005

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY
Effect of Effect of
Previous transition Previous transition
GAAP to AIFRS AIFRS GAAP to AIFRS AIFRS

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Sales revenue 644,735 - 644,735 411,189 - 411,189
Cost of sales (368,973) - (368,973) (292,656) - {292,656)
Gross profit 275,762 - 275,762 118,533 - 118,533
Other income 6,725 - 6,725 4642 -~ 4,642
Distribution expenses (20,085) - {20,085} (2,940) - (2,940
Selling and marketing expenses (72,647) - (72,647} (17,482) - (17,482)
Administrative expenses (50,759) - {50,759} (15,949) - {15,949)
Product development expenditure g (44,079) 5,788 {38,291} {29,733) 4,807 {24,926)
Amertisation of operating rights
and licences {a), (@) (8,859) (13,136) (21,995) (53} - (53)
Other expenses (a) (567,007} 42,724 {14,283} {18,103) - {18,103)
Results from operating activities 29,051 35,376 64,427 38915 4,807 43,722
Financial income 2,039 - 2,039 9,794 - 9,794
Financial expense (17,391) - (17,391) (14,356} - (14,356)
Net financing costs (15,352) - {15,352) (4,562} - {4,562}
Share of net profits of investments
accounted for using the equity method 320 - 320 - - -
Profit/(loss) befare tax 14,019 35376 493,395 34,353 4,807 39,160
Income tax expense (h) (7,663) (2,413) {10,076) (10,226) {1,953) (12,179)
Profit after tax but before profit and
loss of discontinued operations and
loss on sale of discontinued operation 6,356 32963 39,319 24,127 2,854 26,981
Loss of discontinued operation and
lass on sale of discontinued operation,
net of tax (d) {13,851} (70) (13,931 {11,738) - (11,738)
Profit/{loss) attributable to members
of Mayne Pharma Limited {7,505} 32,893 25,388 12,389 2,854 15,243

Explanation of materiat adjustments to the cash flow statement
Development costs of $5.8 million (the Company: $5.8 million) for the year to 30 June 2005 were classified in operating cash flows under
previous GAAP in the cash flow statement. Under AIFRS development costs thal are capitalised in accordance with AASB 138 (see note 1(r)}

are classified as investing cash flows.

There are no other material differences between the cash flow statement presented under AIFRS and the cash flow statement presented under

previous GAAP.
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39, Change in accounting policy

In the current financial period the consolidated entity adopted AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ and AASB 139
‘Financial Instruments: Recogniticn and Measurement’, from 1 July 2005, This change in accounting policy has been adopted in accordance
with the transilion rufes contained in AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australia Equivalent {o International Financial Reporting Standards’, which
does not require the restatement of comparative information for financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139.

The adopticn in AASB 139 has resulted in the consolidated entity recognising available-for-sale investments and all derivative financial
instruments as assets or liabilities at fair vatue. This change has been accounted for by adjusting the opening balance of equity {retained
earnings, hedge reserve and fair value resarve) at 1 tuly 2005.

The impact on the balance sheet in the comparative period is set out below as an adjustment to the opening balance sheet at 1 July 2005,

CONSOLIDATED THE COMPANY

Effect of change Eftect of change

Previgus in accounting Previous in accounting
GAAP policy AIFRS GAAP policy AIFRS

Note $'000 $'000
Equity securities available-for-sale (a) 4,273 {3,067) 1,206 - - -
Fair value internal derivatives (b} - - - - - -
Fair value derivative liabilities (b) - - - - - -
Cash flow hedge reserve (b} - - - - - -
Unrealised gain reserve (a) - (3,112) (3,112} - - -
Foreign currency translation reserve  (a) - {45) (45) - - -

Notes to the reconciliation of financial instruments as if AASB 132/139 was applied at 1 July 2005

(a) Available-for-sale financial assets

Under previous GAAFP available-for-sale equity securities were recognised at cost. In accardance with AIFRS these are recognised at fair value
with any movements in fair value recorded within equity. Upon sale of an available-for-sale financial asset amounts previousky recognised in
equity will be ‘recycled’ through the income statement. Any impairment in the carrying value of available-for-sale securities will be recognised in
current pericd income.

The effect on the consolidated entity is to decrease equity securities available-for-sale by $3.1 million (the Company: nil) and decrease the fair
value reserve by $3.1 miliion (the Company: nily at 1 July 2005,

{b) Derivatives

Under the previous GAAP, and the consolidated entity's accounting policy, not all derivatives were recognised on balance sheet. On adoption of
AASB 139 all derivatives will be recognised on balance sheet. At 1 July 2005 there is no effect on the consolidated entity or on the Company on
adoption of this new accounting policy.

(c) Loans and receivable
Under AIFRS foans and receivables are required to be carried at amortised cost. There is na effect on the consolidated entity or on the
Company at 1 July 2005 on adoption of this new accounting policy.
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Director’s declaration

1. Inthe opinion of the Directors of Mayne Pharma Limited {{crmerly
Mayne Pharma Pty Limited) (‘the Company’) :

{a) the {inancial statements and notes set out on pages 1 to
73 and the remuneration disclosures that are contained in
sections 1 to 9 of the Remuneration report in the Directors’
report, are in accordance with the Corperations Act 2001,
including:

{i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company and the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2006
ang of their performance, as represented by the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the year ended on
that date; and

(i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

{b) The remuneration disclosures that are contained in sections
1 to 5 and 8 of the Remuneration report in the Directors’
report comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124
‘Related Party Disclosures'.

| {c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.
2. The directors have been given the declarations required by
Section 295A of the Corperations Act 2001 from the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year
ended 30 June 2006.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

L

Peter John Willcox
Chairman

A cirme—_

Thierry Jean Alphonse Soursac
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Melbourne
20 September 2006
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Independent audit report
To the members of Mayne Pharma Limited (formerly Mayne Pharma Pty Limited)

Scope

The Financial report and directors' responsibilities

The Financial report comprises the income statements, statements of recognised income and expense, balance sheets, statements of cash
flows, accompanying notes 1 to 39 to the financial statements and the directors’ declaration for both Mayne Pharma Limited (the ‘Company")
and Mayne Pharma Limited and its controlled entities {the 'consolidated entity"), for the year ended 30 June 2006. The consolidated entity
comprises bath the Company and the entities it controlled during that financial year.

As permitied by the Corporations Regulations 2001, the Company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and executives
{'remuneration disclosures’), required by Australian Accounting Standard 124 'Related Party Disclosures', under the heading 'Remuneration
report’ in sections 1 to 5 and 8 of the Directors’ report and not in the Financial report. The Remuneration report also contains information in
sections 6, 7 and 9 not required by Australian Accounting Standards AASB 124 which is not subject 1o our audit.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the Financial report in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed
to prevent and detect fraud and errar, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the Financial report. The directors
are also responsible for preparing the relevant reconciling information regarding the adjustments required under the Australian Accounting
Standards AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards’. The directors are also
responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the Directors’ report,

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in crder to express an opinion to the members of the Company. Our audit was conducted in accordance
with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the Financial report is free of material misstatement
and the remuneration disclosures comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124. The nature of an audit is inftuenced by factors such
as the sue of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent limitations of internal contral, and the availability of persuasive rather than
conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee than all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures 1o assess whether in ali material responses the Financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting requirements of Australia, a view which is consistent with
our understanding of the Company’s and the consolidated entity's financial position, of their performance as represented by the result of their
operations and cash flows and whether the remuneration disclosures comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124,

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures which included:
¢ examining on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Financial report, and

* assessing the appropriateness of the acceunting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the directors,

While we considered the effectiveness of management's internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and extent of our
procedures, our audit was not destgned to provide assurance on internal controls.

Audit opinion
1. In our opinion, the Financial report of Mayne Pharma Limited is in accordance with:
{a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair value of the Company's and consolidated entity's financial position at 30 June 2006 and of their performance
for the financial year ended on the date; and

(i) complying with Australian Accouniing Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
{b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

2. The remuneration disclosures that are contained in sections 1 to 5 and 8 of the Remuneration report in the Directors’ report comply with
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures'.

KPH G

KPMG

’( WS ‘J— Anun_
Paul McDonald
Partner

Melbourne
20 September 2006
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ASX Additional Information

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out below

Shareholdings (as at 8 September 2006)

Substantial shareholders

The Company is not directly or indirectly owned or controlled by
another corporation or by any foreign government.

The following companies have netified the Company that they have a
relevant interest in more than 5% of any class of the Company’s voting
securities. The current issued capital of Mayne Pharma Limited as at
8 September 2006 is 640,655,416.

Latest reported % of
Sharehoider shareholding issued capital
Maple-Brown Abbott Limited 66,348,612 10.36%
Westpac Banking Corporation 60,949,883 9.51%
National Australia Bank Limited Group 53,188,183 8.30%
Challenger Financial Services Group Limited 34,219,662 5.34%
Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co 33,622,493 5.25%
Distribution of equity security holders
Twenty Largest Shareholders?
Holding categery Number of holders of Number of shares Percent of
fully paid ordinary shares Shareholder Number of shares shares on issue
1-1,000¢ 32,640 12,221,623 Westpac Custodian Nominees Ltd 153,506,380 23.96%
1,001-5,000 24,009 55,202,320 National Nominees Limited 76,596,524 11.96%
5,001-10,000 3,932 28,067,152 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 67,303,139 10.51%
10,001-100,000 2,089 43,878,871 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 44 269,277 6.91%
100,001 and over 115 501,285,450 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 24,453,236 3.82%
ANZ Nominees Limited 22,423,146 " 3.50%
Total 62,785 640855418 |y estoac Financial Services Lid 20,418,196 3.19%
! There are 14,784 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel at UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 14,792,330 2.31%
8 September 2006. RBC Dexia Investor Services 14,227,240 2.22%
HSBC Custedy Nominees 9,890,496 1.54%
AMP Life Limited 9,415,181 1.47%
Victorian Workcover Authority 3,938,164 061%
Westpac Life Insurance 3,240,084 0.51%
Queensland Investment Corporation 3,132,497 0.49%
Transport Accident Commission 2,636,415 0.41%
Australian Foundation Investment 2,100,000 0.33%
Australian Reward Investment Afliance 1,967,154 0.31%
Macquarie Equities Asia Limited 1,517,320 0.24%
The University of Melbourne 1,513,695 0.24%

2 This table identifies the registered shareholders who may not beneficially own
the shares.
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